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He who foresees calamities
suffers them twice over.

—Bellby Porteus

Day One: Tuesday, April 21, 2009
A SLICE THROUGH SPACE TIME . ...

The control building for CERN’s Large Hadron Collider was new: it had been authorized in A.D. 2004
and completed in 2006. The building enclosed acentra courtyard, inevitably named "the nucleus.” Every
office had awindow either facing in toward the nucleus or out toward the rest of CERN’ s sprawling
campus. The quadrangle surrounding the nucleus was two storiestall, but the main elevators had four
stops: the two above-ground levels; the basement, which housed boiler rooms and storage; and the
minus-one-hundred-meter level, which exited onto a staging areafor the monorail used to travel along the
twenty-seven-kilometer circumference of the collider tunnel. Thetunnel itself ran under farmers’ fidds,
the outskirts of the Genevaairport, and the foothills of the Juramountains.



The south wall of the control building’ s main corridor was divided into nineteen long sections, each of
which had been decorated with amosaic made by an artist from one of CERN’ s member countries. The
one from Greece depicted Democritus and the origin of atomic theory; the one from Germany portrayed
thelife of Eingtein; the one from Denmark, that of Niels Bohr. Not dl of the mosaics had physics astheir
themes, though: the French one depicted the skyline of Paris, and the Itaian one showed avineyard with
thousands of polished amethysts representing individual grapes.

The actua control room for the Large Hadron Collider was a perfect square, with wide, diding doors
positioned precisaly in the centers of two of its Sides. The room was two storiestall, and the upper half
was walled with glass, so that tour groups could ook down on the proceedings, CERN offered
three-hour public tours Mondays and Saturdays at 09h00 and 14h00. Hanging flat againgt the walls
bel ow the windows were the nineteen member-gate flags, five per wall; the twentieth spot was taken up
by the blue-and-gold flag of the European Union.

The control room contained dozens of consoles. One was devoted to operating the particle injectors; it
controlled the beginnings of experiments. Adjacent to it was another with an angled face and ten inlaid
monitors that would display the results reported by the ALICE and CM S detectors, the huge
underground systems that would record and attempt to identify the particles produced by LHC
experiments. Monitors on athird console showed portions of the gently curving underground collider
tunnel, with the I-beam monorail track hanging from the celling.

LIoyd Simcoe, a Canadian-born researcher, sat a the injector console. He was forty-five, tall, and
clean-shaven. His eyeswere blue and his crewcut hair so dark brown that one could get away with
caling it black—except at the temples, where about haf of it had turned gray.

Particle physicists weren't known for their sartoria splendor, and Lloyd had until recently been no
exception. But he' d agreed afew months ago to donate his entire wardrobe to the Geneva chapter of the
Sdvation Army, and let hisfiancée pick out al-new thingsfor him. Truth betold, the clotheswere alittle
flashy for histaste, but he had to admit that he’ d never looked so sharp. Today, he was wearing abeige
dress shirt; a coral-colored jacket; brown pants with exterior pouches instead of interior pockets;
and—in anod to fashion tradition—Dblack Italian leather shoes. LIoyd had a so adopted a couple of
universal status symbolsthat aso happened to be bits of local color: aMont Blanc fountain pen, which he
kept clipped to hisjacket’ sinside pocket, and agold Swiss analog watch.

Seated on hisright, in front of the detector console, was the master of the makeover hersdlf, hisfiancée,
engineer Michiko Komura Ten yearsLloyd sjunior at thirty-five, Michiko had asmall, upturned nose
and lustrous black hair that she had styled in the currently popular page-boy cut.

Standing behind her was Theo Procopides, LIoyd' s research partner. At twenty-seven, Theo was
eighteen years younger than L1oyd; more than one wag had compared the conservative middle-aged
Lloyd and hisfiery Greek colleague to the team of Crick and Watson. Theo had curly, thick, dark hair,
gray eyes, and aprominent, jutting jaw. He dmost dways wore red denim jeans—L loyd didn’t like
them, but no one under thirty wore blue jeans anymore—and one of an endless string of T-shirts
depicting cartoon charactersfrom al over the world; today he had on the venerable Tweety Bird. A
dozen other scientists and engineers were positioned at the remaining consoles.

Moving up the cube. . .

Except for the gentle hum of air conditioning and the soft whir of equipment fans, the control room was
absolutely silent. Everyone was nervous and tense, after along day of preparing for this experiment.



Lloyd looked around the room then took a deep breath. His pulse was racing, and he could fed
butterflies gyrating in his somach.

The clock on the wall was analog; the one on his console, digital. They were both rapidly gpproaching
17h00—what Lloyd, even after two yearsin Europe, still thought of as5:00 P.M.

Lloyd was director of the collaborative group of amost athousand physicistsusing the ALICE ("A
Largelon Callider Experiment”) detector. He and Theo had spent two years designing today’ s particle
collison—two years, to do work that could have taken two lifetimes. They were attempting to recreate
energy levelsthat hadn’t existed Since a nanosecond after the Big Bang, when the universe’ stemperature
was 10,000,000,000,000,000 degrees. In the process, they hoped to detect the holy grail of high-energy
physics, the long-sought-after Higgs boson, the particle whose interactions endowed other particleswith
mass. If their experiment worked, the Higgs, and the Nobel that would likely be awarded to its
discoverers, should betheirs.

The whole experiment was automated and precisdly timed. There was no great knife switch to pull
down, no trigger hidden under a spring-loaded cover to push. Yes, Lloyd had designed and Theo had
coded the core modules of the program for this experiment, but everything was now under the control of
acompuiter.

When thedigita clock reached 16:59:55 LIoyd started counting down out loud with it. "Five."

He looked at Michiko.

"Four."

She smiled back encouragingly. God, how he loved her—

"Three"

He shifted his gaze to young Theo, thewunderkind —the kind of youthful star Lloyd had hoped to have
been himsdlf but never was.

"Two."

Theo, ever cocky, gave him athumbs-up sign.
"One”

Please, God . . .thought Lloyd.Please.
"Zero."

And then—

And then, suddenly, everything was different.

There was an immediate changein the lighting—the dim illumination of the control room was replaced
with sunlight coming through awindow. But there was no adjustment, no discomfort—and no sense that



Lloyd' s pupilswere contracting. It was asif he were already used to the brighter light.

And yet Lloyd couldn’t control his eyes. He wanted to look around, to see what was going on, but his
eyesmoved asif under their own valition.

Hewas in bed—naked, apparently. He could fedl the cotton sheets diding now over hisskin ashe
propped himself up on one elbow. As his head moved, he caught a brief glimpse of dormer windows,
looking out apparently from the second floor of acountry house. There were tressvisible, and—

No, that couldn’t be. These leaves had turned, frozen fire. But today was April 21—spring, not autumn.

Lloyd sview continued to shift and suddenly, with what should have been astart, he redlized he wasn't
aonein bed. There was someone el se with him.

He recoiled.

No—no, that wasn't right. He didn't physicaly react at dl; it was asif hisbody were divorced from his
mind. But hefelt like recailing.

The other person was awoman, but—
Whet the hell was going on?
Shewas old, wrinkled, her skin tranducent, her hair awhite gossamer. The collagen that had oncefilled

her cheeks had settled as wattles at the Sides of her mouth, amouth now smiling, the laugh linesal but
lost amongst the permanent creases.

Lloyd tried to roll away from the hag, but his body refused to cooperate.
What in God’ s name was happening?

It was spring, not autumn.

Unless—

Unless, of course, he was now in the southern hemisphere. Trangported, somehow, from Switzerland to
Augrdia. . .

But no. The trees he' d glimpsed through the window were maples and poplars; ithad to be North
Americaor Europe.

His hand reached out. The woman was wearing a navy-blue shirt. It wasn't a pgjamatop, though; it had
buttoned-down epaulets and severa pockets—adventure clothing made of cotton duck, thekind L. L.
Bean or Tilley sdls, thekind apractica woman might wear to do her gardening. Lloyd fdt hisfingers
brushing the fabric now, feding its softness, its pliancy. And then—

And then his fingers found the button, hard, plastic, warmed by her body, tranducent like her skin.
Without hesitation, the fingers grasped the button, pushed it out, dipped it Sdeways through the raised
gtitching around the buttonhole. Before the top fell open, LIoyd' sgaze, il acting onitsown initiative,
lifted again to the old woman’ sface, locking onto her pae blue eyes, the irises haloed by broken rings of
white.



Hefdt hisown cheeks drawing tight as he smiled. His hand dipped inside the woman’ stop, found her
breast. Again he wanted to recoil, snapping his hand back. The breast was soft and shriveled, the skin
hanging loosdy on it—fruit gone bad. The fingers drew together, following the contours of the breat,
finding thenipple.

Lloyd felt apressure down below. For a horrible moment, he thought he was getting an erection, but that
wasn'tit. Instead, suddenly, there was a sense of fullnessin his bladder; he had to urinate. He withdrew
his hand and saw the old woman’ s eyebrows go up inquisitively. LIoyd could fed his shouldersrise and
fdl, alittle shrug. She amiled at him—awarm smile, an understanding smile, asif thiswere the most
naturd thing in theworld, asif he often had to excuse himsdlf at the outset. Her teeth were dightly
ydlow—the smple ydlow of age—but otherwise in excellent shape.

At last hisbody did what he'd been willing dl dong: it rolled away from thewoman. Lloyd fdt apainin
hisknee as he did s0, asharp jab. It hurt, but he outwardly ignored it. He swung hislegs off the bed, feet
dapping softly against the cool hardwood floor. As he rose, he saw more of the world outside the
window. It was either mid-morning or mid-afternoon, the shadow cast by onetreefaling sharply across
the next. A bird had been resting in one of the boughs; it was startled by the sudden movement in the
bedroom and took wing. A robin—the large North American thrush, not the small Old World robin; this
was definitely the United States or Canada. In fact, it looked alot like New England—LIoyd loved the
fdl colorsin New England.

Lloyd found himsdf moving dowly, dmost shuffling across the floorboards. He redlized now thet this
room wasn't in ahouse, but rather a cottage; the furnishings were the usua vacation-home hodgepodge.
That night table—low-dung, made of particle board with awall paper-thin veneer of fake woodgrain on
top: herecognized it, a least. A piece of furniture he’ d bought as a student, and had eventualy put in the
guest room at the housein Illinois. But what wasit doing here, in this unfamiliar place?

He continued aong. Hisright knee bothered him with each step; he wondered what was wrong withit.
A mirror was hanging on the wall; its frame was knotty pine, covered over with clear varnish. It clashed
with the darker "wood" of the night table, of course, but—

Jesus.

Jesus Chrigt.

Of their own accord, his eyes|ooked into the mirror as he passed, and he saw himsalf—

For a hdf-second he thought it was hisfather. But it was him. What hair was left on his head was entirely
gray; that on his chest was white. His skin was |oose and lined, his gait stooped.

Could it beradiation? Could the experiment have exposed him? Could—

No. No, that wasn'tit. He knew it in hisbones—in hisarthriticbones. That wasn't it.
He wasold.

It wasasif he' d aged twenty years or more, asif—

Two decades of life gone, excised from hismemory.



He wanted to scream, to shout, to protest the unfairness, protest the loss, demand an accounting from
the universe—

But he could do none of that; he had no control. His body continued its dow, painful shuffleto the
bathroom.

Asheturned to enter the room, he glanced back at the old woman on the bed, lying now on her side,

her head propped up by an arm, her smile mischievous, seductive. Hisvision was still sharp—he could
seetheflash of gold on the third finger of her left hand. It was bad enough that he was deeping with an
old woman, but amarried old woman—

The plain wooden door was gjar, but he reached ahand up to push it open the rest of the way, and out
of the corner of hiseye he caught sght of amatching wedding ring on his own left hand.

And then it hit him. This hag, this stranger, thiswoman he’ d never seen before, this woman who looked
nothing like his beloved Michiko, was hiswife.

Lloyd wanted to look back at her, to try to imagine her as she would have been decades younger, to
reconstruct the beauty she might have once had, but—

But he continued on into the bathroom, haf turning to face the toilet, leaning over to lift the lid, and—

—and, suddenly, incredibly, thankfully, amazingly, LIoyd Simcoe was back at CERN, back inthe LHC
control room. For some reason, he was dumped in his vinyl-padded chair. He straightened himself up
and used hishandsto pull his shirt back into postion.

What an incredible halucination it had been! Therewould be hell to pay, of course: they were supposed
to befully shielded here, ahundred meters of earth between them and the collider ring. But he' d heard
how high-energy discharges could cause hallucinations, surely that had been what had happened.

Lloyd took a moment to reorient himself. There had been no trangition betweenhere andthere: noflash
of light, no sense of wooziness, no popping of hisears. One ingtant, he' d been at CERN, then, in the
next, he' d been somewhere € se, for—what>—two minutes, perhaps. And now, just as seamlessly, he
was back in the control room.

Of course he' d never left. Of courseit had been anillusion.

He glanced around, trying to read the faces of the others. Michiko looked shocked. Had she been
watching Lloyd while he was halucinating? What had he done? Hailed around like an epil eptic? Reached
out into the air, asif stroking an unseen breast? Or just dumped back in his chair, falling unconscious? If
30, he couldn’t have been out for long—nowhere near the two minutes he’ d perceived—or surely
Michiko and otherswould be looming over him right now, checking his pulse and loosening his collar. He
glanced at the andog wall clock: it wasindeed two minutes after five P.M.

He then looked over a Theo Procopides. The young Greek’ s expression was more subdued than
Michiko's, but hewas being just aswary as Lloyd, looking in turn at each of the other peoplein the
room, shifting his gaze as soon as one of them looked back at him.

Lloyd opened his mouth to speak athough he wasn’t sure what he wanted to say. But he closed it when



he heard a moaning sound coming through the nearest open door. Michiko evidently heard it too; they
both rose smultaneoudy. She was closer to the door, though, and by the time Lloyd reached it, shewas
aready out in the corridor. "My God!" shewas saying. "Are you okay?'

One of the technicians—Sven, it was—was struggling to get to hisfeet. He was holding hisright hand to
his nose, which was bleeding profusaly. Lloyd hurried back into the control room, unclipped thefirst-aid

kit fromitswall mount, and ran to the corridor. The kit wasin awhite plagtic box; LIoyd popped it open
and began unralling alength of gauze.

Sven began to speak in Norwegian, but stopped himsalf after amoment and started over in French.
"l—I must havefainted.”

The corridor was covered with hard tiles; LlIoyd could see acarnation smear of blood where Sven's
face had hit the floor. He handed the gauze to Sven, who nodded his thanks then wadded it up and
pressed it againgt hisnose. "Craziest thing," hesaid. "Like | fell adeegp on my feet." Hemade alittle
laughing sound. "'l had adream, even.”

Lloyd felt hiseyebrows climbing. "A dream?’ he said, dsoin French.

"Vivid asanything," said Sven. "l wasin Geneva—over by Le Rozzd." Lloyd knew it wel: a
Breton-stylecréperie on Grand Rue. "But it was like some science-fiction thing. There were cars
hovering by without touching the ground, and—"

"Yes, yed" It was awoman’ s voice, but not in response to Sven. It was coming from back inside the
control room. "The same thing happened to me!”

Lloyd re-entered the dimly lit room. "What happened, Antonia?'

A heavyset Italian woman had been talking to two of the other people present, but now turned to face
Lloyd. "It waslike| was suddenly somewhere ese. Parry said the same thing happened to him."

Michiko and Sven were now standing in the doorway, right behind LIoyd. "Me, too," said Michiko,
sounding relieved that shewasn't doneinthis.

Theo, standing next to Antonia now, was frowning. Lloyd looked at him. "Theo? What about you?'
"Nothing."

"Nothing?'

Theo shook his head.

"Weal must have passed out,” said Lloyd.

"l suredid,” said Sven. He pulled the gauze away from hisface, then touched it against his nose again to
seeif the bleeding had stopped. It hadn't.

"How long were we out?' asked Michiko.

"And—Christ!—what about the experiment?’ asked Lloyd. He sprinted over to the ALICE monitoring
station and tapped a couple of keys.



"Nothing," hesad."Damn."”
Michiko blew out air in disappointment.

"It should have worked,” said L1oyd, dapping an open pam againgt the console. "We should have got
theHiggs"

"Wel,something happened,” said Michiko. "Theo, didn’'t you seeanything while the rest of uswere
having—having visons?'

Theo shook hishead. "Not athing. | guess—I guess|did black out. Except there was no blackness. |
was watching Lloyd as he counted down: five, four, three, two, one, zero. Then it waslike ajump cut,
you know, in film. Suddenly LIoyd was dumped over in his segt.”

"Y ou saw medump over?'

"No, no. It'slike | said: one ingtant you were Stting up, and the next you were dumped over, with no
movement in between. | guess—I guess|did black out. No sooner had it registered on me that you were
dumped over than you were Sitting back up, and—"

Suddenly, awarbling siren split the air—an emergency vehicle of some sort. Lloyd hurried out of the
control room, everyone following. The room on the opposite side of the corridor had awindow init.
Michiko, who had got therefirst, was aready hoisting the venetian blind; |ate-afternoon sun streamed in.
The vehiclewas a CERN firetruck, one of three kept on site. It was racing across the campus, heading
toward the main administration building.

Sven’ snose had apparently at last stopped bleeding; he was now holding the bloody mass of gauze at
hisside. "I wonder if somebody else had afal?' he sad.

Lloyd looked a him.
"They usethefiretrucksfor first aid aswdl asfires" said Sven.

Michiko redlized the magnitude of what Sven was suggesting. "We should check dl the rooms here;
make sure everyoneisdl right.”

LIoyd nodded and moved back to the corridor. "Antonia, you check everyone in the control room.
Michiko, you take Jake and Sven and go down that way. Theo and | will look up thisway." Hefdt a
brief pang of guilt at dismissing Michiko, but he needed a moment to sort out what he’ d seen, what he'd
experienced.

Thefirst room Lloyd and Theo entered contained a downed woman; LIoyd couldn’t remember her
name, but she worked in public relations. The flatscreen computer monitor in front of her showed the
familiar Windows 2009 three-dimensiona desktop. She was still unconscious; it was clear from the
massive bruise on her forehead that she' d pitched forward, hitting her head on the metd rim of her desk,
knocking hersdlf out. Lloyd did what he' d seen donein countless movies: hetook her left hand in his
right, holding it so that the back of her hand was face up, and he patted it gently with his other hand while
urging her to wake up.

Which, at lagt, shedid. "Dr. SSimcoe?’ she said, looking at Lloyd. "What happened?'



"] don’'t know."

"| had this—thisdream,” shesaid. "l wasin an art gdlery somewhere, looking at a painting.”

"Areyou okay now?'

"l—I don’t know. My head hurts."

"Y ou might have aconcussion. Y ou should get to theinfirmary.”

"What aredl those srens?’

"Firetrucks." A pause. "Look, I've got to go now. Other people might be hurt, aswell.”

Shenodded. "I'll bedl right."

Theo had dready continued on down the corridor. Lloyd left the room and headed down, aswell. He
passed Theo, who was tending to someone e se who had falen. The corridor made a right-hand turn;
Lloyd headed along the new section. He came to an office door, which did open silently ashe

approached it, but the people on the other side dl seemed to be fine, dthough they were talking
animatedly about the different visonsthey’d had. There were three individuals present: two women and a

man. One of the women caught sight of Lloyd.

"Lloyd, what happened?’ she asked in French.

"I don’t know yet," hereplied, dso in French. "Is everyone okay?'
"Werefine"

"I couldn’t help overhearing,” said LIoyd. "Thethree of you had visions, too?"

Nods dl around.
"They werevividly redisic?’

The woman who hadn't yet spoken to Ll1oyd pointed at the man. "Not Raoul’ s. He had some sort of
psycheddic experience.” She said it asif thiswas only to be expected given Raoul’ slifestyle.

"l wouldn't exactly say ‘psycheddlic,’ " said Raoul, sounding as though he needed to defend himsdlf. His
blond hair was long and clean, and tied together in aglorious ponytail. "But it sure wasn't redidtic. There
was this guy with three heads, see—"

LIoyd nodded, filing thisbit of information away. "If you guysare dl fine, then join us—some people
took nasty falswhen whatever it was happened. We need to search for anyone who might be hurt.”

"Why not go on the intercom, and get everyone who can to assemblein the lobby?' said Raoul. "Then
we can do a head count and see who'smissing.”

Lloyd redlized this made perfect sense. "Y ou continue to look; some people might need immediate
attention. I'll go up to the front office." He headed out of the room, and the others rose and entered the



corridor aswell. Lloyd took the shortest path to the office, sprinting past the various mosaics. When he
arrived, some of the adminigrative staff were tending to one of their own who' d gpparently broken his
arm when hefell. Another person had been scalded when she pitched forward onto her own steaming
cup of coffee.

"Dr. Simcoe, what happened?’ asked aman.

Lloyd was getting sick of the question. "I don’t know. Can you operate the PA?"

The man looked a him; evidently LIoyd was usng a North Americaniam the fellow didn’t know.
"The PA," said LIoyd. "The public-address system.”

Theman’sblank look continued.

"Theintercom!"

"Oh, sure," he said, his English harshened by a German accent. "Over here." Heled Lloyd to aconsole
and flipped some buttons. L1oyd picked up the thin plastic wand that had the solid-state microphone at its

tip.

"ThisisLloyd Smcoe." He could hear his own voice coming back at him from the spesker out in the
corridor, but filtersin the system eliminated any feedback. " Clearly, something has happened. Severd
people areinjured. If you yourself are ambulatory—" He stopped himsdlf; English was a second language
for most of the workers here. "If you yourself can walk, and if people you' re with canwak aswdll, or a
least can be lft, please come a once to the main lobby. Someone could have falen in ahidden place;
we need to find out if anyoneismissing.” He handed the microphone back to the man. "Can you repest
the gist of that in German and French?'

" Jawohl," said the man, aready switching mental gears. He began to speak into the mike. Lloyd moved
away from the PA controls. He then ushered the able-bodied people out of the office into the lobby,
which was decorated with along brass plague rescued from one of the older buildings that had been
demolished to make room for the LHC control center. The plaque spelled out CERN’ s origind acronym:
Conseil Européenne pour la Recherche Nucléaire. These days, the acronym didn’t actudly stand for
anything, but its historical roots were honored here.

The facesin the lobby were mostly white, with afew—Lloyd stopped himsdlf before he mentaly
referred to them as melanic-Americans, the term currently preferred by blacksin the United States.
Although Peter Carter, there, was from Stanford, most of the other blacks were actudly directly from
Africa Therewere also severd Asians, including, of course, Michiko, who had cometo the lobby in
response to the PA announcement. LIoyd moved over to her and gave her ahug. Thank God she, at
least, hadn’t been hurt. " Anybody serioudy injured?' he asked.

"A few bruises and another bloody nose," said Michiko, "but nothing mgjor. Y ou?'

Lloyd scanned for the woman who had banged her head. She hadn’t shown up yet. "One possible
concussion, abroken arm, and abad burn." He paused. "We should redly cal for some
ambulances—get theinjured to ahospita.”

"I'll take care of that," said Michiko. She disappeared into the office.



The assembled group was getting larger; it now numbered about two hundred people. "Everyone!™
shouted Lloyd. ™Y our attention, please! Votre attention, s'il vous plait!" Hewaited until al eyeswere
on him. "Look around and seeif you can account for your coworkers or office mates or lab staff. If
anyone you' ve seen today ismissing, let me know. And if anyone herein thelobby requiresimmediate
medical attention, let me know that, too. We ve caled for some ambulances.”

Ashesaid that, Michiko re-emerged. Her skin was even paler than normal, and her voice was quavering
as she spoke. "There won't be any ambulances," she said. "Not anytime soon, anyway. The emergency
operator told methey’re dl tied up in Geneva. Apparently every driver on the roads blacked out; they
can't even begin to taly up how many people are dead.”

CERN was founded fifty-five years previoudy, in 1954. Its staff consisted of three thousand people of
which about athird were physicists or engineers, athird were technicians, and the remaining third were
split evenly between administrators and craftspeople.

The Large Hadron Collider was built a a cost of five billion American dollarsinside the same circular
underground tunne! straddling the Swiss-French border that till housed CERN'’ s older, no-longer-used
Large Electron-Positron collider; LEP had been in service from 1989 to 2000. The LHC used 10-Teda
dua-field superconducting el ectromagnets to propel particles around the giant ring. CERN had the
largest and most powerful cryogenic system in theworld, using liquid helium to chill the magnetsto just
1.8 Celsius degrees above absol ute zero.

The Large Hadron Collider was actualy two acceleratorsin one: one accelerated particles clockwise;
the other, counterclockwise. A particle beam going in one direction could be made to collide with
another beam going in the opposite direction, and then—

And then EEmc2, big time.

Eingtein’ s equation said smply that matter and energy are interchangesble. If you collide particles at high
enough velocities, the kinetic energy of the collision may be converted into exotic particles.

The LHC had been activated in 2006, and during itsfirst few years of work it did proton-proton
collisions, producing energies of up to fourteen trillion eectron-volts.

But now it was time to move on to Phase Two, and L1oyd Simcoe and Theo Procopides had led the
team designing the first experiment. In Phase Two, instead of colliding protons together, lead
nuclei—each two hundred and seventeen times more massive than a proton—would be rammed into
each other. The resulting collisonswould produce eleven hundred and fifty trillion eectron valts,
comparableto the energy leve in the universe only abillionth of a second after the big bang. At that
energy level, Lloyd and Theo should have produced the Higgs boson, a particle that physicists had been
pursuing for haf acentury.



Instead, they produced death and destruction on astaggering scae.

Gaston Béranger, Director-Genera of CERN, was a compact, hairy man with a sharp, high-bridged
nose. He had been sitting in his office when the phenomenon occurred. It was the largest office on the
CERN campus, with along real-wood conference table directly in front of hisdesk, and alarge,
mirror-backed, well-stocked bar. Béranger didn’t drink himself—not anymore; there was nothing harder
than being an acoholic in France, where wine flowed with every med; Gaston had lived in Parisuntil his
appointment at CERN. But when ambassadors came to see what their millions were being spent on, he
needed to be able to pour them a glass without ever once showing how desperately he would have liked
to have joined them.

Of course, LIoyd Simcoe and his sidekick Theo Procopides were trying their big experiment in the LHC
this afternoon; he could have cleared his schedule to have gone and watched that—but there was dways
something mgor going, and if he went to watch every run of the accelerators he' d never get any work
done. Besides, he needed to prepare for his meeting tomorrow morning with the team from Gec
Alsthom, and—

"Y ou pick that up!"

Gaston Béranger had no doubt where he was: it was his house, on Geneva s Right Bank. The IkeaBilly
bookcases were the same, as were the couch and the easy chair. But the Sony TV, and its stand, were
gone. Instead, what must have been aflat-pane monitor was mounted on the wall above wherethe TV
used to be. It was showing an international lacrosse game. One team was clearly Spain’'s, but he didn’t
recogni ze the other team, clad in green-and-purple jerseys.

A young man had come into the room. Gaston didn’t recognize him, either. He had been wearing what
appeared to be ablack leather jacket, and had thrown it over the end of the couch, where it had dipped
down to the carpeted floor. A small robot, not much bigger than a shoebox, rolled out from under an end
table and started toward the falen coat. Gaston pointed afinger at the robot and barked," Arrét!" The
machine froze, then, after amoment, retreated back under the table.

The young man turned around. He looked to be maybe nineteen or twenty. On hisright cheek there was
what seemed to be an animated tattoo of alightning bolt; it zigzagged its way across the young man's
facein five discrete jJumps, then repested the cycle over and over again.

Asheturned theleft Side of hisface became visible—and it was horrifying, al the muscles and blood
vesselsclearly vishle, asif, somehow, he d treated his skin with achemical that had turned it transparent.
The young man’ sright hand was covered over with an exaoskeletd glove, extending hisfingersinto long,
mechanica digitsterminating in glisening surgicaly sharp siver points.

"l said pick that up!" snapped Gaston in French—or, &t least it was his voice; he had no sense of willing
thewords out. "Aslong as|’m paying for your clothes, you' |l take good care of them.”

The young man glared at Gaston. He was positive he didn’t know him, but he did bear aresemblance to
... whom? It was hard to tell with that ghastly haf-transparent face, but the high forehead, the thin lips,
those cool gray eyes, that aquilinenose. . .



The pointed tips of the finger extensons retracted with awhir, and the boy picked up the jacket between
mechanical thumb and forefinger, holding it now asif it were something distasteful. Gaston' s gaze tracked
with him as he moved acrosstheliving room. Asit did so, Gaston couldn’'t help noticing that alot of
other details were wrong, too: the familiar pattern of books on the shelves had changed completely, asif
someone had reorganized everything at some point. And, indeed, there seemed to be far fewer volumes
than there should have been, as though a purge had been done of the family library. Another robot, this
one spiderlike and about the Size of a gplayed human hand, was working its way adong the shelves,

goparently dusting.

On onewadll, where they used to have aframed print of Monet’sLe Moulin de la Galette, there was
now an acove, displaying what looked like a Henry Moore scul pture—but, no, no, there could be no
acovethere; that wall was shared with the house next door. It must have redly been aflat piece, a
hologram or something similar, hanging on thewal and giving theillusion of depth; if so, theillusonwas
absolutely perfect.

The closet doors had changed, too; they did open of their own volition as the boy approached. He
reached in, pulled out a hanger, and put the jacket on it. He then replaced the hanger insdethe closet . . .
and the jacket dipped from it to the closet floor.

Gaston' s voice lashing out again: "Damn it, Marc, can’'t you be more careful ?*

Marc. ..

Marc!

Mon Dieu!

That'swhy helooked familiar.

A family resemblance.

Marc. The name Marie-Claire and he had chosen for the child she was carrying.

Marc Béranger.

Gaston hadn’t even yet held the baby in hisarms, hadn’t burped it over his shoulder, hadn’'t changed its
digper, and yet here he was, grown up, aman—arfrightening, hostile man.

Marc looked at the fallen jacket, his cheek still flashing, but then he walked away from the closet, letting
the door hiss shut behind him.

"Danm you, Marc,” said Gaston’svoice. "I’ m getting sick of your attitude. Y ou’ re never going to get a
jobif you keep behaving like this."

"Screw you," said the boy, hisvoice deep, histone a sneer.
Those were baby’ sfirst words—not "mama,” not "papa,” but " Screw you."

And, asif there could be any doubt remaining, Marie-Claire entered Gaston’ sfield of view just then,
emerging through another diding door from the den. "Don’t speak to your father that way,” she said.



Gaston was taken aback; itwas Marie-Claire, without question, but she looked more like her own
mother than hersalf. Her hair was white, her face was lined, and she' d put on agood fifteen kilos.

"Screw you, too," said Marc.

Gaston rather sugpected that his voice would protest, "Don't talk to your mother like that.” It did not
disgppoint him.

Before Marc turned back around, Gaston caught sight of ashaved area at the back of the kid’ s head,
and ameta socket surgically implanted there.

It had to be ahdlucination. Ithad to. But what aterrible halucination to havel Marie-Claire was due any
day now. They’'d tried for yearsto get pregnant—Gaston ran afacility that could precisdy unite an
electron and a positron, but somehow he and Marie-Claire had been unable to get an egg and a sperm,
each millions of times larger than those subatomic particles, to come together. But finaly it had happened,
finaly God had smiled upon them, findly she was pregnant.

And now, & last, nine months later, they were soon to give birth. All those Lamaze classes, dl that
planning, al that fixing up of the nursery . . . it was soon going to cometo fruition.

And now this dream; that’ sal it must be. Just abad dream. Cold feet; he’ d had the worst nightmare of
hislifejust before he got married. Why should thisbe any different?

But itwas different. Thiswas much more redlistic than any dream he d ever had. He thought about the
plug on the back of his son’ s head; thought about images being pumped directly into abrain—the drug of
the future?

"Get off my back," said Marc. "I’ ve had ahard day."

"Oh, redlly?" said Gaston’ s voice, dripping with sarcasm. "Y ou’' ve had ahard day, en? A hard day
terrorizing touristsin Old Town, wasit? | should havelet you rotinjail, you ungrateful punk—"

Gaston was shocked to find himsalf sounding so much like his own father—the things hisfather had said
to him when he was Marc’ s age, the things he' d promised himsdlf he' d never say to hisown children.

"Now, Gaston . . ." said Marie-Claire.

"Well, if he doesn't appreciate what he' sgot here. . ."
"] don’'t need this shit," sneered Marc.

"Enough!" sngpped Marie-Claire. "Enough.”

"I hateyou," said Marc. "l hate you both."

Gaston’s mouth opened to reply, and then—

—and then, suddenly, hewas back in his office at CERN.



After reporting the news of dl the deaths, Michiko Komura had immediately gone back into the front
office of the LHC control center. She kept trying to phone the school in Genevathat her eight-year-old
daughter Tamiko attended; Michiko was divorced from her first husband, a Tokyo executive. But adl she
got was busy signd after busy sgna, and the Swiss phone company, for some reason, wasn't offering to
automaticaly notify her when theline became free.

Lloyd was standing behind her as she kept trying, but finaly shelooked up at him, her eyes desperate. "'l
can't get through,” she said. "I’ ve got to go there.”

"I'll comewith you," said Lloyd at once. They ran out of the building, into thewarm April air, the ruddy
sun dready kissing the horizon, the mountainslooming in the distance.

Michiko's car—a Toyota—was parked here, too, but they took Lloyd' sleased Fiat, with LIoyd driving.
They madetheir way out of the CERN campus, passing by the towering cylindrical liquid helium tanks,
and got onto Route de Meyrin, which took them through Meyrin, the town just east of CERN. Although
they saw some cars at the sides of the road, things looked no worse than they did after one of the rare
winter storms, except, of course, that there was no snow on the ground.

They passed quickly through the town. A short distance outside it was Geneva s Cointrin Airport. Rillars
of black smoke roseto the sky; alarge Swissair jet had crashed on the one runway. "My God," said
Michiko. She brought a knuckle to her mouth. "My God."

They continued on into Geneva proper, situated at the westernmost tip of Lac Léman. Genevawasa
wedlthy metropolis of 200,000, known for ultra-posh restaurants and wildly expensive shops.

Signsthat would normally belit up were out, and lots of cars—many of them Mercedes and other
expensve makes—had veered off the roads and plowed into buildings. The plate-glass windows on
severd storefronts had shattered, but there didn’t seem to be any looting going on. Even the tourists were
apparently too stunned by what had happened to take advantage of the situation.

They did spot one ambulance, tending an old man at the side of the road; they aso heard the Sirens of
firetrucks or other emergency vehicles. And at one point, they saw ahelicopter embedded in the glass
ddeof asmdl office tower.

They drove acrossthe Pont del’ e, passing over the river Rhone, gullswhedling overhead, leaving the
Right Bank with its patrician hotels, and entering the historic Left Bank. The route aroundVieille Ville
—Old Town—was blocked by afour-car traffic accident, so they had to try negotiating their way
through its narrow, crooked, one-way streets. They drove down Rue de la Cité, which turned into Grand
Rue. But it, too, was blocked, too, by aTransports Publics Genevois bus that had spun out of control
and was now swung across both lanes. They tried an aternate route, Michiko fretting more and more
with each passing minute, but it was also obstructed by damaged vehicles.

"How far isthe school 7" asked Lloyd.

"Lessthan akilometer,” said Michiko.

"Let’sdoit onfoot." He drove back to Grand Rue, then pulled the car over at the Sde of road. It wasn't
alegd parking spot, but LlIoyd hardly thought anybody would be worrying about that at atime likethis.

They got out of the Fiat and began running up the steep, cobbled streets. Michiko stopped after afew
paces to remove her high heels so she could run faster. They continued on up the streets, but had to stop



again for her to replace her shoes asthey cameto asidewak covered with glass shards.

They hurried up Rue Jean-Calvin, passing the Musée Barbier-Mueller, switched to Rue du Puits St.
Pierre, and hustled by the seven-hundred-year-old Maison Tavel, Geneva s oldest private home. They
had dowed only dightly by the time they passed the austere Temple de I’ Auditoire, where John Calvin
and John Knox had once held forth.

Hearts pounding, breath ragged, they pushed onward. On their right were the Cathédrade St-Pierre and
Chrigtie' sauction house. Michiko and LIoyd hurried through the sprawling square of Place du
Bourg-de-Four, with its ha o of open-aircafés andpatisseries surrounding the centra fountain. Many
tourists and Genevois were till prone on the paving stones, others were sitting up on the ground, ether
tending to their own scrapes and bruises or being aided by other pedestrians.

Finally, they madeit to the school grounds on Rue de Chaudronniers. The Ducommun School wasa
long-established facility catering to the children of foreignersworking in or near Geneva. The core
buildings were over two hundred years old, but several additiona structures had been added in the last
few decades. Although classes ended at 4:00 P.M., after-school activities were provided until 6:00 P.M.,
so that professional parents could leave kidsthere dl day, and, dthough it was now getting onto 7:00
P.M., scores of kidswere till here.

Michiko was hardly the only parent to have rushed here. The grounds were crisscrossed by the long
shadows of diplomeats, rich business people, and others whose kids attended Ducommun; dozens of them
were hugging children and crying with relief.

Thebuildingsal looked intact. Michiko and LIoyd were both huffing and puffing asthey continued
running across the immeaculate lawn. By long tradition, the school flew the flags of the home countries of
every student out front; Tamiko was the only Japanese currently enrolled, but the rising sun wasindeed

snapping in the spring breeze.
They madeit into the lobby, which had beautiful marble floors and dark-wood paneling on the walls.
The office was off to theright, and Michiko led theway to it. The door did open, reveding along

wooden counter separating the secretaries from the public. Michiko madeit over to the counter, and,
between shuddering breaths, she began, "Hdlo, I' m—"

"Oh, Madame Komura," said awoman emerging from an office. "I’ ve been trying to cal you, but
haven't been able to get through.” She paused awkwardly. "Please, comein.”

Michiko and LIoyd made their way behind the counter and into the office. A PC sat on the desk, with a
datapad docked to it.

"Where s Tamiko?' said Michiko.

"Please" said thewoman. "Have aseat.” Shelooked at Lloyd. "I’m Madame Severin; I'm the
headmigtress here."

“Lloyd Smcoe" said Lloyd. "I’'m Michiko' sfiance."
"Where' sTamiko?' said Michiko again.

"Madame Komura, I'm so sorry. I'm—" She stopped, swalowed, started again. "Tamiko was outside.
A car came plowing through the parking lot, and . . . I'm so very sorry.”



"How isshe?' asked Michiko.

"Tamiko is dead, Madame Komura. We al—I don’t know what happened; we all blacked out or
something. When we cameto, we found her.”

Tearswerewelling out of Michiko'seyes. Lloyd felt ahorrible congriction in his chest. Michiko found a
chair, collapsed into it, and put her face in her hands. L1oyd knelt down next to her and put an arm
around her.

"I'm s0 sorry,” said Severin.

Lloyd nodded. "It wasn't your fault.”

Michiko sobbed awhile longer, then looked up, her eyesred. "1 want to see her."

"She' sl inthe parking lot. I'm sorry—wedid call for the police, but they haven't come yet.”

"Show me," said Michiko, her voice cracking.

Severin nodded, and led them out behind the building. Some other youngsters were standing, looking at
the body, terrified of it and yet drawn to it, something beyond their ken. The staff were too busy dedling
with kids who had been injured to be able to corra al the pupils back into the schoal.

Tamiko was lying there—just lying there. There was no blood, and her body seemed intact. The car that
had presumably hit her had backed off severa meters and was parked at an angle. Its bumper was
dented.

Michiko got within five meters, and then collapsed completdly, crying loudly. LIoyd drew her into his
arms, and held her. Severin hovered nearby for abit, but was soon called away to deal with another
parent, and another crisis.

At last, because she wanted it, LIoyd led Michiko over to the body. He bent over, hisvison blurring, his
heart breaking, and gently smoothed Tamiko'shair away from her face.

Lloyd had no words; what could he possibly say that might bring comfort at atime like this? They stood
there, L1oyd holding Michiko for perhgps haf an hour, her body convulsing with tearsthe whole time.

Theo Procopides staggered down the mosaic-lined corridor to histiny office, itswalls covered with
cartoon posters: Agterix le Gauloix here, Ren and Stimpy there, Bugs Bunny and Fred Flintstone and
Gagafrom Waga above the desk.



Theo felt woozy, shell-shocked. Although he hadn’t had avision, it seemed everyone else had. Still,
even just having blacked out would have been enough to unnerve him. Added to that were theinjuriesto
his friends and coworkers, and the news of the deaths in Geneva and the surrounding towns. He was
utterly devastated.

Theo was aware that people thought of him as cocky, arrogant—but he wasn’t. Not redlly, not down
deep. Hejust knew he was good at what he did, and he knew that while others were talking about their
dreams, he was working hard day in and day out to make hisaredlity. But this—this|eft him confused
and disoriented.

Reports were till coming in. One hundred and eleven people had died when a Swissair 797 crashed at
GenevaAirport. Under norma circumstances, some might have survived the actua crash—but no one
moved to evacuate before the plane caught fire.

Theo collgpsed in hisblack lesther swivel chair. He could see smokerising in the distance; hiswindow
faced the airport—you needed alot more seniority to get one that faced the Juramountains.

He and Lloyd had intended no harm. Hell, Theo couldn’t even begin to fathom what had caused
everyoneto black out. A giant eectromagnetic pulse? But surely that would have done more damageto
computers than to people, and dl of CERN’ s delicate instruments seemed to be running normally.

Theo had swiveled the chair around as he’ d sat down in it; his back was now to the open door. He
wasn't aware that someone else had arrived until he heard amasculine throat-clearing. He rotated the
chair and looked at Jacob Horowitz, ayoung grad student who worked with Theo and Lloyd. Hehad a
shock of red hair and swarms of freckles.

"It snot your fault,” Jake said, emphaticaly.

"Of courseitis," said Theo, asif it were plainly obvious. "We clearly didn’t take some important factor
into congderation, and—"

"No," said Jake, strongly. "No, redly. It s not your fault. It had nothing to do with CERN."
"What?' Theo said it asif he hadn’t understood Jake' s words.

“*Come down to the staff lounge.”

"I don’t want to face anyone just now, and—"

"No, come on. They’ve got CNN on down there, and—"

"It'smade CNN aready?’

"You'll see. Come."

Theo rose dowly from his chair and started walking. Jake motioned for him to move more quickly, and
at last Theo began to jog aongside Jake. When they arrived, there were maybe twenty peoplein the

lounge.

"—Helen Michaelsreporting from New Y ork City. Back to you, Bernie."



Bernard Shaw’ s stern, lined facefilled the high-definition TV screen. "Thanks, Helen. Asyou can see”
he said to the camera, "the phenomenon seems to be worldwide—which suggests that the initia analyses
that it must have been some sort of foreign wegpon are unlikely to be correct, athough of course the
possibility that it was aterrorist act remains. No credible party, asyet, has stepped forward to clam
responsibility, and—ah, we now have that Australian report we promised you amoment ago.”

The view changed to show Sydney with the white sails of the Opera House in the background, lit up
againg adark sky. A mae reporter was standing in the center of the shot. "Bernie, it’ sjust after four
A.M. herein Sydney. There' sno oneimage | can show you to convey what's happened down here.
Reports are only dowly coming in as people redlize that what they experienced was not an isolated
phenomenon. The tragedies are many: we have word from a downtown hospital of awoman who died
during emergency surgery when everyonein the operating theater smply stopped working for severd
minutes. But we aso had a story of an al-night convenience-store robbery thwarted when dl
parties—including the robber—collapsed ssimultaneoudy at 2:00 A.M. locd time. The robber was
knocked unconscious, apparently, as he struck the floor, and a patron who woke up before he did was
ableto get hisgun. We till have no good ideawhat the death count is herein Sydney, let alone the rest
of Augrdia”

"Paul, what about the hallucinations? Are those being reported down under, aswell?"

A pause while Shaw’ s question bounced off satellites from Atlantato Audtrdia "Bernie, people are
buzzing about that, yes. We don’t know what percentage of the population experienced halucinations,
but it seemsto bealot. | mysdlf had quiteavivid one.”

"Thanks, Paul." The graphic behind Shaw changed to the American Presidentia sedl. "President Boulton
will addressthe nation in fifteen minutes, we retold. Of course, CNN will bring you live coverage of his
remarks. Meanwhile, we have areport now from Idamabad, Pakistan. Y usef, are you there—7?"

"See," said Jake, sotto voce. "It had nothing to do with CERN."

Theo felt smultaneoudy shocked and relieved. Something had affected the entire planet; surely their
experiment couldn’'t have done that.

And yet—
And yet, if it hadn’t been related to the LHC experiment, then what could have caused it? Was Shaw
right—was it some sort of terrorist weapon? It had only been alittle over two hours sincethe

phenomenon. The CNN team was showing amazing professondism; Theo was il struggling to get his
own equilibrium back.

Shut off the consciousness of the entire human race for two minutes, and what would the death toll be?
How many cars had collided?

How many planes had crashed? How many hang-gliders? How many parachutists had blacked out,
failing to pull their ripcords?

How many operations had gone bad? How manybirths had gone bad?

How many people had fdlen from ladders, fallen down stairs?



Of course, most arplaneswould fly just fine for aminute or two without pilot intervention, aslong as
they actually weren't taking off or landing. On uncrowded roads, cars might even manage just to roll
safely to astop.

Butgill ... gill ...

"Thesurprising thing," said Bernard Shaw, onthe TV, "isthat as near aswe can tdll, the consciousness
of the human race shut off at precisaly noon Eastern Time. At first it seemed that the varioustimes were
not al exactly the same, but we' ve been checking the clocks of those who' ve reported in against our
own clocks hereat CNN Center in Atlanta, which, of course, are set againgt the time signd from the
Nationd Indtitute for Standards and Technology in Boulder, Colorado. Adjusting for dightly incorrect
settingsthat other people had, we find that the phenomenon occurred to the second at 12:00 noon
Eastern, and—"

To the second, thought Theo.
To the second.
Jesus Chrigt.

CERN, of course, used an atomic clock. And the experiment was programmed to begin at precisely
17h00 Genevatime, whichis—

—isnoonin Atlanta

"As he has been for the last two hours, we have astronomer Donad Poort of Georgia Tech with us,”
said Shaw. "He wasto be aguest onCNN This Morning, and we' re fortunate that he was dready here
inthe studio. Dr. Poort looks alittle pale; please forgive that. We rushed him onto the air before he had a
chance to go through makeup. Dr. Poort, thank you for agreeing to join us."

Poort wasaman in hisearly fifties, with athin, pinched face. He did indeed look pallid under the studio
lights—as though he hadn’t seen the sun since the Clinton adminigtration. "Thanks, Bernie."

"Tel usagain what happened, Dr. Poort."

"Well, as you observed, the phenomenon occurred precisaly to the second at noon. Of course, there are
thirty-six hundred seconds in every hour, so the chances of arandom event occurring precisdly at thetop
of the clock—to use a phrase you broadcasters like—are onein thirty-six hundred. In other words,
vanishingly smdl. Which leads me to suspect that weare dealing with a human-caused event, something
that wasscheduled to occur. But asto what could have caused it, | havenoidea. . ."

Damniit, thought Theo. God damnit. Ithad to be the LHC experiment; it couldn’t be a coincidence that
the highest-energy particle collison in the history of the planet happened at precisaly the same moment as
the onset of the phenomenon.

No. No, that wasn’t being honest. It wasn't a phenomenon; it was adisaster —possibly the biggest one
in the history of the human race.

And he, Theo Procopides, had somehow caused it.



Gaston Béranger, CERN'’ s Director-Generd, came into the lounge at that moment. "Thereyou arel” he
sad, asif Theo had been missing for weeks.

Theo exchanged a nervous glance with Jake, then turned to the Director-General. "Hi, Dr. Béranger.”
"What the hell have you done?' demanded Béranger in angry French. "And wher€ s Simcoe?"
"Lloyd and Michiko went off to get Michiko's daughter—she' s at the Ducommun School "

"What happened?' demanded Béranger again.

Theo spread hishands. "I havenoidea. | can’t imagine what could have caused it.”

"The—thewhatever it was occurred at precisdy the scheduled timefor your LHC experiment to begin,”
sad Béranger.

Theo nodded, and jerked athumb at the TV. "So Bernard Shaw was saying.”

"It son CNN!" wailed the French man, asif al were now lost. "How did they find out about your
experiment?’

"Shaw didn’t mention anything about CERN. He jus—"
"Thank God! Look, you' re not to say anything to anyone about what you were doing, understand?'
n BLJt—"

"Not aword. The damage is doubtlessin the billions, if not thetrillions. Our insurance won't cover more
than atiny fraction of it."

Theo didn’'t know Béranger well, but al science administrators worldwide were doubtless cut from the
same cloth. And hearing Béranger go on about cul pability brought it al into perspective for the young
Greek. "Dammit, there was no way we could have known thiswould happen. There' sno expert
anywhere who could claim that this was a foreseeable consequence of our experiment. Butsomething
has occurred that has never been experienced before, and we' re the only oneswho have even aclue as
to what caused it. We ve got to investigate this.”

"Of coursewe€ ll investigate," said Béranger. "I’ ve dready got more than forty engineersdown in the
tunnd. But we ve got to be careful, and not just for CERN'’ s sake. Y ou think there aren’t going to be
lawsuits launched individually and collectively againgt every single member of your project teeam? No
matter how unpredictable this outcome was, there |l be those who will say it was aresult of gross crimina
negligence, and we should be persondly held accountable.”

"Persond lawsuits?

"That’sright." Béranger raised hisvoice. "Everyone! Everyone, your attention please.”

Faces turned toward him.

"Thisishow we' re going to handlethisissue," he said to the group. "Therewill be no mention of
CERN'’ s possible involvement to anyone outside the facility. If anyone getsemail or phone calls asking



about the LHC experiment that was supposed to be performed today, reply that its scheduled running
had been delayed until seventeen-thirty, because of acomputer glitch, and that, in the aftermath of
whatever it was that happened, it didn’t get run a all today. Isthat clear? Also, absolutely no
communication with the press; it dl goes through the media office, understand? And for God' s seke, no
one activates the LHC again without written authorization from me. Isthat clear?”

There were nods.

"We'll get through this people,” said Béranger. "I promise you that. But we re going to have to work
together." He lowered hisvoice and turned back to Theo. "I want hourly reports on what you' ve
learned.” He turned to go.

"Wait," said Theo. "Can you assign one of the secretaries to watch CNN? Somebody should be
monitoring this stuff in case anything important comes up.

"Give mealittle credit,”" said Béranger. "I'll have people monitor not just CNN, but the BBC World
Service, the French dl-news channd, CBC Newsworld, and anything else we can pull off asaellite;
we'll saveit dl on tape. | want an exact record of what’ s reported asit happens; | don’t want anyone
inflating damage damslater.”

"I’'m more interested in clues asto what caused the phenomenon,” said Theo.
"We'll look for that, too, of course," said Béranger. "Remember, update me every hour, on the hour."

Theo nodded, and Béranger left. Theo took asecond to rub histemples. Damn, but he wished LIoyd
were here. "Well," he said at last, to Jake, "I guess we should start a complete diagnostic on every
system herein the control center; we need to know if anything mafunctioned. And let’ s get agroup
together and see what we can make of the halucinations.”

"l can round some people up,” said Jake.
Theo nodded. "Good. WEe |l use the big conference room on the second floor."
"Okay," said Jake. "I'll meet you thereassoon as| can.”

Theo nodded, and Jake | eft. He knew he should spring into action, too, but for amoment he just stood
there, ftill sunned by it dl.

Michiko managed to pull herself together enough to try to cal Tamiko' sfather in Tokyo—even though it
was not yet 4:00 A.M. there—but the phone lines were jammed. It wasn't the sort of message one
wanted to send by email, but, well, if any international communications system was sill up and running, it
would be the Internet, that child of the Cold War designed to be completely decentraized so that no
matter how many of its nodes had been taken out by enemy bombs, messages would still get through.
She used one of the school’ s computers and dashed off anote in English—she had akanji keyboard in
her gpartment, but none was available here. Lloyd had to actually issue the commands to send the
message, though: Michiko broke down again as she was trying to click the appropriate button.

Lloyd didn’t know what to say or do. Ordinarily, the death of achild was the biggest criss a parent
could face, but, well, Michiko was surely not the only one going through such atragedy today. Therewas



so much death, so much injury, so much destruction. The background of horror didn’t make the |l oss of
Tamiko onewhit easier to bear, of course, but—

—but there were things that had to be done. Perhaps LIoyd never should have left CERN; it was, after
al, hisand Theo' s experiment that had likely caused dl this. Doubtless hel d accompanied Michiko not
just out of love for her and concern for Tamiko but aso because, at least in part, he' d wanted to run
away from whatever had gone wrong.

But now—

Now they had to return to CERN. If anyone was going to figure out what had happened—not just here
but, as the radio reports and comments from other parents he’ d overheard indicated, dl over the
world—it would be the people at CERN. They couldn’t wait for an ambulance to come to take the
body—it might be hours or days. Surely the law was that they couldn’t move the body, either, until the
police had looked at it, dthough it seemed highly unlikely that the driver could be held culpable.

At lagt, though, Madame Severin returned, and she volunteered that she and her staff would ook after
Tamiko' sremainsuntil the police came.

Michiko's face was puffy and red, and her eyes were bloodshot. She' d cried so much that there was
nothing left, but every few minutes her body heaved asif she were till sobbing.

Lloyd loved little Tamiko, too—she would have been his stepdaughter. He' d spent so much time
comforting Michiko that he hadn’t redlly had achanceto cry himsdlf yet; that would come, he knew—Dbut
for now, forright now, he had to be strong. He used hisindex finger to gently lift Michiko's chin. He was
all set with the words—duty, responghility, work to be done, we have to go—but Michiko was strong in
her own way, too, and wise, and wonderful, and he loved her to her very soul, and the words didn’t
need to be said. She managed asmall nod, her lipstrembling. "I know," she said in English, in atiny, raw
voice. "l know we have to head back to CERN."

He helped her as she walked, one arm around her waist, the other propping her up by the elbow. The
keening of sirens had never stopped—ambulances, fire trucks, police cars, warbling and wailing and
Doppler shifting, aconstant background since just after the phenomenon had occurred. They made their
way back to Lloyd' s car through the dim evening light—many of the streetlamps were out of
commisson—and drove aong the debris-littered streets to CERN, Michiko hugging herself thewhole
time

Asthey drove, Lloyd thought for amoment about an event his mother had once told him about. HE' d
been atoddler, too young to remember it himsdf: the night the lights went out, the great power failurein
Eastern North American in 1965. The eectricity had been off for hours. His mother had been home
aonewith him that night; she said everybody who had lived through that incredible blackout would
remember for therest of their lives exactly where they were when the power had failed.

Thiswould belike that. Everyone would remember where they’ d been when this blackout—a blackout
of adifferent sort—had occurred.

Everyonewho had lived throughiit, that is.



By the time Lloyd and Michiko returned, Jake and Theo had gathered a group of LHC workers
together in a conference room on the second floor of the control center.

Most of CERN'’ s staff lived either in the Swiss town of Meyrin (which bordered the east end of the
CERN campus), adozen kilometers farther dong in Geneva, or in the French towns of St. Genisor
Thoiry, northwest of CERN. But they had come from dl over Europe, aswell asthe rest of the world.
The dozen faces now staring at Lloyd were widely varied. Michiko had joined the circle, too, but was
detached, her eyes glazed. She smply sat in achair, rocking dowly back and forth.

Lloyd, as project leader, led the debriefing. He looked from person to person. "Theo told me what
CNN'’sbeen saying. | guessit’ s pretty clear that there were avariety of halucinationsworldwide." He
took a deep breath. Focus, purpose—that’s what he needed now. "Let’ s seeif we can get ahandle on
exactly what happened. Can we go around the circle? Don't go into any detail; just giveusasingle
sentence about what you saw. If you don’t mind, I'll take notes, okay? Olaf, can we start with you?"

"Sure, | guess," said amuscular blond man. "'l was at my parents' vacation home. They’ ve got achd et
near Sundsval.”

"In other words," said Lloyd, "it was aplace you're familiar with?"
"Oh, yes."

"And how accurate was the vison?'

"Very accurate. It was exactly as| remembered it.”

"Wasthere anyone e se besde yoursdf in the vison?"

"No—which waskind of strange. The only reason | go thereisto visit my parents, and they weren’t
there”

Lloyd thought of the wizened version of himsdf he' d seenin the mirror. "Did you—did you see
yours=lf?'

"Inamirror or something, you mean? No."
"Okay," said Lloyd. "Thanks"

The woman next to Olaf was middle-aged and black. LIoyd felt awkward; he knew heshould know her
name, but hedidn’t. Finaly, he smply smiled and said, "Next."

"It was downtown Nairobi, | think," said the woman. "At night. It was awarm evening. | thought it was
Dinesen Street, but it looked too built-up for that. And there wasaMcDondd sthere.”



"Don’'t they have McDonald' sin Kenya?' asked Lloyd.

"Sure, but—I mean, the sgnsaid it was McDonald' s, but the logo was wrong. Y ou know, instead of the
golden archesthey had thisbig M that was dl straight lines—very modern looking.”

"So Olaf’ svison was of aplace he' d often been to, but yours was of somewhere you' d never been
before, or at least of something you' d never seen before?’

The woman nodded. "'l guessthat’ sright.”

Michiko wasfour places away around the circle. LIoyd couldn’t tell if she was absorbing any of thisor
not.

"What about you, Franco?" asked LIoyd.

Franco della Robbia shrugged. "It was Rome, at night. But—I don’t know—it must have been some
video game, redly. Some VR thing."

Lloyd leaned forward. "Why do you say that?"
"Wil, itwas Rome, dl right. Right by the Coliseum. And | was driving a car—except | wasn't driving,
not exactly. The car seemed to be working of itsown volition. And | couldn’t tell for sure about the one |

wasin, but alot of the cars werehovering maybe twenty centimeters off the ground.” He shrugged. "Like
| said, asmulation of some sort."

Sven and Antonia, who had both spoken of flying cars earlier in the day, were nodding vigoroudy. "I
saw the samething,” said Sven. "Waell, not Rome—»but | did seefloating cars.”

"Me, too," said Antonia.

"Fascinating,” said Lloyd. He turned to hisyoung grad student, Jacob Horowitz. " Jake, what did you
*e?'

Jake' svoice wasthin, reedy. Heran freckled fingers nervoudy through hisred hair. " The room was

pretty nondescript. A lab somewhere. Y elow walls. There was a periodic table on one of thewalls,
though, and it waslabeled in English. And Carly Tompkinswasthere."

"Who?' said Lloyd.

"Carly Tompkins. At leadt, | think it was her. Shelooked alot older than thelast time I’ d seen her.”
"Who is Carly Tompkins?"'

The answer came not from Jake but from Theo Procopides, sitting farther around the circle. ™Y ou should
know her, LIoyd—she' safdlow Canuck. Carly’sameson researcher; last | heard, she waswith
TRIUME."

Jake nodded. "That' sright. I’ ve only met her a couple of times, but I’ m pretty sureit was her.”

Antonia, whose turn would have been next, raised her eyebrows. "If Jake' svison was of Carly, |
wonder whether Carly’ svison was of Jake?'



Everyonelooked at the Italian woman, intrigued. Lloyd shrugged alittle. "There' sone way to find out.
We could phone her." Helooked at Jake. "Do you have her number?”

Jake shook hishead. "Likel said, | hardly know her. We went to some of the same seminars at the last
APS meseting, and | sat in on her paper on chromodynamics.”

"If she'sin APS," said Antonig, "she' Il bein the directory.” She waddled across the room and rummaged
on ashdf until she found adim volumewith aplain cardboard cover. Sheriffled throughiit. "Here sheis”
sad Antonia. "Home and work numbers.”

"|—ah, | don’t want to call her," said Jake.

Lloyd was surprised by hisreluctance, but didn’t pursue the matter. "That' sal right. Y ou shouldn’t
speak to her anyway. | want to seeif she spontaneoudy comes up with your name.”

"Y ou may not be able to get through,” said Sven. "The phones have been jammed with peopletrying to
check on family and friends—not to mention al the lines knocked down by motorigts.”

"It sworth atry," said Theo. He got up, walked across the room, and took the directory from Antonia.
But then helooked at the phone, and |ooked back at the numbersin the directory. "How do you dia
Canadafrom here?’

"It sthesame asdiding the U.S.," said Lloyd. "The country code sthe same: zero-one.”

Theo' sfinger danced on the keypad, entering along string of digits. Then, for the benefit of hisaudience,
he held up fingersto indicate how many rings had occurred. One. Two. Three. Four—

"Oh, hdlo. Carly Tompkins, please. Hi, Dr. Tompkins. I’'m caling from Geneva, from CERN. Look,
there’ sabunch of ushere. Isit okay if | put you on the speskerphone?’

A deepy voice "—if you like. What' s going on?'

"Wewant to know what your hallucination was when you blacked out.”

"What? Isthis some kind of prank?"

Theo looked at LIoyd. " She doesn’t know."

Lloyd cleared his voice, then spoke up. "Dr. Tompkins, thisis LIoyd Simcoe. I'm also a Canadian,
athough | was with the D-Zero Group at Fermilab until 2007, and for the last two years |’ ve been here

at CERN." He paused, not sure what to say next. Then: "What timeisit there?"

"Just before noon." The sound of agtifled yawn. "Today ismy day off; | was deeping in. What' sthisal
about?'

"So you haven't been up yet today?'
“No."

"Doyou haveaTV intheroomyou'rein?" asked Lloyd.



"Wes"
"Turnit on. Look at the news."

She sounded irritated. "'l can hardly get the Swiss news herein British Columbia.”

"It doesn’t have to be the Swiss news. Put on any news channdl.”

The whole room heard Tompkins sighing into the mouthpiece of her phone. "All right. Just asecond.”

They could hear what was presumably CBC Newsworld muffled in the background. After what seemed
an eternity, Tompkins returned to the handset.

"Oh, my God," she said into the phone. ""Oh, my God."
"But you dept through it al?' said Theo.

"l did, I'mafraid,” said the voice from half aworld away. She paused for a second. "Why did you call
me?'

"Has the news program you' ve been watching mentioned the visons yet?*

"Jodl Gotlibisgoing on about that now," she said, presumably referring to a Canadian newscaster. "It
sounds crazy. Anyway, nothing like that happened to me."

"All right," said LIoyd. "WEe re sorry to have disturbed your deep, Dr. Tompkins. We |l be—"
"Wait," said Theo.

Lloyd looked at the younger man.

"Dr. Tompkins, my name is Theo Procopides. We ve met, | think, once or twice at conferences.”
"If you say s0," said Tompkins svoice.

"Dr. Tompkins" continued Theo. "I’'m like you—I didn’t see anything ether. No vision, no dream, no
nothing.”

"Dream?"' said Tompkins svoice. "Well, now that you mention it, | guess| did have adream. Funny
thing was it wasin color—I never dreamin color. But | remember the guy init had red hair.”

Theo looked disappointed—he d clearly been pleased to find he wasn't done. But everyone else's
eyebrows flew up, and they turned to look at Jake.

"Not only that," said Carly, "he had red underwear, too."
Y oung Jake now turned the aforementioned color. "Redunderwear?" repeated L1oyd.

“That'sright.”



"Did you know thisman?" asked Lloyd.

"No, | don’t think s0."

"Hedidn't look like anyone you' d ever met before?’
"l don't think s0."

Lloyd leaned closer to the speakerphone. "What about—what about thefather of someone you’ d met
before? Did helook like somebody’ sfather?'

"What are you getting at?" asked Tompkins.

Lloyd sighed then looked around the room, seeing if anyone was going to object to him going on. No
onedid. "Does the name Jacob Horowitz mean anything to you?"'

"l don’t—oh, wait. Oh, right. Sure, sure. That’s who he reminded me of. Y eah, it was Jacob Horowitz,
but, geez, he should take better care of himsalf. He looked like he' d aged decades since | last saw him."

Antoniamade asmdl gasp. Lloyd fdt his heart pounding. "Look," said Carly. "1 want to make sure my
family membersare okay. My parents arein Winnipeg—I’ ve got to get going.”

"Canwe cdl you back inahit?" asked Lloyd. "Y ou see, we ve got Jacob Horowitz here, and hisvision
seems to match yours—sort of, anyway. Hesaid hewasinalab, but . . ."

"Yes, that'sright. It wasalab."

Incredulity crept into LIoyd’ svoice. "And hewasin his underwear?'

"Well, not by theend of thevision.. . . Look, I’ ve got to go."

"Thanks" said Lloyd. "Bye."

llByell

Swiss did toneissued from the speaker. Theo reached over and shut it off.

Jacob Horowitz il looked decidedly embarrassed. Lloyd thought about telling him that probably half of
al the physicists he knew had doneit at one time or another in alab, but the young man looked like he' d
have anervous breskdown if anyone said anything to him just now. LIoyd started to shift his gaze around
thecircleagain. "All right,” hesaid. "All right. I’'m going to say it, because | know you'redl thinking it.
Whatever happened here caused some sort of time effect. The visonsweren't hallucinations, they were
actud ingghtsinto the future. The fact that Jacob Horowitz and Carly Tompkins both apparently saw the
samething strongly suggeststhat.”

"But Raoul’ svison was psycheddic, didn’'t someone say that?' said Theo.

"Yeah," said Raoul. "Like adream, or something.”

"Like adream," repeated Michiko. Her eyeswere il red, but she was reacting to the outside world.



That was dl she said, though, but, after amoment Antonia caught her meaning and elaborated.
"Michiko'sright," said the Itadlian physicist. "No mystery there—at whatever point in the future the visons
are of, Raoul will be adeep, and having an actual dream.”

"But thisiscrazy," said Theo. "Look, | didn’'t have any vison.”
"Whatdid you experience?"' asked Sven, who hadn’'t heard Theo describe it before.

"It was—I don't know, like adiscontinuity, | guess. Suddenly, it wastwo minutes|ater; | had no
sensation of passing time, and nothing at dl likeavison." Theo folded hisarms defiantly across his broad
chest. "How do you explain that?"

There was quiet around the room. The pained expressions on alot of faces made clear to Lloyd that
they’ d gotten it, too, but no one wanted to voiceit aloud. Findly, Lloyd shrugged alittle. "Simple," he
said, looking at his brilliant, arrogant, twenty-seven-year old associate, "in twenty years—or whatever
timethevisonsareof . . ." He paused, then spread his hands. "I’ m sorry, Theo, but in twenty years,
you're dead.”

The vison Lloyd most wanted to hear about was Michiko's. But she was still—as she doubtless would

be for avery long time—completely out of it. When it cameto her turninthecircle, LIoyd skipped over
her. He wished he could just take her home, but it was doubtless best for her to not be aone right now,
and there was no way that L1oyd, or anyone else, could get away to be with her.

None of the other visonsrelayed by thelittle sampling of people in the conference room
overlapped—there was no indication that they were of the sametime or the sameredlity, dthough it did
seem that amost everyone was enjoying aday off or aholiday. But therewas the question of Jake
Horowitz and Carly Tompkins—separated by amost haf the planet and yet apparently seeing each
other. Of course, it could be coincidence. Still, if the visons did match, not just in their broad strokes, but
in precise details, thatwould be significant.

Lloyd and Michiko had retired to Lloyd' s office. Michiko was curled up tightly in one of the chairs, and
she had LIoyd’ swindbreaker pulled over her like ablanket. LIoyd picked up the handset on his desk
phone and dided."Bonjour," hesaid."La police de Genéve? Je m' appelle LIoyd Smcoe; je suis
avec CERN."

"Oui, Monsieur Smcoe," said amae voice. He switched to English; Swiss often did that in responseto
Lloyd s accent. "What can we do for you?"

"I know you're terribly busy—"

"An understatement, monsieur. We are, as you say, bogged.”



Swamped, thought Lloyd. "But I’m hoping one of your witness examinersisfree. We have atheory
about the visons, and we need the help of someone proficient at taking testimony.”

"I’ll put you through to the right department,” said the voice.

While he was on hold, Theo poked his head through the office door. "The BBC World Serviceis
reporting that many people had matching visons,” he said. "For ingtance, many married couples, even if
they weren't in the same room at the time of the phenomenon, reported similar experiences.”

Lloyd nodded at thisbit of information. "Still, there' salways apossibility, | guess, for whatever reason,
of collusion, or, Carly and Jake notwithstanding, that synchronization of visonswas alocdized
phenomenon. But . . ."

Heleft it unsaid—after dl, itwas Theo the visionless he was spegking to. But if Carly Tompkins and
Jacob Horowitz—she in Vancouver, he near Geneva—redlly did see the exact same thing, then there
would be little doubt that al the visons were of the same one future, mosaic pieces of tomorrow . . . a
tomorrow that did not include Theo Procopides.

"Tdl me about the room you werein," said the witness examiner, amiddle aged Swiss woman. She had
adatapad in front of her, and was wearing aloose polo shirt; last in fashion in the late 1980s, they were
cycling back into popularity.

Jacob Horowitz closed his eyes, shutting out distractions, trying to recall every detall. "It' salab of some
sort. Yellow walls. Fluorescent lights. Formica counter tops. A periodic table on thewall.”

"And isthere anybody eseinthislab?’

Jake nodded. God, why did the examiner have to befemae?"Y es. There€' sawoman—a white woman,
with dark hair. She looks to be about forty-five or so."

"And what is she wearing, thiswoman?'

Jake swdlowed. "Nothing . . ."

The Swisswitness examiner had left, and LIoyd and Michiko were now comparing reports of Jacob's
and Carly’ svisons, Carly had agreed to be smilarly examined by the VVancouver police, and the report
of that interview had been emailed to CERN.

In the intervening hours, Michiko had rallied abit. She was clearly trying to focus, to go on, to help with
thelarger crigs, but every few minutes she would fade away and her eyeswould go moist. Still, she
managed to read through the two transcripts without getting the paper overly wet.

"There sno doubt,” she said. "They match in every particular. They werein the same room."

Lloyd tried asmal amile. "Kids," he said. He had only known Michiko for two years; they’ d never made
lovein alab—but in his grad-student days, Lloyd and histhen girlfriend, Pamela Ridgley, had certainly



heated up afew countertops at Harvard. But then he shook his head in wonder. "A glimpse of the future.
Fascinating." He paused. "l imagine some people are going to get rich off this."

Michiko shrugged a bit. "Eventually, maybe. Those who happened to be looking at stock reportsin the
future might become wealthy—decades from now. That’ salong timeto wait for it to al pay off."

Lloyd was quiet for amoment, then: "Y ou haven't told me what you saw yet—what your vison was."
Michiko looked away. "No," shesaid, "I haven't.”
Lloyd touched her cheek gently, but said nothing.

"At thetime—at the time | was having the vision, it seemed wonderful," she began. "I mean, | was
disoriented and confused about what was going on. But the vision itsalf wasjoyous.” She managed awan
smile. "Except now after what'shappened . . ."

Again, Lloyd didn’t push. He sat, outwardly patient.

"It waslate at night,” Michiko said at last. "'l wasin Japan; I'm sure it was a Japanese house. | wasina
little girl’ s bedroom, gitting on the side of the bed. And thisgirl, maybe seven or eight, was Sitting up in
bed, and she wastalking with me. She was abeautiful girl, but she wasn' t—she wasn’t—"

If the visonswere of atime decadesin the future, of course she wasn’t Tamiko. Lloyd nodded gently,
absolving her of having to finish the thought. Michiko sniffled. "But—but shewas my daughter; she must
have been. A daughter | haven’t had yet. She was holding my hand, and she called meokaasan; that's
Japanesefor ‘mommy.’ It waslike | was putting her to bed, wishing her good night.”

"Your daughter . . ." said Lloyd.
"Wdl,our daughter, I'm sure," said Michiko. "Y oursand mine.”
"What were you doing in Japan?' asked Lloyd.

"I don't know; vigting family, | guess. My uncle Masayuki livesin Kyoto. Except for the fact that we
had adaughter, | didn't redly get any sensethat it wasin the future.”

"Thischild, did she—"

Lloyd cut himself off. What he’ d wanted to ask was boorish, crude. "Did she have danted eyes?* Or
maybe he would have caught himsdlf in time and phrasad it more e egantly: "'Did she have epicanthic
folds?' But Michiko wouldn’t have understood. She’ d have thought some prejudice underlay Lloyd's
question, some silly misgivings about miscegenation. But that wasn'tit. LIoyd didn’t careif their eventud
children were occidenta or orientd in appearance. They could as easily be one asthe other, or, of
course, amixture of thetwo, and he'd love them just the same, assuming—

Assuming, of course, that they werehis children.

The visons seemed to be of atime perhaps two decadesin the future. And in hisvision, which he hadn’t
yet shared with Michiko, he was somewhere, maybe New England, with another woman. A white
woman. And Michiko wasin Kyoto, Japan, with a daughter who might be Asian or might be Caucasian
or might be something in between, al depending on who her father was.



Thischild, did she—

"Did shewhat?" asked Michiko.

"Nothing,” said LIoyd, looking away.

"What about your vison?' asked Michiko. "What did you see?"

Lloyd took a deep breath. He' d haveto tell her sometime, he supposed, and—

"Lloyd, Michiko—you guys should come on down to the lounge." It was Theo’ svoice; he had just stuck
his head in the door again. "We just recorded something off CNN that you' |l want to see.”

Lloyd, Michiko, and Theo entered the lounge. Four other people were aready there. White-haired Lou
Waterswasjerking up and down on screen; the lounge VCR was an old unit—some staff member’s
hand-me-down—and didn’t have agrest pause function.

"Ah, good," said Raoul, asthey entered. "L ook at this." He touched the pause key on the remote, and
Waters sprang into action.

"—David Houseman has more on this story. David?!

The picture changed to show CNN’s David Houseman, standing in front of awall of antique
clocks—even with abresking story, CNN still strove for interesting visuas.

"Thanks, Lou," said Houseman. "Most peopl€ svisions of course had no time reference in them, but
enough people were in rooms with clocks or caendars on the wall, or reading electronic
newspapers—there didn’t seem to be any paper ones left—that we' ve been able to conjecture adate. It
seemsthat the visons were of atime twenty-one years, six months, two days, and two hours ahead of
the moment at which the visions occurred: the visions portray the period from 2:21 to 2:23 P.M. Eagtern
Time on Wednesday, October 23, 2030. That assumes the occasiona aberrations are explicable: some
people seemed to be reading newspapers dated October 22, 2030, or even earlier—presumably they
were reading old editions. And the time references, of course, depend agreat deal on what time zone the
person happensto bein. We re assuming that the mgjority of peoplewill ill livein the sametime zone
two decades from now that they happen to live in today, and those that report times off by awhole
number of hours from what we' d expect were in some other time zone—"

Raoul hit the pause key again.

"Thereitis" said Raoul. "A concrete number. Whatever we did here somehow caused the
consciousness of the human race to jump ahead twenty-one years for a period of two minutes.”

Theo returned to his office, the darkness of night visible through hiswindow. All thistalk of visonswas
disturbing—especialy since he himsalf hadn’t had one. Could Lloyd be right? Could Theo be dead a
mere twenty-one years from now? He was only twenty-seven, for God' s sake; in two decades, he'd ill
bewd| shy of fifty. He didn’t smoke—not much of a statement for any of the North Americansto make,



but till an achievement among Greeks. He worked out regularly. Why on earth should he be dead so
soon? There had to be another explanation for him having no vision.

His phone bleeped. Theo picked up the handset. "Hello?"

"Hello," said afemdevoice, in English. "Isthis, ah, Theodosios Procopides?’ She stumbled over the
name,

"YS,"

"My nameisKathleen DeVries" said the woman. "I’ ve been mulling over whether to phoneyou. I'm
cdling from Johannesburg.”

" Johannesburg? Y ou mean in South Africa?"

"For thetime being, anyway," shesad. "If the visons are to be believed, it' sgoing to be officidly
renamed Azaniasometimein the next twenty-one years.”

Theo waited slently for her to go on. After amoment, shedid. "And it' sthe visonsthat I'm caling
about. Y ou see, mineinvolved you."

Theo fdt his heart racing. What wonderful news! Maybe he hadn't had avision of his own for whatever
reason, but this woman had seen him twenty-one years hence. Of course he had to be dive then; of
course, Lloyd was wrong when he said Theo would be dead.

"Yes?' Theo sad breathlessly.

"Umm, I’'m sorry to have bothered you," said DeVries. "Can l—may | ask what your own vison
showed?'

Theolet out air. "'l didn’t have one" he said.
"Oh. Oh, | am sorry to hear that. But—well, then, | guessit wasn't amistake.”
"What wasn't amistake?'

"My ownvigon. | was here, in my home, in Johannesburg, reading the newspaper over dinner—except
it wasn't on newsprint. It was on thisthing that looked like aflat plastic sheet; some sort of computerized
reader screen, | think. Anyway, the article | was reading happened to be—well, I’ m sorry there sno
other way to say it. It was about your death.”

Theo had once read aLord Dunsany story about a man who fervently wished to see tomorrow’s
newspaper today, and when he finally got hiswish, was stunned to discover it contained hisown
obituary. The shock of seeing that was enough to kill him, news which would of course be reported in the
next day’ sedition. That wasit; that was dl—azinger, apunch line. But this. . . thiswasn't tomorrow’ s
paper; it was a paper two decades hence.

"My desth," repeated Theo, as though those two words had somehow been missed in his English
classes.

"Yes, that' sright.”



Theorallied abit. "L ook, how do | know thisisn't some scam or prank?’
"I'm sorry; | knew | shouldn’t have cdled. I'll be—"

"No, no, no. Don't hang up. In fact, please let me get your name and number. The damned call display is
just showing ‘Out of Area.” Y ou should let me phone you back; this call must be costing you afortune.”

"My name, as| said, isKathleen DeVries. I'm anurse a asenior citizens home here." Shetold him her
phone number. "But, redly, I'm glad to pay for the call. Honestly, | don’t want anything from you, and
I’m not trying to trick you. But, well—look, | see people die dl the time. We lose about one aweek here
at the home, but they’ re mostly in their eighties or nineties or even their hundreds. But you—you're going
to bejust forty-eight when you die, and that’ sway too young. | thought by calling you up, by letting you
know, maybe you could somehow prevent your own degth.”

Theo was quiet for several seconds, then, "So, does the—the obituary say what | died of ?* For one
bizarre moment, Theo was kind of pleased that his passing had been worthy of note in international
newspapers. He amost asked if the first two words in the article happened to be "Nobel laureate.” "I
know | should cut down on my cholesterol; was it a heart attack?'

Therewas slence for severa seconds. "Umm, Dr. Procopides, I'm sorry, | guess | should have been
more clear. It'snot an obituary | wasreading; it' sanews story.” He could hear her swallow. "A news
story about your murder.”

Theo fdll slent. He could have repeated the word back to her increduloudy. But there was no point.

He was twenty-seven; he wasin good hedlth. As he' d been thinking afew moments ago, of course he
wouldn’t be dead of natural causesin amere twenty-one years. But—murder?

"Dr. Procopides? Areyou still there?!
"Yes" For thetimebeng.
"I"'m—I"m sorry, Dr. Procopides. | know this must come as quite ashock."

Theo was quiet for afew moments longer, then: "The article you were reading—does it say who kills
me?'

"I'm afraid not. It' san unsolved crime, apparently.”

"Well, whatdoes the article say?"

"I’ve written down as much of it as| remember; | can email youit, but, well, here, let meread it to you.
Remember, thisisareconstruction; | think it’s pretty accurate, but | can’t guarantee every word.” She
paused, cleared her throat, then went on. "The headline was, ‘ Physicist Shot Dead.” "

Shot, thought Theo. God.

DeVrieswent on. "The dateline was Geneva. It said, ‘ Theodosios Procopides, a Greek physicist

working at CERN, the European center for particle physics, was found shot to death today. Procopides,
who received his Ph.D. from Oxford, was director of the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider at—"



"Say that again," said Theo.

"The Tachyon-Tardyon Callider," said DeVries. She was migpronouncing “tachyon,” saying it withaCH
blend instead of aK sound. "I’ d never heard those words before.”

"There sno such collider,” said Theo. "At least, not yet. Please, go on.”

". .. director of the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider at CERN. Dr. Procopides had been with CERN for
twenty-three years. No motive has been suggested for the killing, but robbery has been ruled out, as Dr.
Procopides swallet was found on him. The physicist was gpparently shot sometime between noon and
1:00 P.M. local time yesterday. Theinvestigation is continuing. Dr. Procopidesis survived by his. . ."

"Yes?Yes?'
"I'msorry, that'sdl it said.”
"Y ou mean your vision ended before you finished reading the article?’

Therewasasmdl slence. "Well, not exactly. Therest of the article was off-screen, and instead of
touching the pagedown button—I could clearly see such abutton on the side of the reading device—I
went on to select another article.” She paused. "I’m sorry, Dr. Procopides.] —the 2009 me—was
interested in what the rest of the story said, but the 2030 version didn’t seemto care. | did try to will
her—to will me —to touch the page-down control, but it didn’t work."

"So you don't know who killed me, or why?"

"lam sorry."

"And the paper you were reading—you' re sure that it was the then-current one? Y ou know, the
October 23, 2030, one."

"Actudly, no. There was a—what would you cal it? A satusline? Therewas agtatus line at the top of
the reader that said the date and the name of the paper quite prominently: The Johannesburg Sar,

Tuesday, October 22, 2030. So | guessit was yesterday’ s paper, so to speak.” She paused. "I’ m sorry
to be the bearer of bad news."

Theo was quiet for atime, trying to digest dl this. It was hard enough dedling with the fact that he might
be dead in amere twenty years, but the idea that someone mightkill him was almost too much to bear.

"Ms. DeVries, thank you," he said. "If you recall any other details—anything at al—please, pleaselet
me know. And please do fax me the transcript you mentioned." He gave her hisfax number.

"I will," shesaid. "I—I"m sorry; you sound like a nice young man. | hope you can figure out who did
it—who’ sgoing to do it—and find away to prevent it."



It was now amost midnight. LIoyd and Michiko were walking down the corridor toward his office when
they heard Jake Horowitz' s voice calling out from an open door. "Hey, Lloyd, have alook at this."

They entered the room. Y oung Jake was standing next toa TV set. Its screen was filled with snow.
"Snow," said Lloyd, helpfully, as he crossed over to stand beside Jake.

"Indeed."

"What channel areyou trying to get?'

"No channel. I'm playing back atape.”

"Of what?'

"This happens to be the security cameraat the main gatehouse to the CERN campus.” He hit the gject
button; the VHS tape popped out. He replaced it with another cassette. "And thisis the security camera
at the Microcosm.”" He hit play; the screen again filled with snow.

"Areyou surethisistheright kind of VCR?" Switzerland used the PAL recording format, and, although
multistandard machines were common, there were afew NTSC-only VCRs a CERN.

Jake nodded. "I’'m sure. Took me awhileto find one that would show what was actually on the tape,
too—most VCRsjust go to solid blueif there’ sno picture signal.”

"Wel, if it’ stheright kind of VCR, then there must be something wrong with the tapes.” Lloyd frowned.
"Maybe therewas an el ectromagnetic pul se associated with the—the whatever it was,; it could have

wiped the tapes.”

"That was my first thought, too,” said Jake. "But watch this." He hit the remote' s reverse button. The
snow speeded up its dancing on screen, and the | etters REV—the abbreviation was the same in many
European languages—appeared in the upper right corner. After about haf aminute, a picture suddenly
gppeared, showing the Microcosm Exhibit, CERN’ s gdlery devoted to explaining particle physicsto
tourigts. Jake rewound the tape some more then took his finger off the button.

"See?' hesad. "That' searlier on the tape—l ook at the time stamp.” In the center of the screen near the
bottom, adigita readout was superimposed on the image, with the time incrementing: "' 16h58m22s"
"16h58m23s," "16h58m24s' . . .

"About aminute and a hdf before the phenomenon began,” said Jake. "If there’ d been something like an
EMP, it would have wiped what was aready on the tape, too."

"So what are you saying?' asked Lloyd. "The tape goes dl snowy right at the beginning of the
phenomenon?' He liked Jake s word for what had happened.

"Yes—and it picks up again exactly one minute and forty-three seconds later. It sthe same on al the



tapes I’ ve checked: one minute and forty-three seconds of static.”

"Lloyd, Jake—come quick!" It was Michiko’ s voice; the two men turned around to see her beckoning
to them from the doorway. They ran after her into the room next door—the lounge, which had its own
TV =, ill showing CNN.

"—and of course there were hundreds of thousands of videos made during the period when people's
minds were el sewhere," said anchor Petra Davies. " Security-camerafootage, home-video cameras | eft
running, tapesfrom TV studios—including our own archiva tapes made right here at CNN, which the
FCC requires usto produce—and more. We d assumed they would clearly show everyone in them
blacking out, and bodies collgpsing to the ground—"

Lloyd and Jake exchanged aglance. "But," continued Davies, ""'none of them show anything. Or, more
precisday, they show nothing but snow—ablack and white flecks, roiling on the screen. Asfar aswe can
tell, every video made anywhere in the world during the Flashforward shows snow for precisdy one
minute and forty-three seconds. Likewise, our other recording devices, such as those hooked up to the
wegther instruments we use in making forecasts, recorded no data during the period in which everyone
blacked out. If anyone watching thisdoes have atape or recording made during that time that showsa
picture, we' d like to hear about it. Y ou can phone ustoll-freeat . . ."

"Incredible” said Lloyd. "Itdoes make you wonder just exactly what was going on during all that time.”
Jake nodded. "That it does."

" ‘Hashforward, eh?' said Lloyd, savoring the term the newscaster had used. "That’ s not abad name
forit."

Jake nodded. "It certainly besats ‘the CERN disaster,” or anything like that."

Lloyd frowned. "Thet itdoes."

Theo leaned back in his office chair, hands behind his head, staring a the congtellations of holesin the
acoudtic caling tiles, thinking about what that DeVries woman had said.

It wasn't like knowing you were going to diein an accident. If you were forewarned that you' d be hit by
acar on such-and-such a street at such-and-such atime, well, then you smply had to avoid being at that
place at that moment, and—Voilal—criss averted. But if someone was hdll-bent on murdering you, it
would happen sooner or later. Just not being here—or wherever the murder was going to take place; the
gtory from theJohannesburg Star didn’t actualy mention the precise location—on October 21, 2030,
wouldn’t necessarily be enough to save Theo.

Dr. Procopidesissurvived by his. . .

Survived by hiswhat? His parents? Poppawould be eighty-two then, and Mommawould be
seventy-nine. Theo' s father had suffered a heart attack afew years ago, but had been scrupulous ever
snce about his cholesteral, giving up hissaganaki and the feta-cheese salads that he so loved. Sure, they
could ill bedivethen.

How would Poppatakeit? A father isn’'t supposed to outlive his son. Would Poppathink he’ d aready



lived agood, long time? Would he give up on life, passing on within afew more months, leaving Momma
to go on al done? Theo certainly hoped his parents would be dive in twenty-one years, but . . .

Dr. Procopidesissurvived by his. . .
... by hiswifeand children?

That’ swhat they usudly say in ohbituaries. By hiswife—hiswifeAnthoula, perhaps, anice Greek girl.
That would make Poppa happy.

Except . . .

Except Theo didn’t know any nice Greek girls—or any nice girls of any nationality. At least—a thought
came up, but he fought it down—at least, not any who were free.

He had devoted himself to hiswork. First to getting grades good enough to go to Oxford. Next to
getting his doctorate. Then to getting assigned here. Oh, there' d been women, of course—American
schoolgirls back in Athens, one-night stands with other students, and even once, when in Denmark, a
hooker. But he' d dways thought there would be time later for love, awife, children.

But when would that time come?
He had indeed wondered if the article would start "Nobel laureate.” It didn’t, but hehad

wondered—and, if he were honest with himself, it was a serious bit of wondering. A Nobel meant
immortdity; it meant being remembered forever.

The LHC experiment that he and LIoyd had spent years crafting should have produced the Higgs, if they
had produced that, the Nobel surely would have followed. But they hadn’t made the breakthrough.

Thebreakthrough—asiif he' d have been content with only one.

Dead in twenty-one years. Who would remember him?

It wasall so crazy. So unbdievable.

He was Theodosios Procopides, for God' s sake. He wasimmortal.

Of course he was. Of course he was. What twenty-seven-year-old was not?

A wife. Children. Surely the obituary had mentioned those. Surely if Ms. DeVries had only paged down,
she would have seen their names, and maybe their ages.

But wait—wait!

How many pagesin atypica big-city newspaper? Two hundred, say. How many readers? Typica
circulation of abig daily might be haf-a-million copies. Of course, DeVries had said she wasreading
yesterday’ s newspaper. Still, she couldn’t have been the only onelooking at thet article during the
two-minute glimpse of the future.

And besides, Theo would apparently be killed here in Switzerland—the article had listed a Geneva
dateline—and yet the story had made a South African newspaper. Which meant it must have made other



newspapers and newsgroups al over theworld, possibly with different accounts of the events. Certainly
theTribune de Genéve would have amore-detailed article. There had to be hundreds—maybe
thousands—of people who had read reports of his death.

He could advertise for them, on the Internet and in maor newspapers. Find out more—and find out, for
sure, whether there was any truth to what this DeVrieswoman had said.

"Look at this," said Jake Horowitz. He plunked his datapad down on Lloyd' s desk; it was showing a
web page.

"What isit?"

"Stuff from the United States Geological Survey. Seismograph readings.”
"Yeah?'

"Look at thereadingsfor earlier today," said Jake.

"Oh, my."

"Exactly. For dmost two minutes, sarting at seventeen hundred hours our time, the recorders detected
nothing & dl. Either they registered zero disturbances—which isimpossible, the Earth isaways trembling
dightly, evenif just from tidal interactions with the moon—or they registered no detaa al. It'sjust like
the video cameras: no record of what was actually happening during those two minutes. And I’ ve
checked with various nationa weather services. Their westher instruments—wind speed, temperature, air
pressure, and so on—recorded nothing during the Flashforward. And NASA and the ESA report dead
periodsin their satellite telemetry during that two-minute period, too."

"How could that be?" asked Lloyd.

"l don’t know," said Jake, running a hand through hisred hair. "But somehow every camera, every
sensor, every recording ingrument anywherein the world smply stopped registering whilethe
Flashforward was occurring.”

Theo sat at hisdesk in his office, aplastic Donad Duck peering down at him from atop the monitor,
thinking of how to phrase what he wanted to say. He decided to be smple and direct. After dl, he'd
need to place the information in the form of aclassified ad in hundreds of newspapersworldwide; it
would cost afortune if hewasn’t concise. He had three keyboards—a French AZERTY, an English
QWERTY, and a Greek one. He was using the English one:

Theodosios Procopides, anative of Athens, working at CERN, will be murdered Monday, October 21,
2030. If your vision related to this crime, please contact procopides@cern.ch.



He thought about leaving it at that, but then added afind line: "I am hoping to prevent my own death.”

Theo could trandate it into Greek and French himsdlf; in theory, his computer could trandate it into other
languages for him, but if there was one thing that histime at CERN had taught him it was that computer
trand ations were often inaccurate—he gill remembered the horrible Christmas-banquet incident. No, he
would enlist the aid of various people at CERN to help him—and aso to advise him which newspapers
were significant in which countries.

But one thing he could do immediately: post his note to various newsgroups. He did that before going
home to bed.

Finaly, & onein the morning, Lloyd and Michiko left CERN. Again, they abandoned her Toyotain the
parking lot—it was hardly unusual for people a& CERN to pull dl-nighters.

Michiko worked for Sumitomo Electric; she was an engineer specializing in superconducting-accel erator
technology, on long-term assignment to CERN, which had bought severd componentsfor the LHC from
Sumitomo. Her employer had provided her, and Tamiko, with awonderful apartment on Geneva s Right
Bank. Lloyd waslesswell paid, and didn’t have ahousing alowance; his gpartment was in the town of
. Genis. He liked living in France while working mostly in Switzerland; CERN had its own specid
border crossng that allowed its staff to pass between the two countries without worrying about showing

passports.

Lloyd rented the apartment furnished; athough he' d been at CERN two years, hedidn’t think of it as
being hishome, and the idea of buying furniture, which would be a bear to import back to North
America, didn’'t make senseto him. The provided furnishings were abit old-fashioned and ornate for his
tastes, but at least everything coordinated well: the dark wood, the burnt-orange carpet, the dark-red
walls. It had acozy, warm fedl, at the expense of making the place look smdler thanit redlly was. But he
had no emotiona attachment to this apartment—he d never been married or lived with anyone of the
opposite sex, and, in the twenty-five years since he' d moved out on hisown, he' d had €leven different
addresses. Still, tonight there was no question that they should go to his place, not hers. There would be
too much of Tamiko &t the flat in Geneva, too much to face so soon.

Lloyd s gpartment was in aforty-year-old building, heated by eectric radiators. They sat on the couch.
He had an arm around her shoulder, and he was trying to comfort her. "I’m sorry,” said Lloyd.

Michiko' sface was till puffy. She had periods of cam, but the tears would suddenly start again and
they seemed to go on forever. She nodded dightly.

"There was no way to foresee this,” said Lloyd. "No way to prevent it."

But Michiko shook her head. "What kind of mother am |?' she said. "I took my daughter half aworld
away from her grandparents, from her home."

Lloyd said nothing. What could he say? That it had seemed like awonderful thing to do? Getting to
study in Europe, evenif only at age eight, would have been aterrific experience for any child. Surely
bringing Tamiko to Switzerland had been theright idea.

"I should try to cdll Hiroshi," said Michiko. Hiroshi was her ex-husband. "Make sure he got the e-mail.”



Lloyd thought about observing that Hiroshi probably wouldn't evince any more interest in his daughter
now that she was dead than he had when she was dive. Even though he' d never met him, Lloyd hated
Hirashi, on many different levels. He hated that Hiroshi had made his Michiko sad—not just once or
twice, but for yearson end. It pained Lloyd to think of her trudging through life without asmile on her
face, with no joy in her heart. He d <o, if he were brutally honest with himsalf, hated Hiroshi because he
hed had her first. But LIoyd didn’t say anything. He smply siroked Michiko' s lustrous black hair.

"Hedidn’'t want meto bring her here," said Michiko, sniffling. "He wanted her to stay in Tokyo, gotoa
Japanese school.” Shewiped her eyes. ™ * A proper school,” hesaid.” A pause. "If only I’d listened to
him"

"The phenomenonwas worldwide," said LIoyd gently. " She would have been no safer in Tokyo thanin
Geneva Y ou can't blame yoursdlf."

"l don't," said Michiko. "1—"
But she stopped hersdlf. Lloyd couldn’t help wondering if shewas going to say, "I blameyou.”

Michiko hadn’'t cometo CERN to be with LIoyd, but there was no doubt in either of their mindsthat he
was the reason she' d decided to stay. She' d asked Sumitomo to keep her on here, after the equipment
shewas responsible for wasingtaled. For the first two months, Tamiko had been back in Japan, but
Michiko, once she' d decided to extend her stay, had arranged to have her daughter brought to Europe.

Lloyd had loved Tamiko, too. He knew the ot of stepfather was always a difficult one, but the two of
them had hit it off. Not al youngsters are pleased when adivorced parent finds anew partner; LIoyd's
own sister had broken up with her boyfriend because her two young sonsdidn’t care for the new manin
her life. But Tamiko had oncetold Lloyd that she liked him because he made her mother smile.

Lloyd looked at his fiancée. She was s0 sad, he wondered if he' d ever see her smile again. Hefdlt like
crying himsdlf, but there was something stupid and masculine that wouldn't let him do that while she was
dso crying. Hehdditin.

LIoyd wondered what impact this was going to have on their upcoming marriage. He had brought no
other agendato his proposd than smply that heloved Michiko, totally and completely. And he did not
doubt Michiko'slove for him, but, nonetheless, to some degree, there had to have been a secondary
reason for Michiko to want to marry him. No matter how modern and liberated awoman she was, and,
by Japanese standards at |east, Michiko wasvery modern, she sill had, in some measure, to have been
looking for afather for her child, someone who would have helped her to bring up Tamiko, who would
have provided amale presencein her life.

Had Michiko redly been in the market for ahusband? Oh, yes, she and Lloyd were terrific
together—but many couples were terrific together without marriage or any long-term commitment.
Would she dtill wish to marry him now?

And, of course, therewasthat other woman, the onein hisvision, the proof, vivid and full-blown. . .

The proof that, just as his own parents marriage had ended in divorce, 0, too, would the one he was
supposed to enter with Michiko.



Day Two: Wednesday, April 22,2009

NEWS DIGEST

The death count keeps rising after yesterday’ s Flashforward phenomenon. In Caracas, Venezuela,
Guillermo Garmendia, 36, apparently disconsolate over the death of hiswife, Maria, 34, shot and killed
histwo sons, Ramon, 7, and Salvador, 5, then turned the gun on himsdlf.

The government of Queendand, Austrdia, has declared aformal state of emergency, following the
Fashforward.

Bondplus Corporation of San Rafadl, Cdlifornia, isin agreat state of turmoil. The chief executive officer,
chief financid officer, and entire board of directors perished when their corporate jet crashed on take-of f
during the Flashforward. Bondpluswasin the middle of defending itself from a hogtile takeover bid from

arch-riva Jasmine Adhesives.

A one-billion-dollar (Canadian) class-action suit has been launched againgt the Toronto Transit
Commission, on behdf of trangt ridersinjured or killed during the Flashforward. The suit claimsthat the
Commission was negligent in not providing padded flooring at the bottom of staircases and escalatorsto
protect peoplein the event of afall.

A massive sdl-off of Japanese yen has precipitated yet another crissin the Japanese economy, following
indications from the Hashforward that the yen will be worth only half its current value against the U.S,

dollar in 2030.

The race was on.

Theo had his head bent down, poring over the computer logs strewn across his desk. There had to be
an ansver—arationa explanation for what had happened. Throughout the CERN campus, physicists



were investigating, exploring, and debating possible explanations.

The door to Theo's office opened and Michiko Komura came in, some pieces of paper held in her
hand. "I hear you' re looking for information about your own murder,” she said.

Theo fdt hisheart rate increasing. "Do you know something?'
"Me?" Michiko frowned. "No. No, sorry."
"Oh." A beat. "Then why bring it up?'

"Well, | wasthinking, that’sal. Y ou can't be the only one desperate to know more about hisor her
future”

"l guess"

"And, well, it ssemsto me there should be a central method for coordinating thet. | mean, | saw your
newsgroup posting this morning—and it was hardly the only onelike that.”

llol,]?l

"Their aretons of peoplelooking for information about their futures. Not everyoneislooking for facts
about their own deaths, of course, but—well, here, let me read some of them to you."

She sat down and began to read from the pieces of paper. " * Anyone with information about the future
wheregbouts of Marcus Whyte, please contact . . .” *University student seeking career advice: if your
vision indicated anything about which jobs arein demand in 2030, please let me know.” ‘ Information
sought about the future of the Internationa Committee of theRed Cross. .. "

"Fascinating,” said Theo. He knew what Michiko was doing: burying hersdlf in
something—anything—rather than thinking about theloss of Tamiko.

"la’t it, though?' she said. "And there are so abunch of display ads on the Web aready—come-ons
from big corporations, looking for information that might help them. | didn’t know you could get a banner
ad placed so quickly, but | guessamost anything’ s possibleif you' rewilling to pay for it." She paused
and looked away; doubtless athought of Tamiko had cometo the front of her mind—somethings,
unfortunately, wereimpossible a any price. After amoment, she went on. "In fact, you know, you
probably shouldn’t go public with the info about your upcoming murder. | was saying to Lloyd this
morning that life-insurance companies are probably aready gathering details about anyone who isdead in
the next twenty years so that they can turn down policy gpplications.

Theo fdt his somach fluttering. He hadn’t thought of that. " So you think someone should coordinate dl
this?' hesaid.

"W, not the corporate stuff—I wouldn't let my bosses at Sumitomo hear me say this, but | don't care
about which companies get rich. But the persond stuff—people trying to figure out what their own futures
hold, trying to make sense of their visions. | think we should help them.”

"Y ou and me?"

"Well, not just us. All of CERN."



"Béranger will never go for that," said Theo, shaking his head. "He doesn’t want usto admit any
involvement.”

"We don't haveto. We can just volunteer to coordinate a database. WEe ve certainly got the computing
and, after al, CERN’ sgot ahistory of dtruistic computing. The World Wide Web was created here,
aterdl.”

"So what do you propose?* asked Theo.

Michiko lifted her shouldersabit. "A centra repostory. A Web site with aform: describe your visonin,
| don’t know, maybe two hundred words. We could index all the descriptions so that people could
search them viakeywords and Boolean operators. Y ou know, al visons that mention Aberdeen but not
gporting events. Stuff like that. Of course, the indexing program would automatically cross reference
hockey,baseboru, and so on, to genera termslike ‘ sporting events.” Not only would it help you, it would
help alot of other people.”

Theo found himsdalf nodding. "That makes sense. But why limit the length of the entries? | mean, Storage
gpaceis chesap. I’ d encourage people to be as detailed in their accounts as possible. After al, what's
seemingly irrelevant to the person having the vision might be vitaly important to somebody dse.”

"Good point," said Michiko. "Aslong as Béranger’s moratorium on using the LHC isin effect, I’ veredly
got nothing much to do, so I’'m willing to work on this. But I’ [l need some help. LlIoyd isusdesswhen it
comesto programming; | thought maybe you could give me ahand.” LIoyd and Theo's partnership had
begun because L loyd needed someone with much more programming expertise than he had to encode
his physcsideasinto experiments that could be run usng ALICE.

Theo was dready thinking of an angle. They could announce it with a press release—that womanin
public relations who had knocked herself out during her vision could send it out to wherever such things
went. But in the pressrelease, they could use Theo’ s own case as an example—it would be the perfect
way of making sure his problem got worldwide attention. " Sure," said Theo. " Surething.”

After Michiko left, Theo turned back to his computer and checked his e-mail. There were the usua
things, including spam from some company in Mauritania. The Mauritanian government had pulled off a
remarkable coup: by being one of the few nations not to ban spamming by domestic companies, they’d
brought thousands of businessesto their shores.

Theo clicked through the other messages. A note from afriend in Sorrento. A request for acopy of a
paper Theo had coauthored; for some researcher at MIT, at least, it was back to business as usual.
And—

Y esl Moreinformation about his murder.
It was from awoman in Montreal. She was French, but had been born in France, not Canada, and so
followed news from her homeland. CERN, of course, straddled the Switzerland/France border, and

athough Genevawas the closest city, amurder at the facility was as much a French story asa Swiss one.

Her vision had been of reading the write-up inLe Monde about Theo's murder. The factsal matched
what Kathleen DeVries had rel ated—the first confirmation Theo had actually had that the South African



woman wasn't perpetrating ahoax. But the words of the news report, as she relayed them, were quite
different. It wasn't just atrandation of the one DeVries had seen; rather, it was acompletely different
article. And it contained one sdient fact that had been absent from the Johannesburg account. According

to this French woman, the name of the detective who would be investigating Theo's murder was Helmut
Drescher of the Genevapolice.

Thewoman concluded her e-mail with," Bonne chance!"
Bonne chance. Good luck. Yes, he' d certainly need alot of that.

Theo knew the emergency number for the Geneva police off by heart: 1-1-7; indeed, it was printed on a
sticker attached to al of CERN'’ s phones. But he had no ideawhat the genera-inquiry number was. He
used the telephone keyboard on his phone, found the number, and dialed it.

"Allo," said Theo." Detective Helmut Drescher, s'il vous plait."

"We don't have a detective by that name," said the male cop at the other end of the phone.

"He might have some other position. Something morejunior.”

"There' sno one here by that name at dl," said the voice.

Theo considered. "Do you have adirectory of other police departmentsin Switzerland? Isthere any way
to check?"

"I don’'t have anything like that here; we' d have to dig around a bit.”
"Could you do that?'

"What'sthisal about?'

Theo decided that honesty—or, at least, semi-honesty—was the best policy. "He sinvestigating a
murder, and I’ ve got someinformation.”

"All right; I'll look into it. How can | reach you?"'

Theo |eft his name and number, thanked the officer, then hung up. He decided to try a more direct
approach, tapping out Drescher’ s name on the telephone keyboard.

Pay dirt. There was only one Helmut Drescher in Geneva; helived on Rue Jean-Dassier.

Theo dided the number.



NEWS DIGEST

Striking hospital workersin Poland voted unanimoudy to return to work today. "Our causeisjust, and
we will take labor action again—but for now, our duty to humanity must comefirst,” said Union leader
Stefan Wyszynski.

Cineplex/Odeon, alarge movie-theater chain, has announced freeticketsfor all patrons who were
attending movies during the FHlashforward. Although gpparently the movies played on during the event,
the audience lost consciousness, missing about two minutes of the action. Other theater chainsare
expected to follow suit.

After arecord number of gpplicationswerefiled in the last 24 hours, the United States Patent Office has
closed until further notice, pending adecision from Congress on the patenting of inventions gleaned from
thevisons

The Committee for Scientific Investigation of Claims of the Paranormal hasissued apressrelease,
pointing out that athough we don’t yet have an explanation for the Flashforward, thereisno reason to
invoke supernatural causes.

European Mutual, the largest insurance company in the European Union, has declared bankruptcy

It wastime, sooner than they’ d thought. The shock of yesterday had pushed Marie-Claire Béranger into
labor. Gaston took hiswife to the hospita in Thoiry; the Bérangerslived in Geneva, but it was important
emotiondly to them both that their son be born on French sail.

As CERN'’s Director-General, Gaston was well rewarded, and Marie-Claire, alawyer, made agood
income, too. Still, it was reassuring to know that regardless of their means, Marie-Claire would have
gotten dl the medical care she needed while she was expecting. Gaston had heard that in the United
States many women see adoctor for the first time during their pregnancy on the day they give birth. It
was no wonder that the U.S. had an infant-mortality rate many times higher than did Switzerland or
France. No, they were going to give their son the best of everything. He knew it was a boy, and not just
because of the vision. Marie-Claire was forty-two, and their doctor had recommended a series of
sonograms during the pregnancy; they had quite clearly seenthelittlefeller’ slittle feler.

Of course there had been no way to concea hisvision from Marie-Claire; Gaston wasn't one for
keeping secrets from hiswife, anyway, but in this case, it wasimpossible. She' d had a corresponding
vison—the same fight with Marc, but from her point of view. Gaston was glad that L1oyd Simcoe had



managed to prove that the visions were synchronized by talking to his grad student and that womanin
Canada; Marie-Claire and Gaston had vowed to keep their vision private.

Still, there had been issues, even though they’ d both been part of the same scene. Marie-Claire had
asked Gaston to describe what she looked like twenty years hence. Gaston had glossed over some
details, her weight gain among them; she’ d complained for months about how huge she was because of
the pregnancy, and how she was determined to get her figure back quickly.

For his part, Gaston had been surprised to learn from her that he would have abeard in 2030; he'd
never grown onein hisyouth, and now that hiswhiskers were dready coming in gray, he'd assumed he'd
never have onein the future, either. Shetold him he would keep his hair, though—but whether that was
thetruth, just akindness on her part, or an indication that by the end of the third decade of this century
that there would be easy and common cures for baldness, he didn’t know.

The hospital was jammed with patients, many on gurneys out in corridors, they’ d apparently been there
snceyesterday’ sevent. Still, most of theinjuries had either been ingtantly fatal, requiring no hospital vist,
or broken bones and burns;, comparatively few patients had actualy been admitted. And, thankfully, the
obgtetricsward was only dightly busier than usud. Marie-Claire was conveyed there in awhedchair
pushed by anurse; Gaston walked aongsde, holding hiswife' s hand.

Gaston was a physicist, of course—or, at least, had been one once; his various administrative portfolios
had kept him from personally doing any real science for more than adozen years. He had no ideawhat
had caused the visons. Oh, certainly, they were likely rdated to the LHC experiment; thetiming
coincidence was too much to ignore. But whatever caused them, and however unpleasant his own one
was, Gaston didn’t regret hisvision. It had been awarning, awake-up call, a portent. And he would
heed it—he wouldn't let thingsturn that way. He d be agood father; he' d make lots of time for his son.

He squeezed hiswife’ s hand.

And they headed into the delivery room.

The house was large and attractive—and, with its proximity to the lake, doubtless expensive. Its exterior
lines suggested a chalet, but that was obvioudy an affectation: housing in cosmopolitan Genevawas as
far-removed from Swiss chalets as that in Manhattan was from farmhouses. Theo rang the doorbell and
waited, handsin his pockets, until it was opened.

"Y ou must be the gentleman from CERN," said the woman. Although Genevawas located in the
French-speaking part of Switzerland, the woman's accent was German. As headquarters of numerous
internationa organizations, Geneva attracted people from al over theworld.

"That’sright," said Theo, then, guessing at the appropriate honorific, "Frau Drescher." She was perhaps
forty-five, dim, very pretty, with hair that Theo guessed was naturaly blonde. "My nameis Theo
Procopides. Thank you for letting me come.”

Frau Drescher lifted her narrow shoulders once. "1 wouldn’t normally, of course—a stranger who cdls
on the phone. But it’ s been such a strange couple of days."

"It hasindeed," said Theo. "IsHerr Drescher home?"



"Not yet. Sometimes his business kegpshim late.”

Theo smiled indulgently. "I can imagine. Police work must be very demanding.”

The woman frowned. "Police work? What exactly isit you think my husband does?"

"He sapolice officer, no?'

"Helmut? He sdlls shoes, he has a shop on rue du Rhone."

People could change careersin twenty years, of course—but from salesperson to detective? Not quite a
Horatio Alger story, but still pretty darned improbable. And, besides, the glitzy stores on rue du Rhéne
were pricey ashdl; Theo himsalf could afford to do nothing but window-shop there. A person might
have to take a substantial cut in pay to become a cop after working in that part of town.

"I'msorry. I'd just assumed—your husband isthe only Helmut Drescher in the Genevadirectory. Do
you know anyone else who has the same name?"

"Not unlessyou mean my son.”
"Y our son?"
"Wecdl him Moat, but he' sredly Helmut, Jr."

Of course—the old man worked in a shoe store, and the son was a cop. And naturally a cop would
have an unlisted phone number.

"Ah, my migtake. It must be him. Can you tell me how to get in touch with your son?"
"He' sup in hisroom.”

"Y ou mean he dill liveshere?'

"Of course. HE sonly seven yearsold.”

Theo mentdly kicked himsdlf; hewas dill struggling with the redlity of the glimpses of the future—and
perhaps the fact that he had not had one himsalf excused him from not redly redizing the timeframe
involved but, dill, hefdt likeanidiot.

If young Moot was seven now, he' d be twenty-eight at the time of Theo' s desth—a year older than
Theo himself was now. And no point asking if he wants to be a police officer when he grows up—every
seven-year-old boy does.

"| hateto impose," said Theo, "but if you don’t mind, | would liketo seehim.”
"I don’'t know. Perhgps| should wait until my husband gets home.”
"If you like" said Theo.

Shelooked as though she' d expected him to push; hiswillingnessto wait seemed to dispd her fears. "Alll
right,” shesaid, "comeinside. But | haveto warn you: Moot s been very reserved since that—that thing



that happened yesterday, whatever it was. And hedidn’t deep a al well last night, so he' sabit fussy.”
Theo nodded. "'l understand.”

Sheled himingde. It wasabright, airy home, with astunning view of Lac Léman; Helmut Senior
gpparently sold alot of shoes.

The staircase consisted of horizontal wooden steps with no vertical pieces. Frau Drescher stood at the
base of it and called out, "Moot! Moot! There' s someone here to see you!" She then turned to look at
Theo. "Won't you have a seat?'

She was gesturing at alow-dung wooden chair with white cushions; a nearby couch matched it. He sat
down. The woman moved to the foot of the stairs again, behind Theo now, and called out. "Moot! Come
here! There' s someone to see you." She moved back to where Theo could see her and lifted her
shoulders apologeticaly in what' s-a-mother-to-do shrug.

Findly, there was the sound of light feet on the wooden steps. The boy descended quickly; he might
have been reluctant to heed his mother’ s call but, like most kids, he apparently habitualy rushed down
dtaircases.

"Ah, Moot," said hismother, "thisis Herr Proco—"

Theo had turned to look over his shoulder at the boy. The moment Moot saw Theo, he screamed and
immediately ran up the stairs so fast that the open-construction staircase visibly shook.

"What' swrong?' caled his mother to his departing back.

When he reached the upper floor, the boy dammed adoor shut behind him.

"I'm so sorry," said Frau Drescher, turning to Theo. "I don’t know what’ s gotten into him.”

Theo closed hiseyes. "l do, | think," hesaid. "I didn’t tell you everything, Frau Drescher. I—twenty-one
years from now, I’'m dead. And your son, Hemut Drescher, is a detective with the Geneva Police. HE's
investigating my murder."

Frau Drescher went as white as the snow cap on Mont Blanc.”"Mein Gott," shesad."Mein Gott."

"You haveto let metak to Moot," Theo said. "He recognized me—which means hisvison must have
had something to do with me."

"He sjud alittle boy."

"I know that—but he s got information about my murder. | need to know whatever he knows."
"A child can’t undergand any of this."

"Please, Frau Drescher. Please—it’' s mylife we re talking about.”

"Hewouldn’t say anything about his—hisvison,” said thewoman. "It had obvioudy frightened him, but
hewouldn't talk about it."



"Please, | must know what he saw."

Shethought about it for afew moments, then, asif it were against her better judgment, said: "Comewith
m"

She started up the staircase. Theo followed afew steps behind. There were four rooms on the upper
floor: awashroom, its door open; two bedrooms, aso with opened doors; and afourth room, with a
poster for the origina Rocky movie taped to the outside of its closed door. Frau Drescher motioned for
Theo to move back down the corridor abit. He did so, and she rapped her knuckles on the door.

"Moot! Mooat, it'smomma. Can | comein?"

Therewasno reply.

She reached down to the brass-colored handle and turned it dowly, then tentatively opened the door
part way. "Moot?'

A muffled voice, asif the boy waslying face down on apillow. "Isthat man still here?"

"Hewon't comein. | promise" A pause. ™Y ou know him from somewhere?’

"| sawv that face. That chin."

"Where?'

"Inaroom. Hewaslying on abed." A pause. "Except it wasn't abed, it was made of metd. And it had
athinginit, likethat plate you serveroastson.”

"A trough?' said Frau Drescher.

"His eyeswere closed, but it washim, and . . ."

"And what?'
Slence.
"It'sokay to say, Moot. It' sokay to tell me."

"He didn’'t have any shirt or pants on. And there was this guy in awhite smock, like we wear in art class.
But he had aknife, and hewas. . ."

Theo, standing in the corridor, held his breath.

"He had aknife, like, and hewas. . . hewas. . ."
Carving me open, Theo thought. An autopsy, the detective watching as the medica examiner performed
it.
"It wasso gross,” said the boy.

Theo stepped quietly forward, standing now in the doorway behind Frau Drescher. The youngster was



indeed lying on his stomach.

"Moot . .." Theo said very softly. "Moot, I'm sorry you saw that, but—Dbut | have to know. | haveto
know what the man was saying to you."

"l don’t want to talk about it," said the boy.

"I know . . . | know. But it’ s very important to me. Please, Moot. Please. That man in the white smock,
he was a doctor. Please tell me what he was saying.”

"Do | haveto?' said the boy to hismom.

Theo could see emotions warring across her face. On the one hand, she wanted to protect her son from
an unpleasant Situation; on the other, something bigger than that was clearly at stake. At last she said,
"No, you don’'t have to—but itwould be helpful." She moved across the room, sat on the edge of the
bed, and stroked the boy’ s crewcut blond head. ™Y ou see, Herr Procopides here, he'sin alot of trouble.
Somebody isgoing to try to kill him. But maybe you can help prevent that. Y ou’ d like to do that,
wouldn’t you, Moot?'

It wasthe boy’ sturn to wrestle with histhoughts. "'l guess,” he said at last. Helifted his head a bit,
looked back a Theo, then immediately |ooked away.

"Moot?" said hismother, gently prodding.

"Hedyeshishair,” said the boy, asif it were aheinousthing to do. "It' sredly gray.”

Theo nodded. Y oung Helmut didn’t understand. How could he? Seven years old, suddenly transported
from wherever he' d been—the playground, perhaps, or a classroom, or even the safety of this, hisown
bedroom. Transported from there to amorgue, watching abody being diced open, watching thick, dark
blood ooze down the channd in the pall&t.

"Please," said Theo. "I—ah, | promise not to dye my hair anymore.”

The boy was quiet for awhile longer, then he spoke, tentatively, hatingly.

"They used alot of fancy words. | didn’t understand most of it."

"Were they speaking French?'

"No, German. The other guy, he didn’t have an accent, just like | don't.”

Theo smiled abit; Moot’ s accent was actudly pretty thick, he thought. Still, two-thirds of Switzerland's
population usualy spoke German, while only eighteen percent regularly spoke French. Granted, Geneva
was in the French-speaking part of the country, but it wouldn't be a al unusua for two native-German
speakersto use that language if no one else was around.

"Did they say anything about an entrance wound?" asked Theo.

"A what?'

"An entrance wound.” At the moment, Moot and Theo were speaking French; Theo hoped he had the



right phrasing for that language. "'Y ou know, where the bullet went in."

"Bullets" said the boy.

"Pardon?’

"Bullets. There were three of them." Helooked at his mother. "That’ swhat the man in the smock said.”
Three bullets, thought Theo. Somebody wanted me verydead.

"And the entrance wounds?' said Theo. "Did they say where the bulletswent in?’

"Intheches."

So | would have seen the killer, thought Theo. "Isthere anything else you can tell me?

"l said something,” said the boy.

"Wha?'

"I mean, it seemed like | was saying it. But it was't my voice. It was al deep, you know?"

Grown up. Of courseit was deep. "What did you say?"

"That you’ d been shot at closerange.”

"How did you know that?'

"l don’t know it—I don’t know why | said it. The words just sort of came out.”

"Did the medica examine—the man in the smock—did he say anything when you said that?"

The boy was now sitting up in bed, facing them. "No, he just nodded, sort of. Like he agreed with me."
"Wll, then, did he say something that prompted you to observe it had been at close range?’

"I don’'t understand,” said the boy. "Momma, do | have to do this?"

"Please," said Frau Drescher. "WE Il have ice cream for dessert. Please just help the nice man for afew
more minutes.”

The boy frowned, asif weighing how much apped theice cream might have. Then: "He said you were
killed in aboxing match.”

Theo was startled. He might be arrogant, he might be pushy, but never in his adult life had he hit another
human being. Indeed, he rather considered himsdlf a pacifist, and had turned down severd lucrétive
offers from defense companies after graduation. He d never been to aboxing match in hislife; he thought
of it not asasport but rather as an animalistic display.

"Areyou sure he said that?' said Theo. He looked at theRocky poster on the door again, then at the wall
above Moot’ s bed, which sported a poster of heavyweight champ Evander Holyfield. Maybe the kid



was conflating his dreemswith hisvison?
"Uh-huh," said Moot.
"But why would | be shot in aboxing match?'
The boy shrugged.
"Do you remember anything el se?*
"He sad something wasredly smal.”
"Something was smd|?
"Y egh. Jugt nine millimeters™
Theo looked at the mother. "That'sagun size. | think it refersto the diameter of the bore.”
"I hate guns," said Frau Drescher.
"Me, t0o," said Theo. Helooked at the boy again. "What else did they say?"
" *Glock.” The man kept saying ‘Glock.” "
"That'sakind of gun. Did they say anything ese?"
"Stuff about dallisics. . "
"Da—7?Y ou mean balistics?'
"l guess. They were going to send the bulletsto dallisics. Isthat acity?”
Theo shook his head. "Did they say anything else about the bullets?

"They were American. Theman said it said  Remington’ on the shell casings, and | said, likel knew
what | wastalking about, ‘ American,” and he nodded.”

"Did they say anything es=? Anything while they werelooking in my chest?'

The boy’ sface was pae. "There was so much blood. Somuch guts. | . . ."

Frau Drescher drew her son closer to her. "I’m sorry, Herr Procopides, but | think that’ s enough.”
"BU"

"No. You'll haveto go now."

Theo exhaed. He reached into his pocket, pulled out one of his cards, and crossed over to the boy’s
bed. "Moat, thisis how you can reach me. Please keep this card. Any time—I mean any time, even

years from now—if something occursto you that you think | should know, | beg you to give meacall.
It svery important to me."



The boy looked at the little rectangle; he' d probably never been handed abusiness card before in his
life

"Takeit. Takethe card. It syoursto keep."
Moot took it tentatively from Theo' s hand.

Theo gave another card to the mother, thanked both Dreschers, and I ft.

NEWS DIGEST

Darren Sunday, star of the NBC television seriesDale Rice, died today of injuries sustained in afall
during the phenomenon. Production on the series, which had been shooting around Sunday’ s absence,
has halted.

The New Y ork State Thruway Commission reports that the seventy-two-car pileup near Exit 44
(Canandaigua) has still not been cleared; the westbound Thruway is il blocked at that point. Driversare
advised to choose dternate routes.

A group of ten thousand Mudimsin London, England, whose private prayers were interrupted by the
Flashforward, came together today in Piccadilly Circusto face Meccaand prayen masse.

Pope Benedict XVI has announced agrueling schedule of internationd vigts. He invites Catholics and
non-Catholicsto attend his masses, designed to give comfort to those who lost loved ones during the
Flashforward. When questioned about whether the Flashforward congtituted a miracle, the pontiff
reserved judgment.

The United Nations Children’s Fund has stepped in to help overburdened nationa adoption agenciesin
finding homesfor children orphaned during the Flashforward.



Although CERN was jumping—every researcher had a pet theory about what had happened—LIoyd
and Michiko went home early; nobody could blame them after what had happened to Michiko's
daughter. "Home," again without discussion—none was necessary—was Lloyd' s gpartment in &. Genis.
Michiko was il crying every few hours, and LIoyd had findly found time at work to close his office
door, put his head down on his desk, and cry his heart out, too. Sometimes, crying helped make the pain
go away; itdidn’tinthiscase.

They had an early dinner; Lloyd cooked up chops, which he' d had in the fridge. Michiko, clearly
wanting to do something—anything—to keep her mind busy, worked on straightening up Lloyd's
apartment.

And, asthey finished their dinner, and Michiko drank her teaand LIoyd his coffee, the question LIoyd
had been dreading wasfinally asked again.

"What did you see?" asked Michiko.

Lloyd opened his mouth to reply, but then closed it.

"Oh, comeon,” said Michiko, evidently reading hisface. "It couldn’t have been that bad.”
"ltwas" sad Lloyd.

"What did you see?' she asked again.

"|—" He closed hiseyes. "l was with another woman.”

Michiko blinked severd times. Findly, her voice frosty, she said, "Y ou were cheating on me?'
"No—no."

"Then what?'

" was—God, honey, | anso sorry—I was married to another woman.”

"How do you know you were married?'

"We were both in bed together; we were wearing matching wedding bands. And we werein acottagein
New England.”

"Maybe it was her place.”
"No. | recognized some of the furniture.”

"Y ou were married to someone e se," said Michiko, asif trying to digest the concept. She had such a
shock recently that perhaps anything el se would have been too much to absorb.

Lloyd nodded. "We—you and I—we must have been divorced. Or . . ."



"Or?'
He shrugged. " Or maybe we never went through with the marriage in thefirst place.”
"Don't you still love me?' asked Michiko.

"Of course | do. Of course | do. But—look, | didn’t want to have that vision. | didn’t enjoy it at all.
Remember when we were talking about our vows? Remember when we discussed whether to leave ‘till
death do us part’ inthere? Y ou said it was old fashioned; you said nobody says that anymore. And, well,
youhave been married once before. But | said we should leaveit in. That’ swhat | wanted. | wanted a
marriage that would last forever. Not like my parents—and not like your first marriage.”

"Youwerein New England," said Michiko, still trying to ded withit. "And I—I wasin Kyoto."

"With alittlegirl," said Lloyd. He paused, unsure whether he should give voice to the nagging question.
But then he did, not quite meeting her eyes as he spoke. "What did the girl look like?"

"She had long black hair," said Michiko.
"And..."

Michiko looked away. "And Asian features. Shelooked Japanese.” She paused. "But that doesn’t mean
anything; lots of kids of mixed coupleslook more like one parent than the other.”

Lloyd felt his heart movein his chest. "I thought we were meant for each other,” he said softly. "I thought
..." Hetrailed off, unable to say, " thought you were my soulmate." His eyes were stinging; o,
apparently, were hers. She rubbed them with the backs of her hands.

"I loveyou, Lloyd," shesad.
"l loveyoutoo, but . . ."
"Yes" shesad. "But. . ."

He reached across and touched her hand, which was now sitting on the tabletop. She gripped his
fingers. They sat slently together for avery longtime,

Theo sat for awhilein his car on the street outside the Dreschers home, hismind racing. He' d been
shot by aGlock 9mm; he was pretty sure from cop shows he’ d watched that the Glock wasa
semiautomatic pistol, popular with police forces worldwide. But the ammunition had been American,
maybe it had been an American who had pulled the trigger. Of course, Theo had probably not yet met
whoever it was who would one day want him dead. Surely there would be dmost no overlap between
his current circle of friends, acquaintances, and colleagues and those who would comprise those groups
two decades hence.

Still, Theo aready knew alot of Americans.

But nonewell. None, except Lloyd Smcoe.



Of course, Lloyd wasn't really an American. He was born in Canada. And Canadians didn’t like guns,
elther—they had no Second Amendment, or whatever damned thing it was that made Americansthink
they could go around armed.

But Lloyd had lived in the U.S. for seventeen years before coming to CERN, first at Harvard, then asan
experimenter with the Tevatron at Fermilab near Chicago. And, by Lloyd s own admission, he' d beliving
inthe U.S. again by thetime of the visons. He could have gotten agun easily enough.

But no—Lloyd had an aibi. He wasin New England when Theo was—what was it the Americans say?
When Theo waswasted.

Except . ..

Except that Theo was/would be killed October 21—and Lloyd' svision, like everyone ese's, was of
October 23.

Lloyd had told Theo hisvison—he d said he hadn’t told Michiko yet, but Theo had inssted, and Lloyd
had relented, dthough he did swear the young Greek to secrecy. Lloyd had said hisvison had him
making love to an old woman, presumably histhen-wife.

Old people surdly didn’t make love that often, thought Theo. Indeed, they probably only did it on specia
occasons. Like when one of them had returned from along absence. It' s only asix-hour flight from New
England to Switzerland . . . and that’ stoday. Twenty years hence, it might be much less.

No, LIoyd could easily have been at CERN on Monday and back home in New Hampshire, or
wherever the hdl it was, on Wednesday. Not that Theo could think of any reason that LIoyd would want
tokill him.

Except that, of course, by 2030, Theo, not Lloyd, was apparently director of what sounded like an
incredibly advanced particle accelerator at CERN: the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider. Academic and
professiond jedlousy had led to more than one murder over the years.

And, of course, there was the fact that LIoyd and Michiko were no longer together. If he were honest
with himsdf, Theo fancied Michiko, too. What man wouldn’t? She was gorgeous and brilliant and warm
and funny. And, well, shewas closer to hisage than to Lloyd's. Could he have had arolein their
breakup?

Just as he had pushed LIoyd to share hisvision, so, too, had he pushed Michiko to share hers: Theo was
hungry for insight, vicarioudy trying to experience what everyone ese had been lucky enoughto see. In
Michiko'svision, shewasin Kyoto, perhaps, as she had said, taking her daughter to visit Michiko's
uncle. Could Lloyd have waited until she was temporarily away from Genevato come over to settlean
old score with Theo?

Theo hated himself for even considering such possibilities. LIoyd had been his mentor, his partner.
They’ d dways talked about sharing aNobel Prize. But—

But there was no mention of aNobed in the two articles he’ d found now about his own death. Of course,
that didn’t mean Lloyd wouldn’t get one, but . . .

Theo' s mother was diabetic; Theo had researched the history of diabetes when she' d been diagnosed.
The names Banting and Best kept coming up—the two Canadian researchers who had discovered



insulin. Indeed, they were another pair people sometimes likened Lloyd and Theo to: like Crick and
Watson, Banting and Best were of different ages—Banting was clearly the senior researcher. But
athough Crick and Watson had been jointly awarded the Nobel, Banting had shared his not with histrue
research partner, young Best, but rather with J. R. R. Macleod, Banting’ s boss. Perhaps LIoydwould get
aNobd—not for the Higgs discovery, which had failed to materidize, but rather for an explanation of the
time-displacement effect. And perhaps he would shareit not with hisyoung partner but rather with his
boss—with Béranger, or someone e'sein the CERN hierarchy. What would that do to their friendship,
their partnership? What jeal ousies and hatreds would fester between now and the year 20307

Madness. Paranoia. And yet—

And yet, if hewerekilled on the CERN grounds—M oot Drescher’ s suggestion of a shoot-out in a
sports arena ill seemed a dubious proposition—then he would be killed by someone who had managed
to gain access to the campus. CERN wasn't a maximum-security facility by any means, but neither did it
alow just anyoneto enter its gates.

No, someone who could get into CERN had likely killed him. Someone whom Theo would meet with
face-to-face. And someone who wanted him not just dead, but who had clearly vented pent up anger,
pumping shot after shot into Theo' s body.

Lloyd and Michiko had moved to the couch in the living room; the dishes could wait for later.
Dammit, thought LIoyd, why did this have to happen? Everything had been going so well, and now—

And now, it looked likeit al was going to fall apart. LIoyd wasn't ayoung man. He d never intended to
wait thislong to get married, but . . .

But work had gotten in the way, and—
No. No, that wasn't it. Let’sbe honest. Let’sfaceit.
He thought of himself asagood man, kind and gentle, but—

But, truth be told, he wasn't polished, he wasn't dick; it had been easy for Michiko to improve his
wardrobe, because, of course, dmost any change would have been for the better.

Oh, sure, women—and men, for that matter—said he was agood listener, but Lloyd knew that it wasn't
so much that he was sage but rather that he smply didn’t know what to say. And so he sat, taking it in,
taking in the peaks and valleys of other peopl€ slives, the highsand lows, the trids and travails of those
whose existence had more variation, more excitement, more angst than his own.

Lloyd Simcoe wasn't alady’ s man; he wasn't araconteur; he didn’'t have areputation as an after-dinner
Spesker. Hewas just ascientist, aspeciaist in quark-gluon plasma, atypica nerd who'd started out asa
kid who couldn’t throw abaseball, who spent his adolescence with his nose buried in books when others
his age were out honing interpersond skillsin athousand and one different situations.

And the years had dipped by—histwenties, histhirties, and now, here, most of hisforties. Oh, he'd had
success at hiswork, and he' d dated now and again, and there had been Pam, al those years ago, but
nothing that looked as though it was going to be permanent, no relationship that seemed destined to stand



thetest of time.
Unitil thisone, with Michiko.

It had felt so right. The way she laughed at hisjokes; the way he laughed at hers. The way, even though
they’d grown up in vastly different societies—him in conservative, rurd Nova Scotig; her in
cosmopolitan, overwheming Tokyo—that they shared the same palitics and morals and beliefs and
opinions, asif—the term came again, unbidden—asiif theywere soul mates, dways meant to be together.
Y es, she' d been married and divorced, yes, she is—was—a parent, but, still, they had seemed
absolutely in sync, so very right for each other.

But now—

Now, it seemed asthough that, too, was an illuson. Theworld might still be struggling to decide whét, if
any, redlity the visonsreflected, but LIoyd had aready accepted them asfact, true depictions of
tomorrow, the one unaterable space-time continuum in which he had aways known he dwelled.

And yet he had to explain to her what he was feding—him, Lloyd Simcoe, the man whom words aways
failed, the good listener, the brick, the one others turned to when they had doubts. He had to explain to
her what was going through his mind, why avision of adissolved marriage twenty-one
years—twenty-one yearsl—down the road so paralyzed him right now, so poisoned for him what he'd
thought they had.

He looked at Michiko, dropped his gaze, tried again to meet her eyes, then focussed on a blank spot on
the gpartment’ s dark, wine-colored walls.

He' d never spoken of thisto anyone—not even to hissister Dolly, at least not since they werekids. He
took a deep breath, then began, hiseyes ill locked on thewall. "When | was eight years old, my parents
caled me and my sister down to the living room." He swallowed. "It was a Saturday afternoon. Tensions
had been high for weeksin our house. That’s an adult way of expressing it— tensonswere high.” Asa
kid, dl | knew was that mom and dad weren't talking. Oh, they spoke when they had to, but it was
awayswith sharp voices. And it often ended in choked-off phrases.’ If that’ s the way—!" ‘I’ m not—!’
‘Don’t you—!" Likethat. They tried to keep it civil when they knew we could hear them, but we heard a
lot more than they thought.”

Helooked briefly a Michiko, then shifted his gaze to thewall again. "Anyway, they cdled usdown to
theliving room. ‘Lloyd, Dolly—come herel’ 1t was my father. And, you know, when he yelled for usto
come, it usualy meant we werein trouble. We hadn't put away our toys, one of the neighbors had
complained about something we' d done; whatever. Wdll, | came out of my room, and Dolly came out of
hers, and we kind of looked at each other, you know, just aglance, just a shared moment of
apprehension.” He now looked a Michiko, just as he had at hissister al those years ago.

Lloyd continued. "We went down the stairs, and there they were: Mom and Dad. And they were both
standing, and we stood, too. The whole time, we stood around, like we were waiting for the fucking bus.
They were both quiet for abit, like they didn’t know what to say. And then, finally, my mother spoke up.
Shesad, ' Your father ismoving out.” Just like that. No preamble, no softening the blow: *Y our father is
moving out.

"And then he spoke. ‘Il get aplace nearby. You'll be able to see me on weekends.’

"And my mother added, asif it needed to be said, * Y our father and | haven’t been getting along.” "



Lloydfdl quiet.

Michiko made a sympathetic face. "Did you see him much, after he moved out?' she asked at last.

"Hedidn't move out."

"But your parentsare divorced.”

"Yes—sax yearslater. But after the great announcement, he didn’t move out. Hedidn't leave.”

"So your parents made up?"

Lloyd shrugged alittle. "No. No, the fighting continued. But they never mentioned him moving out again.
We—Dolly and I—we kept waiting for the other shoeto fall, for him to move out. For months—reslly,
al of the six yearstheir marriage lasted after that—we thought he might leave at any moment. Therewas
never atimeframe mentioned, after all—they never saidwhen he was going to go. When they did finaly
split up, itwasamost ardief. | love my dad, and my mom, too, but having that hanging over our heads

for so long wasjust too much to bear." He paused. "And amarriage like that, one gone bad—I’'m sorry,
Michiko, but | don't think | could ever go through anything like that again.”
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Day Three: Thursday, April 23, 2009

NEWS DIGEST

The Los Angdes Digtrict Attorney’ s office has dropped al pending misdemeanor casesto free up staff
to deal with theflood of new charges being laid related to looting in the aftermath of the FHashforward.

The Department of Philosophy at the University of Witwatersrand, South Africa, reports record
numbers of requests for course calendars.

Amtrak inthe U.S,, ViaRall in Canada, and British Rail have reported huge increases in passenger
volume. No trains operated by those companies crashed during the Flashforward.



The Church of the Holy Visions, begun yesterday in Stockholm, Sweden, now claims 12,000 adherents
worldwide, making it the fastest-growing religion on the planet.

The American Bar Association reports a huge increase in requests for new willsto be drawn up, or
exiging willsto be revised.

The next day, Theo and Michiko were working on setting up their Web site for people to report their
visions. They’' d decided to cdl it the Mosaic Project, both in honor of thefirst popular (but now long
abandoned) Web browser, and in acknowledgement of the now clearly established fact, thanksto the
efforts of researchers and reporters worldwide, that each person’s vision did indeed represent one small
stonein avast mosaic portrait of the year 2030.

Theo had amug of coffee. Hetook asip, then, "Can | ask you a question about your vison?”'

Michiko looked out the window at the mountains. "Sure.”

"Thet little girl you were with. Is she your daughter, do you think?' He' d amost said "your new
daughter" but fortunately had censored the thought before it wasfree.

Michiko lifted her narrow shoulders dightly. "Apparently.”

"And—and Lloyd’ s daughter, too?"

Michiko looked surprised by the question. "Of course,” she said, but there was hesitation in her voice.
"Because Lloyd—"

Michiko stiffened. "Hetold you hisvison, did he?!

Theo redized he' d put hisfoot init. "No, not exactly. Just that he wasin New England—"

"With awoman who wasn't me. Yes, | know."

"I’m sureit doesn’t mean anything. I’ m sure the visons aren’t going to turn out to betrue.”

Michiko looked out a the mountains again; Theo found himsdf doing thet alot, too. Therewas
something about them—something solid, permanent, unchanging. He found it calming to look at them, to

know that there were things that endured not just for decades but for millennia

"Look," shesaid, "I’ ve been divorced once aready. I’ m not naive enough to think that all marriages will
last forever. Maybe Lloyd and Iwill bresk up at some point. Who knows?"'

Theo |ooked away, unable to meet her eyes, unsure how she' d react to the words he felt bubbling up
within him. "He'd beafool tolet you go,” he said.



His hand had been lying on the tabletop. Suddenly he felt Michiko’ s hand touching his, patting its back
affectionately. "Why, thank you," she said. He did look at her and shewas smiling. "That' s the nicest
thing anyone ever saidto me.”

Shetook back her hand . . . but not for afew more delicious seconds.

Lloyd Smcoe walked from the LHC control center to the main adminigtration building. It normally took
fifteen minutes to make the journey, but it ended up lasting half an hour because he was stopped three
times by physicists going the other way who wanted to ask Lloyd questions about the LHC experiment
that might have caused the time displacement, or to suggest theoretical modelsto explain the
Flashforward. It was a beautiful spring day—cool, but with grest mountains of cumulonimbusin the bright
blue sky rivaling the peaksto the east of the campus.

At last he entered the admin building and made hisway down to Béranger's office. Of course, he'd
made an appointment (for which he was now fifteen minuteslate); CERN was a huge operation, and
there was no way in which you could just drop in on its Director-Generdl.

Béranger’ s secretary told Lloyd to head right in, and Lloyd did just that. The office s third-floor window
looked out over the CERN campus. Béranger rose from behind his desk and took a seat at the long
conference table, much of which was covered with experimenta logs rel ated to the Flashforward. Lloyd
sat down on the opposite side.

"Oui?" said Béranger. Yes? What isit?

"I want to go public,” said Lloyd. "I want to tell the world about our role in what happened.”
" Absolument pas," said Béranger. No way.

"Dammit, Gaston, we have to come clean at some point.”

"Y ou don’t know that we're at fault, LIoyd. Y ou can’'t prove it—and nobody else can, either. The
phones have been ringing off the hook, of course: | imagine every scientist in theworld isgetting cdls
from the media asking for opinions about what happened. But nobody has connected it to us yet—and

hopefully nobody will."

"Oh, come on! Theo says you came storming over to the LHC control center right after the
Flashforward—you knew it was us from the very first moment.”

"That' swhen | thought it was alocdized phenomenon. But once | learned it was worldwide, |
recongdered. Y ou think we were the only facility doing something interesting at that time? I’ ve checked.
KEK was running an experiment that had started just five minutes before the Flashforward; SLAC was
doing aset of particle collisons, too. The Sudbury Neutrino Observatory picked up aburst at just before
17h00; there was a0, just before 17h00, an earthquake in Italy measuring three-point-four on the
Richter scade. A new fusion reactor came onlinein Indonesiaat precisely 17h00 our time. And there was
aseries of rocket-motor tests going on at Boeing.”

"Neither KEK nor SLAC can produce energy levels close to what we were doing with the LHC," said
Lloyd. "And therest are hardly unusua events. Y ou're grasping at straws.”



"No," said Béranger. "I’ m conducting a proper investigation. Y ou’ re not sure—not to amoral
certainty—that it was us, and until you are, you' re not saying aword."

Lloyd shook hishead. "I know you spend your days pushing paper around, but | thought in your heart
youwere dtill ascientist.”

"lam ascientist,” said Béranger. "Thisis about science—good science, the way it's supposed to be
done. Y ou're ready to make an announcement before all thefactsarein. I’'m not." He paused, took a
breath. "Look," he said, "peopl€ sfath in science has dready been shaken enough over the years. Way
too many science stories have turned out to be frauds or hype.”

Lloyd looked at him.

"Percival Lowell—who just needed better lenses and aless-active imagination—claimed to see cands
on Mars. But there were no canals there.

"We re il dedling with the aftermath of oneidiot in Roswell who decided to declare that what he was
looking at was the remains of an aien spaceship, instead of just awegther balloon.

"Do you remember the Tasaday? The stone-age tribe discovered in New Guineain the 1970sthat had
no word for war? Anthropologists werefaling al over themselvesto study them. Only one
problem—they were a hoax. But scientists were too quick to want to get on talk shows and didn’t
bother to ook at the evidence.”

"I’m not trying to get on atak show," said Lloyd.

"Then we announced cold fusion to the world,” said Gaston, ignoring him. "Remember that? The end of
the energy crigs, the end of poverty! More power than humanity would ever need. Except it was't
rel—it was just Heischmann and Pons jumping the gun.

"Then we started talking about life on Mars—the antarctic meteorite with supposed microfossils, proof
that evolution had begun on another planet besides Earth. Except that it turned out the scientists had
spoken too soon again, and thefossisweren't fossis at al, but just natura rock formations.”

Gaston took a breath. "We ve got to be careful here, Lloyd. Y ou ever listened to anybody from the
Ingtitute for Creation Research? They spout absolute gibberish about the origin of life, but you can see
peoplein the audience nodding their heads and agreeing with them—the creationists say the scientists
don’t know what they’ re talking about, and they’ re right, haf the time we don’t. We open our mouths
too early, al in some desperate bid for primacy, for credit. But every time we re wrong—every timewe
say we ve made a breakthrough in the fight for a cure for cancer or we' ve solved afundamental mystery
of the universe and then have to turn around aweek or ayear or adecade later and say, oops!, we were
wrong, we didn’t check our facts, we didn’t know what we were talking about—every time that happens
we give aboost to the astrologers and creationists and New Agers and all the other ripoff artists and
charlatans and just plain nut cases. Weare scientists, LIoyd—we re supposed to be the last bastion of
rationd thought, of verifiable, reproducible, irrefutable proof, and yet we' re our own worst enemies. Y ou
want to go public—you want to say CERN did it, we displaced human consciousness through time, we
can see the future, we can give you the gift of tomorrow. But I'm not convinced, LIoyd. You think I'm
just an adminigtrator who istrying to cover hisass, indeed, the collective ass of al of us, and of our
insurers. But that' s not it—or, to be honest, that’ s notentirely it. Dammit, LIoyd—I’m sorry, more sorry
than you can possibly imagine, about what happened to Michiko' s daughter. Marie-Claire gave birth



yesterday; | shouldn’t even be here—thank God her sister is staying with us—but there’s so much to be
done. I’ve got ason now, and even though I’ ve only had him for amatter of hours, | could never sand
losing him. What Michiko has faced—what you' re facing—is beyond imagining to me. But | want a
better world for my son. | want aworld in which scienceis respected, in which scientists speak from hard
data not wild speculations, in which when someone reports a science story the people in the audience will
St up and take notice because something new and fundamenta about the way the universe worksisbeing
reveal ed—rather than having them roll their eyes and say, geez, | wonder what they’ re clamingthis
week. Y ou don't know for afact—for an honest-to-God fact—that CERN hadanything to do with
what happened . . . and until you—until | know that, no oneis giving a press conference. Isthat clear?’

Lloyd opened his mouth to protest, closed it, then opened it again. "And if | can prove that CERN had
something to do with it?"

"Y ou're not to reactivate the LHC—not at 1150-TeV levels. I'm reshuffling the experimenta queue.
Anyone who wants to use the LHC for proton-proton collisons may do so, once wefinish al the
diagnostics, but no oneisfiring up that accelerator for nuclear collisonsuntil | say s0."
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"No buts, Lloyd," said Béranger. "Now, look, I’ ve got aton of work to do. If theré snothingdse. .. ?"

Lloyd shook his head, and |&ft the office, |eft the adminisiration building, and headed back.

More people stopped LIoyd on hisway back; it seemed there was a new theory being put forth every
few minutes and old ones being shot down just asfrequently. At last Lloyd returned to his office. Waiting
on hisdesk wastheinitia report of the engineering team that had been scouring the entire twenty-seven
kilometers of the LHC tunnel, looking for any abnormdlity in the equipment that might have accounted for
the time displacement; so far, nothing unusua had cropped up. And the ALICE and CM S detectors had
aso received clean bills of hedlth, passing every diagnostic test run on them to date.

There was also acopy of the front page of theTribune de Geneve waiting; someone had placed it there
and had circled aparticular story:

Man Who Had Vison Dies
Future Not Fixed, Professor Says

MOBILE, ALABAMA (AP): James Punter, 47, was killed in an automobile accident today on the I-65.
Punter had previoudy recounted a precognition vision to his brother Dennis Punter, 44.

"Jm had told me dl about hisvison," said Dennis. "He was a home—the same house helived in
today—in the future. He was shaving, and had the fright of hislife when he saw himsdlf inthe mirror, dl
old and wrinkled."

Punter’ s death has wide-ranging implications, says Jasmine Rose, a philosophy professor at the State
University of New Y ork at Brockport.



"Ever since the visons occurred, we ve been arguing about whether they portrayed the real future or
only one possiblefuture, or, indeed, whether they might smply be halucinations,” she said.

"Punter’ s death clearly indicates that the future is not fixed; he had avison and yet is no longer around to
Seethat vison cometrue.”

Lloyd was till steamed from his encounter with Béranger, and he found himsalf crumpling up the
newspaper page and throwing it across his office.

A philosophy professor!

Punter’ s death didn’t prove athing, of course. His account was entirely anecdota. There was no
supporting evidence for it—no newspaper or TV show glimpsed that could be compared with others
accounts of the same things, and no one el se had gpparently seen himin their visons. A
forty-seven-year-old could easily be dead in twenty-one years. He could have made up the vis on—and
avery unimaginative oneit was, too—rather than reveding that he hadn’t had one. AsMichiko had said,
Theo had probably ruined his chances of ever getting life insurance by reveding hisown lack of avison;
Punter might have decided it was better to pretend to have avision than admit that he was going to be
dead.

Lloyd sighed. Couldn’t they have gotten a scientist to address this issue? Someone who understands
what redlly congtitutes evidence?

A philosophy professor. Give me a fucking break.

Michiko was doing most of the work related to setting up the Web site; Theo was running computer
smulations of the LHC collison on a separate PC in the same room, making himsdlf available as needed
to help Michiko. Of course, CERN had dl the latest authoring tools, but there still was much to be done
by hand, including writing up descriptions of various lengths to submit to the hundreds of different search
engines available worldwide. She figured they would have everything ready to go in another day.

A window popped up on Theo's monitor announcing that he had new mail. Normally, he would have
ignored it until amore convenient time, but the subject line demanded immediate attention: " Betreff: Ihre
Ermordung,” Germanfor "Re: Y our Murder."

Theo told the computer to display the message. The whole thing wasin German, but Theo had no
trouble reading it. Michiko, looking over his shoulder, didn’t read any German, though, and so he
trandated it for her.

"It'sfromawoman in Berlin," said Theo. "It says something like, ‘1 saw your posting forwarded to a
newsgroup | read. Y ou' re looking for people who might know something about your murder. Well, a
person who livesin the same gpartment building | do knows something about it. Weal'—it's
congregated, gathered, something like that—'we all gathered in the lobby after whatever it was
happened, and shared our visons. A fellow—I don't know him that well, but he lives one floor above
me—had avision of watching atelevison newscast about the murder of aphysicig at, | thought he said,
Lucerne but when | read your posting | redlized he' d actudly said CERN, which, | confess, I’ d never
heard of. Anyway, |’ ve forwarded a blind copy of your messageto him, but | don’t know if he'll getin



touch with you or not. His nameis Wolfgang Rusch, and you canreachhimat . . " That'swhat it says.”
"What are you going to do?' asked Michiko.

"What else? Contact this guy." He picked up the phone, dialed his billing code for persona long-distance
cdlls, then tapped out the number that was still glowing on his screen.
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NEWS DIGEST

A naiond day of mourning has been declared in the Philippines, to honor President Maurice Maung and
al the other Filipinoswho died during the Flashforward.

A group calling itsdlf the April 21 Codlition is aready lobbying Congressto approve amemoria on the
Washington, D.C. mdl in honor of the Americans killed during the Flashforward. They propose agiant
mosaic, depicting aview of Times Squarein New Y ork City, asit will apparently bein 2030, based on
accounts of thousand of people whose visions depicted that locale. There would be onetilein the mosaic
for each individua who perished in the event, with each tile laser inscribed with an individud’ s name.

Cadtle Rock Entertainment has announced adelay in the release of its much-anticipated summer
blockbuster Catastrophe "until amore appropriatetime.”

Separatist sentiment in Quebec is at an al-time low, according to aMaclean’s opinion pall: "The
apparently certain knowledge that Quebec will till be part of Canada twenty-one years hence has
caused even many diehard separatists to throw in the towel," observed aMaclean’s editorid.

As an emergency measure to free up doctorsto deal with those physicaly injured during the
Flashforward, the United States Food and Drug Administration has approved eleven formerly
prescription antidepressants for over-the-counter sales for aone-year period.



That night, Lloyd and Michiko sat again on the couch in Lloyd' s gpartment, a five-centimeter-thick stack
of printouts and reports LIoyd had brought home gtting on the coffee table. Michiko hadn’t cried once
since they got home, but Lloyd knew that she would doubtless cry herself to deep again tonight, as she
had the last two nights. He was trying to do theright thing: he didn’t want to avoid the topic of
Tamiko—that, he knew, was tantamount to denying that she had ever existed—but he would only pursue
it if Michiko hersdf mentioned her.

And, of course, he wanted to avoid the topic of their wedding and their visions, and dl the doubts that
were swirling through hismind. And so they sat, and he held her when she needed holding, and they
talked about other things.

"Gaston Béranger was going on about the role of sciencetoday,” said Lloyd. "And, dammit dl, he got
me to thinking maybe he was right. We ve been saying outrageous things, we scientists. We' ve been
deliberately using loaded words, making the public think we re doing thingsthat we aren't.”

"l admit we haven't aways done agood job of presenting scientific truthsto the public,” said Michiko.
"But—but if CERNisrespongble. . . if you—"

If you areresponsible. ..
That's doubtless what she' d started to say before she' d caught hersdlf. Ifyou areresponsible.. . .

Yes, if hewas responsible—if his experiment, hisand Theo's, had somehow been responsible for al that
degth, dl that destruction, for the desth of Tamiko. . .

He' d sworn to himsdf that he' d never make Michiko sad, that he’ d never do to her what Hiroshi had
done. But if hisexperiment had been what had led, however inadvertently, however indirectly, to
Tamiko' s desth, then hel d harmed Michiko far more than dl Hiroshi’ sindifference and neglect ever had.

Wolfgang Rusch had seemed reluctant to talk on the phone, and Theo had findly declared outright that
he was coming to Germany to see him. Berlin was only eight hundred and seventy kilometersfrom
Geneva. He could driveit in aday, but he decided to first call atravel agent, on the off-chance that there
might be a chesp seat available.

It turned out that there werealot of seatsavailable.

Y es, there had been adight reduction in the world’ sfleet of airplanes—some had crashed, athough
mogt of the thirty-five hundred planes that had been doft during the Flashforward had flown on merrily
without pilot intervention. And, yes, there was an influx of people who had no choice but to travel in
order to ded with family emergencies.

But, according to the travel agent, everyone else was staying home. Hundreds of thousands of people
worldwide were refusing to get on planes—and who could blame them? If the blackout effect happened
again, more aircraft would smash into runways. Swissair waswaiving al the usud travel restrictions—no
advanced booking required, no minimum stay needed—and was giving quadruple frequent-flyer points,
plus granting First Class seating on afirst-come, first-served no-extra-cost bas's, other airlineswere
offering smilar dedl's. Theo booked aflight, and was in Germany lessthan ninety minutes later. HE d put
theflight time to good use, running some more lead-nuclel collison smulations on his notebook
computer.



When he arrived at Rusch’ s gpartment, it was alittle after 8:00 P.M. "Thank you for agreeing to see
me," said Theo.

Rusch wasin his mid-thirties, thin, with blond hair and eyesthe color of graphite. He stood asideto let
Theo into the small gpartment, but didn’t seem at al happy to have avistor. "I haveto tell you,” hesad
in English, "1 wish you hadn’t come. Thisisavery difficult timefor me."
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"l lost my wife during the—whatever you cal it. The German press has been referring to it asDer
Zwischenfall —'theincident.” " He shook his head. " Seems awholly inadequate nameto me."

"I'msorry.”

"1"d been here at home when it happened. | don’t teach on Tuesdays."

"Teach?"

"I’m an associate professor of chemistry. But my wife—she waskilled on her way home from work.”

"l am so sorry,” said Theo, Sncerdly.

Rusch shrugged. "That doesn't bring her back."

Theo nodded, conceding the point. He was glad, though, that Béranger had so far vetoed Lloyd going
public with CERN’ sinvolvement in the accident—he doubted Rusch would betalking to him &t dl if he
knew of the relationship.

"How did you find me?"

"A tip—I’ve been getting a bunch of them. People seem intrigued by my . . . my quest. Someone
emailed me saying you had told them that your vison involved watching atelevision news report about
my death.”

"Who?"'

"One of your neighbors. | don’t think it matters which one.” Theo hadn’t actualy been sworn to secrecy,
but it didn’t seem prudent to name his source, either. "Please,” he said, "I’ ve come along way, a
considerable expense, to speak with you. There must be more that you can tell me than what you said on
the phone."

Rusch seemed to soften abit. "I guess. Look, I’'m sorry. Y ou have no ideahow much | loved my wife."

Theo cast his eyes about the room. There was a photo on alow bookcase: Rusch, looking about ten
years younger than his current mid-thirties, and abeautiful dark-haired woman. "Isthat her?' Theo

asked.

Rusch looked as though his heart had skipped a beat—as though he thought Theo was pointing to his
wife, in the flesh, miraculoudy made whole again. But then hiseyeslighted on the picture. "Yes" hesad.



"She' svery pretty.”
"Thank you," mumbled Rusch.

Theo waited afew moments, then smply went on. "I’ ve spoken to afew people who were reading
newspaper or online articles about my—my murder, but you are thefirst I’ ve found who actualy saw
something on TV. Please, what can you tell me about it?"

Rusch findly indicated that Theo should st down, which he did, near the picture of the late Frau Rusch.
On the coffee table, there was bowl full of grapes—iprobably one of the new geneticaly engineered
varietiesthat stayed succulent even without refrigeration.

"Thereisn't much totdl," said Rusch. " Although there was one strange thing, now that | think about it.
The news report wasn't in German. Rather, it wasin French. Not many French newscasts herein

Germany.”

"Werethere cdl |etters or anetwork logo?'

"Oh, probably—but | didn’t pay any attention to them.”
"The newscaster—did you recognize him?"

"Her. No. Shewas efficient, though. Very crisp. But it’sno surprise | didn’t recognize her; she was
certainly under thirty, meaning she d belessthan ten years old today."

"Did they superimpose her name?If | can find her today, her vison, of course, would be of her giving
that newscast, and maybe she remembered something that you didn’t.”

"| wasn't watching the newscast live; it was recorded. My vision started with me fast-forwarding; |
wasn't using aremote, though. Rather, the player was responding to my voice. But it was skipping
ahead. It wasn't videotape; the sped-up image was absolutely smooth, with no snow or jerkiness." He
paused. "Anyway, as soon as a graphic came up behind her showing a picture of—wdll, it was of you, |
guess, although you were older, of course—I stopped fast-forwarding, and began to watch. The words
under the graphic said Un Savant tué—'death of ascientist.’ | guessthat title intrigued me, you know,

being ascientist mysdif.”
"And you watched the whole report?’
"Ya"

A thought crossed Theo' s mind. If Rusch had watched the whole report, then it must have lasted less
than two minutes. Of course, three minuteswas an eternity on TV, but . . .

But hiswholelife, dismissed in under one minute and forty-three seconds. . .

"What did the reporter say?" asked Theo. "Anything you can remember will beahelp.”

"l honestly don't recall much. My future salf may have been intrigued, but, well, | guess| was panicking.
| mean—what the hell was going on? 1’ d been Sitting at the kitchen table, over there, drinking some

coffee and reading some student papers, then suddenly everything changed. Thelast thing | was
interested in was paying attention to the details of some news story about somebody | didn’t know."



"I undergtand that it must have been very disorienting,” said Theo, but having not had avison himsdlf he
suspected heredly didn’t understand. "Still, as1 said, any details you could remember would be helpful .

"Well, the woman said you were ascientis—a physicig, | think. Isthat right?'
"Wes"

"And she said you were—you will be—forty-eight yearsold.”

Theo nodded.

"And she said you were shot."

"Did she say where?'

"Ah, intheched, | think."

"No, no. Where | was shot—wheat place?"

"I"'m &fraid not."

"Wasit at CERN?"

"She said you worked at CERN, but—but | don't recal her saying that was where you werekilled. I'm
sorry."

"Did she mention asports arena? A boxing match?"
Rusch looked surprised by the question. "No."

"Do you remember anything el se?'

"I"'m sorry, no."

"What was the story that came on after the one about me?' He didn’t know why he asked that—maybe
to see where he had fitted into the pecking order.

"I’'m sorry, | don’'t know. | didn’t watch the rest of the newscast. When the piece on you wasfinished, a
commercid came on—for acompany that lets you create designer babies. Thatdid fascinate me—the
2009 me—but my 2030 salf seemed to have no interest init. He just turned off the—well, it wasn't redly
aTV, of course; it was ahanging flatscreen thing. But he just turned it off—he said the word ‘ Off” toit,
and it went dark, just like that; no fading out. And then he—me—uwe turned around and—I guess| was
in ahotd room; there were two large bedsin it. | went and lay down on one of the beds, fully clothed.
And | spent therest of thetimejust staring &t the ceiling, until my vison ended and | was back at the
kitchen table." He paused. "I had anasty bump on my forehead, of course; I’ d smashed it into the
tabletop when the vison began. And I’ d spilled hot coffee on my hand, too; | must have knocked over
my mug when | pitched forward. | waslucky that | wasn't serioudly burnt. It took me awhileto collect
my wits, and then | found out that everyone in the building had aso had some sort of halucination. And
then | tried to cdl my wife, only tofind out that . . . that . . ." He swallowed hard. "It took them awhileto
find her, or, at least, to contact me. She' d been walking up a steep flight of stairs, coming out of the



subway. She’' d amost made it to the top, according to others who saw her, and then she' d blacked out,
and falen backwards, down sixty or seventy steps. The fal broke her neck.”

"My God," said Theo. "I'm sorry."
Rusch nodded thistime, smply accepting the comment.

There was nothing €l se to be said between them, and, besides, Theo had to get back to the airport; he
didn’t want to run up the cost of ahotel roomin Berlin.

"Many thanksfor your time," said Theo. He reached into his pocket and pulled out his business-card
case. "If you recal anything esethat you think might be helpful, I’ d redlly appreciateit if you'd givemea
cal or drop me an email." He handed Rusch acard.

Theman took it, but didn’t look at it. Theo |eft.

Lloyd went back to Gaston Béranger's office the next day. Thistime the journey took even longer: he
was waylaid by aunified-field-theory group on their way over to the Computer Center. When he at last
made it to Béranger's office, LIoyd began, "I’m sorry, Gaston, you can try to oust meif you want, but

I’m going to go public.”
" thought | was clear—"

"Wehave to go public. Look, | just got through speaking to Theo. Did you know he went to Germany
yesterday?'

"I can't keep track of the comings and goings of three thousand employees.”

"He went to Germany—on amoment’ s notice, and he got a cheap fare. Why?Because people are
afraid to fly. Thewholeworldis still paralyzed, Gaston. Everyoneisafraid that the time displacement is
going to happen again. Check the newspapersor the TV, if you don't believe me; | just did myself.
They’ re avoiding sports, driving when only absolutely necessary, and not flying. It sasif—it' sasif
they’ rewaiting for the other shoeto drop.” Lloyd thought again about the announcement that his father
wasleaving. "But it isn't going to happen, isn't it? So long as we don't replicate what we were doing
here, there’ s no way in which the time-displacement will repest. We can't leave the world hanging.

WEe ve done enough damage aready. We can't let people be afraid to get on with their lives, to go
back—as much as possible—to the way things were before.”

Béranger seemed to be considering this.
"Come on, Gaston. Someoneisgoing to leak it soon enough anyway.”

Béranger exhaled. "I know that. Y ou think | don’t know that? | don’t want to be obstructionist here. But
we do need to think about the consequences—the legal ramifications.”

"Surely it’ s better if we comeforward of our own volition, rather than waiting for someoneto blow the
whigleonus.”

Béranger looked at the ceiling for atime. "I know you don’t like me," he said, without meeting Lloyd's



eyes. Lloyd opened his mouth to protest, but Béranger raised ahand. "Don’'t bother denying it. We ve
never gotten aong; we ve never been friends. Part of that is naturd, of course—you seeitinevery labin
the world. Scientists who think the administrators exist to stymie their work. Administratorswho act as
though the scientists are an inconvenience instead of the heart and soul of the place. But it goes beyond
that, doesn’t it? No matter what our jobs were, you wouldn't like me. I d never stopped to think about
stuff likethat before. | dways knew some people didn’t like me and never would, but | never figured it
might be my fault." He paused, then shrugged alittle. "But maybeit is. | never told you what my vision
showed . . . and I’m not about to tell you now. But it got me thinking. Maybe | have been fighting you too
much. Y ou think we should go public? Chrigt, | don’t know if that’ stheright thing to do or not. | don’t
know thatnot going publicistheright thing, either.”

He paused. "We ve come up with aparalld, by the way—something to toss the pressiif it does leak out,
an andogy to demonstrate why we aren’t culpable.”

Lloyd raised his eyebrows.
"The TacomaNarrows Bridge collapse,” said Béranger.

LIoyd nodded. Early on November 7, 1940, the pavement on the Tacoma Narrows suspension bridge
in Washington state began to ripple. Soon the whole bridge was oscillating up and down, massively
heaving, until, a lagt, it collgpsed. Every high-school physics student in the world had seen film of this,
and for decades they were given the best-guess explanation: that perhaps the wind had generated a
natura resonance with the bridge, causing it to undulate in waves.

Surely the bridge-builders should have foreseen that, people had said at the time; after all, resonance
was as old as tuning forks. But the resonance explanation was wrong; resonance requires great
precison—if it didn’t, every singer could shatter awine glass—and random winds dmost certainly
couldn’t produceit. No, it was shown in 1990 that the Tacoma Narrows Bridge had collapsed due to
the fundamenta nonlinearity of sugpenson bridges, an outgrowth of chaos theory—abranch of science
that hadn’t even existed when the bridge was built. The engineers who had designed it hadn’t been
culpable; there was no way with the knowledge then available that they could have predicted or
prevented the collapse.

"If it had just been visons," said Béranger, "you know, we wouldn’t need to cover our asses; | suspect
most people would thank you. But there were dl those car accidents and people falling off ladders, and
so on. Areyou prepared to take the blame? Because it won't be me that takes thefall, and it won’t be
CERN. When it comesright down to it, no matter how much we talk about Tacoma Narrows and
unforeseen consequences, people will still want a specific human scapegoat, and you know that’ s going
to beyou, Lloyd. It was your experiment.”

The Director-General stopped talking. Lloyd considered dll thisfor atime, then said, "I can handleit.”

Béranger nodded once."Bien. We'll call apress conference.” Helooked out hiswindow. "l guessitis
timewe cameclean.”
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Day Five: Saturday, April 25, 2009

The adminigrative building at CERN had al sorts of seminar halls and meeting spaces. For the press
conference, they were using alecture hal with two hundred seets—every one of which wasfilled. All the
PR people had needed to do wastell the mediathat CERN was about to make a major announcement
about the cause of the time displacement, and reporters arrived from all over Europe, plus one from
Japan, one from Canada, and six from the United States.

Béranger was being true to hisword: he was letting Lloyd take center stage; if there wereto bea
scapegodt, it was going to be him. LIoyd walked up to the lectern and cleared histhroat. "Hello,
everyone," hesad. "My nameisLloyd Smcoe." He d been coached by one of CERN’s PR peopleto
gpell it out, and so he did just that: "That's S-1-M-C-O-E, and ‘Lloyd' beginswith adouble-L." The
reporterswould al receive DV Dswith Lloyd' s comments and bio on them, but many would befiling
gtoriesimmediately, without a chance to consult the presskits. Lloyd went on. "My specidty is
quark-gluon plasma studies. I'm a Canadian citizen, but | worked for many yearsin the United States at
the Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory. And for the last two years, I’ ve been here at CERN,
developing amagjor experiment for the Large Hadron Collider.”

He paused; he was buying time, trying to get his ssomach to cam down. It wasn’t that he had afear of
public speaking; he' d spent too long as a university professor for any of that to remain. But he had no
way of knowing what the reaction would be to what he was about to say.

"Thisismy associate, Dr. Theodos os Procopides,” continued Lloyd.

Theo hdf-rose from hischair, next to thelectern. "Theo," he said, with alittle smile a the crowd. " Call



meTheo."

One big happy family,thought Lloyd. He spelled Theo' sfirst and last names dowly for the reporters,
then took a deep breath and pressed on. "We were conducting an experiment here on April 21, a
precisely 1600 hours Greenwich Mean Time."

He paused again and looked from face to face. It didn’t take long for it to sink in. Journdists
immediately started shouting questions, and Lloyd' s eyes were assaulted by cameraflashes. Heraised his
hands, palms out, waiting for the reportersto be quiet.

"Yes" hesad, "yes, | suspect you'reright. We have reason to believe that the time-displacement
phenomenon had to do with the work we were doing here with the Large Hadron Collider."

"How can that be?" asked Klee, astringer for CNN.

"Areyou sure?' caled out Jonas, a correspondent for the BBC.

"Why didn’'t you come forward before this?' caled the Reuters reporter.

"I’ll takethat last question firgt," said Lloyd. "Or, more precisdly, I'll let Dr. Procopidestakeit.”
"Thanks," said Theo, standing now and moving to the mike. "The, ah, reason we did not come forward
earlier isthat we didn’t have atheoretical modd to explain what happened.” He paused. "Frankly, we il
don't; it has, after all, only been four days since the Flashforward. But the fact is we engineered the

highest-energy particle collision in the history of this planet, and it occurred precisdy—to the very
second—at the moment the phenomenon began. We can't ignore that acausal relationship might exist.”

"How sure are you that the two things are linked?" asked awoman from theTribune de Geneve.

Theo shrugged. "We can't think of anything in our experiment that could have caused the Flashforward.
Then again, we can't think of anything elseother than our experiment that could have caused it, either. It
just seemsthat our work isthe most likely candidate.”

Lloyd looked over a Dr. Béranger, whose hawklike face was impassive. When they’ d rehearsed this
press conference, Theo had origindly said "the most likely culprit," and Béranger had sworn a blue stresk
at theword choice. But it turned out to make no difference. " So are you admitting responsibility?* asked
Klee. "Admitting dl the desths were your fault?"

Lloyd fet his stomach knot, and he could see Béranger's face crease into afrown. The Director-Genera
looked like he was ready to step in and take over the press conference.

"We admit that our experiment seemsthe most likely cause," said Lloyd, moving over to stand next to
Theo. "But we contend that there was no way—absolutely none—to predict anything remotely like what
happened as a consequence of what we did. Thiswas utterly unforeseen—and unforeseeable. It was,
quite smply, what theinsurance industry calsan act of God."

"But dl the deaths—" shouted one reporter.

"All the property damage—" shouted another.

Lloyd raised hishands again. "Y es, we know. Believe me, our hearts go out to every person who was



hurt or who lost someone they cared abouit. A little girl very dear to me died when a car spun out of
contral; I would give anything to have her back. But it could not have been prevented—"

"Of courseit could have," shouted Jonas. "'If you hadn’t done the experiment, it never would have
happened.”

"Politely, gr, that’ sirrational,” said Lloyd. "Scientists do experiments al the time, and we take every
reasonable precaution. CERN, as you know, has an enviable safety record. But people can’'t smply stop
doing things—science can’'t sop marching forward. We didn’t know that this would happen; wecouldn’t
know it. But we re coming clean; we' retelling the world. | know people are afraid that it’ sgoing to
happen again, that a any moment their consciousness might be transported once more into the future. But
it won't; we were the cause, and we can assure you—assure everyone—that there’ s no danger of

something smilar happening again.”

There were, of course, cries of outrage in the press—editorials about scientists messing with things
humans were not meant to know about. But, try asthey might, even the deaziest tabloid wasn't ableto
come up with acredible physicist willing to claim that there was any reason to have suspected that the
CERN experiment would cause the displacement of consciousness through time. Of course, that
engendered some halfhearted comments about physicists protecting one another. But pollsrapidly
switched from blaming the team at CERN to accepting that this was something that had been utterly
unpredictable, something totally new.

It was till adifficult time persondly for Lloyd and Michiko. Michiko had flown back to Tokyo with
Tamiko'sbody. Lloyd, had, of course, offered to go with her, but he spoke no Japanese. Normdly,
those who spoke English would have politely tried to accommodate L1oyd, but under such dire
circumstancesit seemed clear that he would be left out of amost every conversation. There was dso the
awkwardness of it dl: LIoyd wasn't Tamiko' s stepfather; he wasn't Michiko's husband. Thiswasatime
for Michiko and Hirashi, regardless of whatever differencesthey’ d had in the past, to mourn and lay to
rest their daughter. As much as he, too, was crushed by what had happened to Tamiko, Lloyd had to
admit that there waslittle he could do to aid Michiko in Japan.

And so, while she flew east to her homeland, LIoyd stayed at CERN, trying to make a baffled world
understand the physics of what had occurred.

"Dr. Simcoe," said Bernard Shaw, " perhaps you can explain to us what happened?'

"Of course," said LIoyd, making himself comfortable. He wasin CERN'’ steleconferencing room, a
camerano bigger than athimble facing him from atop an emaciated tripod. Shaw, naturdly, wasat CNN
Center in Atlanta. Lloyd had five other smilar interviewslined up for later in the day, including onein
French. "Most of us have heard the term * spacetime’ or ‘ the space-time continuum.’ It refersto the
combination of the three dimensions of length, width, and height, and the fourth dimension of time."

Lloyd nodded at afemae technician standing off camera, and a till image of adark-haired white man
gppeared on the monitor behind him. "That’ s Hermann Minkowski," said Lloyd. "He sthe fellow who
first proposed the concept of the space-time continuum.” A pause. "It’ s hard to illustrate the concept of
four dimengonsdirectly, but if we asmplify it by removing one spatid dimension, it'seasy.”



He nodded again and the picture changed.

"Thisisamap of Europe. Of course, Europeisthree dimensiond, but we' real used to usng

two-dimensionad maps. And Hermann Minkowski was born herein Kaunas, in what isnow Lithuania, in
1864."

A light lit up indgde Lithuania

"Thereitis. Actudly, though, let’s pretend that the light isn’t the city of Kaunas, but rather Minkowski
himsdf, being bornin 1864."

Thelegend "A.D. 1864" appeared at the lower-right of the map.
"If we go back afew years, we can see there’ sno Minkowski before that point.”

The map date changed to A.D. 1863, then A.D. 1862, then A.D. 1861, and, sure enough, it was
Minkowskiless throughoui.

"Now, let’s go back to 1864."

The map obliged, with Minkowski’ slight glowing brightly at the latitude and longitude of Kaunas.

"In 1878," said Lloyd, "Minkowski moved to Berlinto go to university.”

The 1864 map fell away asif it were one leaf on acaendar pad; the map beneath was labeled 1865. In
rapid succession, other maps dropped off, labeled 1866 through 1877, each with the Minkowski light at
or near Kaunas, but when the 1878 one appeared, the light had moved 400 kilometers west to Bexlin.

"Minkowski didn’t stay in Berlin," said Lloyd. "In 1881, he transferred to Konigsberg, near the modern
Polish border."

Three more mapsfell away, and when the one labeled 1881 was exposed, the Minkowski light had
relocated again.

"For the next nineteen years, our Hermann bopped about from university to university, coming back to
Konigsherg in 1894, then going to Zurich herein Switzerland in 1896, and at last to the University of
Gottingen, in central Germany, in 1902."

The changing maps reflected his movements.

"And he stayed in Gottingen until his death on January 12, 1909."

More mapsfel away, but the light remained Sationary.

"And, of course, after 1909, he was no more."

Mapslabeed "1910," "1911" and "1912" fell away, but none of them had lights.

"Now," said Lloyd, "what happensif we take our maps and stack them back up in chronological order,
and tip them a bit, so that we view them obliqudy?'



The computer-generated graphics on the screen behind him obligingly did just that.

"Asyou can see, the light made by Minkowski’s movementsformsatrail through time. He starts down
here near the bottom in Lithuania, moves about Germany and Switzerland, and finaly diesup herein

Gottingen.”

The maps were stacked one atop another, forming a cube, and the path of Minkowski’ slife, weaving
through the cube, was visible through it, like a glowing gopher’ s burrow climbing up toward the top.

"Thiskind of cube, which shows someon€ slife path through spacetime, is caled aMinkowski cube:
good old Hermann himself was the first to draw such athing. Of course, you can draw one for anybody.
Here sonefor me.”

The map changed to show the entire world.

"l was born in Nova Scotia, Canada, in 1964, moved to Toronto then Harvard for university, worked
for yearsat Fermilab in Illinois, and then ended up here, on the Swiss/French border, at CERN."

The maps stacked up, forming a cube with aweaving light-path within.
"And, of course, you can map other peopl€ s path onto the same cube.”

Five other light paths, each one adifferent color, wended their ways up the cube. Some Started earlier
than Lloyd's, and some ended before the top was reached.

"Thetop of the cube, here," said Lloyd, "representstoday, April 25, 2009. And, of course, we dl agree
that today istoday. That is, we al remember yesterday, but acknowledge that it has passed; and we dl
areignorant of tomorrow. We re dl collectively looking at this particular dice through the cube.” The
cube' stop facelit up.

"Y ou can imagine the collective mind’ s eye of humanity regarding that dice" A drawing of ahuman eye,
complete with lashes, floated outsde the cube, parallel to itstop. "But what happened during the
Flashforward wasthis: the mind’ s eye moved up the cube into the future, and instead of regarding the
dice representing 2009, it found itsaf looking at 2030."

The cube extended upward into a block, and most of the color-coded life paths continued on up farther
into it. The floating eye jumped up, and the highlighted plane was now very near the top of the elongated
block. "For two minutes, we were looking in on another point along our life paths.”

Bernard Shaw shifted in hischair. " So you' re saying spacetimeislike abunch of motion-picture frames
stacked up, and ‘now’ isthe currently illuminated frame?"

"That'sagood andogy,” said Lloyd. "In fact, it helps me make my next point, whichisthis Say you're
watchingCasablanca, which happensto be my favorite movie. And say this particular moment iswhat’s
on screen right now.”

Behind LIoyd, Humphrey Bogart was saying, "Y ou played it for her, you can play it for me. If she can
gandit, | can stand it."

Dooley Wilson didn’t meet Bogey’ seyes. "l don’t remember the words."



Bogart, through clenched teeth: "Play it!"

Wilson turned his gaze up at the ceiling and began to sing "As Time Goes By" while hisfingers danced
on the piano keys.

"Now," said Lloyd, sitting in front of the screen, "just becausethis frameisthe one you' re currently
looking at"—ashe said "this" the image froze on Dooley Wilson—"it doesn’t mean thatthis other part is
any lessfixed or red.”

Suddenly the image changed. A plane was disappearing into the fog. A dapper Claude Rains looked at
Bogart. "It might be agood ideafor you to disappear from Casablancafor awhile" hesaid. "Theré sa
Free French garrison over a Brazzaville. | could be induced to arrange a passage.”

Bogey smiled abit. "My letter of transt?| could use atrip. But it doesn't make any difference about our
bet. Y ou gill owe me ten thousand francs.”

Rainsraised his eyebrows. "And that ten thousand francs should pay our expenses.”

"Our expenses?’ said Bogart, surprised.

Rains nodded. "Uh-huh."

Lloyd watched their backs as they walked off together into the night. "Louis," saysBogart—ina
voiceover Lloyd knew had been recorded in post-production—"this could be the beginning of a beautiful
friendship.”

"You see?' sad Lloyd, turning back to look at the camera, at Shaw. "Y ou might have been watching
Sam play ‘As Time Goes By’ for Rick, but the endingis already fixed. Thefirg timeyou see
Casablanca, you're on the edge of your seat wondering if [lsaisgoing to go with Victor Laszlo or Stay
with Rick Blaine. But the answer always was, and dwayswill be, the same: the problems of two little
peoplerealy don’'t amount to a hill of beansin this crazy world."

"Y ou' re saying the future is asimmutable as the past?' said Shaw, looking more dubious than he usualy
did.

"Precisdly.”

"But, Dr. Simcoe, with al due respect, that doesn’t seem to make sense. | mean, what about free will?"
Lloyd folded hisarmsin front of hischest. "There sno such thing asfree will."

"Of coursethereis," said Shaw.

Lloyd smiled. "I knew you were going to say that. Or, more precisdly, anyone looking at our Minkowski
cubes from outside knew you were going to say that—because it was already written in stone."

"But how can that be? We make amillion decisions aday; each of them shapes our future.”
"Y ou made amillion decisons yesterday, but they are immutable—there’ sno way to change them, no

matter how much we might regret some of them. And you' || make amillion decisonstomorrow. There's
no difference. Y outhink you have freewill, but you don’t."



"So, let me seeif | understand you, Dr. Simcoe. Y ou’ re contending that the visonsaren't of just one
possible future. Rather, they are ofthe future—the only onethat exits.”

"Absolutdy. Weredly do livein aMinkowski block universe, and the concept of ‘now’ redly isan
illusion. Thefuture, the present, and the past are each just asred and just asimmutable.”
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"Dr. Smcoe?"

It was early evening; LIoyd had findly finished hislast interview for the day, and athough he had a stack
of reportsto read before going to bed, he was now walking down one of the drab streets of St. Genis.
He headed over to abakery and a cheese store to get some bread and ahunk of Appenzeller for
tomorrow’ s bregkfast.

A compact man of about thirty-five approached him. He was wearing glasses—reasonably unusud in
the developed world now that laser keratotomy had been perfected—and a dark-blue sweatshirt. His
hair, like Lloyd' s own, was cropped fashionably short.

Lloyd felt atwinge of panic. He was probably crazy to be out donein public after haf the world had
seen hisfaceon TV. He looked left and right, sizing up his escape routes. There were none. 'Y es?' he
sad, tentatively.

"Dr. Lloyd Simcoe?' He was speaking English, but with a French accent.

Lloyd swalowed "That'sme." Tomorrow, he' d talk to Béranger about arranging a security escort.

Suddenly the man’s hand found Simcoe' s own and began pumping it furioudy. "Dr. Smcoe, | want to
thank you!" The man held up hisleft hand, asif to forestall an objection. "Yes, yes, | know you didn’t

intend what happened, and | guess some people were hurt by it. But I’ ve got to tell you, that vison was
the best thing that ever happened to me. It turned my life around.”

"Ah," sad Lloyd, retrieving hishand. "That’ snice."

"Yes, gr, before that vison | was adifferent man. | never bdieved in God—not ever, not even asalittle
kid. But my vison—my vision showed mein achurch, praying with awhole congregation of people.”

"Praying on a Wednesday evening?'
"That’sjust what | said, Dr. Simcoe! | mean, not at thetime | was having the vison, but later, after they

announced on the news what time the visons were of. Praying on aWednesday evening! Me! Me, of dl
people. Well, | couldn’t deny that it was happening, that sometime between now and then | will find my



way. And so | picked up a Bible—went to a bookstore and bought one. | never knew there were so
many different kindsl So many different trandations! Anyway, | got myself one of the onesthat’ s got
Jesus actual words printed in red, and | began reading it. | figured, okay, sooner or later | was going to
cometo this, | might aswell find out what it’sal about. And | just kept reading—I even read dl those
begats, those wonderful names, like music: Obadiah, Jebediah—what great names! Oh, sure, Dr.
Simcog, if | hadn’t had the vision, twenty-one years down the road | would have found dl this anyway,
but you got me going on it now, in 2009. I’ ve never felt more at peace, more loved. You redly did mea
great favor.”

Lloyd didn’t know what to say. "Thank you."

"No, sr—thank you!" And he pumped Lloyd’ s hand again, then dashed upon hisway.

Lloyd got home around 21h00. He missed Michiko alot, and thought about calling her, but it wasjust
05h00 in Tokyo—too early to phone. He put his cheese and bread away, and sat down to watch some
televison—unwind for afew moments before he tackled the latest stack of reports.

Heflipped channels until something on a Swiss news program caught hiseye: adiscussion of the
Fashforward. A femae journdist was doing a satdllite hookup with the United States. LIoyd recognized
the man being interviewed by his great mane of reddish-brown hair: the Astounding Alexander, master
illusionist and debunker of supposed psychic powers. Lloyd had seen the guy on TV often over the
years, including onThe Tonight Show. Hisfull name was Raymond Alexander, and he was a professor
a Duke.

Theinterview had obvioudy had some post-production done on it: the journdist was speaking in French,
but Alexander was answering in English, and an interpreter’ s voice was speaking over hisown, giving a
French versgon of what the American was saying. Alexander’ s actud words were barely audiblein the
background.

"Y ou’ ve no doubt heard," said the interviewer, "that man from CERN claiming that the visons showed
the oneand only red future.”

Lloyd sat up.

"Oui," sad thetrandator’ s voice. "But that’ s patently absurd. Y ou can easly demondtrate that the future
ismallegble.” Alexander shifted in hischair. "In my own vison, | wasat my gpartment. And on my desk,
then as now, wasthis." There wasatable in front of him in the studio. He reached forward and picked up
apaperweight. The camerazoomed in: it was amaachite block with asmal goldTriceratops oniit.

"Now, it may be chintzy," said Alexander, "but I'm actudly rather fond of thislittleitem; it'sa souvenir of
atrip | quite enjoyed to Dinosaur Nationa Monument. But I'm not asfond of it as| am of rationality.”

He reached below the table, and pulled out a piece of burlap. He set it down, then placed the
paperweight on top of it. Next, he pulled ahammer from under the table, and, as the camerawatched, he
proceeded to smash the souvenir to bits, the ma achite fracturing and crumbling, and the small
dinosaur—which couldn’t have been solid metal—crushing into an unrecognizable lump.

Alexander smiled triumphantly at the camera: reason once more held sway. "That paperweight wasin my
vison; that paperweight no longer exists. Therefore, whatever it was that the visions showed wasin no



way aview of animmutable future.”
"We have, of course" said the interviewer, "only your word that the paperweight wasin your vision.”

Alexander looked annoyed, irritated that hisintegrity was being questioned. But then he nodded.

"Y ou'reright to be skeptica—the world would be a better placeif weweredl alittle less credulous. The
fact isthat anyone can do this experiment themsealves. If in your vison you saw apiece of furniture you
currently own, destroy—or sell—that piece. If you could see your own hand in your vison, get atattoo
on your hand. If others saw you, and you had abeard, get facid dectrolysis so that you'll never be able
to grow one.

"Facid dectrolysd" said theinterviewer. "That seems an extreme length to go to.”

"If your vision disturbed you, and you want to be reassured that it never will cometrue, that would be
oneway to doit. Of course the most effective way to disprove the visions on alarge scae would be to
find some landmark that thousands of people had seen—the Statue of Liberty, say—and tear it down.
But | don’t suppose the Nationa Park Serviceisgoing to let usdo that.”

Lloyd leaned back into his couch. Such bullshit. None of the things Alexander had suggested were red
proof—and al of them were subjective; they depended on peopl€ s own recountings of their visions.
And, well, what agreat way to get on TV—not just for Alexander, but for anyone who wanted to be
interviewed. Just claim that you' ve disproved the immutability of the future.

Lloyd looked at the clock Sitting on one of the shelves mounted againgt the dark red walls of his
gpartment. It was 21h30—meaning it’d only be 1:30 in the afternoon at the Colorado/Utah border,
where Dinosaur Nationd Monument was located; Lloyd had been there himself once. He thought for a
few minutes more, then picked up the phone, spoke to a directory-assistance operator, and finally to a
woman who worked in the gift shop at Dinosaur Monument.

"Hdlo," hesaid. "I'mlooking for aparticular item—a paperweight made out of malachite.”

"Mdachite?'

"It' sagreen minera—you know, an ornamenta stone.”

"Oh, yes, sure. The oneswe' ve got have little dinos on them. We ve got one with aT. rex, onewith a
Segosaurus, and onewith aTriceratops.”

"How much istheTriceratops?"
"Fourteen ninety-five."

"Do you do mail order?’

"Sure.”

"I"d like to buy one of thoseand send it to . . ." He stopped to think; where the heckwas Duke?"To
North Carolina."

"Okay. What' sthe full address?’



"I’m not sure. Just put ‘ Professor Raymond Alexander, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina” I'm
aureit’ll get there”

"UPS?'
"That would befine"

Keyclicks. "The shipping iseight-fifty. How’ d you liketo pay for it?"
"Onmy Visa"

"Number, please?'

He pulled out hiswallet, and read the string of digitsto her; he dso gave her the expiration date and his
name. And then he hung up the phone, settled back into the couch, and folded his arms across his chest,
feding quite satisfied.

Dear Dr. Smcoe:;

Forgive mefor bothering you with an unsolicited email; | hope this makesit through your spam filter. |
know you must be inundated with | etters ever snce you went on TV, but | just had to write and let you
know the impact my vison had on me.

I’m eighteen yearsold, and I’ m pregnant. I'm not very far along—only about two months. | hadn’t told
my boyfriend yet, or my parents. | thought getting pregnant was the worst thing that could have possibly
happened: I'm il in high schoal, and my boyfriend will sart university inthefdl. Weboth ill livewith
our parents, and we have no money. There was no way, | thought, that we could bring a child into the
world. . . and so | was going to have an abortion. I’ d aready made the appointment.

And then | had my vison—and it wasincredible! 1t was me, and Brad (that’s my boyfriend) and our
daughter, and we were dl together, living in anice house, twenty-one years down the road. My daughter
wasdl grown up—even alittle older than | am now—and she was S0 beautiful and shewastelling us
about how she was seeing this guy at school, and could she bring him over for dinner one night, and she

knew we' d just love him, and of course we said yes, because she was our daughter and it was important
toher,and. ..

Wi, I'm babbling. The point isthat my vison let me see that thingswere going to work out. | canceled
the abortion, and Brad and | are looking for asmall placeto live together, and, to my surprise, my
parents didn’t freak and they’ re even going to help us a bit with expenses.

| know alot of peoplewill betelling you how their visons ruined their lives. | just wanted you to know
that it improved mine enormoudy, and that it actuadly saved thelife of thelittle girl I'm carrying ingde me
now.

Thank you . . . for everything.

Jean Alcott

Dr. Simcoe,



Y ou hear on the news about people who had fascinating visons. Not me. My vison had mysdf in the
exact samehouse| livein today. | wasal aone, which ist't unusua—my kids are grown and my wifeis
often busy with her work. Indeed, athough afew thingslooked different—furniture dightly rearranged, a
new painting on one wall— there was nothing to give any redl indication that thiswas the future.

And you know what? | likethat. I’'m a happy man; I've got agood life. That I’ m going to have another
couple of decades of precisdy the samelifeisavery soothing thought. Thiswhole vision thing has turned
alot of people slives upside down, apparently—but not mine. | just wanted you to know that.

Best wishes,

Tony DiCiccio

POSTINGSTO THE

MOSAIC PROJECT WEB SITE

Brooklyn, New Y ork: Okay, there was this American flag in my dream, right? And it had, | think, 52
gars: arow of 7, then arow of 6, then 7, then 6, like that, for atotal of 52. Now, I’ m figuring that the
514 dar, that must be Puerto Rico, right? But it sdriving me crazy trying to guess what the 52nd might
be. If you know, pleasee-mail . . .

Edmonton, Albertac | am not smart. | have Down’s Syndrome, but | am agood person. In my vision, |
was talking and using big words, so | must have been smart. | want to be smart again.

Indianapoalis, Indiana: Please stop sending me email saying that | will be the President of the United
Statesin 2030; it’ s flooding my mailbox. | know I’ll be President—and when | cometo power, | will
have the IRS audit anyonewho tellsmeagain. ..

Idamabad, Pakistan (autotrandated from the original Arabic): Inmy vison, | have two arms—but today,
| have only one (I am aveteran of the India-Pakistan ground war). It didn’t fed like aprosthesisinthe
vison. I'd beinterested in hearing from anyone who has any information on artificia limbs or possibly
even limb regeneration twenty-one years hence.

Changzhou, China (autotrand ated from the origina Mandarin): | am apparently dead in twenty-one
years, which does not surprise mefor I am mightily old now. But | would be interested in any news of the
success of my children, grandchildren, or great grandchildren. Their namesare. ..



Buenos Aires, Argentina: Almost everybody I’ ve spoken to is celebrating aholiday or is off work during
the Flashforward. Well, the third Wednesday in October isn’t aholiday anywhere | know of in South
America, so I’'m thinking maybe we' ve gone to a four-day workweek, with Wednesdays off. Me, I'd
prefer athree-day weekend. Anybody know for sure?

Auckland, New Zedland: | know four of the winning numbersin the New Zedand Super Eight draw of
October 19, 2030—in my vision, | was cashing aticket that earned a $200 prize for matching those four
numbers. If you know other winning numbersin the samelottery, | would liketo pool my informeation
with yours.

Geneva, Switzerland (posted in fourteen languages): Anybody with information about the murder of
Theodosios ("Theo") Procopides, please contact meat . . .
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Day Six: Sunday, April 26, 2009

Lloyd and Theo were eating lunch together in the large cafeteria at the LHC control center. Around
them, other physicists were arguing theories and interpretations to account for the Flashforward—a
promising lead related to a supposed failure of one of the quadrapole magnets had been torpedoed in the
last hour. The magnet, it turned out, was operating just fine; it was the testing equipment that was faulty.

Lloyd was having a salad; Theo akebab he' d made the night before and had reheated in the microwave.
"People seem to be dedling with things better than | would have thought,” said Lloyd. The windows
looked out on the nucleus courtyard, where the spring flowerswere in bloom. "All that death, dl the
destruction. But people are dusting themsalves off, getting back to work, and getting on with their lives.”

Theo nodded. "'l heard aguy on the radio this morning. He was saying that there had turned out to be far
lesscall for counseling services than people had predicted. In fact, alot of people have been apparently
cancdling their previoudy scheduled therapy sessions since the Hashforward.”

Lloyd lifted his eyebrows. "Why?"

"He said it’ s because of the cathargs.” Theo smiled. "l tell you, good old Aristotle knew exactly what he
was talking about: you give people achance to purge their emotions, and they actually end up more
hedlthy after it. So many people lost someone they cared about during the Flashforward; the outpouring
of grief has been very good psychologicaly. The guy on the radio said something smilar happened a



dozen years ago when Princess Diana died; there was a huge reduction worldwide in the use of therapists
for monthsfollowing that. Naturdly, the biggest catharsswasin England, but just after Di waskilled,
even twenty-seven percent of Americansfelt asthough they had lost someone they knew personaly.” A

pause.

"Of course, you don’t get over theloss of aspouse or achild easily, but an uncle? A distant cousin? An
actor you liked? One of your coworkers? It' sabig release.”

"But if everyone sgoing throughit . . ."

"That was hiswhole point,” said Theo. "See, normally, if you lose someone in an accident, you go to
pieces, and it goes on for months or years. . . with everyone around you reinforcing your right to be sad.
‘Take sometime,’ they say. Everyone provides emotiona support for you. But if everyone elseisdealing
with aloss, too, thereisn't that crutch effect; there’ sno one to say soothing words. Y ou’ ve got no choice
but to get agrip and go back to work. It’ s like those who live through a war—any war is much more
devagtating in gross terms than any isolated personal tragedy, but after awar is over, most people just go
on with their lives. Everybody suffered the same; you haveto just wall it off, forget about it, and go on.
That' swhat’ s happening here, gpparently.”

"I don't think Michiko will ever get over theloss of Tamiko." Michiko would come home from Japan
that evening.

"No, no, of course not. Not in the sensethat it’ll ever stop hurting. But sheis going on with her life; what
else can shedo? Thereredly isno other choice.”

At that moment, Franco della Robbia, amiddle-aged, bearded physicist, appeared at their table, holding
atray. "Mindif | join you?"

Lloyd looked up. "Hi, Franco. Not at all."
Theo shuffled his chair to theright, and della Robbia sat down.

"Y ou’ re wrong about Minkowski, you know," said della Robbia, looking at Lloyd. "Thevisonscan't be
of an actud future.”

Lloyd took aforkful of salad. "Why not?"

"Well, look: let’ s take your premise. Twenty-one years from now, | will have a connection between my
future sdf and my past sdif. That is, my past salf will see exactly what my future self isdoing. Now, my
future salf may not have any overt indication that the connection has begun, but that doesn’t matter; I'll
know to the second when the connection will tart and end. | don’t know what your vision showed,
Lloyd, but mine had meinwhat | think was Sorrento, Stting on a bacony, overlooking the Bay of
Naples. Very nice, very pleasant—but not at all what I’ d be doing on October 23, 2030, if | knew | was
in contact with myself in the past. Rather, I’ d be somewhere utterly free of anything that might divert my
past self’ s attention—an empty room, say, or Smply staring at ablank wall. And at precisay 19h21
Greenwich Mean Timethat day, | would start reciting out loud facts that | wanted my past self to know:
‘On March eeven, 2012, be careful crossing Via Colombo, lest you trip and break your leg;” ‘In your
time, stock in Bertelsmann is salling for forty-two euros ashare, but by 2030, it'll be six hundred and
ninety euros ashare, so buy lots now to pay for your retirement;’ * Here are the winners of the World
Cup for every year between your timeand mine.” Likethat; | would haveit dl written out on a piece of
paper, and would just reciteit, cramming as much useful information as possible into that



one-minute-and-forty-three-second window." The Italian physicist paused. "The fact that no one has
reported avision of doing anything like that means that what we saw couldn’t be the actud future of the
timdinewe re currently in."

Lloyd frowned. "Maybe some peopledid do that. Really, the public only knows the content of atiny
percentage of the billions of visionsthat must have occurred. If | was going to give myself astock tip, and
| didn’t know that the future wasimmutable, the first thing I’ d say to my past self was, ‘Don't sharethis
with anyone.” Maybe those who did what you' re suggesting are Smply keeping quiet about it."

"If afew dozen people had visons," said dellaRobbia, "that might be possible. But with billions?
Someone would have said that that was what they were doing. Infact, | firmly believe dmost everyone
would betrying to communicate with their past selves.”

Lloyd looked at Theo, then back at dellaRobbia. "Not if they knew it wasfutile; not if they knew that
nothing they said could change things that were dready carved in sone."

"Or maybe everyone forgot,” said Theo. "Maybe, between now and 2030, the memory of the visions
will fade. The memories of dreamsfade, after dl. Y ou can recal one when you first wake up, but hours
later, it's gone completely. Maybe the visonswill erase themselves over the next twenty-one years."

DellaRobbia shook his head emphaticdly. "Even if that were the case—and there sno reason at dl to
think it might be—all the mediareporting about the visonswould still survive until the year 2030. All the
news reports, dl the TV coverage, al the things people wrote about themselvesin their own diariesand
inlettersto friends. Psychology isn't my field; | won't debate the falible nature of memory. But people
would know what’' s happening on October 23, 2030, and many would be attempting to communicate
with the past.”

"Wait aminute," said Theo. His eyebrowswere high. "Wait aminute!” Lloyd and della Robbiaturned to
look at him. "Don’'t you see?It'sNiven'sLaw."

"What is?' said Lloyd.
"Who's Niven?' said della Robbia.

"An American science-fiction writer. He said that in any universein which timetravel isapossibility, no
time machinewill ever beinvented. He even wrote alittle Sory to dramatize it: ascientist isbuilding a
time machine and just as he getsit finished, helooks up and sees the sun going nova—the universeis
going to snuff him out, rather than dlow the paradoxesinherent intimetravel.”

"S0?" said Lloyd.

"'So communicating with yoursdlf in the past isaform of time travel—it’ s sending information back in
time. And for those people who tried to do it, the universe might block the attempt—not by anything as
grandiose as blowing up the sun, but smply by preventing the communication from working." He shifted
his gaze from Lloyd to della Robbia and back again. "Don't you see? That must have been what | was
trying to do in 2030—I’ d been attempting to communicate with mysdlf in the past, and so, instead, |
smply ended up having novisona dl."

Lloyd tried to make his voice sound gentle. " There seemsto be alot of supporting evidence from other
people svisonsthat you redly are dead in 2030, Theo."



Theo opened his mouth, asif to protest, but then he closed it. A moment later, he spoke again. "You're
right. You'reright. Sorry."

Lloyd nodded; he hadn’t redlly redlized before just how hard al of this must be on Theo. He turned and
looked at della Robbia. "Well, Franco, if the visonsweren’t of our future, then what did they portray?*

"An dternativetimeline, of course. That's completely reasonable, given MWI." The many-worlds
interpretation of quantum physics says that every time an event can go two ways, instead of one or the
other way happening, both happen, each in a separate universe. " Specifically, the visons portray the
universe that split from this universe a the moment of your LHC experiment; they show thefuture asitis
inauniverse in which the time-displacement effect didnot occur.”

But Lloyd was shaking hishead. "Y ou don't ill believein MWI, do you? Tl demolishesthat.”

A gtandard argument in favor of the many-worlds interpretation is the thought experiment of

Schrodinger’ s cat: put acat in aseded box with avia of poison that has afifty-fifty chance of being
triggered during aone-hour period. At the end of the hour, open the box and seeif the cat is till dive.
Under the Copenhagen interpretation—the standard verson of quantum mechanics—until someone
looksin, the cat is supposedly neither alive nor dead, but rather a superposition of both possible States;
the act of looking in—of observing—collgpses the wave function, forcing the cat to resolve itsdlf into one
of two possible outcomes. Except that, Since the observation could go two ways, what MWI proponents
say redly happensisthat the universe splits a the point at which the observation is made. One universe
continues on with adead cat; the other, with aliving one.

John G. Cramer, aphysicist who had often donework at CERN, but was normally with the University
of Washington, Seettle, didiked the Copenhagen interpretation’ s emphasis on the observer. In the 1980s,
he proposed an aternative explanation: Tl, the transactiona interpretation. During the nineties and aughts,
TI had becomeincreasingly popular amongst physicigs.

Consider Schrodinger’ s hapless cat at the moment it is sedled in the box, and the observer’ seye, at the
moment, an hour later, that it looks upon the cat. In Tl, the cat sends out an actud, physica "offer” wave,
which travelsforward into the futureand backward into the past. When the offer wave reachesthe eye,
the eye sends out a " confirmation” wave, which travels backward into the past and forward into the
future. The offer wave and the confirmation wave cance each other out everywhere in the universe
except in the direct line between the cat and the eye, where they reinforce each other, producing a
transaction. Since the cat and the eye have communicated across time, there is no ambiguity, and no need
for collgpsing wave fronts: the cat existsingde the box exactly asit will eventualy be observed. There's
aso no splitting of the universe into two; since the transaction coversthe entire relevant period, there’ sno
need for branching: the eye seesthe cat asit dwayswas, either dead or dive.

"Youwould like Tl," said dellaRobbia. "It demolishesfree will. Every emitted photon knows what will
eventudly absorbit."

"Sure," said Lloyd, "I admit that T reinforces the block-universe concept—but it’ s your many-worlds
interpretation that really demolishesfree will."

"How can you possibly say that?' said della Robbia, with expressive Itdian exasperation.

"There' sno hierarchy among the many worlds,” said Lloyd. "Say I'm waking along and cometo afork
intheroad. | could go left, or | could go right. Which onedo | choose?!



"Whichever oneyou want!" crowed della Robbia. "Free will!"

"Nonsense," said Lloyd. "Under MWI, | choose whichever one the other version of medidn’t choose. If
he goesright, | haveto go left; if | go right, he hasto go left. And only arrogance would lead one to think
that it was always my choicein this universe that was considered, and that it was dways the other choice
that was smply the aternative that had to be expressed in another universe. The many-worlds
interpretation givestheillusion of choice, but it’sactualy completely determinigtic.”

DellaRobbiaturned to Theo, spreading hisarmsin an gppea for common sense. "But Tl dependson
wavesthat travel backward in time!”

Theo'svoicewas gentle. "1 think we ve now abundantly demonstrated the redlity of information traveling
backward in time, Franco,”" he said. "Besides, what Cramer actualy said was the transaction occurs
atemporaly—outside of time."

"And," said LIoyd, warming to the fight now that he had an ally, "your version of what happenedisthe
onethat demandstime travel.”

DellaRobbialooked stunned. "What? How? The visons smply portray aparale universe.”

"Any pardld MWI universesthat might exist would surely be moving intempord lockstep with ours: if
you could seeinto aparallel universe, you' d still seetoday, April 26, 2009; indeed, the whole concept of
quantum computing depends on paralld universes being precisely in lockstep with ours. So, yes, if you
could seeinto apardld universe, you might see aworld in which you' d gone over to st down with
Michael Burr, over there, instead of with me and Theo, but it’d still benow. What you' re suggesting is

adding contact with parallel universeson top of seeing into the future; it’s hard enough to accept one of
those ideas without aso having to accept the other, and—"

Jake Horowitz had appeared at their table. " Sorry to interrupt,” he said, "but there' sacall for you, Theo.
Saysit's about your posting on the Mosaic web site.”

Theo hurried away from the table, abandoning his half-eaten kebab. "Line three," said Jacob, trailing
behind him. There was an empty office just outside the lunch room; Theo ducked in. The phone’ scaller
ID smply said "Out of Area." He picked up the handset.

"Hello," he said. "Theo Procopides here.”

"My God," said themalevoice, in English, at the other end of the phone. "Thisisweird—taking to
somebody you know is going to be dead.”

Theo didn’t have any response for that, so he smply said, "Y ou have some information about my
murder?'

"Yes, | think so. | was reading something about it in my vison.”
"Whet did it say?'
The man recounted the gist of what he' d read. There were no new facts.

"Was there anything about survivors?' asked Theo.



"How do you mean? It wasn't aplane crash.”

"No, no, no. | mean, did it say anything about who survived me—you know, about whether | had awife
or kids"

"Oh, yeah. Let’sseeif | can remember . . ."

Seeif | can remember. Hisfuturewas al incidenta; nobody redly cared. It wasn't important, wasn't
real. Just some guy they’ d read about.

"Yeah," said thevoice. "Yeah, you'll be survived by a son and by your wife."

"Did the paper givether names?'

The person blew air into the mouthpiece of his phone as he thought. " The son was—Congtantin, | think."
Congantin. Hisfather’ s name; yes, Theo had aways thought he might name a son that.

"And the boy’ smother? My wife?"

"I’'m sorry. | don’t remember.”

"Pleasetry.”

"No, I'm sorry. | just don’t remember.”

"Y ou could undergo hypnoss—"

"Areyou crazy? |’ m not going to do that. Look, | caled you up to help you out; | figured I’d do you a

good turn, you know? | just thought it’ d be anice thing to do. But I’ m not going to be hypnotized, or
pumped full of drugs, or anything like that."

"But my wife—my widow . . . | need to know who sheis."

"Why?| don’'t know who I'll be married to in twenty-one years, why should you know?"
"She might have aclue asto why | waskilled."

"Well, | guess. Maybe. But I'vedoneal | can for you."

"But you saw the name! Y ou know the name!™

"Likel said, | don’t remember it. I'm sorry."

"Please—I’ll pay you."

"Serioudy, man, | don’t remember. But, look, if it comesto me, I'll get back in touch. But that'sdl | can
do."

Theo forced himsdlf not to protest again. He pursed hislips, then nodded solemnly. "All right. Thank
you. Thanksfor your time. Can | just get your name, though, for my records?'



"Sorry, man. Likel said, if anything ese occursto me, I'll cal you."

And the phone went dead.
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Michiko returned that night from Tokyo. She seemed if not at peace at least no longer about to go to
i eces.

Lloyd, who had spent the afternoon going over anew round of computer simulations, picked Michiko
up at Genevaairport, and drove the dozen kilometersto his gpartment in &t. Genis, and then—

And then they made love, for thefirst timein the five days since the Flashforward. It was early evening;
the lightsin the room were off, but there was plenty of illumination seeping in around the blinds from
outside. Lloyd had always been more adventurous than her, athough she was coming up to speed nicely.
Perhaps histastes had been alittle too wild, alittle too Western, for her liking initialy, but she had
warmed to his suggestions as time went by, and he awaystried to be an attentive lover. But today it had
been perfunctory; the missionary position, nothing more. The sheets were usudly damp with sweet when
they were done, but thistime they were mostly dry. They were even il tucked in along one side.

Lloyd lay on hisback, looking up at the dark celling. Michiko lay next to him, a pale arm draped across
his naked, hairy chest. They were quiet for along time, each done with their thoughts.

At lagt, Michiko said, "I saw you on CNN when | wasin Tokyo. Y ou redly believe we have no free
will?'

Lloyd was surprised. "Well," he said at last, "we think we have it, which amountsto the same thing. |
guess. But inevitability isacongtant in lots of belief systems. Look at the Last Supper. Jesustold
Peter—Peter, mind you, the rock he’ d said he would build his church on—Jesustold Peter that Peter
would renounce him three times. Peter protested that there was no way that would ever happen, but, of
course, hedid it. And Judas I scariot—atragic figure, | ways thought—was fated to turn Christ into the
authorities, whether he wanted to or not. The concept of having aroleto play, adestiny to fulfill, ismuch
older than the concept of freewill." A pause. "Yes, | redly believe the futureis asfixed asthe past. And
surely the Hashforward bearsthat out; if the future wasn't fixed, how could everyone be having visons of
acoherent tomorrow? Wouldn't everyone s vision be different—or, indeed, wouldn't it be impossible for
anyoneto have any visonsat dl?'

Michiko frowned. "1 don’'t know. I’m not sure. | mean, what’ sthe point of going oniif it’sal aready
fixed?'

"What' sthe point of reading anovel whose ending has dready been written?”



She chewed her lower lip.

"The block universe concept isthe only thing that makes sensein ardativistic universe,” said Lloyd.
"Indeed, it’sredly just rlaivity writ large: relativity saysno point in space is more important than any
other; there is no fixed frame of reference againgt which to measure other positions. Well, the block
universe say's no time is more important than any other—'now’ is utterly and completely anilluson, and if

there’ s no such thing asauniversd now, if thefutureis dready written, then free will isobvioudy an
illuson, too."

"I’'m not as certain asyou are," said Michiko. "It seemsasif I've got free will."

"Even dfter this?" said Lloyd. His voice was growing alittle sharp. "Even after the Hashforward?!
"There are other explanationsfor the coherent version of the future,” said Michiko.
"Oh?Likewhat?'

"Likeit' sonlyone possible future, oneroll of thedice. If the Flashforward were to be reproduced, we
might see acompletely different future.”

Lloyd shook hishead, hishair rustling againgt the pillow. "No," he said. "No, there’ sonly onefuture, just
asthere' sonly one past. No other interpretation makes sense.”

"But to livewithout freewill . . ."

"That' stheway itis, dl right?' sngpped LIoyd. "No free will. No choices."
"BU"

"No buts."

Michikofell sllent. Lloyd' s chest wasrising and faling rapidly, and doubtless she could fed his heart
pounding. There was quiet between them for along time, and then, at last, Michiko said, "Ah."

Lloyd raised his eyebrows even though Michiko couldn’t see his expression. But she must have
registered somehow that hisfaciad muscles were moving.

"l getit," shesad.
Lloyd wasirritated, and he let hisvoice show it. "What?"

"I get why you' re adamant about the immutable future. Why you believe there’ sno such thing asfree
will."

"And why isthat?"

"Because of what happened. Because of al the people who died, and al the other people who were
hurt." She paused, asif waiting for himtofill in the rest. When he didn’t, shewent on. "If we have free
will, you' d have to blame yoursdlf for what happened; you' d have to take responsbility. All that blood
would be on your hands. But if we don’t—if we don't, then it’ s not your fault. Que sera est. Whatever
will bedready is. Y ou pushed the button that started the experiment because you aways had and aways



will push that button; it' sasfrozen in time as any other moment.”
Lloyd said nothing. There was nothing to say. She wasright, of course. Hefdlt his cheeks growing flush.
Was he that shallow? That desperate?

There was nothing in any physical theory that could possibly have predicted the Flashforward. He
wasn't some M.D. who had failed to keep up to date on side effects; thiswasn't physics malpractice. No
one—not Newton, not Einstein, not Hawking—could have predicted the outcome of the LHC
experiment.

He d done nothing wrong.

Nothing.

And yet—

And yet he' d give anything to change what had happened. Anything.

And he knew that if he dlowed for even one second the possibility that itcould have been changed, that
it could have gone down differently, that he could have avoided dl those car crashes and plane crashes
and botched operations and fals down stairs, that he could have prevented little Tamiko from losing her
life, then he' d spend therest of hislife being crushed by guilt over what had happened. Minkowski
absolved him of that.

And he needed that absolution. He needed it if he wereto go on, if he wereto follow hislight path up
through the cube without being tortured.

Those who wished to believe that the visons didn’t portray the actual future had hoped that, taken
collectively, they would be inconsistent: that in one person’ s vison, a Democrat would be president of the
United States, while in another’ s a Republican would be in the Ova Office. In one, flying carswould be
everywhere; in another, dl persond vehicleswould have been banned in favor of public trangt. In one,
perhaps diens had cometo visit Earth; in another, we' d found that we redlly are aone.

But Michiko's Mosaic Project was a huge success, with over a hundred thousand postings aday, and it
al combined together to portray a consstent, coherent, plausible 2030, each reported vision atilein the
greater whole.

In 2017, a the age of ninety-one, Elizabeth I1, Queen of England, Scotland, Northern Ireland, Canada,
the Bahamas, and countless other places, died. Charles, her son, a that time sixty-nine, was mad asa
loon, and, with some prodding from his advisors, chose not to ascend to the throne. William, Charles's
eldest son, next in line, shocked the world by renouncing the throne, leading Parliament to declare the
Monarchy dissolved.

Quebec was il part of Canada; the secessionists were now atiny but ever-vocal minority.

In 2019, South Africacompleted, at long lag, its post-Apartheid crimes-againgt-humanity trials, with
over five thousand people convicted. President Desmond Tutu, eighty-eight, pardoned them dl, an act,
he said, not just of Chrigtian forgiveness but of closure.



No one had yet set foot upon Mars—the early visions that suggested the contrary turned out to be
virtud-redity smulations a Disney World.

The President of the United States was African-American and mae; there had apparently yet to be a
femae American president in the interim. But the Catholic Church did indeed now ordain women.

Cubawas no longer Communist; Chinawasthe last remaining Communist country, and itsgrip onits
people seemed as firm twenty-one years hence as it was today. China s population was now amost two
billion.

Ozone depl etion was substantial; people wore hats and sunglasses, even on cloudy days.

Cars couldn’t fly—but they could levitate up to about two meters off the ground. On the one hand, road
work was being curtailed in most countries. Cars no longer required a smooth, hard surface; some places
were even dismantling roads and putting in greenbeltsinstead. On the other hand, roads were getting so
much lesswear and tear that those |eft intact required little maintenance.

Christ had not come again.

Thedream of atificid intelligence was il unfulfilled. Though computersthat could talk existed in
abundance, none exhibited any measure of consciousness.

Male sperm counts continued their precipitous drop worldwide; in the developed world, artificial
insemination was now common, and was covered by the socidized medical programsin Canada, the
European Union, and even the United States. In the Third World, birth rates were faling for thefirst time
ever.

On August 6, 2030—the elghty-fifth anniversary of the dropping of the atomic bomb on Hiroshima—a
ceremony occurred in that city announcing aworldwide ban on the development of nuclear weapons.

Despite bans on their hunting, sperm whales were extinct by 2030. Over one hundred committed suicide
in 2022 by beaching themselves a locaes dl over the world; no one knowswhy.

Inavictory for common sense worldwide, fourteen of North America slargest newspapers
smultaneoudy agreed to stop running horoscopes, declaring that printing such nonsense was a odds with
their fundamental purpose of disseminating the truth.

A curefor AIDS was found in 2014 or 2015. Totd worldwide death count from that plague was
estimated a seventy-five million, the same figure the Black Desth had killed seven hundred years
previoudy. A curefor cancer gtill remained eusive, but most forms of diabetes could be diagnosed and
corrected in the womb prior to birth.

Nanotechnology till didn’t work.
George Lucas ill hadn't finished his nine-partStar War's epic.
Smoking was now illegal in dl public aress, including outdoor ones, in the United States and Canada. A

codlition of Third World countrieswas now suing the United States a the World Court in the Hague for
willfully promoting tobacco usein devel oping nations.



Bill Gateslogt hisfortune: Microsoft sock tumbled badly in 2027, in response to anew version of the
Y ear-2000 crisis. Older Microsoft software stored dates as thirty-two-bit strings representing the
number of seconds that had passed since January 1, 1970; they ran out of storage space in 2027.
Attempts by key Microsoft employeesto divest themsalves of their stock drove the price even lower.
The company findly filed for Chapter Eleven in 2029.

The average incomein the United States seemed to be $157,000 per year. A loaf of bread cost four
dollars.

Thetop-grossing film of al time was the 2026 remake of War of the Worlds.
L earning Japanese was now mandatory for al M.B.A. students at the Harvard Business School.

The fashion colorsfor 2030 would be pale yellow and burnt orange. Women were wearing their hair
long again.

Rhinocerases were now bred on farms specificdly for their horns, il highly prized in the East. They
were no longer in danger of extinction.

It was now acapitd crimetokill agorillain Zaire.

Donad Trump was building apyramid in the Nevada desert to house his eventual remains. When done,
it will beten meterstdler than the Great Pyramid at Giza

The 2029 World Serieswill be won by the Honolulu Vol canoes.
The Turks and Caicos Idands joined Canadain 2023 or 2024.

After DNA tests conclusively proved one hundred previous cases of wrongful execution, the United
States abolished the death penalty.

Peps won the colawars.

Therewill be another huge stock market crash; those who know what year it will take place are
gpparently keeping that information to themselves.

The United Stateswill finally go metric.
India established the first permanent base on the Moon.
A war isunder way between Guatemaaand Ecuador.

Theworld' s population in 2030 will be eeven billion; four billion of those were born after 2009, and S0
could never have had avision.

Michiko and Lloyd were egting alate dinner in his gpartment. Lloyd had made raclette—cheese melted
and served over boiled potatoes—atraditiona Swiss dish he'd grown fond of. They had a bottle of
Blauburgunder with it; LIoyd was never much of adrinker, but wine flowed so fredy in Europe, and he
was at the age at which aglass or two aday was beneficia for his heart.



"WE I never know for sure, will we?' said Michiko, after eating asmall piece of potato. "We'll never
know who that woman you were with was, or who the father of my child was."

"Oh, yes, wewill," said Lloyd. "You'll presumably know who the father is sometime in the next thirteen
or fourteen years—before the child isborn. And I’ [l know who that woman iswhenever | do finally meset
her—I’d certainly recognize her, even if she were years younger than shewasin my vision.”

Michiko nodded, asif thiswere obvious. "But | mean wewon't know in time for our own wedding,” she
sad, her voice smdll.

"No," said Lloyd. "wewon't."
She sighed. "What do you want to do?'

Lloyd lifted his eyesfrom the table and looked at Michiko. Her lips were pressed tightly together;
perhaps she was trying to keep them from trembling. On her hand was the engagement ring—so much
lessthan he' d wanted to get her, so much more than he could redlly afford. "It' snot fair,” hesaid. "l
mesan, Christ, even Elizabeth Taylor probably thought it was ‘till death do uspart’ each time she got
married; nobody should haveto go into amarriage knowing it’s bound to fail "

He could tell Michiko waslooking at him, tell that she wastrying to seek out hiseyes. "So that’ syou're
decison?' shesaid. "Y ou want to call off the engagement?”

"l doloveyou,” sad Lloyd, findly. ™Y ou know that."
"Then what’ s the problem?" asked Michiko.

Whatwas the problem? Wasit divorce that so terrified him—or just amessy divorce, likethe one his
parents had gone through? Who would have thought that such asmple thing as dividing up community
property could have escalated into out-and-out warfare, with vicious accusations on both sides? Who
would have thought that two people who had scrimped and saved and sacrificed year after year to buy
each other lavish Christmas presents as tokens of their love would end up using legal clawsto pry those
presents back from the only person in the world to whom they meant anything? Who would have thought
that a couple who had oh-so-cutely given their children names that were anagrams—L 1oyd and
Dolly—would turn around and use those same children as pawns, as wegpons?

"I'm sorry, honey," said Lloyd. "It stearing me gpart but, | just don’t know what | want to do.”

"Y our parents long ago booked flights to come to Geneva, and so did my mother,” said Michiko. "If
We re not going to go through with the wedding, we haveto tell people. Y ou’ ve got to make adecision.”

She didn’t understand, thought Lloyd. She didn’t understand that his decision was dready made; that
whatever he would do/had done was described for al timein the block universe. It wasn't that hehad to
make a decision; rather, the decision that had aways been made smply had to be revealed.

And so—



16

It wastime for Theo to go home. Not to the gpartment in Genevathat he' d called homefor thelast two
years, but hometo Athens. Hometo hisroots.

It dso, frankly, would be wise for him to not be around Michiko for awhile. Crazy thoughts about her
kept running through his head.

Theo didn't sugpect that anyonein hisfamily had anything to do with his desth—although, as he’ d begun
reading up on such things, it became apparent that itwas usualy the case, ever snce Cain dew Abdl, ever
gnce Liviapoisoned Augustus, ever since O. J. killed hiswife, ever since that astronaut aboard the
internationa space station had been arrested, despite the seemingly perfect dibi, for having killed her own
Sder.

But, no, Theo suspected none of hisfamily members. And yet, if any visonswerelikely to shed light on
his own death, surdly it would be those of his close relatives? Surely some of them would have been
doing investigations of their own twenty-one years hence, trying to figure out who had killed their dear
Theo?

Theo took an Olympic Airlinesflight to Athens. The seat saleswere over; people were flying again as
before, assured that the consciousness-displacement would not recur. He spent the flight time poking
holesin amodd for the Flashforward that had been emailed to him by ateam at DESY, the Deutsches
Elektronen-Synchrotron, Europe’ s other mgjor particle-accelerator facility.

Theo hadn’'t been home for four years now, and he regretted it. Christ, he might be dead in twenty-one
years—and he' d let agpan of onefifth that length dip by without hugging his mother or tasting her
cooking, without seeing his brother, without enjoying the incredible beauty of hishomeland. Yes, the Alps
were breathtaking, but there was a stexile, barren quality about them. In Athens, you could always look
up, dways see the Acropolis|ooming above the city, the midday sun flaring off the restored, polished
marble of the Parthenon. Thousands of years of human habitation; millenniaof thought, of culture, of art.

Of course, asayouth, he had visited many of the famous archeologica stes. He remembered being
seventeen: aschool bus had taken his class to Delphi, home of the ancient oracle. It had been pouring
rain, and he hadn’t wanted to get off the bus. But histeacher, Mrs. Megas, had inssted. They had
clambered over dippery dark rocks through lush forest, until they came to where the oracle had once

supposedly sat, dispensing cryptic visions of the future.

That kind of oracle had been better, thought Theo: futures that were subject to interpretation and debate,
instead of the cold, harsh redlities the world had recently seen.

They’ d dso gone to Epidaurus, agreat bowl out of the landscape, with concentric rings of seats. They'd
seenOedipus Tyrannos performed there—Theo refused to join the touristsin calling itOedipus Rex;
"Rex" wasaLatin word, not Greek, and represented an irritating bastardization of the play’ stitle.

The play was performed in ancient Greek; it might aswell have been in Chinesefor dl the sense Theo
could make of the dialog. But they’ d studied the story in class; he knew what was happening. Oedipus's



future had been spelled out for him, too: you will marry your mother and murder your father. And
Oedipus, like Theo, had thought he could circumvent destiny. Forearmed with the knowledge of what he
was supposed to do, why, he/ d smply avoid the issue atogether, and live along, happy life with his
queen, locasta.

Except . . .

Except that, asit turned out, locastawas his mother, and the man Oedipus had dain years before during
aquarrel on the road to Thebes had indeed been hisfather.

Sophocles had written his version of the Oedipus story twenty-four hundred years ago, but students till
studied it asthe greatest example of dramatic irony in western literature. And what could be moreironic
than amodern Greek man faced with the dilemmeas of the ancients—afuture prophesied, atragic end
foretold, afateinevitable? Of course, the heroes of ancient Greek tragedies each had ahamartia —a
fata flav—that made their downfall unavoidable. For some, thehamartia was obvious. greed, or lust, or
aninability tofollow the law.

But what had been Oedipus sfatd flaw? What in his character had brought him to ruin?

They'd discussed it at length in class; the narrative form employed by the ancient Greek tragedians was
inviolate—there wasalways ahamartia.

And Oedipus swas—what?
Not greed, not stupidity, not cowardice.
No, no, if it were anything, it was hisarrogance, his belief that he could defest the will of the gods.

But, Theo had protested, that’ sacircular argument; Theo was dways the logician, never much for the
humanities. Oedipus s arrogance, he said, was only evidenced in histrying to avoid hisfate; had hisfate
been less severe, he' d never have rebelled againgt it, and therefore never would have been seen as
arrogant.

No, histeacher had said, it wasthere, in athousand little things he doesin the play. Indeed, she quipped,
athough Oedipus meant " Swollen Foot"—an dlusion to the injury sustained when hisroyd father had
bound hisfeet asachild and left him to die—he could just as easily be caled "Swollen Head."

But Theo couldn’t see it—couldn’t see the arrogance, couldn’t see the condescension. To him, Oedipus,
who solved the vexing riddle of the Sphinx, was atowering intellect, agreat thinke—exactly what Theo
felt himsdlf to be.

Theriddle of the Sphinx: what walks on four legsin the morning, two at noon, and three in the evening?
Why, aman, of course, who crawls at the beginning of life, walks erect in adulthood, and requires acane
inold age. What an incisive bit of reasoning on Oedipus s part!

But now Theo would never live to need that third leg, would never see the natural sunset of his span.
Instead, he' d be murdered in middle-age. . . just as Oedipus s redl father, King Laius, was|eft dead at
the side of awell-worn road.

Unless, of course, he could change the future; unless he could outwit the gods and avoid his destiny.



Arrogance? thought Theo. Arrogance? It isto laugh.

The plane started its descent into nighttime Athens.

"Y our parents long ago booked flights to come to Geneva, and so did my mother,” Michiko had said. "If
We' re not going to go through with the wedding, we haveto tell people. Y ou’ ve got to make adecision.”

"What do you want to do?" asked LIoyd, buying time.

"What do | want to do?' repeated Michiko, sounding stunned by the question. "1 want to get married; |
don't believein afixed future. The visonswill only cometrueif you make them do so—if you turn them
into sAf-fulfilling prophecies”

The ball was back in his court. LIoyd lifted his shoulders. "I’m so sorry, honey. Redly, | am, but—"

"Look," she said, cutting off words she didn’t want to hear. "1 know your parents made amistake. But
weaen't.”

"“Thevisons—"

"Wearen't," said Michiko firmly. "We reright for each other. We remeant for each other.”

Lloyd wasslent for atime. Findly, gently, he went on. ™Y ou said before that maybe | was embracing the
ideathat the future was immutable too readily. But I’m not. I'm not just looking for away to avoid
guilt—and I’'m certainly not looking for away to avoid marrying you, darling. But that the viSons are redl
isthe only conclusion possible based on the physics| know. The math isabstruse, I'll grant you, but
there’ s an excellent theoretical basisfor supporting the Minkowski interpretation.”

"Physics can change in twenty-one years," said Michiko. "Therewas alot of stuff they believed in 1988
that we know isn't truetoday. A new paradigm, anew modd, might displace Minkowski or Eingtein.”

Lloyd didn’t know what to say.

"It could happen,” said Michiko earnedtly.

Lloyd tried to make histone soft. "I need—I need something more than just your fervent wish. | need a
rationa explanation; | need asolid theory that could explain why the visions are anything but the one true
fixed future." He stopped himsdlf before he added, " A future in which we aren’t meant to be together.”

Michiko's voice was growing desperate. "Wdll, okay, dl right, maybe the visons are of an actud, red
future—but not of 2030."

Lloyd knew he shouldn't push it; knew that Michiko was vulnerable—hdll, knew thathe was vulnerable.
But she had to face redlity. "The evidence from newspapers seems pretty conclusive,” he said softly.

"No—no, it'snot." Michiko sounded increasingly adamant. "It isn’t really. Thevisons could be of atime
much farther in the future.”

"What do you mean?"



"Do you know who Frank Tipler is?'

Lloyd frowned. "A candid drunk?'

"What? Oh, | get it—but it's Tipler with one P. He wroteThe Physics of Immortality.”
"ThePhyscsofwhat?" said Lloyd, eyebrowsrisng.

"Immortdity. Living forever. It swhat you dwayswanted, isn't it? All thetimein theworld; dl thetime

to do dl the things you want to do. Wdll, Tipler saysthat at the Omega Point—the end of time—we will
al beresurrected and live forever."

"Whet kind of gibberishisthat?'
"l admit it'sawhopper," said Michiko. "But he made agood case."
"Oh?" said Lloyd, the syllable pregnant with skepticiam.

"He saysthat computer-based life will eventudly supplant biologica life, and that information-processing
capabilitieswill continue to expand year after year, until at some point, in the far future, no conceivable
computing problem will beimpossible. Therewill be nothing that the future machine lifewon't have the
power and resourcesto caculate.”

‘1 suppose.”

"Now, consider an exact, specific description of every aiom in ahuman body: what typeit is, whereit is
located, and how it relates to the other atomsin the body. If you knew that, you could resurrect a person
inhisentirety: an exact duplicate, right down to the unique memories stored in the brain and the exact
sequence of nucleotides making up hisDNA. Tipler saysthat asufficiently advanced computer far
enough in thefuture could easly recreate you, just by building up asmulacrum that reflects the same
information—the same atoms, in the same places.”

"But there' sno record of me. Y ou can’t reconstruct me without—I don’t know—some kind of scan of
me. . . something likethat."

"It doesn’t matter. Y ou could be reproduced without any specific info about you."

"Whatare you talking about?"

"Tipler saysthere are about 110,000 active genes that make up ahuman being. That meansthat al the
possible permutations of those genes—all the possible biologicaly distinct human beingsthat could
conceivably exist—amount to about ten to the tenth to the sixth different people. So if you wereto
smulate al those permutations—"

"Simulate ten to the tenth to the sixth human beings?' said Lloyd. "Comeon!”

"It dl follows from saying that you have essentidly infinite information-processing capabilities” sad
Michiko. "There may be oodles of possible humans, but itis afinite number.”

"Jugtbardly finite



"There are ds0 afinite number of possible memory states. With enough storage capacity, not only could
you reproduce every possible human being, but aso every possible set of memories each of them could
have™

"But you' d need one smulated human for every memory state,” said Lloyd. "Oneinwhich | ate pizzalast
night—or at least had memories of doing that. Another in which | ate ahamburger. Et cetera, et cetera,
ad nauseam.”

"Exactly. But Tipler saysyou could reproduce al possible humansthat could ever exist, and dl possible
memoriesthat they could ever have, in ten to the tenth to the twenty-third bits."

"Tentothetenthtothe..."

"Ten to the tenth to the twenty-third.”

"That'scrazy,” sad Lloyd.

"It safinite quantity. And it could al be reproduced on a sufficiently advanced computer.”
"But why would anyone do that?"

"Well, Tipler saysthe Omega Point loves us, and—"

"Lovesus?'

"Y ou redly should read the book; he makesit sound much more reasonable than | do.”
"He d pretty much haveto," said Lloyd, deadpan.

"And remember that the passage of time will dow down asthe universe comesto an end, if it eventualy
isgoing to collapse down into a Big Crunch—"

"Most studiesindicate that’ s not going to happen, you know; thereisn’'t enough mass, even taking into
account dark matter, to close the universe.”

Michiko pressed on. "But if it does collgpse, time will be protracted so that it will seem to take forever
to do s0. And that means the resurrected humanswill seem to live forever: they’ll beimmortd.”

"Oh, come on. Someday, if I'm lucky, maybe’ll get aNobd. But that’ s about as much immortdity as
anyone could ever hopefor.”

"Not according to Tipler," said Michiko.

"And you buy this?'

"Wdlll, no, not entirely. But even if you set aside Tipler’ sreligious overtones, couldn’t you envision afar,
far future in which—I don’t know, in which some bored high-school student decidesto smulate every
possible human and every possible memory state?”

"l guess. Maybe."



"In fact, he doesn’t have to smulate dl the possible sates—he could smulate just one random one.”

"Oh, | see. And you're saying that what we saw—the visions—they’re not of the actua future
twenty-one years from now, but rather are from this far-future science experiment. A smulation, one
possible take. Just one of the infinite—excuse me,almost infinite possible futures.”

"Exactly!
Lloyd shook hishead. "That' s pretty hard to swalow."

"Isit?lsit redly?Isit any harder to swallow than the idea that we have seen the future, and that futureis
immutable, and even foreknowledge of it won't be enough to dlow usto prevent that future from coming
true? | mean, comeon: if you have avison that saysyou' |l bein Mongoliain twenty-one years, al you
have to do to defeat the vison isnot go to Mongolia. Surely you' re not predicting that you' re going to be
forced to go there, against your will? Surely we have valition.”

Lloyd tried to keep his voice soft. He was used to arguing science with other people, but not with
Michiko. Even an intellectuad debate had a personal edge. "'If the vision hasyou in Mongolia, you'll end
up being there. Oh, you may have every intention of never going there, but it’ Il happen, and it’ll seem
quite naturd at thetime. Y ou know aswell as| do that humans arelousy at realizing their desires. Y ou
can make apromise today that you' re going to go on adiet, and have every intention of still beingonita
month from now, but, somehow, without it seeming like you have no freewill a al, you might very well
be off your diet by then."

Michiko looked concerned. "Y ou think | need to go on adiet?' But then she smiled. "Just kidding."

"But you see my point. There' sno evidence even in the short term that we can avoid thingsthrough a
sample act of will; why should we think that over a span of decadeswe |l have sdlf-determination?’

"Because wehave to," said Michiko, earnest again. "Because if we don't, then there sno way out." She
sought out hiseyes. "Don’'t you see? Tiplerhas to beright. Or if he' s not, there has to be some other
explanation. Thatcan't be the future.” She paused. "It can’t beour future”

Lloyd sghed. He did love her, but—damn it, damn it, damn it. He found his head shaking back and forth
in negation. "1 don’'t want that to be the future anymore than you do,” he said softly.

"Thendon't letit," said Michiko, taking hishand, intertwining her fingerswith his. "Don't let it."

17

"Hello?" A pleasant femaevoice.



"Ah, hdlo, isthat—isthat Dr. Tompkins?'
" Speaking.”
"Ah, hi. Thisis—thisis Jake Horowitz. Y ou know, from CERN?"

Jake didn’t know what he' d expected to hear over the phone. Affection? Relief that he d made thefirst
contact? Surprise? But none of those emotions were conveyed by Carly’ svoice. "Yes?' shesaid, her
toneeven. That wasdl; just "yes."

Jacob felt his heart sinking. Maybe he should just hang up, get the hell off the phone. It wouldn't hurt
anything; if Lloyd wasright, they werebound to be together eventudly. But he couldn’t bring himsdlf to
do that.

"l—I"m sorry to bother you," he ssammered. He' d never been good at phoning women. And, indeed, he
hadn’t phoned one—not like this—since high school, since that time he' d worked up enough courage to
cal Julie Cohan and ask her for adate. It had taken him daysto prepare, and he still remembered how
hisfinger was shaking as he stabbed out her number on the phonein his parents’ basement. He could
hear his older brother walking around upstairs, the wooden floor creaking with each of his ponderous
footsteps, an Ahab on deck. He d been terrified that David would try to come down while he was on the
phone.

Julie sfather had answered the phone, and then had called out to her to pick up on an extension—he
hadn’t covered the mouthpiece, and he spoke to her roughly. Nothing like the way he' d have treated
Julie. And then she picked up the phone, and her father had let the handset tumble back onto the cradle,
and she sad, in that wonderful voice of hers, "Hello?'

"Ah, hdlo, Julie. Thisis Jake—you know, Jake Horowitz." Silence, nothing. ""From your American
Higtory cdlass.”

A tone of perplexity, asif he'd just asked her to calculate the last digit of pi. "Yes?'

"l waswondering,” he' d said, trying to sound nonchaant, trying to sound asif hiswholelife didn’t
depend on this, trying to sound as though his heart weren't about to burst, "I was wondering if you—if
you' d like, you know, to go out with me, maybe Saturday . . . if you'refreethat is." More silence; he
remembered when he was akid the phone lines used to crackle with faint static. He missed that now.

"Maybe amovie" he d sad, filling the void.
Heartbesats more, and then: "What makes you think I’ d possibly want to go out with you?"

He d fet hisvison blur, felt his ssomach churn, felt the wind being kicked out of him. He couldn’t
remember what he’ d said after that, but somehow he’ d gotten off the phone, somehow he' d kept from
crying, somehow he' d just sat there in the basement, listening to his older brother pacing above.

That wasthe last time he’ d called awoman and asked for adate. Oh, he wasn't avirgin—of course not,
of course not. Fifty dollarsrectified that particular handicap one night in New Y ork City. He'd felt
terrible after that, cheap and unclean, but someday he would be with awoman he wanted to be with, and
he owed it to her, whomever she might be, to be—well, if not skilled, certainly not flailing about without a
cue



And now, now it looked like hewould be with awoman—with Carly Tompkins. He remembered her as
being beautiful, remembered her as having chestnut hair and eyesthat were green or gray. He'd liked
looking at her, liked listening to her, when she gave her presentation at the APS conference. But the
exact details of her gppearance were elusive. He recalled freckles—yes, surely she' d had freckles,
athough not as many as he himsdf had, but a gentle dusting dong the bridge of her smdl nose and her full
cheeks. Surdly hewasn't imagining that—

Carly’sperplexed "yes?" till rang in hisears. Shemust know why he was calling. She must—

"WEe re going to be together," he said, stupidly blurting it out, wishing the moment the words were free
that he could recant them. "In twenty years, we' re going to be together."

Shewasslent for amoment, then: "'l guess.
Jake wasrelieved; he' d been afraid that she was going to deny thevision. "So | wasthinking,” Jake said,
"l was thinking maybe we should get to know each other. Y ou know, maybe go for coffee” Hisheart

was pounding; his somach was churning. He was seventeen again.

"Jacob," she said. Jacob, saying his name—no one ever started good news by saying your name. Jacob,
reminding him of who heredly was. Jacob, what makes you think I’ d possibly—

"Jacob," she continued, "I’ m seeing someone.”

Of course, he thought. Of course she's seeing someone. A dark-haired beauty with those freckles. Of
course.

"I'm sorry," he said. He meant for her to take that to mean he was sorry he' d disturbed her, but hefelt it
both ways. Hewas sorry she was seeing someone.

"Besdes" sad Carly, "I'm herein Vancouver; you rein Switzerland.”

"l haveto bein Seettle later thisweek; I'm agrad student here, but my field is computer modeling of
HEP reactions, and CERN isflying mein to Microsoft for aseminar. | could—we'll, I’ d thought about,
you know, coming to North Americaaday or two early, maybe by way of Vancouver. I’ ve got tons of
frequent-flyer points; it won't cost me anything.”

"When?' asked Carly.

"|—I could bethere as early asthe day after tomorrow." Hetried to make histonelight. "My seminar
garts Thursday; theworld may bein crisis, but Microsoft soldierson.” At least for the time being, he

thought.

"All right," said Carly.

"All right?'

"All right. Come up to TRIUMF, if you want to. I’ d be glad to meet you."
"Wheat about your boyfriend?"

"Who said it wasaboy?"



"Oh." A pause."Oh."

But then Carly laughed. "No, just kidding. Y es, it'saguy—his name s Bob. But it’s not that serious, and

IIY$?I
"And, well, | guessweshould get to know each other better.”

Jacob was glad that the act of grinning from ear to ear didn’t make a sound. They firmed up atime, and
then they said their goodbyes.

His heart was pounding. He' d dways known the right woman would come along eventudly; he' d never
given up hope. He wouldn't bring her flowers—he would never get them through customs. No, he'd
bring her something decadent from Chocolats Micheli; Switzerland, was, after dl, theland of chocolate.

With hisluck, though, she' d turn out to be adiabetic.

Theo' syounger brother, Dimitrios, lived with three other young men in suburban Athens, but when Theo
came cdling, latein the evening, Dimitrios was home done.

Dim was studying European literature at the National Capodistrian University of Athens, ever since
childhood, Dim had wanted to be awriter. He' d mastered his a pha-beta-gammas before he' d entered
school, and was congtantly typing up stories on the family computer. Theo had promised years ago to
transfer dl of Dim’s stories from three-and-a-haf-inch diskettes onto optica wafers, no home computers
came with diskette readers anymore, but CERN’ s computing facility had some legacy systemsthat il
used them. He thought about making the offer again, but didn’t know whether it was better that Dim think
he' d smply forgotten, or that he redize that years—yearsl—had gone by without his big brother having
managed three minutes to request that smple favor from someone in the computing department.

Dim had answered the door wearing blue jeans—how retro!—and ayellow T-shirt imprinted with the
logo of Anaheim, apopular American TV series; even a European Literature mgjor apparently couldn’t
help faling under thethrall of American pop culture.

"Hello, Dim," said Theo. He had never hugged his younger brother before, but had an urgeto do so
now; facing the fact of one’s own mortality fostered such fedings. But Dim would doubtless not know
what to make of such an embrace; their father, Constantin, was not an affectionate man. Even when the
ouzo was flowing more than it should have, he might pinch awaitress s behind but he' d never even
touded the hair of hisboys.

"Hey, Theo," said Dimitrios, asif he had seen him just yesterday. He stepped asideto let his brother
enter.

The house looked like you' d expect the home of four guysin their early twentiesto look—apig sty, with
items of clothing draped over furniture, take-out food boxes piled on the dining-room table, and al sorts
of gadgets, including high-end stereo and virtud-redlity decks.

It felt good to be spesking Greek again; he' d gotten sick of French and English, the former withits



excess verbiage and the latter with its harsh, unpleasant sounds. "How are you doing?' Theo asked.
"How’ sschool 7'

"How’ suniversity, you mean,” said Dim.

Theo nodded. He' d dways referred to his own post-secondary studies as university, but his brother,
pursuing the arts, wasjust in school. Perhaps the dighthad been intended; there were eight years
between them, along time, but still not enough of abuffer to insure the absence of sibling rivalry. "Sorry.
How’ suniversity?'

"It'sokay." He met Theo'seyes. "One of my professors died during the Flashforward, and one of my
best friends had to leave to look after hisfamily after his parents were injured.”

There was nothing to say. "Sorry," said Theo. "It was unforeseen.”

Dim nodded and looked away. "Have you seen Mama and Poppa yet?'

"Not yet. Later."

"It s been hard on them, you know. All their neighbors know you work at CERN—' my son the
scientist,’ Poppa used to say. ‘My boy, the new Eingtein.” " Dimitrios paused. "He doesn't say that

anymore. They’ ve had to take alot of heat from those who lost people.”

"Sorry," said Theo again. Helooked around the messy room, trying to find anything on to which he
could shift the conversation.

"Youwant adrink?' asked Dimitrios. "Beer? Minerd water?'

"No, thanks."

Dimitrioswas quiet for afew moments. He waked into the living room; Theo followed. Dim sat on the
couch, pushing some papers and clothes onto the floor to make room. Theo found a chair that was

reasonably free of clutter and sat on it.

"You'veruined my life" said Dimitrios, his eyes meeting then avoiding his brother’s. "1 want you to know
that."

Theo fdt hisheart jump. "How?'

"These—these visons. Dammit, Theo, don’t you know how hard it isto face the keyboard each day?
Don't you know how easy it isto become discouraged?’

"But you're aterrific writer, Dim. I've read your work. Theway you handle the language is beautiful.
That piece you did about the summer you spent on Crete—you captured Knossos perfectly.”

"It doesn’t matter; none of that matters. Don’'t you see? Twenty-one years hence, | won't be famous. |
won't have madeit. Twenty-one years hence, I'll be working in arestaurant, servingsouviaki andtzatzki
to tourigs.”

"Maybe it was a dream—maybe you' re dreaming in the year 2030."



Dim shook hishead. "I found the restaurant; it' s over by the Tower of the Winds. | met the manager;
he' sthe same guy whao'll be running it twenty-one years from now. He recognized me from hisvison and
| recognized him from mine.”

Theo tried to be gentle. "Many writers don't make their living writing. Y ou know that."

"But how many would go on, year after year, if they didn’t think that someday—maybe not today,
maybe not next year, but eventually—that they would bresk out? That they’ d makeit?"

"I don’t know. I’ ve never thought about it."

"It sthe dream that makes artists go on. How many struggling actors are giving up today—right
now—because their visons proved to them that they’ Il never make it? How many painters on the streets
of Paristhrew away their palettes thisweek because they know that even decades hence they’ll never be
recognized? How many rock bands, practicing in their parents garages, have broken up? Y ou' ve taken
away the dream from millions of us. Some people were lucky—they were deeping in the future. Because
they were dreaming then, their real dreams haven't been shattered.”

"l—I hadn’t thought abouit it that way."

"Of course you hadn't. Y ou’ re so obsessed with finding out who killed you that you can’t see straight.
But I've got newsfor you, Theo. Y ou're not the only one who’ s dead in the year 2030. I'm deed,
too—awaiter in an overpriced tourist joint! I’'m dead, and so, I’'m sure, are millions of others. And you
killed them: you killed their hopes, their dreams, thair futures.”
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Day Eight: Tuesday, April 28, 2009

Jake and Carly Tompkins could have met at TRIUMF, but they decided not to. Instead, they met at the
Chapters superstore in the Vancouver suburb of Burnaby. This one still devoted about half its spaceto
actual pre-printed books that were for sale; guaranteed bestsdllers by Stephen King, John Grisham, and
Coyote Rolf. But the rest of the facility was taken up by individua display copies of titlesthat could be
printed on demand. It took only fifteen minutesto produce asingle copy of any book, ether in
mass-market paperback or as an octavo hardcover. Large-print editions could be had, aswell, and
computer-trandated editionsin any one of twenty-four languages could be produced in only an additional
few minutes. And, of course, no title was ever out of stock.

Inabrilliant bit of preadaptive evolution, book superstores had been building coffee shopsinto their

facilitiesfor twenty years now—qgiving people the perfect place to spend some pleasant time while their
custom books were printed, Jake got to Chapters early, entered the attached Starbucks, ordered himself

atdl decaffeinated Sumatra, and found a seet.



Carly arrived about ten minutes after the gppointed time. She was wearing aLondon Fog trench codt,
the sash pulled smartly about her waist; blue dacks; and low hedls. Jake roseto greet her. Ashe
approached, he was surprised to see that she wasn't as pretty as he' d remembered.

But it was definitely her. They looked at each other for amoment, he wondering, as he expected she
was, how you should greet someone whom you know for afact you will one day have sex with. They
were acquaintances, aready; Jake had encountered people he' d known lesswell at various times and
had either bestowed or received a kiss on the cheek—especialy, of course, in France. But Carly
decided the matter, extending her right hand. He managed a smile and shook it; her grip wasfirm, and
her skin coal to the touch.

A Chapters employee came around to ask Carly what she wanted to drink; Jake remembered when
Starbucks used to have only counter service, but of course someone had to deliver your books to you
when they were printed. She ordered a grande Ethiopia Sidamo.

Carly opened her purse and reached in to fish out her wallet. Jake let hisgaze fall insde her purse. The
entire coffee shop was non-smoking of course; dl restaurants throughout North Americawere these
days, even in Paris, such ruleswere coming into effect. But he was relieved to see no pack of cigarettes
hiding in the purse; he didn’t know what he would have doneif she' d been a smoker.

"Well," shesad.

Jake forced aamile. Itwas an awkward situation. He knew what she looked like naked. Of course—of
course that was twenty years hence. She was about his age now, twenty-two, twenty-three. She'd bein
her early fortiestwo decades from now; hardly run down, hardly ahag. And yet—

She had been lovely twenty years hence; surely, though, she was even lovelier now. Surey—

Yes, yes, therewas il anticipation, till wonder, till tenson.

Of course, she' d seen him naked, too, twenty years further down the road. He knew what she looked
like—her chestnut hair color was naturd, or at least dyed in both places; wine-colored nipples; those

same enchanting freckles painting congtellations across her chest. But him? What did he look like twenty
years hence? He was no athlete even now. What if he' d put on weight? What if his chest hair had gone

oray?

Maybe her present rel uctance was based on what she' d seen of the future him. He couldn’t promise

he' d work out, couldn’t promise he' d keep trim, couldn’t promise anything—sheknew what he' d be like
in 2030, even if he himsdf did not.

"It'sgood to seeyou again,” said Jake, trying to sound cam, trying to sound warm.

"You, too," said Carly. And then she smiled.

"What?'

"Nothing."

"No, comeon. Tdl me"

She smiled again, then lowered her eyes. "'l wasjust picturing us naked,” she said.



Hefdt hisfeatures sretching into agrin. "Me, too."

"Thisisstrange," she said. And then: "L ook, | never go to bed with anyone on thefirgt date. | mean—"

Jake lifted his hands off the tabletop. "Me neither,” he said.

She smiled at that. Maybe she was as beautiful as he remembered after all.

The Mosaic Project didn't just reved the futures of individua human beings. It dso had alot to say
about the future of governments, companies, and organizations—including CERN itself.

It seemed that in 2022, ateam at CERN—Theo and L|oyd were on it—would developed awhole new
kind of physicstool: the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider. Tachyons were particlesthat traveled faster than the
speed of light; the more energy they carried, the closer to light-speed they traveled. Astheir energy went
down, their speed went up—to dmogt infinite velocities.

Tardyons, on the other hand, were ordinary matter: they traveled at speeds below that of light. The more
energy you pumped into atardyon, the faster it would go. But, as old Einstein had said, the faster it goes,
the more massive atardyon gets. Particle accelerators, such as CERN’ s Large Hadron Collider, worked
by imparting great energiesto tardyons, thereby boosting them to high speeds, and hurtling them together,
releasing dl that energy when the particles collide. Such machineswere huge.

But imagine taking a stationary tardyon—a proton, say, held in place by a magnetic fiedld—and getting a

tachyon to collide with it. Y ou wouldn’t need huge accelerator rings to get the tachyon up to speed—it
was naturaly whipping dong a superlumind velocities. All you needed to do was make surethat it hit the

tardyon.
And sothe TT Collider was born.

It did not require atunnel twenty-seven kilometersin circumference, asthe LHC did.
It did not cost billions of dollarsto build.

It did not demand thousands of people to maintain and operate it.

A TTC was about the size of alarge microwave oven. The early modes—the ones availablein
2030—cost about forty million American dollars, and there were only ninein theworld. But it was
predicted that they’ d eventually be cheap enough that every university would have its own.

The effect on CERN was devastating; more than twenty-eight hundred people were laid off. The impact
on thetowns of S. Genisand Thoiry was aso great—suddenly over athousand homes and apartments

became avail able as people moved avay. The LHC would apparently be left operationa, but would
rarely be used; it was so much easier to do, and redo, experimentsusingaTTC.

"You know thisiscrazy," said Carly Tompkins, after taking asip of her Ethiopian coffee.



Jake Horowitz looked at her, eyebrows rai sed.

"What happened in that vision," said Carly, lowering her eyes, "that waspassionate. It wasn't two
people who had been together for twenty years.”

Jakelifted his shoulders. "I never want it to get stale, to get old. People can have agood lovelifefor
decades on end.”

"Not like that. Not ripping each other’ s clothes off in the workplace."
Jake frowned. "Y ou never know."

Carly was quiet for amoment, then: Y ou want to come back to my place? Y ou know, just for coffee. .

They were Sitting in acoffee shop, of course, so the offer made little sense. Jake' s heart was pounding.
"Sure" hesaid. "That would be nice.”
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Another night at LIoyd' s apartment, LIoyd and Michiko sitting on the couch, no words passing between
them.

Lloyd pursed hislips, thinking. Why couldn’t he just go ahead and commit to thiswoman? Hedid love
her. Why couldn’t he just ignore what he' d seen? Millions of people were doing just thet, after all—for
most of theworld, theidea of afixed future wasridiculous. They’ d seen it ahundred timesin TV shows
and movies Immy Stewart redizesthat it' sawonderful life after watching the world unfold without him.
Superman, incensed at the death of Lois Lane, fliesaround the Earth so quickly that it spins backwards,
letting him return to atime before her demise, saving her. Caesar, son of the chimpanzee scientists Zira
and Corndlius, setstheworld on apath of interspecies brotherhood, hoping to avoid Earth’ s destruction
by nuclear holocaust.

Even stientists spoke in terms of contingent evolution. Stephen Jay Gould, taking ametaphor from the
Jmmy Stewart movie, told theworld that if you could rewind the skein of time, it would doubtless play
out differently, with something other than human beings emerging at the end.

But Gould wasn't aphysicist; what he proposed as a thought experiment was impossible. The best you
could do was ariff on what had happened during the Flashforward—move the marker for "now" to
another ingtant. Timewas fixed; in the can, each frame exposed. The future wasn’t awork in progress; it
was adone dedl, and no matter how many times Stephen Jay Gould watchesit’'s A Wonderful Life,
Clarence will dwaysget hiswings. . .

Lloyd stroked Michiko's hair, wondering what was written above this dice in the spacetime block.



Jake was lying on hisback, one arm bent behind his head. Carly was snuggling againgt him, playing with
his chest hair. They were both naked.

"You know," said Carly, "we ve got achance for something realy wonderful here.”
Jake lifted his eyebrows. "Oh?"

"How many couples havethis, in this day and age? A guarantee that they’ |l be together twenty years
from now! And not just together, but still passionately in.. . . " Shetrailed off; it was one thing to discuss
the future, it was quite another, apparently, to give premature voice to the L-word.

They were quiet for atime. "Thereisn’'t somebody else, isthere?' asked Carly, finaly, her voice small.
"Back in Geneva?'

Jake shook hishead, hisred hair rustling againgt the pillow. "No." And then he swallowed, working up
his courage. "But there’ s someone else here, isn't there? Y our boyfriend—Bob."

Carly exhded. "I’'m sorry,” shesaid. "'l know alieisaterrible way to begin areationship. 1I—Ilook, |
didn’'t know anything about you. And male physicists are such hound dogs, redly they are. I’ ve even got
an old wedding band | sometimes wear to conferences. Thereisno Bob; | just said therewasso I'd
have a convenient out, you know, if thingsdidn’t seem to be going well.”

Jake didn’t know whether to be offended or not. Once, when he' d been sixteen or seventeen, he was
chatting to his cousin Howi€ sgirlfriend on aJuly night, out front of Howi€' shouse. There were abunch
of people around; they’ d been having a barbecue around back. It was dark, and it was clear, and she
had struck up a conversation with him, after noting that he was looking up at the stars. She didn’t know
any of their names, and was stunned that he could point out Polaris, plus the three corners of the Summer
Triangle, Vega, Deneb, and Altair. He started to show her Cassiopeia, but it was hard to see, half
obscured by the treesrising up behind the house. And yet he wanted her to seeit—the great W inthe
sky, one of the easiest congtellations to spot once you' ve been introduced to it. And so he said, here,
cross the street with me, you'll be able to seeit from the other side. It was a nice suburban street, devoid
of traffic a that time of night, with lit-up houses behind nestly trimmed lawns.

Shelooked at him and said, "No."

Hedidn’t get it—not for half a second. She thought he might try to throw her behind abush, try to rape
her. Emotions ran through him: offense at the suggestion—he was Howi€ scousin, after dl! And a
sadness, too: aregret for what it must be to be awoman, constantly on the lookout, aways afraid,
always checking for escape routes.

Jake had shrugged alittle, and had walked away, so stunned that he couldn’t think of anything elseto
say. Clouds had rolled in shortly after that, obscuring the stars.

"Oh," Jake said, to Carly; he could think of no other response to her lie about Bob.
Carly moved her shoulders. "Sorry. A woman hasto be careful.”

He hadn’t been thinking about settling down—buit . . . but . . . what agift! Here shewas, abeautiful,



intelligent woman, working in the same field he wasiin, and the certain knowledge that they’ d till be
together, and still be happy, two decades hence.

"What time do you have to be at work tomorrow?" asked Jake.
"I think I'll call insick," Carly said.

He rearranged himsdlf on the bed, facing her.

Dimitrios Procopides sat on the mess-covered couch, and stared at the wall. He' d been thinking about
thisever since hisbrother Theo' svidt two days ago. That thousands—maybe even millions—were
contemplating the samething didn’t make it easier for him.

It would be such asmplething to do: he' d bought the deeping pills over the counter, and he’' d had no
trouble finding information on the World Wide Web about how big a dose of this particular brand would
be required to insure fatality. For someone who welghed seventy-five kilos, as Dimitrios did, seventeen
pills might be enough, and twenty-two would surely do thetrick, but thirty would likely induce vomiting,
defeating the purpose.

Y es, he could make it happen. And it would be painless—just faling into adeep deep that would last
forever.

But there was a Catch-22—one of the few American novels he' d read had introduced him to that
concept. By committing suicide—he wasn't afraid to think the word—he could prove that hisfuture
was't predestined; after dl, in not just hisown vision, but in that of the restaurant manager, hewasdive
twenty years hence. So, if he killed himsdlf today—if he swallowed the pills rightnow —he’ ddemonstrate
conclusively that the future wasn't fixed. But it would be like Pyrrhus s defests of the Romans at
Heracleaand Asculum, the kind of victory that still bears his name, avictory at ahorrible cogt. For if he
could commit suicide, then the future that had so depressed him was not inevitable—but, of course, he'd
no longer be around to pursue his dream.

There were lesser ways, perhaps, to test the redlity of the future. He could pluck out an eye, cut off an
arm, get atattoo on his face—anything that would make his appearance permanently different from what
othershad seen of himin their visons.

But no. That wouldn'’t work.

It wouldn’t work because none of those thingswere permanent. A tattoo could be removed; an arm
could be replaced with a prosthetic; a glass eye could be fitted in the vacated socket.

No: he couldn’'t have aglass eye; in hisown vison of that damnable restaurant he' d had normal
stereoscopic sight. So, plucking out an eyewould be aconvincing test of whether the future was
immutable

Except . ..
Except they were making advances in prosthetics and genetics al the time. Who wasto say that two

decades down the road they wouldn't be able to clone him anew eye, or anew arm? And who wasto
say that he would refuse such athing, a chance to overcome the damage caused by an impetuous act in



hisyouth?

His brother Theo desperately wanted to believe that the future was not fixed. But Theo' s partner—that
tall guy, the Canadian—what’ s his name? Simcoe, that wasit. Simcoe said the exact opposite—Dim had
seen himon TV, making his case for the future being carved in stone.

And if the futurewas carved in stone—if Dim was never going to makeit as awrite—then heredly did
not want to go on. Wordswere hisonly love, hisonly passon—and, if he were honest, hisonly taent.
Hewas lousy a math (how hard it had been to follow Theo through the same schools, with teachers
expecting him to share his older brother’ stalent!), he couldn’t play sports, he couldn’t sing, he couldn’t
draw, computers defeated him.

Of course, if heredly was going to be miserablein the future, he could kill himsdlf then.
But apparently he had not.

Of course not. Days and weeks dip by easily enough; one doesn't necessarily notice that one' slifeisn’t
moving forward, isn't progressing, isn't becoming what you’ d always dreamed it would be.

No, it would be easy to end up living likethat —the empty life he saw in hisvison—if you let it snesk up
onyou, day after dreary day.

But he’ d been given agift, an insght. That Simcoe fellow had spoken of life as an aready exposed
film—but the projectionist had put the wrong redl on the projector, and it had been two minutes before
he' d redized hismistake. There’ d been ajump cut, asharp trangition from today to a distant tomorrow,
and then back again. That perspectivewas different from life just unrolling one frame after another. He
could see now, with clarity, that the life ahead of him wasn't one that he wanted—that, in avery redl
sense, as he served up moussaka and set saganaki ablaze, he was already dead.

Dim looked at the bottle of pillsagain. Y es, countless others, dl over the world, were doubtless
contemplating their futures, wondering if, now that they knew what tomorrow held, it was worth going
on.

If even one of them actudly did it—actudly took hisor her own life—surely that would prove the future
was mutable. Doubtless this thought had occurred to others, aswell. Doubtless many were waiting for
someone eseto do it firs—waiting for the reports that would surely flood the nets. "Man seen by others
in 2030 found dead." "' Suicide provesfutureisfluid.”

Dim picked up the amber-colored plastic bottle again, rolling it back and forth, hearing the pills clatter
over one another ingdeit.

It would be so easy to take off thelid, pressing it into his pdm—nhe did that now—and twisting,
defeating the safety mechanism, letting the pills spill out.

What color were they? he wondered. Crazy, that: he was thinking of taking hisown life, and yet had no
ideawhat color the potentia instrument of his demise was. He removed the lid. There was some cotton,
but not enough to hold the pillsimmobile. He pulled the batting out.

Well, I'll be—

The pillswere green. Who would have thought that? Green pills;, agreen desth.



He tipped the bottle, tapped its base until apill fal out into his hand. It had a crease down its middle,
where the pressure of athumbnail could presumably cleaveit in two for asmaller dose.

But he didn’t want asmall dose.

There was bottled water at hand; he’ d gotten it without fizz—in contrast to his usual preference—lest the
carbonation interfere with the action of the pills. He popped the pill in his mouth. He' d half-expected a
lime or mint flavor, but it had no flavor a al. A thin coating covered the tablet—the kind you got on
premium aspirin. Helifted the water bottle and took aswig. Thefilm did itsjob; the pill did smoothly
down histhroat.

Hetipped the pill bottle again, tapped out three more of the green tablets, popped al threeinto his
mouth, and chased them with alarge gulp of minerd water.

That was four; the maximum adult dose, marked on the bottle, was two tablets, and there was awarning
about avoiding use on consecutive nights.

Three had gone down easily enough at asingle gulp. He put anew trio in his pam, dropped them into his
mouth, and took another swig of water.

Seven. A lucky number, that. That’swhat they said.

Did heredly want to do this? There was ill time to stop. He could cal the emergency number; he could
gtick afinger into the back of histhroat.

Or—
Or he could think about it some more. Give himsaf afew additional minutesto reflect.

Seven pills probably wasn't enough to do any rea harm. Surely not. Surely that kind of minor overdose
happened al thetime. Why, the Web site had said he' d need at least another ten . . .

He spilled some more pillsinto his pam, and stared at them, apile of little green stones.
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Day Nine: Wednesday, April 29, 2009
"l want to show you something," said Carly.

Jake smiled and indicated with ahand gesture for her to proceed. They were at TRIUMF now, the
Tri-Universty Meson Fecility, Canada s leading particle-physics|aboratory.



She began walking down a corridor; Jake followed. They passed doors with science-related cartoons
taped to them. They a so passed afew other people, each wearing cylindrica dosmetersthat served the
same purpose but looked nothing like the film badges everyone sported at CERN.

Finally, Carly cameto a stop. Shewas standing in front of adoor. On one side of it was a coiled-up fire
hose behind a glass cover; on the other, adrinking fountain. Carly rapped her knuckles on the door.
There was no response, so she turned the knob and opened it up. She went in and beckoned with a
crooked finger and smilefor Jake to follow. He did so, and once hewasinside, Carly closed the door
behind him.

"Well?' shesad.

Jake lifted his shoulders, helpless.

"Don’'t you recognizeit?' asked Carly.

Jake looked around. It was agood-sized |ab, with beigewals, and—

—oh, my God!—

Y es, the walls were beige now, but sometimein the next twenty years they’ d be repainted yellow.

It was the room in the vison. There was the chart of the periodic table, just as he’' d seen it. And that
workbench right there—that’ s the bench they’ d been doing it on.

Jakefdt hisface grow flush.

"Pretty nest, huh?' said Carly.

"Thetitis" sad Jake.

Of course they couldn’t inaugurate the room just now; it was the middle of thework day . . .

But hisvison. . . wdl, if the time estimates were correct, then it was of 7:21 P.M. Genevatime, which
was—what?— 2:21 P.M. in New York, and—let’'ssee—11:21 A.M. herein Vancouver. Eleven
twenty-oneinthemorning . . . on aWednesday. Surely TRIUMF would have been busy then, too. How
could they possibly have been making love here at that time on aweekday? Oh, doubtless sexua mores
would continue to loosen up over the next twenty years just asthey had over the lagt fifty, but surely even
in the far-off year of A.D. 2030 you didn’t run off with your sweetie for a boink-bresk while at work.
But maybe October 23 was a holiday; maybe everyone el se was off work. Jake had a vague recollection
that Canadian Thanksgiving was sometimein October.

He walked around the room, comparing its present reality to what he' d seenin hisvison. Therewasan
emergency shower, common enough in labs where chemicas are used, and some equipment lockers, and
asmall computer workstation. There' d been apersona computer on the same spot in the vision, but it
had been quite a different modd, of course. And next toiit . . .

Next to it, there’ d been adevice, cubic in shape, about a haf-meter on aside, with two flat sheetsrising
up out of itstop, facing each other.



"That thing that wasthere," said Jake. "I mean, that thing thatwill be there. Any ideawhat it is?'
"Maybe a Tachyon-Tardyon Collider?'
Jakelifted his eyebrows. "That could—"

The door to the lab swung open, and alarge Native Canadian man walked in. "Oh, excuse me," he said.
"Didn’t mean to interrupt.”

"Not at dl," said Carly. She smiled at Jake. "We'll come back later."

"Y ou want proof?" said Michiko. "Y ou want to know for sure whether we should get married? There's
oneway to do that."

Lloyd had been donein hisoffice a CERN, examining aseries of printouts of the last year’ sworth of
14-TeV LHC runslooking for any indication of instability prior to thefirst 1,150-TeV run—the one that
produced the time-displacement. Michiko had just comein, and those were her first words.

Lloyd raised hiseyebrows at her. "A way to get proof? How?"'
"Repest the experiment. Seeif you get the same results.”

"We can't do that," said Lloyd, stunned. He was thinking of al the people who had died the last time.
Lloyd had never believed in the * there are some things humanity is not meant to know’ philosophy, but if
there ever was atest that shouldn't be done again, doubtlessthiswasit.

"Y ou’ d have to announce the new attempt in advance, of course, said Michiko. "Warn everybody, make
sure no oneisflying, no oneisdriving, no oneisswimming, no oneison aladder. Make surethewhole

human race is Sitting down or lying down when it happens.”
"There sno way to do that."
Surethereis,” shesaid. "CNN. NHK. The BBC. The CBC."

"There are placesin the world that till don’t get TV, or even radio, for that matter. We couldn’t warn
everyone."

"We couldn’teasily warn everyone," said Michiko, "but it could be done, certainly with a
ninety-nine-percent successrae.”

Lloyd frowned. "Ninety-nine percent, en? There are seven hillion people. If we missed just one percent,
that’ s il seventy million who wouldn’t be warned.”

"We could do better than that. I’ m positive we could. We could get it down to afew hundred thousand
who didn’'t get word—and, let’ sface it, those few hundred thousand would be in nontechnologica aress,
anyway. There sno chancethey’d be driving carsor flying planes.”

"They could be eaten by animals.”



Michiko stopped short. " Could they? Interesting thought. | guess animals didn’t |ose consciousness
during the Flashforward, did they?'

Lloyd scratched his head. "We certainly didn’t see the ground littered with dead birds that had fallen out
of the sky. And, according to the news reports, no one found giraffes that had broken their legs by falling.
The phenomenon seemed to be one of consciousness; | read in theTribune that chimpanzees and gorillas
who' ve been questioned by sign language reported some sort of effect—many said they werein different
places—but they lacked the vocabulary and the psychologica frame of reference to confirm or deny that
they’ d actualy seen their own futures.”

"It does't matter. Most wild animaswon't eat unconscious prey anyway; they’ Il think it's dead, and
natural selection long ago bred out carrion feeding from most life forms. No, I’ m sure we could reach
amost everyone, and the few that we don't reach are unlikely to be in any sort of hazardous position

anyway."

"All well and good," said Lloyd, "but we can’t just announce that we' re going to repeat the experiment.
The French or Swiss authoritieswould stop us, if no onedsedid.”

"Not if we got their permission. Not if we got everyone' s permisson.”

"Oh, come on! Scientists might be curious asto whether it’ s areproducible result, but why would
anyone else care? Why would the world give its permission—unless, of course, they needed to
reproduce the resultsin order to find me, or CERN, culpable.”

Michiko blinked. "Y ou’ re not thinking, LIoyd. Everyone wants another glimpse of the future. We're
hardly the only oneswith |oose ends | eft by the first set of visions. People want to know more about what
tomorrow holds. If you tell them that you can let them see the future again, no oneisgoing to stand in
your way. On the contrary, they’ll move heaven and earth to makeit possible.”

Lloyd was quiet, digesting this. "Y ou think s0?" he said at last. "I d imagine there would be alot of
resstance.”

"No, everyone s curious. Don' tyou want to know who that woman was?* A pause. "Don’'t you want to
know for sure who wasthe father of the child | waswith? Besides, if you' re wrong about the future being
immutable, then maybewe Il al see acompletely different tomorrow, onein which Theo does't die. Or
maybewe |l get aglimpse at adifferent time: five years down the road, or fifty. But the point is that

there' s not a person on the planet who wouldn’t want another vision.”

"I don’t know," said Lloyd.
"Well, then, look &t it thisway: you' re torturing yoursdlf with guilt. If you try to reproduce the
Hashforward and fail to do so, then the LHC had nothing to do with it, after al. And that means you can

rdax.”

"Maybeyou'reright,” said LlIoyd. "But how do we get permission to reproduce the experiment? Who
could givethat permisson?’

Michiko shrugged. "The nearest city is Geneva," she said. "What' sit most famousfor?”

Lloyd frowned, running down the litany of possibly appropriate answers. And it cameto him: the League
of Nations, forerunner of the UN, had been founded therein 1920. "Y ou’ re suggesting we take thisto



the United Nations?'
"Sure. You could go to New Y ork and present your case.”
"The UN can never agree on anything,” said Lloyd.

"They'll agree on this," said Michiko. "It’ stoo seductive to turn down."

Theo had talked to his parents and hisfamily’ s neighbors, but none of them seemed to have meaningful
ingghtsinto hisfuture death. And so he caught an Olympic Airlines 7117 back to the Geneva
Internationa Airport at Cointrin. Franco della Robbia had dropped him off for his outgoing flight, but
Theo now took a cab—pricey at thirty Swissfrancs—back to the campus. Since they hadn’t fed him on
the plane, he decided to go straight to the cafeteriain the LHC control center for abite to eat. When he
entered, to his surprise he spotted Michiko Komura sitting alone at atable near the back. Theo got
himsdf asmall bottle of orangejuice and a serving oflongeole sausage, and headed toward her, passing
severa knots of physicists eating and arguing about possible theories to explain the Hashforward. Now
he understood why Michiko was aone; the last thing she wanted to be thinking about was the event that
had caused her daughter’ s death.

"Hi, Michiko," sad Theo.

Shelooked up. "Oh, hi, Theo. Welcome back."

"Thanks. Mindif | joinyou?'

She indicated the vacant seat opposite her with ahand gesture. "How was your trip?* she asked.

"l didn't learn much.” He thought about not saying anything further, but, well, shedid ask. "My brother
Dimitrios—he saysthe visions ruined his dream. He wantsto be agreat writer, but it doesn’t ook like
he' sever going to makeit."

"That'ssad," said Michiko.

"How are you doing?" asked Theo. "How are you holding up?"

Michiko spread her asams abit, asif there were no easy answer. "I’m surviving. | go literdly whole
minutes where | don’t think about what happened to Tamiko."

"I'm so0 sorry,” said Theo, for the hundredth time. A long pause. "How’ sit going otherwise?!

"Okay."

"Just okay?"'

Michiko was edting atart-sized cheese quicheau bleu de Gex. She dso had a hdf-drunk cup of tea; she
took asip, gathering her thoughts. "I don’t know. Lloyd—he' s not sure he wants to go through with the

wedding.”

"Redly?My God."



Shelooked around, gauging how alone they were; the nearest person was four tables away, apparently
absorbed in reading something on adatapad. She sighed, then shrugged alittle. "I love Lloyd—and |
know helovesme. But he can’'t get over this possibility that our marriagewon't last.”

Theo lifted his eyebrows. "Well, he does come from a broken home. The break-up was quite nasty,
goparently.”

Michiko nodded. "I know; I’'m trying to understand. Redlly, | am." A pause. "How was your parents
mariage?’

Theo was surprised by the question. He frowned as he considered it. "Fine, | guess; they till seemto be
happy. Dad was never very demondtrative, but Mom never seemed to mind."

"My father isdead,” said Michiko. "But | suppose hewas atypica Japanese of his generation. Kept
everything ingde, and hiswork was hiswhole life." She paused. "Heart attack; forty-seven yearsold.
When | was twenty-two."

Theo searched for the right words. "I’'m sure he’ d be very proud of you if he'd lived to see what you' ve
become."

Michiko seemed to consider thissincerely, instead of just dismissing it asaplatitude. "Maybe. In his
traditional view, women did not pursue careersin engineering.”

Theo frowned. He didn’t realy know much about Japanese culture. There were conferencesin Japan he
could have arranged to attend, but athough he' d been dl over Europe, to Americaonce, and to Hong
Kong when he was ateenager, he'd never had an urge to travel to Japan. But Michiko was so
fascinating—her every gesture, her every expression, her way of speaking, her smile and theway it
crinkled her little nose, her laugh with its perfect high notes. How could he be fascinated by her and not
by her culture? Shouldn’t he want to know what her people were like, what her country was like, every
facet of the crucible that had formed her?

Or should he just be honest? Should he face the truth that hisinterest was purely sexua? Michiko was
certainly beautiful . . . but there were three thousand people working at CERN, and half of them were
women; Michiko was hardly the only beautiful one.

And yet therewas something about her—something exotic. And, well, she obvioudy liked white guys. . .

No, that wasn't it. That wasn't what made her fascinating. Not when he got right down to it; not when
helooked &t it head on, without making excuses. What was most fascinating about Michiko was that she
had selected LIoyd Simcoe, Theo' s partner. They’ d both been single, both available. LIoyd wasa
decade older than Michiko; Theo eight years younger than her.

It wasn't that Theo was some sort of aworkaholic, and that LIoyd had stopped to smell the roses. Theo
frequently took rented sail boats out into Lac Léman; Theo played croquet and badminton in the CERN
leagues, Theo madetimeto listen to jazz at Geneva s Au Chat Noir and to take in alternative theater at
L’ Usine; he even occasiondly visited the Grand Casino.

But thisfascinating, beautiful, intelligent woman had chosen the said, quiet Lloyd.

And now, it seemed, Lloyd wasn't prepared to commit to her.



Surdy that was no good reason to want her himself. But the heart was separate from physics; its
reactions could not be predicted. Hedid want her, and, wdll, if LIoyd wasgoing to let her dip through his
fingers. ..

"Still," said Theo, findly replying to Michiko's comment that her father wouldn't gpprove of her having
goneinto engineering, "surely he must have admired your intdligence.”

Michiko shrugged. "Inasmuch asit reflected well on him, | suppose he did.” She paused. "But he
wouldn't have gpproved of me marrying awhite man.”

Theo' s heart skipped a beat—but whether it was for Lloyd’ s sake or hisown, he couldn’'t say. "Oh."

"He distrusted the West. | don’'t know if you know this, but it's popular in Japan for young peopleto
wear clothes with English phrases on them. It doesn’t redlly matter what they say—what mattersisthat
they’ re being seen to embrace American culture. Actudly, the dogans are quite amusing for those of us
who are fluent in English. ‘ ThisEnd Up.” ‘ Best Before Date on Bottom.” * In order to form amore
perfect onion.” " She amiled that beautiful, nose-crinkling smile of hers.™ *Onion.” | couldn’t stop laughing
thefirst time| saw that one. But oneday | came home with ashirt that had English words on it—just
words, not even a phrase, words in different colors on a black background: * puppy’, ‘ketchup’, “ hockey
rink’, ‘very’, and ‘ purpose.” My dad punished me for wearing such ashirt.”

Theo tried to look sympathetic while a the same time wondering what form such a punishment would
take. No alowance—or did Japanese parents not give their kids alowances? Being sent to her room?
He decided not to ask.

"Lloyd’'sagood man," he said. The words came out without him thinking about them first; perhapsthey
gprang from some inner sense of fair play that he was glad to know he possessed.

Michiko considered this, too; she had away of taking every comment and searching for the truth behind
it.

"Oh, yes" she said. "He savery good man. He worries because of that stupid vision that our marriage
might not last forever—but there are so many thingsthat, being with him, | know! will never haveto
worry about. Hewill never hit me, of that I'm sure. HE Il never humiliate me or embarrass me. And he
has agreat mind for remembering details. | told him my nieces names once, in passing, months ago.
They came up again in conversation last week, and he knew their namesingantly. So | can besure hée'll
never forget our anniversary or my birthday. I’ ve been involved with men before—both Japanese and
foreign—obut there’ s never been one about whom I’ ve felt so sure, so confident, that he would always be
kind and gentle."

Theo fet uncomfortable. He thought of himsdf asagood man, too, and certainly would never raise his
hand to awoman. But, well, hedid have hisfather’ stemper; in an argument, yes, if the truth betold, he
might say things that were designed to wound. And, indeed, someone someday would hate him enough
to want to kill him. Would Lloyd—L loyd the good—ever arouse such fedingsin another human being?

He shook his head dightly, dispelling those thoughts. "Y ou chose well,” he said.
Michiko dipped her head, accepting the compliment. And then she added, "So did Lloyd." Theo was

surprised; it wasn't like Michiko to beimmodest. But then her next words made plain what she' d meant.
"He couldn’t have picked a better person to be his best man.”



I’m not so sure about that, thought Theo, but he didn’t give the words voice.

He couldn’t pursue Michiko, of course. Shewas Lloyd’ sfiancée.

And besides. ..

Besides, it wasn't her lovely, captivating Japanese eyes.

It was't even ajed ousy or fascination born of her choice of LIoyd instead of him.

Down deep, he knew the real reason for his sudden interest in her. Of course he knew it. He figured if
he embarked on some crazy new life, if hetook some wild left turn, made atotally unpredictable
move—such as running off and marrying his partner’ s fiancée—that somehow he' d be giving the finger to
fate, changing his own future so radically that he' d never end up staring down the barrel of aloaded gun.

Michiko was devadtatingly intelligent, and she was very beautiful. But he would not pursue her; it would
be craziness to do so.

Theo was surprised when a chuckle emanated from his throat—but itwas amusing, in away. Maybe
Lloyd was right—maybe the whole universe was a solid block, with time immutable. Oh, Theo had
thought about doing something wild and crazy, but then, after what seemed careful consideration,
weighing the options and reflecting on his own motives, he had ended up doing exactly what he would
have been doing had the issue never been raised.

Themovie of hislife continued to unfold, frame after dready exposed frame.

21

Michiko and Lloyd had planned not to move in together until after the wedding, but, except for thetime
she’' d spent in Tokyo, Michiko had ended up staying at LIoyd' severy night since Tamiko' s death.
Indeed, she'd only been home a couple of times, briefly, since the FHlashforward, eight days ago.
Everything she saw there reduced her to tears. Tamiko’ stiny shoes on the mat by the door; her Barbie
doll, perched on one of the living-room chairs (Tamiko aways left Barbie sitting up comfortably); her
finger paintings, held to the fridge door by magnets; even the spot on the wall where Tamiko had written
her namein Magic Marker, and Michiko had never quite been ableto get it clean.

S0, they stayed a Lloyd' s place, avoiding the memories.

But, still, Michiko often drifted off, staring into space. LIoyd couldn’t stand seeing her so sad, but knew
that there was nothing he could do. Shewould grieve—well, probably forever.

And, of course, hewasn't an ignoramus. he had read plenty of articles on psychology and relationships,



and he d even seen his share of Oprah andGiselle programs. He knew he shouldn’t have said it, but
sometimes words just came out, tumbling forth, spoken without thought. All he' d been trying to do was
fill the slence between himself and Michiko.

"You know," he sad, "you're going to have another daughter. Y our vison—"
But she silenced him with alook.

Shedidn’'t say aword, but he could read it in her eyes. Y ou can't replace one child with another. Every
childisspecid.

Lloyd knew that; even though he’ d never—yet—been a parent, he knew it. Y ears ago, he'd seen an old
Mickey Rooney film cdledThe Human Comedy, but it wasn't funny at al, and, in the end, Lloyd thought
it wasn't very human, either. Rooney played an American soldier in World War |1 who had gone
overseas. He had no family of hisown, but enjoyed vicarious contact with the people they were al
fighting for back home through the | etters his bunkmate received from hisfamily. Rooney got to know
them al—the man’ s brother, his mother, his sweetheart in the States—through the | etters the man shared
with Rooney. But then that man was killed in battle, and Rooney returned to the man’s hometown,
bringing back his persond effects. He ran into the man’s younger brother outside the family homestead,
and it was asif Rooney had known him al hislife. The younger brother ended up going into the house,
cdling out, "Mom—the soldier’ shome!"

And then the creditsrolled.

And the audience was supposed to believe that Rooney somehow would take the place of thiswoman’s
late son, shot dead in France.

It had been a cheat; even as ateenager—he’ d been maybe sixteen when he saw the film on TV—he
knew it was a cheat, knew that one person could never replace another.

And now, fodlishly, for one brief moment, he' d implied that Michiko’ s future daughter might somehow
take the place in her heart of poor dead Tamiko.

"I'msorry," hesad.
Michiko didn’t smile, but she did nod, dmost imperceptibly.

Lloyd did not know if it was the right time—hiswholelife, he d been plagued by hisinability to sense
when the right moment was. the right moment to make hismovewith agirl in high schoal, theright
moment to ask for araise, the right moment to interrupt two other people at aparty so that he could
introduce himself, the right moment to excuse himsdlf when other people obvioudy wanted to be alone.
Some people had an innate sense of such things, but not Lloyd.

And yet—

And yet the matterdid have to be resolved.

Theworld had dusted itsdlf off; people were getting on with their lives. Y es, many were walking with
crutches; yes, some insurance companies had adready filed for bankruptcy; yes, there was a till-untold

number of dead. But life had to go on, and people were going to work, going home, eating out, watching
movies, and trying with varying degrees of successto push ahead.



"About thewedding . . ." hesad, tralling off, letting the words float between them.

"y e

Lloyd exhded. "I don’t know who that woman is—the woman in my vison. | have no ideawho sheis.
"And s0 you think she might be better than me, isthat it?"

"No, no, no. Of course not. It'sjust . . ."

Hefdl slent. But Michiko knew him too well. ™Y ou' re thinking that there are seven billion people on the
planet, aren’'t you? And that it’ s blind luck that we met at dl."

Lloyd nodded; guilty as charged.

"Perhaps,” said Michiko. "But when you consider the oddsagainst you and | meeting, | think it smore
than that. It'snot like you got stuck with me, or mewith you. Y ou wereliving in Chicago; | waslivingin
Tokyo—and we ended up together, here, on the Swiss-French border. Isthat random chance, or

degtiny?'
"I’'m not sureyou can believe in destiny while & the sametime believing in freewill," Lloyd said gently.

"l suppose not.” She lowered her eyes. "And, well, maybe you' re not really ready for marriage. So many
of my friends over the years have gotten married because they thought it wastheir last chance. Y ou
know: they’ d reached a certain age, and they figured if they didn’t get married soon, they never would. If
there’ s one thing your vison has demondtrated, it' sthat I’ mnot your last chance. | guessthat takesthe
pressure off, doesn't it? No need to move quickly anymore.”

"It'snot that," said LIoyd, but hisvoice was shaky.

"lan'tit?" sad Michiko. "Then make up your mind, right now. Make acommitment. Are we going to get
married?’

Michiko wasright, LIoyd knew. His bdlief in an immutable future did help ease his guilt over what had
happened—nbut, till, itwas the position he' d dways taken as aphyscist: space-timeisan immutable
Minkowski cube. What he was about to do he had dready done; the future was asindelible as the past.

No one, asfar asthey knew, had reported any vision that corroborated that Michiko Komuraand
Lloyd Simcoe were ever married; no one had reported being in aroom that had contained awedding
photo in an expensive frame, showing atall Caucasian man with blue eyes and abeautiful, shorter,
younger Asan woman.

Y es, whatever he said now had always been said—and would always be said. But he had no insght
whatsoever into what answer spacetime had recorded in it. Hisdecision, right now, at this moment, at
thisdice, on thispage, in thisframe of the film, was unrevealed, unknown. It was no easier giving voiceto
it—whatever it was that was about to come out of his mouth—even knowing thet it was inevitable that he
would say it/ had said it.

"Wdl?" demanded Michiko. "What' sit going to be?'



Theo was il a work, late in the evening, running another smulation of hisand Lloyd' sLHC
experiment, when he got the phone call.

Dimitrios was dead.

Hislittle brother. Dead. Suicided.

He fought back tears, fought back anger.

Memories of Dim ran through Theo' s mind. The times he' d been good to him when hewas akid, and
the times he' d been mean. And how everyonein the family wasterrified al those years ago when they
went to Hong Kong and Dim got lost. Theo had never been happier to see anyone than he wasto see
little Dim, hoisted up on that policeman’s shoulder, coming through the crowded street toward them.

But, now, now he was dead. Theo would have to make another trip to Athensfor the funeral.

Hedidn't know how to fed.

Part of him—avery large—wasincredibly saddened by his brother’ s death.

And part—

Part was elated.

Not because Dim was dead, of course.

But the fact that hewas dead dtered everything.

For Dimitrios had experienced avision, avison verified with another person—and to have avison he
needed to be dive twenty-one years hence.

But if he were dead here, now, in 2009, there was no way he could be dive in 2030.

So the block universe had shattered. What people had seen might indeed make up a coherent picture of
tomorrow . . . but it was only one possible tomorrow, and, indeed, since that tomorrow had included
Dimitrios Procopides, it was no longer even that—no longer even possible,

Chaostheory said that smal changesin initid conditions must have big effects over time. Surely the
world of 2030 could not possibly now turn out asit had been portrayed in the billions of brief glimpses
people had aready had of it.

Theo paced the halls of the LHC control center: past the big mosaic, past the plague that gave the
ingtitution’sorigind full name, past offices, and laboratories, and washrooms.

If the future was now uncertain—indeed, was now surelynot going to turn out exactly asthe visions
portrayed—then perhaps Theo could give up his search. Y es, in one once-possible future, someone had
seenfit to kill him. But so much would change over the next two decades that surely that same outcome
wouldn’t happen again. Indeed, he might never meet the person who had killed him, never have any
encounter with whomever that man might be. Or, in fact, that man might himsalf now die before 2030.



Either way, Theo's murder was hardly inevitable.

And yet—

And yet it might still happen. Surdly some thingswould turn out asthe visions had indicated. Those who
weren't going to die unnatural desths would live the same spans; those who had secure jobs now might

well ill hold them then; those marriages that were good and solid and true had no reason not to endure.
No.

Enough doubt, enough wasted time.

Theo resolved to get on with hislife, to give up thisfoolish quest, to face tomorrow, whatever it might
bring, head on. Of course, he would be careful—he certainly didn’t want one of the points of
convergence between the 2030 of the visions and the 2030 yet to come to be his own death. But he

would continue on, trying to make the most out of whatever time he had.

If only Dimitrios had been willing to do the same.

Hiswalk had taken him back to his office. There was someone he should call; someone who needed to
hear it from afriend first, beforeit blew up in hisfacein mediadl over the world.

Michiko'swords hung between them: "What' sit going to be?!

Itwas time, LlIoyd knew. Timefor the gppropriate frame to beilluminated; the moment of truth, the
instant at which the decision spacetime had aready recorded in it would be revedled. He looked into

Michiko' s eyes, opened his mouth, and—

Brrrring! Brrrring!

Lloyd cursed, glanced at the phone. The caler ID said "CERN LHC." No onewould call from the office
thislateif it wasn't an emergency. He picked up the handset."Hello?"

"Lloyd, it sTheo."
Hewanted to tell him thiswas't agood time, tell him to call back later, but before he could, Theo
pressed on.

"Lloyd, I just got acall. My brother Dimitriosis dead.”
"Oh, my God," said Lloyd. "Oh, my God."

"What isit?" said Michiko, eyes wide with concern.
Lloyd covered the mouthpiece. "Theo's brother isdead.”

Michiko brought ahand to her mouth.
"Hekilled himsdf," said Theo, through the phone. "An overdose of deeping pills™



"l am so0 sorry, Theo," said Lloyd. "Can |—isthere anything | can do?!
"No. No. Nothing. But | thought | should let you know right away."

Lloyd didn’t understand what Theo was getting at. "Ah, thank you," he said, his voice tinged with
confusion.

"Lloyd, Dimitrioshad avison.”

"What? Oh." And then along pause."Oh."

"Hetold me about it himsdlf."

"He must have madeit up.”

"Lloyd, thisismybrother; hedidn’t makeit up."

"But there’ s no way—"

"Y ou know he' s not the only one; there’ ve been other reports, too. But this one—thisoneis
corroborated. He was working in arestaurant in Greece; the guy who runs the restaurant in 2030 also
doesit herein 2009. He saw Dimin hisvision, and Dim saw the guy. When they putthaton TV .. ."

"l—ah, shit," said Lloyd. His heart was pounding. " Shit."

"I'm sorry,” said Theo. "The presswill have afield day.” A pause. "Likel sad, | thought you should
know."

Lloyd tried to calm himsdlf. How could he have been so wrong? " Thanks," he said, at last. And then,
"L ook, look, that’s not important. How are you? Are you okay?"'

"I'll bedl right."

"’ Causeif you don’t want to be alone, Michiko and | can come over."

"No, that’s okay. Franco della Robbiais till here at CERN; I'll spend sometime with him."

"Okay," said Lloyd. "Okay." Another pause. "L ook, I’ ve got to—"

"I know," said Theo. "Bye."

"Bye"

Lloyd replaced the handset in its cradle.

He d never met Dimitrios Procopides; indeed, Theo didn't speak of him very often. No surprise there;
Lloyd rarely mentioned hissister Dolly at work, ether. Wheniit dll came down to it, it wasjust one more

death in aweek of countless deaths, but . . .

"Poor Theo," said Michiko. She shook her head gently back and forth. "And his brothe—ypoor guy.”



Helooked at her. She'd lost her own daughter, but for now, at thisingtant, she found room in her heart
to grieve for aman she’ d never met.

Lloyd s heart was il racing. The words he' d been about to say before the phone rang still echoed in his
head. What was he thinking now? That he wanted to continue to play the field? That he wasn't ready to
settle down? That he had to know that white woman, find her, meet her, and make a sensible, balanced

choice between her and Michiko?

No.

No, that wasn't it. That couldn’t beiit.

What hewasthinking was. | am anidiot.

And what he was thinking was. She' sbeen incredibly patient.

And what he was thinking was. Maybe the warning that the marriage might not automatically last wasthe
best damned thing that could have happened. Like every couple, they’ d assumed it would betill death
did they part. But now he knew, from day one, in away that no one else ever had, not even those others
like him who were children of broken homes, that it wasn'tnecessarily forever. That it wasonly
permanent if he fought and struggled and worked to make it permanent every waking moment of hislife.
Knew that if he was going to get married, it would have to be hisfirgt priority. Not his career, not the

damned elusive Nobd, not peer-review, not fellowships.
Her.
Michiko.
Michiko Komura

Or—or Michiko Simcoe.

When he d been ateenager, inthe 1970s, it looked like women would forever dispense with the silliness
of taking someone else sname. Sill, to thisday, mostdid adopt their husbands’ last names; they’ d
aready discussed this, and Michiko had said that it was indeed her intention to take on his name. Of
course, Simcoe wasn't nearly as musical as Komura, but that was asmall sacrifice.

But no.

No, she shouldn’t take his name. How many divorced women carried not their birth names but the
cognomen of someone decadesin their past, adaily reminder of youthful mistakes, of love gone bad, of
painful times? Indeed, Komurawasn't Michiko’' s maiden name—that was Okawa; Komurawas

Hiroshi’ slast name.

Stll, sheshould retain that. She should remain aKomura so that LIoyd would be reminded, day in and
day out, that shewas't his; that he had to work at their marriage; that tomorrow was in his hands.

Helooked at her—her flawless complexion, her beguiling eyes, her oh-so-dark hair.

All those things would change with time, of course. But he wanted to be around for that, to savor every



moment, to enjoy the seasons of life with her.
Y es, withher.

Lloyd Simcoe did something he hadn’t done the first time—oh, he’ d thought about it then, but had
rgjected it assilly, old-fashioned, unnecessary.

But itwas what he wanted to do, what he needed to do.
He lowered himsdlf onto one knee.

And hetook Michiko’shandin his.

And he looked up into her patient, lovely face.

And hesad, "Will you marry me?'

And the moment held, Michiko clearly sartled.

And then asmile grew dowly across her face.

And shesad, dmost in awhisper, "Yes."

Lloyd blinked rapidly, hiseyes misting over.

The future was going to be glorious.
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Ten Days Later: Wednesday, May 6, 2009

Gaston Béranger had been surprisingly easy to convince that CERN should try to replicate the LHC
experiment. But, of course, he felt they had nothing to lose and everything to gain if the attempt failed: it
would be very hard to prove CERN'’sliability for any damage donethe first timeif the second attempt
produced no time di splacemen.

And now it was the moment of truth.

LIoyd made hisway to the polished wooden podium. The great globe-and-laurel-leaf sed of the United
Nations spread out behind him. The air was dry; Lloyd got a shock as he touched the podium’ s metal
trim. He took a deep breath, caming himsalf. And then he leaned into the mike. "I’ d like to thank—"

He was surprised that his voice was cracking. But, dammit al, he was spesking to some of the most



powerful paliticiansin the world. He swalowed, then tried again. "I’ d like to thank Secretary-Genera
Stephen Lewisfor dlowing meto spesk to you today.” At least haf the delegates were listening to
trand ations provided through wireless earpieces. "L adies and gentiemen, my nameis Dr. LIoyd Smcoe.
I’m a Canadian currently living in France and working at CERN, the European center for particle
physics." He paused, swalowed. "Asyou’ ve no doubt heard by now, it was, gpparently, an experiment
at CERN that caused the consciousness-displacement phenomenon. And, ladies and gentlemen, | know
at first blush thiswill sound crazy, but I’ ve come here to ask you, as the representatives of your
respective governments, for permission to repest the experiment.”

Therewas an eruption of chatter—a cacophony of languages even more varied than what one hears at
CERN’ svarious cafeterias. Of course, al the delegates had known in advance roughly what Lloyd was
going to say—one didn’t get to gpeak in front of the UN without going through alot of preliminary
discussions. The General Assembly hall was cavernous, his eyesight really wasn't good enough to make
out many individua faces. Nonetheless, he could see anger on the face of one of the Russian delegates
and what looked like terror on the faces of the German and Japanese delegates. Lloyd looked over at
the Secretary-Genera, a handsome white man of seventy-two. Lewis gave him an encouraging smile, and
Simcoe went on.

"Perhgpsthereisno reason to do this," said LIoyd. "We seem to have clear evidence now that the future
portrayed in the first set of visionsis not going to come true—at least not exactly. Nevertheless, there's
no doubt that agreat many peoplefound red persond insight through the glimpses.”

He paused.

"I’m reminded of the story A Christmas Carol, by the British writer Charles Dickens. His character
Ebenezer Scrooge saw avison of Chrigmas Y et to Come, in which the results of hisactions had led to
misery for many other people and himsalf being hated and despised in desth. And, of course, seeing such
avison would have been aterrible thing—had the vision been of the one, true immutable future. But
Scrooge was told that, no, the future he saw was only the logica extrapolation of hislife, should he
continue on the way he had been. He could change hislife, and the lives of those around him, for the
better; that glimpse of the future turned out to be awonderful thing."

Hetook asip of water, then continued.

"But Scrooge' s vison was of avery specific time—Chrismasday. Not al of us had visions of significant
events, many of us saw thingsthat were quite band, frustratingly ambiguous, or, indeed, for dmost athird
of us, we saw either dreams or just darkness—we were adeep during that two-minute span twenty-one
yearsfrom now." He paused and shrugged his shoulders, asif he himsdlf did not know what the right
thing to do was. "We bdieve we can replicate the experience of having visions; we can offer al of
humanity another glimpse of the future." Heraised ahand. "I know some governments have been leery of
these ingghts, didiking some of the things reveded, but now that we know the futureisnot fixed, I'm
hoping that you will dlow usto smply givethis gift, and the benefit of the Ebenezer Effect, to the peoples
of theworld once more. With the cooperation of you men and women, and your governments, we
believe we can do thissafdly. It'sup to you.”

Lloyd camethrough thetall glass doors of the General Assembly building. TheNew York air stung his
eyes—damn, but they were going to have to do something about that one of these days, the visons said
it would be even worse by 2030. The sky overhead was gray, crisscrossed by airplane contrails. A
crowd of reporters—perhapsfifty in al—rushed over to meet him, camcorders and microphones thrust



out.

"Doctor Smcoe!" shouted one, a middle-aged white man. "Doctor Simcoe! What happensiif
consciousness doesn't drop back to the present day? What happensif we' re dl stuck twenty-one years
inthefuture?

Lloyd wastired. He hadn’t been as nervous speaking in front of people since his Ph.D. ora defense. He
really just wanted to go back to his hotel room, pour himself a nice Scotch, and crawl into bed.

"We have no reason to think that such athing could happen,” he said. "It seemed to be a completely
temporary phenomenon that began the moment we started the particle collisions and ceased the moment
we ended them.”

"Wheat about the families of any people who might die thistime? Will you take persona responsibility for
them?'

"How about the oneswho are dready dead? Don’t you feel you owe them something?*

"It thisdl just some cheap quest for glory on your part?!

Lloyd took a deep breath. Hewas tired, and he had a pounding headache. "' Gentlemen and ladies—and
| use those terms|oosaly—you are gpparently used to interviewing politicians who can’t be seentolose
their temper, and so you can get away with asking them questionsin haranguing tones. Well, | amnot a
politician; | am, among other things, auniversity professor, and | am used to civilized discourse. If you
can't ask polite questions, | will terminate this exchange.”

"But, Dr. Simcoe—ian't it true that al the death and destruction was your fault? Didn’t you in fact design
the experiment that went awry?"

Lloyd kept histone even. "I’'m not kidding, people. I have had quite my fill of mediaexposure aready;
one more bullshit question like that, and I’ m walking away."

There was stunned silence. Reporterslooked at each other, then back at Lloyd.

"But adl those deaths. . ." began one.

"That'sit," sngpped Lloyd. "I’ m out of here." He began waking away.

"Wait!" cried one reporter, and " Stop!" shouted another.

Lloyd turned around. "Only if you can manage intelligent, civilized questions.”

After amoment’ s hesitation, amelanic-American woman raised her hand, amost meekly.

"Yes?' sad Lloyd, lifting his eyebrows.

"Dr. Simcoe, what decision do you think the UN will make?"

Lloyd nodded at her, acknowledging that this was an acceptable interrogative. "I’ m honestly not sure.

My gut feding isthat we should indeed try to replicate the results—but I' m ascientist, and replication is
my stock-in-trade. | do think the people of Earth want this, but whether their leaderswill bewilling to do



what the people desire | have no way of knowing.”

Theo had cometo New Y ork, aswell, and he and LIoyd that night enjoyed the extravagant seafood
buffet at the Ambassador Grill inthe UN Plaza-Park Hyait.

"Michiko’ shbirthday iscoming up," said Theo, cracking alobster’ s claw.
Lloyd nodded. "I know."
"Areyou going to throw a surprise party for her?'

Lloyd paused. After amoment, hesaid, "No."

Theo gavehim a"if you redly loved her, you' d doit" look. Lloyd didn’t fed like explaining. HE d never
redlly thought about it before, but it cameto him full blown, asif he'd dwaysknown it. Surprise parties
were acheat. You let someone you were supposed to care about think you’ d forgotten their birthday.

Y ou deliberately bring them down, make them fedl neglected, uncared for, unremembered,
unappreciated. And then you lie—liel—to them for weeks on end leading up to the event. All this, so that

in the moment when peopleyell "Surprisel” the person will fed loved.

In the marriage he and Michiko were going to have, LIoyd wouldn’t have to manufacture situationsin
order to make Michiko fed that way. She' d know of hislove every day—every minute; her confidence
in that would never be shaken. It would be her constant companion, hislove, until the day she died.

And, of course, he'd never lie to her—not even when it was supposedly for her own good.

"You sure?' said Theo. "I’d be glad to help you organizeit."

"No," said Lloyd, shaking hishead alittle. Theo was s0 young, S0 naive. "No, thank you."
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The United Nations debates continued. While he wasin New Y ork, Theo got another reply to hisads
looking for information about his own death. He was about to smply issue a short, polite response—he
was going to give up the quest, redlly he was—but, damn it al, the message was just too enticing. "1 did
not contact you initidly," it said, "because | had been led to believe that the future isfixed, and that what
was going to happen, including my roleinit, wasinevitable. But now | read otherwise, and so | must dicit

your help."

The message was from Toronto—just aone-hour flight from the Big Apple. Theo decided to head on up
and meet face to face with the man who' d sent the letter. It was Theo' sfirgt time visiting Canada, and he



wasn't quite prepared for how hot it wasin the summer. Oh, it wasn't hot by Mediterranean
sandards—rardly did the temperature rise above thirty-five degrees Celsius. But it did surprise him.

To get acheaper airfare, Theo had to stay overnight, rather than fly in and out on the same day. And so
he found himsalf with an evening to kill in Toronto. Histravel agent had suggested he might enjoy ahotel
out aong the Danforth—part of Toronto’s major east-west axis; Toronto’ s large Greek community was
centered there. Theo agreed, and, to hisddight, he found the street signsin that part of town werein
both the English and Greek aphabets.

His gppointment, though, wasn't on the Danforth. Rather, it was up in North Y ork, an areathat
apparently had once been acity initsown right but had been subsumed into Toronto, which now had a
population of three million. Toronto’ s subway took him there the next day. He was amused to discover
that the public transt system was referred to asthe TTC (for Toronto Transt Commission); the same
abbreviation would doubtless be applied to the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider he would supposedly
someday hem.

The subway cars were spacious and clean, athough he' d heard they were severely overcrowded during
rush hour. Onething that had impressed him greetly was riding the subway—ypoorly named at this
particular point—over the Don Valley Parkway; here the train ran what must be a hundred meters above
the ground in aspecia set of tracks hanging below the Danforth. The view was spectacular—but what
was most impressive was that the bridge over the Don Valey had been built decades before Toronto got
itsfirst subway line, and yet it had been constructed so as to eventually accommodate two sets of tracks.
Onedidn’t often see evidence of cities planning that far into the future.

He changed trains a Y onge Station, and rode up to North Y ork Centre. He was surprised to find that
he didn’t have to go outside to enter the condominium tower he' d been told to cometo; it had direct
access from the station. The same complex aso contained a book superstore (part of achain caled
Indigo), amovie-theater complex, and alarge food store caled Loblaws, which seemed to specidizeina
line of products caled President’s Choice. That surprised Theo; he would have expected it to be Prime
Minigter’s Choicein this country.

He presented himself to the concierge, who directed him through the marble lobby to the elevators, and
he rode up to the thirty-fifth floor. From there, he easily found the apartment he was |ooking for and
knocked on the door.

The door opened, reveding an ederly Asan man. "Hdllo," he said, in perfect English.

"Hello, Mr. Cheung,” said Theo. "Thank you for agreeing to seeme."

"Won't you comein?'

The man, who must have been in hismid-sixties, moved asdeto let Theo pass. Theo dipped off his
shoes, and stepped into the splendid apartment. Cheung led Theo into the living room. The view faced
south. Far away, Theo could see downtown Toronto, with its skyscrapers, the dender needle of the CN
Tower and, beyond, Lake Ontario stretching to the horizon.

"| appreciated you emailing me," said Theo. "Asyou can imagine, this has been very difficult for me."

"l ansureit has," said Cheung. "Would you care for tea? Coffee?"

"No, nothing, thank you."



"Wdl, then," said the man. "Do have aseat.”

Theo sat down on a couch upholstered in orange leather. On the end table sat a painted porcelain vase.
"It' sbeautiful," said Theo.

Cheung nodded agreement. ""From the Ming Dynasty, of course; amost five hundred years old.
Sculpture isthe greatest of the arts. A written text is meaningless once the language has fallen out of use,
but a physica object that endures for centuries or millennia—that is something to cherish. Anyone today
can gppreciate the beauty of ancient Chinese or Egyptian or Aztec artifacts; | collect al three. The
individud artisanswho made them live on through their work."

Theo made anoncommittal sound, and settled back in the couch. On the opposite wall was an all
painting of Kowloon harbor. Theo nodded at it. "Hong Kong," he said.

"Yes. Youknow it?"'

"In 1996, when | was fourteen, my parents took us there on vacation. They wanted us—me and my
brother—to see it before it changed hands back to Communist China."

"Y es, those last couple of years were exceptional for tourism,” said Cheung. "But they were dso great
timesfor leaving the country; | mysdf left Hong Kong and came to Canada then. Over two hundred
thousand Hong K ong natives moved to Canada before the British handed our country back to the
Chinex"

"I imagine | would have gotten out, too," said Theo sympatheticaly.

"Those of uswho could afford it did so. And, according to the visions people have had, things get no
better in China during the next twenty-one years, so | amindeed glad | I€ft; | could not stand the idea of
losing my freedom.” The old man paused. "But you, my young friend, stand to lose even more, do you
not? For my part, | would have fully expected to be dead twenty-one years from now; | was ddighted to
learn that the fact that | had avision impliesthat | will still be dive then. Indeed, since | felt reasonably
spry, | begin to suspect that | might in fact have much more than twenty-one years left. Still, your time
may be cut short—in my vision, as| told you by email, your name was mentioned. | had never heard of
you before—forgive mefor saying so. But the name was sufficiently musica—Theodosios
Procopides—that it stuck in my mind.”

"Y ou said that in your vision someone had spoken to you about plansto kill me.”
"Ominous, to be sure. But as| dso sad, | know little more than that.”

"I don’t doubt you, Mr. Cheung. But if | could |locate the person you were speaking to in your vision,
obvioudy that person knows more.”

"But, asl said, | do not know who he was."
"If you could describe him?"
"Of course. He was white. White, like a northern European, not olive-skinned like yourself. Hewas no

older than fifty in my vision, meaning he' d be about your age today. We were speaking English, and his
accent was American.”



"There are many American accents,” said Theo.
"Yes, yes," said Cheung. "I mean he spoke like a New Englander—someone from Boston, perhaps.”

Lloyd' svision apparently placed himin New England aswell; of course, it couldn’t be Lloyd that
Cheung had been speaking to—at that moment, LIoyd was off boinking that crone. . .

"What else can you tell me about the man’s speech? Did he sound well-educated?”

"Y es, now that you mention it, | suppose he did. He used the word * apprehensive —not an overly fancy
term, but not one likely to be employed by anilliterate.”

"What exactly did he say? Can you recount the conversation?”

"1 will try. We were indoors somewhere. It was North America. That much was apparent by the shape
of the eectricd outlets; | dwaysthink they ook like surprised babies here. Anyway, thisman said to me,
‘Hekilled Theo." "

"The man you were speaking with killed me?*

"No. No, | was quoting him. He said, * he —some other he—‘killed Theo.” "

"You'resurehesaid ‘he 7'

"Wes"

Wall, that was something, anyway; in one fell swoop, four billion potential suspects had been diminated.

Cheung continued. "He said, ‘Hekilled Theo,” and | said, ‘ Theo who? And the man replied, * Y ou
know, Theodosios Procopides.” And | said, ‘Oh, yeah.” That is precisely how | said it—'Oh, yeah.’ |
fear my spontaneous English speech has not yet attained that degree of informality, but, apparently given
another twenty-oneyears, it will. In any event, it was clear | will know you—or at least know of you—in
the year 2030."

"Goon."

"Well, then my interlocutor said to me, ‘He beat usto him.” "

"|—I beg your pardon?’

"Hesaid, ‘He beat usto him.” " Cheung lowered hishead. "Yes, | know how that sounds—it sounds as
though my associate and | had designs on your life aswell." The old man spread hisarms. "Dr.
Procopides, | am awedthy man—indeed, avery wealthy man. | will not say to you that people do not
reach my level without being ruthless, for we both know that that isuntrue. | have dedlt very harshly with
rivals over the years, and | have perhaps even skirted the edges of thelaw. But | am not just a
businessman; | am dso aChrigtian." He lifted ahand. "Please, do not be darmed; | will not lecture
you—I know that in some Western circlesto boldly declare one' sfaith engenders discomfort, asif one
had brought up atopic best never discussed in polite company. | mention it only to establish asdient fact:
| may be ahard man, but | an dso a God-fearing man—and | would never countenance murder. At my
current advanced age, you can wdll imaginethat | am set in my ways;, | cannot believe that in thefina



yearsof my life, | will break amoral code | have lived by since childhood. | know what you are
thinking—the obvious interpretation of the words ‘ he beat usto him’ isthat somebody e sekilled you
before my associates could have done the deed. But | say again that | am no murderer. Besides, you are,
| know, aphysicist, and | do little businessin that realm—my principd area of investment, besidesred
estate, which, of course, everyone should invest in, isbiological research: pharmaceuticass, genetic
engineering, and so on. | am not ascientist myself, you understand—just acapitdist. But | think you
would agree that a physicist would not possibly be an obstacle to the sorts of things | pursue, and, as|
say, | amnokiller. Still, there are those words, which | report to you verbatim: ‘ He beat usto him.” ™

Theo looked at the man, consdering. "If that’ sthe case" he said at last, measuring hiswords carefully,
"why areyou tdling methis?'

Cheung nodded, asif he' d expected the question. "Naturaly, one does not normally discuss plansto
commit murder with theintended victim. But, as| said, Dr. Procopides, | am aChrigtian; | believe,
therefore, that not only isyour life at stake, but sotoo ismy soul. | have no interest in becoming involved,
even peripheraly, in such asinful busness ashomicide. And since the futurecan be changed, | wish it to
be s0. You are on thetrail of whomever it waswho will kill you; if you do manage to prevent your death
at the hands of that person, whomever it might be, well, then, my associateswill not be beaten toit. |
take you into my confidence in hopes that you will not only avoid being shot—it was death by gunshot,
was it not?—by this other person, but aso by anyone involved with me. | do not want your—or
anyone s—blood on my hands."

Theo exhded noisily. It was staggering enough to think that one person would someday want him
dead—but to hear now that multiple parties would wish him that way was shocking.

Perhaps the old man was crazy—athough he didn’'t seem that way. Still, twenty-one years hence he
would be. . . would be. . . well, exactly how old?"Forgive my impertinence,” said Theo, "but may | ask
when you were born?"

"Certainly: February 29, 1932. That makes medl of nineteen yearsold.”
Theo felt hiseyes go wide. Hewas deding withaloon. . .

But Cheung smiled. "Because | was born February 29, you see—which comes but once every four
years. Serioudy, | am seventy-seven yearsold.”

Which made him agood dedl older than Theo had guessed, and—my God!—would mean he'd be
ninety-eight in the year 2030.

A thought occurred to Theo: he had talked to enough people who were dreaming in 2030; it was usually
not hard to distinguish adream from redlity. But if Cheung was ninety-eight, could he perhaps have
Alzheimer’ sin the future? What would the thoughts of such abrain be like?

"I’ll saveyou from asking," said Cheung. "I do not have the genefor Alzheimer’s. I’'m as surprised as
you areto think that I will be alive twenty-one years hence, and as shocked asyou arethat |, aready
having lived afull life, will gpparently outlive ayoung man such asyoursdf.”

"Were you redly born February 297" asked Theo.

"Yes. It'shardly aunique attribute; there are about five million people dive who have that birthday."



Theo considered this, then: " So thisman said to you, ‘He beat usto him.” What did you say after that?"
"l said, and, again, | ask you to forgive my words, ‘It'sjust aswell.” "
Theo frowned.

"And then," continued Cheung, "I added, ‘Who'snext? To which my associate replied, ‘ Korolov.’
Korolov—which | guess would be K-O-R-O-L-O-V. A Russian name, no? Does it mean anything to

you?”
Theo shook hishead. "No." A pause. " So you were—are—going to eliminate this Korolov, too?!

"That’ san obviousinterpretation, yes. But | have no ideawho he or she might be.”

llHe.II
"| thought you said you didn’t know this person?"
"] don’t—but Korolov isamaelast name. Femae Russan last names end in -ova, male onesin -ov."

"Ah," said Cheung. "In any event, after the man | was speaking to said ‘ Korolov,’ | replied, ‘Well, |
can't imagine anyone elseis after him.” And my associate replied, * No need to be apprehensive, Ubu—'
Ubu being anickname | alow only closefriendsto use, dthough, asl said, | have, asof yet, not met this
man. ‘No need to be apprehensive, Ubu,” he said. * The guy who got Procopides can’'t have any possible
interest in Korolov.” Andthen | said, ‘Very well. Seeto it, Darryl’—which, | presume was the name of
the man | was speaking to. He opened his mouth to speak again, but then | was suddenly back here, in

2009."

"And so that’ sdl you know? That you and aman named Darryl will be out to get severa people,
including mysdlf and someone named Korolov, but that someone ese, aman, who will have no designs
againg thisKorolov, will kill mefirg?'

Cheung shrugged apologeticdly, but whether with regret over the frugtrating holesin the information or
over thefact that he would one day apparently want to see Theo dead, Theo couldn’t say. "That’sit."

"This Darryl—did helook like aboxer?Y ou know, a prizefighter?"

"No. | would say he was too paunchy to be any sort of athlete.”

Theo leaned back in the couch, dumbfounded. "Thank you for letting me know," he said at last.

"It wastheleast | could do," said Cheung. He paused, asif ng the prudence of saying more, then:
"Souls are about lifeimmortal, Dr. Procopides, and religion is about just rewards. | rather suspect that

great things await you, and that youwill appropriately be rewarded—»but only, of course, if you manage
to say aivelong enough. Do yoursdlf afavor—do ushoth afavor—and do not give up your quest.”
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Theo returned to New Y ork, telling Lloyd all about his encounter with Cheung. LIoyd was as perplexed
as Theo was about what the old man had said. Theo and Lloyd stayed in New Y ork for another eight
days, while the United Nations continued to heatedly debate their proposal.

Chinaspoke in favor of the motion to authorize replication of the experiments. Even though it was now
clear that the future wasnot fixed, thefact that during thefirst set of visons Chind stotditarian
government gtill clearly reigned with an iron hand had done an enormous amount to quell dissdentsin that
country. For China, that wasthe key issue. There were only two possible versions of the future: either
Communist dictatorship continued, or it did not. Thefirst visions had shown that it had indeed continued.
If the second visions showed the same thing—that, even with foreknowledge of amaleablefuture,
Communism would not be brought down—then the dissident spirit would be crushed: a perfect example
of what, in an English pun in questionable taste, The New Y ork Times had called "taking a Dim view of
thefuture,”" in honor of Dimitrios Procopides, who, having had his spirit broken by what he saw of
tomorrow, gave up on ever being ableto changeit.

And what if the second visions showed Communism having falen? Then Chinawould be no worse off
than it was before the first Flashforward, with its future in question. It was aworthwhile gamble, in the
view of Beijing governmen.

The European Union ambassadors also were clearly going to vote as ablock in favor of replication, for
two reasons. If replication failed, then the unending stream of lawsuits being filed against CERN and its
member countrieswould possibly be slemmed. And if replication succeeded, well, this second glimpse of
the future would be free, but subsequent glimpses could be sold to humanity for billions of euros apiece.
True, other nations might try to build atom smashers capable of producing the same sorts of energies
unleashed by the LHC, but the first set of visons had shown aworld of plentiful Tachyon-Tardyon
Colliders, and till, it seemed, visons couldn’t beinvoked easily. If CERN wasresponsble, it was
gpparentlyuniquely respons ble—some specific combination of parameters, unlikely to be reproduced at
another accelerator, had made the Flashforward possible,

Objection to replication was most vehement in the western hemisphere—those countriesin which people
had mostly been awake when consciousness departed for A.D. 2030 and, therefore, in which large
numbers of people had been injured or killed. The objections were based mostly on outrage over the
damage donethe last time, and fears that Smilar carnage and destruction would accompany asecond set
of visons

In the eastern hemisphere, comparatively little damage had been done; in many nations, more than ninety
percent of the population had been adeep—or at least safely recumbent in bed—when the Flashforward
had occurred; very few casuaties had occurred, and only negligible property damage had been
sustained. Clearly, they argued, an organized, announced-in-advance replication wouldn't put many
people at risk. They denounced the arguments againg replication as more emotiona than rationd.

Indeed, surveysworldwide showed that those who had visions were overwhemingly pleased that they
had had them, even though they had now been shown to not reved afixed future. Indeed, now that the
world was sure the future could be changed, those who had seen what they regarded as a negative
persond future were on average even more pleased to have had the insight than those who saw what
they described as a pogtive future.



Although he had no formal voicein the UN debate, Pope Benedict XVI weighed into the fray,
announcing that the visons were fully consistent with Catholic doctrine. That attendance at masses had
swollen enormoudy since the Hashforward was doubtless afactor in the pontiff’ s stance.

The prime minister of Canada likewise endorsed the visions, since they showed Quebec sill apart of her
country. The President of the United States was less enthused: athough Americaclearly continued to be
the world' s leading power two decades hence, there was substantial concern among the President’s
advisorsthat thefirst glimpse had aready done much to damage national security, with people—children,
even—who were not yet bound by oaths of secrecy having accessto al sorts of back-room information.
And, of coursg, it rankled the Democrat incumbent that the Republican Franklin Hapgood, currently a
political-science professor at Purdue, was apparently destined to hold the office in 2030.

So the American del egation continued to argue againgt replication: "We re sill burying our dead,” said
one ambassador. But the Japanese delegation countered by claiming that even if the visons hadn’t
portrayed the actud future, they clearly represented aworking future. The U.S—acountry inwhich a
very high percentage of people had had meaningful, daytime visons—wastrying to hoard to itsdlf the
technologica benefitsto be gleaned from those visions. Thefirst Flashforward had beento 11:21 A.M. in
LosAngeles, and 2:21 P.M. in New Y ork, it had beento 3:21 A.M. in Tokyo; most Japanese had had
visons of nothing more exciting than themsel ves dreaming in the future. Americawas capitaizing on new
technologies and new inventions portrayed in its citizens visions, Japan and the rest of the Eastern
hemisphere was being unfairly left behind.

That set off the Chinese delegation again; they had apparently been waiting for someoneto raisethis
very issue. The Hashforward had beento 2:21 A.M. Beijing time; most Chinese likewise had smply had
visons of themselves adeep in the future. If another Flashforward was to be invoked, surely, they argued,
it should begin a atime offset twelve hours from the last attempt. That way, if consciousnessjumps
ahead the same fixed twenty-one years, six months, two days, and two hours, then those in the Eastern
hemisphere would regp the most benefits thistime, balancing things out.

The Japanese government immediately supported the Chinese on this point. India, Pakistan, and both
Koreas chimed in that thiswas only fair.

The east was perhaps right about Americatrying to gain the technologica upper hand: if there was going
to bereplication, the U.S. argued strongly that it should be at the same time of day. They couched their
argument in scientific terms: replication was, in fact, replication, so as much as humanly possble, every
experimental parameter must be the same.

Lloyd Simcoe was caled back to address the Generd Assembly on this point. "1 would caution strongly
againg changing any factor needlesdy,” he said, "but, snce we don't yet have afull working model for
the phenomenon, | cannot say categoricaly that doing the experiment at night instead of during the day
would make any difference. The LHC tunndl is, after dl, heavily shielded againgt radiation leskage—and
that shielding hasthe effect of kegping solar and other externd radiation out aswell. Stll, | would argue
againg changing the time of day."

A delegate from Ethiopia pointed out that Simcoe was an American, and therefore likely to be trying to
protect American interests. LIoyd countered that he was, in fact, a Canadian, but that didn’t impressthe
African; Canada, too, had benefited disproportionately from the glimpsesits citizens had had of the
future.

Meanwhile, the Idamic world had mostly embraced the visions asilham (divine guidance directly exerted
upon the human mind and soul), rather thanwahy (divine revelation of the actud future), snce, by



definition, only prophets were capable of the latter. That the visionsturned out to indeed be of a
malleable future gpparently confirmed the Idamic view, and, dthough Idamic leaders did not invoke the
Scrooge metgphor, the concept of recaiving insght that would allow one to improve oneself aong
religious and spiritud lineswasinterpreted by most as being fully congruent with the Qur’ an.

Some Mudims held the dissenting view that the visons were demonic, part of the unfolding destruction
of theworld, rather than divine. But either way, the Idamic spiritua |eaders rgected wholeheartedly the
notion that a physics experiment had been the cause: that was amisguided secular, Western
interpretation. The visions clearly were of spiritud origin, and hardware wasirrelevant to such
experiences.

Lloyd had feared that the Idamic nations would oppose replication of the LHC experiment on that basis.
But first the Wilayat d-Fagih in Iran, then the Shayk d-Azhar in Egypt, and thenshaykh aftershaykh and
iman afteriman across the Mudim world cameto favor attempted replication, precisely so that when the
attempt failed, the infidedls would have it proven to them that the origina occurrence had indeed been
Spiritual, not secular, in nature,

Of course, governmentsin Idamic nations were often at odds with the faithful in their lands. For those
governments that kowtowed to the west, supporting replication, so long asit was offset, asthe Asians
wereinggting, by twelve hoursfrom the first occurrence, was awin-win scenario: if replication failed, the
Western scientists would end up with egg on their faces, and the secular worldview would take a
drubbing; if it succeeded, the economies of Mudim nationswould get aboost, by having their citizens
attain the same sort of ingghtsinto future technol ogies that Americans had aready received.

Lloyd had expected those who had had no vision—those who were apparently dead in the future—to
be againgt replication, too, but, in fact, most of them turned out to favor it. Y ounger people who were
visonless—dubbed "The Ungrateful Dead" by Newsweek —oftencited a desire to prove that some other
explanation besides their own deaths explained their lack of visonsthefirgt time. The older visionless,
mostly already resigned to the fact that they would be dead twenty-one years hence, were smply curious
to learn more, through others accounts, about the future they would never otherwise live to see.

Some nations—Portugal and Poland among them—argued for delaying replication for at least ayesr.
Three compelling counterarguments were presented. First, as LIoyd pointed out, the more time that
elapsed, the more likely some externd factor would change sufficiently to prevent replication. Second,
the need for absolute safety during areplication was clear in the public’'s mind right now; the morethe
severity of the accidents that occurred last time faded into memory, the more likely that people would be
cavdier inther preparations. Third, people wanted new visonsthat confirmed or denied the events
portrayed in ther first visons, letting those with disturbing insghts seeiif they wereindeed now on track
to avoiding those futures. If the new visonswould aso be of atime twenty-one years, sx months, two
days, and two hours ahead of the moment a which the replicated experiment began, each passing day
diminished the chances that the second vision would be sufficiently related to thefirst to make a
comparison between the two possible.

There was a0 agood economic argument in favor of rapid replication, if replication were to happen at
al. Many businesses were currently operating at reduced capacity, because of damage to equipment or
personnd that had occurred during the first Flashforward. A work stoppage in the near future to
accommodate a second Flashforward would result in lesslost productivity than would one months or
years down the road when al businesses and factories were back to full operation.

The debates ranged over countlesstopics. economics, national security (what if one nation launched a
nuclear attack against another just prior to the departure of consciousness?), philosophy, religion,



science, and democratic principles. Should adecision that affects everyone on the planet reglly be made
0n a one-vote-per-nation basis? Should votes be weighted according to each nation’ s population, in
which the Chinese voice should be heard the loudest? Or should the decision be differed to aglobal
referendum?

Finaly, after much acrimony and argument, the UN madeits decision: the LHC experiment would
indeed be repeated, offset, as many had insisted, by twelve hours from the first occurrence.

The European Union ambassadors dl insisted on one proviso, before agreeing to allow CERN to
attempt to replicate the experiment: there would be no government-leve lawsuits against CERN, the
countriesthat owned it, or any of its staff members. A UN resolution was passed, preventing any such
lawsuits from ever being brought at the World Court. Of course, nothing could prevent civil suits,
athough the Swiss and French governments had both declared that their courts would not hear such
cases, and it was difficult to establish that any other courts had jurisdiction.

The Third World represented the biggest logistical problem: undeveloped or underdevel oped regions
where news arrived dowly, if at dl. It was decided that the experiment wouldn’t be replicated for another
six weeks: that should be enough time to get the word to everyone who could possibly be reached.

And so, preparations began for humanity to take another peek at tomorrow.

Michiko dubbed it Operation Klaatu. In the movieThe Day the Earth Siood Stiill, Klaatu, an adien,
neutralized dl dectricity worldwide for thirty minutes precisely at noon Washington time, in order to
demonstrate the need for world peace, but he did it with remarkable care, so that no one was hurt.
Planes stayed doft, operating theaters till had power. Thistime, they were going to try to be as careful
as Klaatu, even though, as LIoyd pointed out, in the movie Klaatu was shot dead for his efforts. Of
course, being an dien, he managed to come back tolife. . .

Lloyd wasfrustrated. Thefirgt time, for whatever reason, the experiment had failed to produce the Higgs
boson; he wanted to tweak the parameters dightly, in hopes of producing that elusive particle. But he
knew he had to reproduce everything exactly as before. He' d probably never get achanceto refine his
technique; never get achance to generate the Higgs. And that, of course, meant he'd likely never get his
Nobd Prize.

Unless—

Unless he could come up with an explanation for the physics of what had happened. But even though it
was his experiment that had apparently caused the twenty-one-year jump ahead, and even though he,
and everyone at CERN, had been racking their brains trying to determine the cause, he had no specia
ingghtsinto why it had occurred. It was just aslikely that someone € se—indeed, possibly even someone
other than a particle physicis—uwould figure out exactly what had happened.
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D-Day.

Almost everything was the same. Of course, it was now the ungodly hour of five A.M., instead of five
P.M., but since there were no windowsin the LHC control room, there was no real way to tell. There
were also more people present. It was hard to get a decent crowd of journdists for most particle-physics
experiments, but for this one, the CERN Media Service actually had to draw lots to determine which
dozen reporters could have access. Cameras were broadcasting the scene worldwide.

All over the planet, people were lying down in bed, on couches, on the floor, on the grass, on bare
ground. No one was drinking hot beverages. No commercia, military, or private planeswere flying. All
trafficin al cities had come to a halt—indeed, had been at ahdt for hours now, to make surethere
would be virtualy no need for emergency-room operations or air ambulances during the replication.
Thruways and highways were ether vacant or giant parking lots.

Two space shuttles—one American, one Japanese—were currently in orbit, but there was no reason to
think they werein danger; the astronauts would smply enter their deeping bags for the duration. The nine
people aboard the Internationa Space Station would do the same thing.

No surgery was under way; no pizzas were being tossed in the air; no machinery was being operated. At
any given moment, athird of humanity is normally adegp—but right now dmogt dl of Earth’s seven
billion people were wide awake. Ironicaly, though, less activity was going on than & any other point in

history.

Aswith thefirgt time, the collision was being controlled by computer. Lloyd redlly had nothing much to
do. The reporters had their cameras on tripods, but they were lying on the floor or on tabletops. Theo
was aready lying down, too, and so was Michiko—a bit too close to Theo, for LIoyd' staste. There was
an areaof floor left in front of the main console. Lloyd lay down on it. He could see one of the clocks
from there, and he counted down with it: "Forty seconds.”

Would he be transported back to New England? Surely the vison wouldn't pick up where it had left off
months ago. Surely he wouldn’t be back in bed with—God, he didn’t even know her name. She hadn’t

said aword; she could have been American, of course, or from Canada, Austrdia, the United Kingdom,
Scandinavia, France—it was so hard to tell.

"Thirty seconds" Lloyd said.
Where had they met? How long had they been married? Did they have kids?
"Twenty seconds.”

Wasit ahappy marriage? It had certainly seemed to be, during that one brief glimpse. But, then, he'd
even seen his own parents be tender toward each other upon occasion.

"Ten seconds.”
Maybe the woman wouldn't even bein his next vison.

"Nine seconds.”



Indeed, it waslikely he' d be degping—and not necessarily even dreaming—twenty-one years from
now.

"Eight seconds.”

The chances were dmost zero that he' d see himself again—that he’ d be anywhere near amirror, or be
watching himsdlf on closed-circuit TV.

"Saeven."

But surely he' d seesomething reveatory, something significant.
"Sx."

Something that would answer at least afew of hisburning questions.
"Hve"

Something that would bring closure to what he' d seen before.

"Four.”

Hedid love Michiko, of course.

"Three"

And he and she would be married, regardless of what the first vison, or this one, might portray.
"Two."

But, dill, it would be nice to know that other woman’sname. . .

"One”

He closed hiseyes, asif that would better summon avision.

IIZG.OIII

Nothing. Darkness. Dammit, he was adeep in thefuture! It wasn't fair; it washis experiment fter dl. If
anyone deserved a second vision, it was him, and—

He opened hiseyes; hewas il flat on his back. Over hishead, high above, wasthe celling of the LHC
control center.

Oh, Chris—oh, Chrigt.
Twenty-one years from now he would be sixty-six yearsold.

And twenty-one years from thisvision, afew months later—



He'd be dead.

Just like Theo.

God damn it. God damn it.

Herolled his head to the side, and happened to see the clock.

The blue digitswere silently metamorphosing: 22:00:11; 22:00:12, 22:00:13. . .
He hadn’t blacked out—

Nothing had happened.

The attempt at replicating the Hashforward had failed, and—

Greenlights.

Green lights on the ALICE console!

Lloyd roseto hisfeet. Theo was getting up aswell.

"What happened?' asked one of the reporters.

"A big fa nothing," said another.

"Please" said Michiko. "Please, everyone stay on the floor—we don't know that it' s safe yet.”

Theo thumped theflat of his hand against LIoyd’ sback. L1oyd was grinning from ear to ear. He turned
and embraced Theo.

"Guys," said Michiko, propping herself up on her elbow. "Nothing happened.”

Lloyd and Theo disengaged, and Lloyd surged across the room. He reached out and took Michiko's
hands and pulled her to her feet, then hugged her.

"Honey," said Michiko, "what isit?'

Lloyd gestured at the console. Michiko's eyeswent wide." Snjirarenai!" sheexclamed. "You got it!"
Lloyd grinned even more. "Wegot it!"

"Got what?" asked one of the reporters. "Nothing happened, damniit!”

"Oh, yesit did," said Lloyd.

Theo was grinning, too. "Y es, indeed!"

"What?" demanded the same reporter.

“The Higgd" sdid Lloyd.



"Thewhat?'
"The Higgs boson!" said Lloyd, hisarm around Michiko' swaist. "We got the Higgs!™

Another reporter stifled ayawn. "Big fucking ded," he said.

Lloyd was being interviewed by one of the journdists. "What happened?' asked the man, agruff,
middle-aged correspondent for the LondonTimes. "Or, more precisely, why didn’t anything happen?"

"How can you say nothing happened? We got the Higgs boson!”
"Nobody cares about that. We want—"

"You'rewrong," said Lloyd emphaticaly. "Thisismgor; thisisasbig asit gets. Under any other
circumstances, thiswould have been afront-page story in every newspaper in the world.”

"But thevisons—"

"l have no explanation for why they weren't reproduced. But today’ s event was hardly afailure,
Scientists have been hoping to find the Higgs boson ever since Glashow, Salam, and Weinberg predicted
its existence haf acentury ago—"

"But people were expecting another glimpse of the future, and—"

"l understand that," said Lloyd. "Buit finding the Higgs—not some damn-fool quest for
precognition—was why the Large Hadron Collider was built in thefirst place. We knew we' d need to
get up over tentrillion eectron valtsto produce the Higgs. That’ swhy the nineteen countries that own
CERN came together to build the LHC. That’swhy the United States, Canada, Japan, Israel, and other
countries donated hillionsto the project aswell. Thiswas good science, important science—"

"Even s0," said the reporter, "theWall Street Journal estimated the aggregate total cost for your |abor
stoppage amounted to over fourteenbillion dollars. That makes Project Klaatu the most expensive
undertaking in human higory."

"But we got the Higgs! Don’t you see? Not only does this confirm the el ectrowesk theory, it provesthe
exigtence of the Higgsfield. We now know what causes objects—you, me, thistable, this planet—to
have mass. The Higgs boson carries afundamentd field that endows e ementary particles with mass—
andwe' ve confirmed its existence!"

"No one cares about aboson,” said the reporter. "People can't even say the word without snickering.”
"Cdl it the Higgs particle, then; lots of physicists do. But whatever you call it, it' sthe most important
physics discovery so far in the twenty-first century. Sure, we' re not even adecade into the century yet,
but I'll bet that at the end of this century, people will look back and say thiswasgtill the most important
physics discovery of the century.”

"That doesn’'t explain why we didn’t get anything—"



"Wedid," said Lloyd, exasperated.

"l mean why we didn’t get any visons.”

Lloyd puffed his cheeks and blew out air. "L ook, wetried the best we could. Maybe the origina
phenomenon was a onetime fluke. Maybe it had a high degree of dependence oninitial conditionsthat
have subtly changed. Maybe—"

"You took adive" said the reporter.

LIoyd was taken aback. "Pardon?’

"Youtook adive. You deliberatdly muffed the experiment.”

"Wedidnot take—"

"Y ou wanted to torpedo dl the lawsuits; even after that song-and-dance at the UN, you till wanted to
be sure that no one could ever successfully sue you, and, well, if you showed that CERN had nothing to
do with the Flashforward thefirgt time—"

"Wedidn't fake this. We didn't fake the Higgs. We made abreakthrough, for God's sake."

"Y ou cheated us," said the man from theTimes. "Y ou cheeted the entire planet.”

"Don’'t beridiculous,” said Lloyd.

"Oh, comeon. If you didn’t take adive, then why weren’t you ableto give usal another glimpse of the
future?'

"|—I don't know. Wetried. Redly, wetried."
"There |l be an inquest, you know."

Lloyd rolled his eyes, but the reporter was probably right. "Look," said LIoyd. "We did everything we
could. The computer logswill provethat; they’ Il show that every sngle experimenta parameter was
exactly the same. Of course, there is the problem of chaos, and dependent sensitivity, but weredly did
the best we could, and the result was hardly afailure—not by along shot." The reporter looked like he
was about to object again—yprobably claim that the logs could have been tampered with. But Lloyd held
up ahand. "Still, maybe youare right; maybe this does prove that CERN in actuality had nothing to do
with what happened before. Inwhich case. . .

"Inwhich case, you're off the hook," the reporter said bitterly.

Lloyd frowned, considering. Of course, he probably aready was off the hook legally for what had
happened the firgt time. But morally? Without the absolution provided by ablock universe, he had indeed
been haunted—ever since Dim'’ s suicide—by dl the death and destruction he had caused.

Lloyd fet hiseyebrowsrising. "1 guessyou'reright,” he said. "I guess Iam off the hook."
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Like every physicist, Theo waited with interest each year to see who would be honored with the Nobel
Prize—who would join the ranks of Bohr, Eingtein, Feynman, Gell-Mann, and Pauli. CERN researchers
had earned more than twenty Nobels over the years. Of course, when he saw the subject header in his
email box, he didn’t have to open the letter to know that his name wasn't on thisyear’ slist of honorees.
Stll, hedid like to see which of hisfriends and colleagues were getting the nod. He clicked the OPEN
button.

The laureates were Perlmutter and Schmidt for their work, mostly done a decade ago, that showed that
the universe was going to expand forever, rather than eventualy collgpsing down in abig crunch. It was
typicd that the award was for work completed years previoudy; there had to be time for resultsto be
replicated and for the ramifications of the research to be considered.

Wil thought Theo, they were both good choices. There d doubtless be some bitterness here at CERN,;
rumor had it that M cRainey was dready planning his celebratory party, athough that was doubtless just
scurrilous gossip. Still, Theo wondered, as he did every year at thistime, whether he' d someday see his
own nameon thelist.

Theo and LIoyd spent the next few daysworking on their paper about the Higgs. Although the press had
aready (somewhat hafheartedly) announced the particl€ s production to the world, they still had to write
up their resultsfor publication in a peer-reviewed journd. Lloyd, as was his habit, doodled endlessly on
his datapad; Theo paced back and forth.

"Why the difference?"' asked Lloyd, for the dozenth time. "Why didn’t we get the Higgs thefirst time, but
did get it thistime?"

"I don’t know," said Theo. "We didn’t change anything. Of course, we couldn’t match everything
exactly, ether. It's been weeks since the firgt attempt, so the Earth has moved millions of kilometersinits
orbit around the sun, and of course the sun has moved through space, asit dwaysdoes, and . . ."

"The sun!" crowed LIoyd. Theo looked at him blankly. "Don’t you see? Last time we did this, the sun
was up, but thistime it was down. Maybe the first time the solar wind was interfering with our

equipment?’

"The LHC tunnel isahundred meters below ground, and it’ s got the best radiation shielding money can
buy. There' sno way any gppreciable quantity of ionized particles could have gotten through to it."

"Hmmm," said Lloyd. "But what about particlesthat we can’t shield againgt? What about neutrinos?”
Theo frowned. "For them, it shouldn’t make any differenceif we re facing the sun or not." Only one out

of every two hundred million neutrinos passing through the Earth actudly hits anything; the rest just come
on through the other side.



Lloyd pursed hislips, thinking. " Still, maybe the neutrino count was particularly high the day we did it the
firg time." Something tickled his mind; something Gaston Béranger had said, when he was enumerating all
the other things that had been happening at 17h00 on April 21. "Béranger told me the Sudbury Neutrino
Observatory picked up aburst just before we ran our experiment.”

"l know someone at SNO," said Theo. "Wendy Small. We were in grad school together.” Openedin
1998, the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory, located beneath two kilometers of Precambrian rock, wasthe
world’ s most sensitive neutrino detector.

Lloyd gestured at the phone. Theo walked over to it. "Do you know the area code?"

"For Sudbury?It's probably 705; that’ s the one for most of northern Ontario.”

Theo dided anumber, spoke to an operator, hung up, then dided again. "Hello," he said, in English.
"Wendy Smadll, please." A pause. "Wendy, it's Theo Procopides. What? Oh, funny. Funny woman."
Theo covered the mouthpiece and said to Lloyd, "She said, ‘| thought you were dead.” " LIoyd made a
show of suppressing agrin. "Wendy, I’'m cdling from CERN, and I’ ve got someone e sewith me: Lloyd
Simcoe. Youmind if | put you on the spesker phone?’

"TheLloyd Smcoe?' said Wendy’ s voice, from the speaker. "Pleased to meet you."

"Helo," sad Lloyd, weskly.

"Look," said Theo, "asyou doubtless know, we tried to reproduce the time-displacement phenomenon
yesterday, and it didn’t work."

"So | noticed,” said Wendy. "Y ou know, in my origina vison, | waswatching TV—except it was
three-dimensiond. It wasthe climax of some detective show. I’ ve been dying to find out who did it."

Me, too,thought Theo, but what he said was, " Sorry we weren’t able to help.”

"l understand,” said Lloyd, "that the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory picked up an influx of neutrinos just
before we did our origina experiment on April 21. Were those neutrinos due to sunspots?

"No, the sun was quiet that day; what we detected was an extrasolar burst.”
"Extrasolar? Y ou mean from outsde the solar sysem?”

"That' sright.”

"What was the source?’

"Y ou remember Supernova 1987A7" asked Wendy.

Theo shook hishead.

Lloyd, grinning, said, "That was the sound of Theo shaking his head.”

"I could hear therattling,” said Wendy. "Wdll, look: in 1987, the biggest supernovain three hundred and
eighty-three years was detected. A type-B3 blue supergiant star called Sanduleak -69°202 blew upin



the Large Magd lanic Cloud.”
"The Large Magdlanic Cloud!" said Lloyd. "That’ sahdl of along way away."

"A hundred and sixty-six thousand light-years, to be precise,”" said Wendy’ svoice. "Meaning, of course,
that Sanduleak redly blew up back in the Pleistocene, but we didn’t see the explosion until twenty-two
years ago. But neutrinostravel unimpeded amost forever. And, during the explosion in 1987, we
detected aburst of neutrinos that |asted about ten seconds.”

"Okay," sad Lloyd.

"And," continued Wendy, " Sanduleak was avery strange star; you normally expect ared supergiant, not
ablue one, to go supernova. Regardless, though, after exploding as a supernova, what normally happens
isthat the remnants of the star collapse ether into aneutron star or ablack hole. Well, if Sandulesk had
collapsed into ablack hole, we never should have detected the neutrinos, they shouldn’t have been able
to escape. But at twenty solar masses, Sanduleak was, we thought, too small to form ablack hole, at
least according to the then-accepted theory."

"Uh-huh," said Lloyd.

"Well," said Wendy, "back in 1993, Hans Bethe and Gerry Brown came up with atheory involving kaon
condensates that would allow a smaller-massed star to collapse into ablack hole; kaons don’t obey
Pauli’ sexcluson principle.” The exclusion principle said that two particles of agiven type could not
smultaneoudy occupy the same energy State.

"For agar to collapseinto aneutron star,” continued Wendy, "dl the electrons must combine with
protons to form neutrons, but since electronsdo adhere to the exclusion principle, asyou try to push them
together they ingtead just keep occupying higher and higher energy levels, providing resstance to the
continued collgpse—that’ s part of the reason why you need to start with asufficiently massive star to
make ablack hole. But if the electrons were converted to kaons, they could all occupy the lowest energy
leve, putting up much less resistance, and making the collapse of asmaller star into ablack hole
theoretically possible. Well, Gerry and Hans said, ook, suppose that’ s what happened at
Sanduleak—suppose its e ectrons became kaons. Then it could have collapsed into ablack hole. And
how long would it take for the conversion of eectronsinto kaons? They mapped it out at ten
seconds—meaning that neutrinos could escape for the first ten seconds of the supernovaevent but, after
that, they’ d be swallowed up by the newly formed black hole. And, of course, ten secondsis how long
the neutrino burst lasted back in 1987."

"Fascinating,” said Lloyd. "But what’ sthis got to do with the burgt that happened when we were running
our experiment thefirs time?"

"Wall, the object that forms out of a kaon condensateisn't really ablack hole," said Wendy’ svoice.
"Rather, it' san inherently unstable parasingularity. We cal them * brown holes' now, after Gerry Brown.
It infact should rebound at some point, with the kaons spontaneoudy reconverting to eectrons. When
that happens, the Pauli exclusion principle should kick in, causng amassive pressure against degeneracy,
forcing the whole thing to dmost instantaneoudy expand again. At that point, neutrinos should again be
able to escape—at least until the process reverses, and the electrons turn back into kaons again.
Sandulesk was due to rebound at some point, and, asit happens, fifty-three seconds before your original
time-displacement event, our neutrino detector registered aburst coming from Sanduleek; of course, the
detector—or its recording equipment—stopped working as soon as the time-displacement began, so |
don’t know how long the second burst lasted, but in theory it should have lasted longer than the



firds—maybe aslong astwo or three minutes." Her voice grew wistful. "In fact, | originaly thought that
the Sanduleak rebound burst was what caused the time displacement in the first place. | was dl ready to
book aticket to Stockholm when you guys stepped forward and said it was your collider that did it."

"Wdl, maybeitwas the burst,” said LIoyd. "Maybe that’s why we weren't able to replicate the effect.”

"No, no," said Wendy, "it wasn't the rebound burdt, at least not on its own; remember, the burst began
fifty-three secondsbefor e the time displacement, and the digplacement coincided precisdy with the start
of theyour callisions. Still, maybe the coincidence of the burst continuing to impact the Earth at the same
time you were doing your experiment caused whatever bizarre conditions created the time displacement.
And without such a burst when you tried to replicate your experiment, nothing happened.”

"So," said Lloyd, "we basically created conditions here on Earth that hadn’t existed snce afraction of a
second after the Big Bang, and smultaneoudy we were hit by awhack of neutrinos spewing out of a
rebounding brown hole."

"That’ sabout the size of it," said Wendy’ svoice. "Asyou can imagine, the chances of that ever
happening areincredibly remote—which is probably just aswell.”

"Will Sanduleak rebound again?' asked Lloyd. "' Can we expect another neutrino burst?”

"Probably,” said Wendy. "In theory, it will rebound severa moretimes, sort of oscillating between being
abrown hole and aneutron star until stability isreached and it settles down as a permanent, but
non-rotating, neutron star."

"When will the next rebound occur?"
"I havenoidea

"But if wewait for the next burst,” said L1oyd, "and then do our experiment again a precisely that
moment, maybe we could replicate the time-displacement effect.”

"It'll never happen,” said Wendy’ svoice.
"Why not?" asked Theo.

"Think about it, boys. Y ou needed weeks to prepare for this attempt at replicating the experiment;
everyone had to be safe before it began, after al. But neutrinos are dmost masdess. They trave through
gpace at virtually the speed of light. There’ sno way to know in advance that they’ re going to arrive, and
sncethefirst rebound burst lasted no more than three minutes—it was over by the time my detector
started recording again—you’ d never have any advance warning that a burst was going to occur, and
oncethe burst started, you' d have only three minutes or lessto crank up your accelerator.”

"Damn," said Theo. "God damn."

"Sorry | don’t have better news," said Wendy. "L ook, I’ ve got amesting in five minutes—I should get

going.
"Okay," sdid Theo. "Bye"

"Bye."



Theo clicked off the speaker phone and looked at Lloyd. "Irreproducible,” he said. " The world’ s not
going to likethat." He moved over to achair and sat down.

"Damn," said Lloyd.

"You'retdling me," said Theo. "Y ou know, now that we know the futureisn't fixed, I’ m not that
worried, | guess, about the murder, but, till, | would have liked to have seensomething, you know.
Anything. | fed—Chrigt, | fed |€eft out, you know? Like everyone el se on the planet saw the mothership,
and | was off takingawhiz."
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The LHC was now doing daily 1150-TeV lead-nuclel collisons. Some were long-planned experiments,
now back on track; others were parts of the ongoing attempts to find a proper theoretica basisfor the
tempora displacement. Theo took a break from going over computer logsfrom ALICE and CMSto
check hisemail. "Additional Nobel winners announced,” said the subject line of the first message.

Of course, Nobelsaren't just given in physics. Five other prizes are awarded each year, with the
announcements staggered over aperiod of severa days. chemistry, physiology or medicine, economics,
literature, and the promotion of world peace. The only one Theo redly cared about was the physics
prize—athough he had amild curiosity about the chemistry award, too. He clicked on the message
header to seewhat it said.

It wasn't the chemistry Nobel—rather, it was the literature one. He was about to click the message into
oblivion when the laureate’ s name caught hiseye.

Anatoly Korolov. A Russian novelis.

Of course, after that man Cheung in Toronto had recounted his vision to Theo, mentioning someone
caled Korolov, Theo had researched the name. It had turned out to be frustratingly common, and
remarkably undistinguished. No one by that name seemed to be particularly famous or sgnificant.

But now someone named K orolov had won aNobel. Theo immediately logged ontoBritannica Online,
CERN had an unlimited-use account with them. The entry on Anatoly Korolov was brief:

Korolov, Anatoly Sergeyevich. Russian novelist and polemicist, born 11 July 1965, in Moscow, then
part of the USSR—



Theo frowned. Bloody guy was ayear younger than Lloyd, for God' s sakes. Of course no one had to
replicate the experimentd results outlined in anove. Theo continued reading:

Korolov’' sfira novel Pered voskhodom solntsa ("Before Sunrisg"), published in 1992, told of the early
days after the collapse of the Soviet Union; his protagonist, young Sergel Dolonov, adisiliusoned
Communist Party supporter, goes through a series of serio-comic coming-of-age rituals, fighting to make
sense of the changesin his country, ultimately becoming a successful businessperson in Moscow.
Korolov's other novelsincludeNa kulichkakh (At the World' s End"), 1995; Obyknovennaya istoriya
("A Common Story"), 1999; andMoskvityanin ("“The Muscovite"), 2006. Of these, onlyNa kulichkakh
has been published in English.

He' d doubtless get abigger write-up in the next edition, thought Theo. He wondered if Dim had read
thisfellow during his studies of European literature.

Could this be the Korolov Cheung’ s vision had referred to? If so, what possible connection did he have
to Theo? Or to Cheung, for that matter, whose interests seemed commercia rather than literary?

Michiko and Lloyd were walking down the streets of St. Genis, holding hands, enjoying thewarm
evening breeze. After afew hundred meters passed with nothing but silence between them, Michiko
stopped waking. "I think 1 know what went wrong."

Lloyd looked at her, hisface aquestion.

"Think about what happened,” she said. ™Y ou designed an experiment that should have produced the
Higgs boson. Thefirgt timeyou ranit, though, it didn’t. And why not?"

"The neutrino influx from Sandulesk,” said LIoyd.

"Oh? That might indeed have been part of what caused the time displacement—but how could it have
possibly upset the boson production?”

Lloyd shrugged. "Wadll, it—it . . . hmm, thatis agood question.”

Michiko shook her head. They began walking again. "It couldn’t have an effect. | don't doubt that there
was an influx of neutrinos a the time the experiment was originaly conducted, but it shouldn’t have
disrupted the production of the Higgs bosons. The bosonsshould have been produced.”

"But they weren't.”

"Exactly," said Michiko. "But there was no one to observe them. For dmost three whole minutes there
wasn't asingle conscious mind on Earth—no one, anywhere, to actually observe the creetion of the
Higgs boson. Not only that, there was no one available to observeanything. That'swhy dl the
videotapes seem to be blank. Theylook blank—Iike they’ ve got nothing but € ectronic snow on them.
But suppose that’ s not snow—suppose instead that the cameras accurately recorded what they saw: an
unresolved world. The whole enchilada, the entire planet Earth, unresolved. Without qudified



observers—witheveryone' s consciousness € sewhere—there was no way to resolve the quantum
mechanics of what was going on. No way to choose between dl the possible redities. Those tapes show
uncollapsed wave fronts, akind of staticky limbo—the superposition of al possible states.”

"I doubt that wave front superposition would look like snow."

"Well, maybeit’ snot an actud picture; but, regardiess of whether itisor isn't, it'sclear that all
information about that three-minute span was censored, somehow; the physics of what was happening
prevented any recording of data during that period. Without any conscious beings anywhere, redity
breaks down."

Lloyd frowned. Could he have been that wrong? Cramer’ s transactional interpretation accounted for
everything in quantum mechanics without recourse to qudified observers. . . but maybe such observers
did havearoleto play. "Perhaps," he said. "But—no, no, that can't beright. If everything was
unresolved, then how did the accidents occur? A plane crashing—thatis aresolution, one possibility
made concrete.”

"Of course," said Michiko. "It' s not that three minutes passed during which planesand trainsand cars
and assembly lines operated without human intervention. Rather, three minutes passed during which
nothing was resolved—al| the possibilities existed, stacked into shimmering whiteness. But at the end of
those three minutes, consciousness returned, and the world collapsed again into asingle state. And,
unfortunately but inevitably, it took the single state that made the most sense, given that there had been
three minutes of no consciousness. it resolved itself into the world in which planes and cars had crashed.
But the crashes didn’t occur during those three minutes; they never occurred at al. We smply went in
one jump from the way things were before to the way they were after.”

"That's. . .that'scrazy,” said Lloyd. "It swishful thinking."

They were passing a pub. Loud music, with French lyrics, spilled through the heavy closed door. "No,
it'snot. It'squantum physics. And the result is the same: those people are just as dead, or just as
maimed, asif the accidents had actualy taken place. I’ m not suggesting there' s any way around that—as
much as | wish there were.

Lloyd squeezed Michiko's hand, and they continued walking, up the road, into the future.

BOOK 111
TWENTY-ONE YEARSLATER

AUTUMN 2030



Lost timeis never found again.

—John H. Aughey
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Time passes; things change.

In 2017, ateam of physicists and brain researchers mosily based at Stanford devised afull theoretical
modée for the time displacement. The quantum-mechanical mode of the human mind, proposed by Roger
Penrose thirty years earlier, had turned out to be generdly true even if Penrose had gotten many of the
detailswrong; it was perhaps not surprising, then, that sufficiently powerful quantum physics experiments
could have an effect on perception.

Stll, the neutrinos were akey part of it, too. It had been known since the 1960s that Earth’ s sunwas,
for some reason, disgorging only haf as many neutrinos as it should—the famous " solar-neutrino
problem.”

The sunis heated by hydrogen fusion: four hydrogen nuclei—each asingle proton—come together to
form ahelium nucleus, consisting of two protons and two neutrons. In the process of converting two of
the origina hydrogen-provided protonsinto neutrons, two electron neutrinos should be gected . . . but,
somehow one out of every two e ectron neutrinos that should reach Earth disappears before it does so,
amog asif they were somehow being censored, dmost asif the universe knew that the
quantum-mechanica processes underlying consciousness were unstable if too many neutrinos were
present.

The discovery in 1998 that neutrinos had atrifling mass had made credible along-standing possible
solution to the solar-neutrino problem: if neutrinos have mass, theory suggested that they could perhaps
change types asthey traveled, making it only appear, to primitive detectors, that they had disappeared.
But the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory, which was capable of detecting all types of neutrinos, till
showed a marked shortfall between what should be produced and what was reaching Earth.

The stirong anthropic principle said the universe needed to give rise to life, and the Copenhagen
interpretation of quantum physics said it requires qudified observers; given what was now known about
the interaction of neutrinos and consciousness, the solar-neutrino problem seemed to be evidence that the
universe was indeed taking painsto foster the existence of such observers.

Of course, occasiona extrasolar neutrino bursts happened, but under norma circumstances they could
be tolerated. But when the circumstances werenot norma—uwhen a neutrino ondaught was combined
with conditions that hadn’t existed Snce just after the big bang—time displacement occurred.



In 2018, the European Space Agency launched theCassandra probe toward Sanduleak -69°202. Of
course, it would take millions of yearsto reach Sanduleak, but that didn’t matter. All that mattered was
that now, in 2030,Cassandra was 2.5 trillion kilometers from Earth—and 2.5 trillion kilometers closer to
the remnant of Supernova 1987A—adistance that light, and neutrinos, would take three monthsto
travel.

AboardCassandra were two ingruments. One was alight detector, aimed directly at Sanduleak; the
other was a recent invention—atachyon emitter—aimed back at Earth. Cassandra couldn’t detect
neutrinos directly, but if Sandulesk oscillated out of brown-hole status, it would give off light aswell as
neutrinos, and the light would be easy to see.

In July 2030, light from Sanduleak was detected by Cassandra. The probeimmediately launched an
ultra-low-energy (and therefore ultra-high-speed) tachyon burst toward Earth. Forty-three hours later,
the tachyons arrived there, setting off darms.

Suddenly, twenty-one years after the first time-displacement event, the people of Earth were given three
months' noticethat if they wanted to try for another glimpse of the future, they could indeed do so witha
reasonable chance of success. Of course, the next attempt would have to be made at the exact moment
the Sanduleak neutrinos would start passing through Earth—and it couldn’t be a coincidence that that
would be 19h21 Greenwich Mean Time on Wednesday, October 23, 2030—the precise beginning of
the two-minute span the last set of visions had portrayed.

The UN debated the matter with surprising speed. Some had thought that because the present had
turned out to be different from what the first set of visions portrayed, people might decide that new
visonswould beirrelevant. But, in redlity, the genera response was quite the opposite—amost
everybody wanted another peek at tomorrow. The Ebenezer Effect still was powerful. And, of course,
there was now awhole generation of young people who had been born after 2009. They felt left out, and
were demanding a chance to have what their parents had aready experienced: aglimpse of their

prospective futures.

Asbefore, CERN wasthe key to unlocking tomorrow. But Lloyd Simcoe, now sixty-six, would not be
part of the replication attempt. He had retired two years ago, and had declined to come back to CERN.
Still, LIoyd and Theo had indeed shared aNobel prize. It had been awarded in 2024, not, asit turned
out, in honor of anything related to the time-displacement effect, or the Higg' s boson, but rather dueto
their joint invention of the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider, the tabletop device that had put giant particle
accelerators at places ranging from TRIUMF to Fermilab to CERN out of business. Most of CERN was
abandoned now, athough the origind Tachyon-Tardyon Collider was housed on the CERN campus.

Maybe it was because LIoyd s marriage to Michiko had crumbled after ten yearsthat Lloyd didn’t want
to beinvolved with this attempt to replicate the origind experiment. Y es, LIoyd and Michiko had had a
daughter together, but aways, down deep, not even acknowledged by her at first, there was afegling on
Michiko's part that LIoydhad somehow been responsible for her first daughter’ s death. She' d surprised
hersdlf, no doubt, the first time that charge had come out during an argument between her and Lloyd. But
thereit was.

That LIoyd and Michiko loved each other there was no doubt, but they ultimately decided that they
smply couldn’'t go on living together, not with that hanging, however diffusely, over everything. At least it
hadn’t been a painful divorce, likethat of LIoyd' s parents. Michiko moved back to Nippon, taking their
daughter Joan with her; Lloyd got to visit with her only once ayear, at Christmas.



Lloyd wasn't crucid to the replication of the origind experiment, athough hishelp would have been a
real asset. But he was now happily remarried—and, yes, it was to Doreen, the woman he'd seenin his
vision, and, yes, they did now own a cottage in Vermont.

Still, Jake Horowitz, who had long since left CERN to work at TRIUMF with hiswife Carly Tompkins,
did agree to come back for three months. Carly came aswell, and she and Jake endured the gentle
kidding of people asking them which labs at CERN they were going to baptize. They had been married
for eighteen years now, and had three wonderful kids.

Theodos os Procopides and about three hundred other people still worked at CERN, running the TTC
there. Theo, Jake, Carly, and a skeleton crew raced againgt time to get the Large Hadron Collider ready
to run again, after five years of disuse, before the Sanduleak neutrinos hit.
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Theo, now forty-eight, was personaly delighted that the redity of 2030 had turned out to be different
from what had been portrayed in the visions of 2009. For his own part, he' d grown afine, full beard,
covering hisjutting jaw (and saving him from looking like he needed another shave by mid-afternoon).
Y oung Helmut Drescher had said he could see Theo'schin in hisvision; the beard was one of Theo's
littleways of assarting hisfreewill.

Still, asthe replication date approached, Theo found himsdlf growing more and more apprehensive. He
tried to convince himsdlf that it was nervousness abouit | etting the whole world down again if something
went wrong, but the LHC seemed to be operating perfectly, and so he had to admit that that wasn't
redly it.

No, what he was nervous about was the fact that the day on which the 2009 visions said he was going
to diewasrapidly approaching.

Theo found that he couldn’t eat, couldn’t deep. If he had ever determined who it waswho had originally
wanted him dead, that would have perhaps made it easer—all he would have to do isavoid that person.
But he had no ideawho had/ would/might pull the trigger.

Finally, inevitably, it was Monday, October 21, 2030: the date that, in at least one version of redlity, was
laser-carved into Theo'stombstone. Theo woke that morning in a cold sweat.

There was gill oodles of work to be done at CERN—it was only two days until the Sanduleak neutrinos
would hit. Hetried to put it al out of hismind, but even after he got to the office, he found himsdlf unable
to concentrate.

And, by alittle after I0h00, he couldn’t take it anymore. Theo left the LHC control center, putting ona
forward-swept beige cap and mirrored sunglasses ashe did so. It wasn't dll that bright out; the



temperature was cool, and about half the sky was covered by clouds. But no one went outside without
head and eye protection anymore. Although the depleting of the ozone layer had findly been hated,
nothing effective had been done yet about building it back up.

Sun glinted off the rocky pinnacles of the Jura mountains. There was a Globus Gateway busin the
parking lot; mostly deserted CERN wasn't a starred attraction in theGuide Michelin, of course, and,
with the hubbub surrounding the replication attempt, no tourists were allowed on Ste, anyway. Thisbus
had been chartered to bring a crowd of journalists from the airport; they had flown in to cover the work
leading up to the replication.

Theo walked over to his car, ared Ford Octavia—good, serviceable transportation. He' d spent his
youth playing with billion-dollar particle acceerators; he hardly needed afancy car to establish hisworth.

The car recognized him as he approached, and he nodded at it to indicate he redlly did want to enter.
The driver-side door did up into the roof. Y ou could still buy carswith doorsthat hinged out to the side,
but with parking spaces so tight in most urban centers doors that required no special clearance were
more convenient.

Theo entered the car and told it where he wanted to go. "At thistime of day,” said the car in a pleasant
malevoice, "it'll befastest to take Rue Meynard.”

"Fing" said Theo. "You drive"

The car began to do just that, lifting off the ground and starting on itsway. "Music or news?' said the
car.

"Musc," sad Theo.

The car filled with one of Theo'sfavorite bands, apopular Korean jag group. But the music did littleto
cam him. Dammit al, he knew he shouldn’t even be here in Switzerland, but the Large Hadron Collider
was gill the biggest instrument of itstype in the world; periodic atempts prior to the invention of the TTC
to revive the Superconducting Supercollider project, killed by the U.S. Congressin 1993, had dl failed.
And running and repairing particle accel erators was adying art. Most of those who had built the origina
L EP accel erator—the first one mounted in CERN'’ s giant subterranean tunnel—were either dead or
retired, and only afew of thoseinvolved with the LHC, which first went into service aquarter of a
century ago, were dtill in that line of work. So: Theo's expertise was needed in Switzerland. But he was
damned if he was going to be asitting duck.

The car stopped outside the destination Theo had requested: Police Headquartersin Geneva. It was an
old building—more than a century old, in fact, and dthough internal-combustion motorswereillega on
any car manufactured after 2021, the building still showed the grime of decades of automobile exhaudts; it
would have to be sandblasted a some point.

"Open," said Theo. The door disappeared into the ceiling.

"There are no vacant parking spots within afive-hundred-meter radius,” said the car.

"Keep driving around the block, then," said Theo. "I’ll call you when I’ m ready to be picked up.”

The car chirped acknowledgment. Theo put on his cap and shades and stepped outside. He crossed the
sdewalk, made hisway up the steps, and entered the building.



"Bonjour," said alarge blond man gitting behind adesk." Je peux vous aider ?"

"Oui," said Theo." Détective Helmut Drescher, s'il vous plait.” Y oung Hemut Drescher wasindeed a
detective now; Theo, with then-idle curiosity, had checked on that several months before.

"Moot’snot in," said the man, still speaking in French. ""Can somebody el se help you?"

Theo fdt hisheart snk. Drescher, at least, might understand, but to try to explain it to acomplete
granger ... "l wasredly hoping to see Detective Drescher,” said Theo. "Do you expect him back
soon?!

"I redly don’t—oh, say, this must be your lucky day. There's Moot now."

Theo turned around. Two men both about the right age were entering the building; Theo had no idea
which one might be Drescher. "Detective Drescher?' he said tentatively.

"That'sme," said the one on the right. Helmut had grown up to be a fine-looking man, with light brown
hair, astrong, square jaw, and bright blue eyes.

"Likel said," said the desk officer from behind Theo. "Y our lucky day."
Only if I live through it,thought Theo. "Detective Drescher," said Theo, "I need to talk to you."

Drescher turned to the other man he'd comein with. "I’ll catch up with you later, Fritz," he said. Fritz
nodded and headed deeper into the building.

Drescher showed no sign of recognizing Theo. Of course, it had been twenty-one years sincethey’d last
seen each other, and, athough there had been alot of media coverage of the upcoming attempt to
replicate the time displacement, Theo had been way too busy to beinterviewed much on TV lately; he'd
been leaving that mogtly to Jake Horowitz.

Drescher led Theo toward the inner doors; he was dressed in plain clothes, but Theo couldn’t help
noticing that he hadvery nice shoes. Drescher laid his hand on apamprint reader and the paired doors
swvung inward, letting them into the squad room. Flats es—paper-thin computers—were piled high on
some desks and spread out in overlapping patterns on others. One entire wall was a map showing
Geneva s computer-controlled traffic, with every vehicle tracked by anindividua transponder. Theo
looked to seeif he could spot his own car orbiting the building; it seemed hiswasn't the only one doing
that just now.

"Have aseat," said Drescher, indicating the chair that faced his desk. Hetook aflatse from apile and
placed it between him and Theo. "Y ou don't mind if | record this?' hesaid. The
words—French—ingtantly appeared astext on the flatse, with an attribution tag saying, "H. Drescher.”

Theo shook his head. Drescher gestured at the flatsie. Theo realized he wanted a spoken reply.”Non,"
he said. Theflatsie duly recorded it, but smply put aglowing question mark where the spegker’ s name
should be.

"And you are?"

"Theodosios Procopides,”" said Theo, expecting the nameto ring abell for Drescher.



Theflatsie, a least, got it in one—indeed, Theo saw alittle window appear on the sheet, showing the
correct spdlling of his name using the Hellenic aphabet and listing some basic facts about Theo. The
attribution tagsfor the" Non," and the Sating of his name immediately changed to " T. Procopides.”
"Andwhat can | do for you?' asked Drescher, gtill oblivious.

"Y ou don’'t know who | am, do you?' said Theo.

Drescher shook his head.

"The, ah, last time we saw each other, | didn’t have the beard.”

The detective peered at Theo' sface. "Well, I—oh! Oh, God! Oh, it'syou!™

Theo glanced down. The flatsie had done acommendable job of punctuating the detective s outburst.
When he looked back up, he saw that dl the color had drained from Drescher’ sface.

"Oui,"sad Theo."C’ est moi."
"Mon Dieu," said Drescher. "How that’ s haunted me over the years." He shook hishead. Y ou know,
I’ve seen alot of autopsies since, and alot of dead bodies. But yours—to see something like that when

you'rejust akid." He shuddered.

"I’'m sorry,” said Theo. He paused for amoment, then: Do you remember me coming to visit you,
shortly after you had that vison? Out a your parents house—the one with that great staircase?’

Drescher nodded. "I remember. Scared the life out of me."
Theo lifted his shoulders dightly. "I’ m sorry about that, too."

"I"vetried to keep that vison out of my mind," said Drescher. "All these years, I’ vetried not to think
about it. But it still comes back, you know. Even after dl I’ ve seen, that image till haunts me.”

Theo smiled gpologeticaly.
"Not your fault,” said Drescher, gesturing dismissively with his hand. "What was your vison of 7"

Theo was surprised by the question; Drescher was sill having trouble connecting his own vision of that
dead body with the redlity of the human being sitting in front of him. "Nothing,” said Theo.

"Oh, yeah, right," said Drescher, dightly embarrassed. " Sorry."

There was awkward silence between them for afew moments, then Drescher spoke again. ™Y ou know,
it wasn't dl bad—that vision, | mean. It got meinterested in police work. | don’t know that | would have
sgned up for the academy if | hadn’t had thet vison.”

"How long have you been acop?' asked Theo.

"Seven years—the last two as detective.”



Theo had no idealif that was rapid advancement or not, but he found himsalf doing the math related to
Drescher’ sage. He couldn’t have a university degree. Theo spent far too much time with academics and
scientists, he was dways afraid he' d accidentally say something patronizing to those who hadn’t gone any
further than high school. "That’ sgood,” he offered.

Drescher shrugged, but then he frowned and shook his head. ™Y ou shouldn’'t be anywherenear here.

Y ou shouldn't be anywhere in Europe, for God' s sake. Y ou must have been killed in or near Geneva, or
| wouldn't be the cop investigating it. If I’d had avision that | was going to bekilled here on thisday, you
can bet I'd bein Zhongua or Hawaii instead.”

Theo'sturn to shrug. "I didn’t want to be here, but | have no choice. | told you, I'm with CERN. | was
part of the team that led the Large Hadron Collider experiment twenty-one years ago. They need meto
duplicate that the day after tomorrow. Believe me, if | had any choice in the matter, Iwould be
somewheredse”

"Y ou haven't taken up boxing, have you?'

"No."

"Becauseinmy vison—"

"I know, | know. You said | waskilled a aboxing match.”

"My dad, he used to watch boxing dl thetimeon TV," said Hmut. "Funny sport for ashoe salesman, |
guess, but heliked it. I used to watch it with him, even when | wasalittlekid.”

"Look," said Theo, "you know in away that no one el'sedoesthat | redlyam at risk. That’ swhy I've
cometo seeyou." He swallowed. "I need your help, Helmut. | need police protection. Between now and
when the experiment isreplicated in—" He glanced at thewall clock, aflatsie held up with tape, fifteen
centimeter digitsglowing on its surface "—in fifty-nine hours"

Drescher gestured &t al the other flatsies strewn across his desk. "I" ve got alot of work to do."

"Mease. Y ou know what might happen. Most people have this coming Wednesday off work—you
know, so they can be safe at home when the time-displacement is replicated. | hate to even ask, but you
could use that timeto catch up on any work you might misstoday and tomorrow.”

"l don’t have Wednesday off." He gestured at the other people in the squad room. "None of usdo—in
case something goeswrong.” A pause. "Y ou have any ideawho might shoot you?'

Theo shook his head, then, glancing at the recording flatsie, said, "No. None. I’ ve wracked my brain for
twenty-one yearstrying to figure it out—trying to determine who | might have pissed off so much that
they’ d want me dead, or who could profit from having me out of the way. But there sno one.”

"No one?'

"Well, you know, you go crazy; you get paranoid. Something like this—it makes you suspect
everybody. Sure, for atime, | thought maybe my old partner, LIoyd Simcoe, had doneit. But | spoketo
Lloyd just yesterday; he'sin Vermont, and has no plansto come over to Europe anytime in the near
future”



"It's only—what?—athree-hour flight, if he takes a supersonic,” said Drescher.

"I know, | know—but, redly, I'm sureit’ s not him. But thereis somebody out there, some—what do
you guys say? What' s the phrase? Some person or persons unknown who may indeed make an attempt
onmy lifetoday. And I’ m asking you—I"m begging you, please—to keep that person or personsfrom

gettinga me”

"Where do you have to be today?'

"At CERN. Either in my office, in the LHC control center, or down in the tunnel.”
“Tunnd?'

"Yeah. Y ou must have heard of it: there’ satunnd at CERN twenty-seven kilometersin circumference
buried a hundred meters down; agiant ring, you know? That’ swhere the LHC is housed."

Drescher chewed on hislower lip for amoment. "Let metak to my captain,” he said. He got up,
crossed the room, and rapped his knuckles against adoor. The door did aside, and Theo could seea
stern, dark-haired woman within. Drescher entered, and the door closed behind him.

It ssemed he was gone for an eternity. Theo looked about nervoudly. On Drescher’ sdesk was a
hologram of ayoung woman who might be hiswife or girlfriend, and an older man and woman. Theo
recognized the older woman: Frau Drescher. Assuming it was arecent shot—and, redly, it must be;
hol ocameras had been priced out of reach of an honest cop until a couple of years ago—then the
decades had been kind to her. She was ill avery attractive woman, content to let her hair show itsgray.

Findly, the door at the far end of the room opened again, and Detective Drescher emerged. He crossed
the busy squad room and returned to hisdesk. "I’m sorry," he said, as he sat back down. "'If someone
had made a threat or something. . ."

"L et me speak to your captain.”

Drescher snorted. " Shewon't see you; half the time she won't even see me." He softened hisvoice. "l
am sorry, Mr. Procopides. Look—just be careful, that’ s all.”

"| thought you—you, of al people—would understand.”

"I’'mjust acop,” said Drescher. "I take orders.” He paused, and ady tone dipped into hisvoice.
"Besides, maybe coming here was abig mistake. | mean, what if I’ m the guy who shot you thefirst time
out? Didn't Agatha Chrigtie write astory like that once, in which the detective wasthe killer? It'd be kind
of ironic, then, you coming to see me, no?"

Theo lifted his eyebrows. His heart was pounding, and he didn’t know what to say. Jesus Christ, hehad
been shot with a Glock, agun favored by police officersal over theworld . . .

"Don’t worry," said Drescher, grinning. "I’ m just kidding. Figured | deserved to give you afright after
what you did to me all those years ago." But he did reach down and use a couple of swipes of hisindex
finger to erasethe last few lines of the transcript from theflatse.

"Good luck, Mr. Procopides. Like | said, just be careful. For billions of people, the future turned out
unlike what their visions portrayed. | shouldn’'t haveto tell you this, you being ascientist and dll, but there



redlly isno good reason to think that your vision is going to be the one that actualy comestrue.”

Theo used his cdllular phoneto cal hiscar, and when it arrived, he got back in.

Drescher was doubtless right. Theo felt embarrassed about his panic attack; probably abad dream the
night before, coupled with anxiety about the upcoming replication, had brought it on. Hetried to relax,
looking out at the countryside as his car drove him back to the LHC control center. The tour bus was still
there. It made him abit nostalgic. Globus Gateway buses were seen al over Western Europe, of course.
He' d never taken one of their tours himsdlf, but as ahorny teenager he and a couple of hisfriends had
awayswatched for them in July and August. North American girls, looking for asummer of excitement,
often traveled in such things, Theo had enjoyed more than one romantic evening with an American
schoolgirl during histeenage years.

The pleasant memory faded to sadness, though; he was thinking of home, of Athens. He'd only been
back twice snce Dim' sfunera. Why hadn’t he made more time for his parents? Theo let hiscar find a
vacant spot. He got out and headed into the LHC control center.

"Oh, Theo," said Jake Horowitz, coming a him from the other end of the mosaic-lined corridor. "I've
been trying to get hold of you. | called your car but it said you’ d been arrested or something.”

"Funny car," said Theo. "Actudly, | wasjust visiting—visiting someone | thought was an old friend."
"There saproblem with the LHC that Jggs does't know how to fix."

"Oh?"

"Y eah, something with one of the cryostat clusters—number four-forty, in octant three.”

Theo frowned. It had been years since the LHC had been cranked up to full power. Jiggs, al of
thirty-four, was head of the maintenance divison; he'd never actualy seen the collider used a 14-TeV
levels

Theo nodded; cryostat controls were notorioudly finicky. "I'll go havealook.” In the old days, when
CERN had ag&ff of three thousand, Theo never would have gone down into the LHC tunndl aone, but
with his current skeleton crew, it seemed the best way to apportion hislimited manpower, and, well, it
was probably the safest place to be: sure, acrazy person might makeit onto CERN'’s campus, looking to
shoot Theo, but doubtless such an intruder would be stopped |ong before he could get down into the
tunndl. Besides, no one but Jake and Jiggs—hoth of whom he trusted completel y—would even know
that he was down there.

Theo took the devator to the minus-one-hundred-meter level. Theair in the particle-acce erator tunnel
was humid and warm, and smelled of machine oil and ozone. Thelight was dim—a bluish white from
overhead fluorescents punctuated at regular intervas by ydlow emergency lamps mounted on thewalls.
Thethrobbing of equipment, the hum of air pumps, and the clack of Theo' s heds against the concrete
floor dl echoed loudly. In cross-section, the tunnel was circular, except for theflat floor, and its diameter
varied between 3.8 and 5.5 meters.

As he' d often done before, Theo Procopides |ooked down the tunnel in one direction then turned and
looked in the opposite direction. It wasn' tquite straight. He could see dlong it for agreat distance, but



eventudly thewalls curved away.

Hanging from the tunndl roof wasthe I-beam track for the monorail, and, hanging from that, the monorail
itsdlf; Jiggs had left it parked here. The monorail consisted of acab big enough to hold asingle person,
three smdll cars each designed for cargo rather than passengers, and a second cab, facing the opposite
direction, capping the end. The cargo cars weren't much more than hanging baskets made of metal
painted peacock-blue. Each cab was an open, orange frame with headlights mounted above its doping
windscreen and awide rubber bumper mounted below. The windscreens doped at asharp angle.

Thedriver had to st with hislegs out in front of him; the cab wasn't tall enough to accommodate a
normally seated person. The name ORNEX—the manufacturer of the monorail—was emblazoned
acrossthe cab’ sfront. To either Side of the name were small red reflectors, and below it was awide strip
with black-and-yellow safety markings, they wanted to be absolutely sure the cabswould bevisblein
the dim tunnd. The monorail had been upgraded in 2020; it could manage about sixty kilometers an hour
now, meaning it could circumnavigate the tunnd in under thirty minutes.

Theo got atool box from one of the supply lockersin the staging area, put on hisyellow hard hat—even
though he rardly went down into the tunndl, he was senior enough that he' d been given his own persona
hat. He placed the tool box in one of the cargo cars, clambered into the cab that wasfacing in the
direction he wanted to go—clockwise—and set the train in motion, whirring away into the darkness.

Detective Helmut Drescher tried to get on with hiswork; he had seven open casefilesto dig through,
and Capitaine Lavoisier had been demanding he make some more progress. But Moot’s mind kept
turning back to the plight of Theo Procopides. The guy had seemed nice enough; he wished he could
have helped him. He' d looked to be in good shape, too, for aman who must have been amogt fifty.
Moot found the flatsie that had recorded their earlier conversation; the biographical-data box about Theo
was il displayed. Born 2 March 1982—so that would make him forty-eight. Pretty old to bea
boxer—besides, he had the wrong build for it. Maybe in whatever dternative redity the visons had
shown he' d been acoach or areferee, rather than an actua fighter. But no—that didn’t seem right. Moot
didn’'t have the business card with him that Theo had given him two decades ago, athough he had saved
it through al intervening years, and had looked &t it occasondly: it had clearly said CERN onit. So, if he
was dready aphysicist before the visonstook place in 2009, it sesemed unlikely that he'd switchto a
career in ports. But Moot remembered hisown vision vividly: the man in the smock—the medical
examiner, he knew now—had clearly said that Procopides waskilled in the ring, and—

Inthering.

What was it Procopides had said earlier today?You must have heard of it. There’sa tunnel at CERN
twenty-seven kilometersin circumference buried a hundred meters down; a giant ring, you know?

He d been alittle kid—alittle kid who watched boxing with his dad; alittle kid who loved the movie
Rocky. He d just assumed back then that “in the ring” meant "in aboxing match," and he' d never given it
any more thought since.

A giant ring, you know?

Shit. Maybe Procopideswas in real danger. Moot got up from his desk and went back to see Capitaine
Lavoiser.



The defective cryostat cluster was ten kilometers away; it would take the monorail about ten minutesto
bring Theo there. The cab’ s headlight beams diced into the darkness. There were fluorescent lighting
fixtures throughout the whole tunnel, but it was pointlessto illuminate dl twenty-seven kilometers of it.

Findly, the monorail arrived at the location of the wonky cryodtat cluster. Theo stopped thetrain,

disembarked, found the pand for controlling the locd lighting, and turned it on for fifty meters ahead and
behind him. He then retrieved histool kit and headed over to the defective unit.

Thistime Capitaine Lavoiser acquiesced, giving Moot permission to act as Theo' s bodyguard until the
end of the day. Moot took his usual unmarked car and drove to CERN. He suspected CERN waslike
most places. the transponder signd from a staff member’ s car would et it pass automaticaly through the
gate, but Moot had to stop and show his badge to the guard computer before the barrier waslifted. He
also asked the computer for direction; the CERN campus consisted of dozens of mostly empty buildings.
It took him about five minutesto find the LHC control center. Helet his car settle to the asphat and
hurried insde.

An attractive middle-aged woman with freckles was coming down a corridor lined with a series of
mosaics. Moot showed her his badge. "I’m looking for Theo Procopides,” he said.

Thewoman nodded. "He was here earlier today; let’s seeif we can find him."

The woman led the way deeper into the building; shetried acouple of rooms, but Theo wasin neither of
them. "Let’ stry my husband' s office," she said. "He and Theo work together.” They went down another
corridor, and entered an office. " Jake, thisman’sa police officer. He slooking for Theo."

"He sdown inthetunnd,” said Jake. "That damned cryodtat cluster in octant three."

"Hemay beintrouble,” said Moot. "Can you take meto him?"

"In trouble?'

"In hisvision, heis shot dead today—and I’ ve got reason to believe it was down in the tunndl.”

"My God," said Jake. "Um, sure, sure—I| can take you to him, and—damn! God damn it, but he must
have taken the monorail .

"Themonorail ?"

"There samonorall that runsaround the ring. But he'll have taken it ten kilometersfrom here.”
"There sonly onetran?'

"We used to have three more, but we sold them off years ago. We ve only got oneleft.”

"Y ou could fly over to the far access station,” said the woman. "There' sno road, but you could eesily fly
over thefarmers fieds.”



"Right—right!" said Jeke. He smiled a hiswife. "Beautiful and brilliant!" He turned to Moot. "Come on!™

Jake and Moot hurried down the corridors, through the lobby, and out into the parking lot. "We' |l take
my car,” said Moot. They got in, Moot hit the start button, and the car rose off the ground. He followed
Jake' singructionsfor getting out of the campus. Then Jake pointed across an open farmer’ sfield.

Thecar flew.

Theo looked at the cryostat cluster’ s housing. No wonder Jiggs had been having troublefixing it: he'd
been going in through the wrong access port. The pandl he d been working behind was till open but the
potentiometers Jiggs used to fiddle with were hidden behind another pand.

Theo tried to open the access door that should have let him get at the right controls, but it wouldn't
budge. After years of disuse in the dark, damp tunnel, the door had apparently corroded shut. Theo
rummaged in histoolkit looking for something he could useto pry it open, but al he had were some
screwdriversthat proved inadequate to the task. What he redly needed was a crowbar or something
smilar. He sworein Greek. He could take the monorail back to the campus and get the appropriate tool,
but that seemed like such awaste of time. Surely there was something down herein the tunnel that he
could use. He looked back the way he’ d come; he hadn’t noted anything like what he needed during the
last few hundred meters of histrip on the monorail but, of course, he wasn't redlly looking. Still, it
seemed to make more sense to continue on clockwise around the tunnd, at least a short distance, and
seeif he could find something that would do the trick.

The far access station was an old concrete bunker in the middle of afarmer’ s colzafield. Moot’ s car
settled down on the small driveway—there was an access road leading out in the opposite
direction—and he shut off itsengine. He and Jake got ouit.

It was noon, and, since this was October, the sun didn't get very highin the sky. But at least the bees,
which were anuisance in summer, were gone. Up the mountains des there were mostly conifers, of
course, but down here there were lots of deciduoustrees. The leaves on many of them had aready
changed color.

"Comeon," said Jake.
Moot heditated. "There’ s no chance of radiation, isthere?"
"Not whilethe collider isturned off. It' s perfectly safe.”

Asthey cametoward the blockhouse, a hedgehog scurried by, quickly hiding itsdlf inthe
ninety-centimeter colza shoots. Jake stopped short at the door. It was an old-fashioned hinged door,
with a deadbolt lock. But the door had been pried open; a crowbar lay in the grass next to the
blockhouse.

Moot moved to the door. "No corrosion," he said, indicating the metal exposed where the lock had
been broken. "This was done recently.” He used the toe of hisfancy shoes to nudge the crowbar dightly.
"The grass underneath is fill green; this must have happened today or yesterday.” He looked at Jake.
"Anything va uable kept down there?!



"Vauableyes," sad Jake. "But salable? Not unless you know of ablack-market for obsolete
high-energy physics equipment.”

"Y ou say this collider hasn't been used recently?"
““Not for afew years."
"Might be squatters,” said Moot. " Could someone live down there?!

"l—I suppose. It'd be cold and dark, but it iswatertight.” Moot had a pouch at his hip; he pulled it open
and removed asmall ectronic device, which he waved over the crowbar. "L ots of fingerprints,” he said.
Jake looked over; he could see the fingerprints fluorescing on the device s display screen. Moot pushed
some buttons on his device. After about thirty seconds, some text scrolled across the screen. "No
matches on file. Whoever did this has never been arrested anywhere in Switzerland or the E.U." A pause.
"How far away is Procopides?’

Jake pointed. "About five kilometers that way. But there should be a couple of hovercarts parked here;
we'll take one of those."

"Does he have a cdlular? Can we phone him?"
"He s buried beneath a hundred meters of soil," said Jake. "Cell phones don’t work."

They hurried into the blockhouse.

Theo had walked a couple of hundred meters down the tunnd without finding anything that would help
him pry open the access door on the cryostat cluster. He glanced back; the cluster itself had disappeared
around the gentle curve of the ring. He was about to give up in defeat and head back to the monorail
when something caught his eye up ahead. It was somebody e se, working next to one of the sextupole
magnets. The person wasn't wearing ahardhat—aviolation of regulations, that. Theo thought about
caling out to him, but the acoustics were so bad in the tunnel he' d long ago learned not to bother trying
to shout over any distance. Well, it didn’t matter who it was, aslong as he had a more complete tool kit
than the one Theo had brought.

It took Theo another minute to get close to the man. He was working next to one of the air pumps; the
racket it made must have masked the sound of Theo approaching. Sitting on the tunnel floor wasa
hovercart, adisk about ameter and a hdf in diameter with two single chairs under a canopy. Hovercarts
had been devel oped for use on golf courses, they were much easier on the greens than old-fashioned
motorized carts.

Back in the old days, there were thousands of CERN employees whom Theo didn’t know on sight, but
now, with just afew hundred, he was surprised to see somebody he didn’t recognize.

"Hey, there," said Theo.

The man—athin white flow in hisfiftieswith white hair and dark gray eyes—swung around, clearly
dartled. He did have atoolkit with him, but—



He' d opened alarge access plate on the side of an air pump and had just finished inserting adevicein
there—

A devicethat looked like asmall, duminum suitcase with astring of glowing bluedigitsonitssde.

Glowing digitsthat were counting down.

30

A seriesof lockerslined onewall of the blockhouse. Jake hel ped himsdlf to ayelow hard hat, and
indicated that Moot should take one, too. There was an elevator insde, aswell asa staircase leading
down. Jake pushed the cal button for the elevator; they waited an interminable time for the cab to

appesr.

"Whoever brokein mugt gtill be down there," he said. " Otherwise, the eevator would have been waiting
at thetop."

"Couldn’'t he have taken the stairs?' asked Moot.

"l suppose, but it' sahundred meters—that’ sthe equivaent of thirty floorsin an office building. Even
going down, that' s exhausting.”

The elevator arrived and they got in. Jake pushed the button to activateit. Theride was frugtratingly
dow; it took afull minute to descend to the tunndl levd. Jake and Moot disembarked. Therewasa
hovercart parked here, and Jake started toward it. "Didn’t you say there should be two hovercarts
here?'

"That’swhat I’ d have expected, yes," said Jake.

Jake got into the hovercart’ s driver seat, and Moot took the passenger seat. He turned on the cart’s
headlights and activated its ground-effect fans. The cart floated up, and they headed counterclockwise
aong thetunnd, going asfast asthelittle vehicle could manage.

Along the way, the tunnd straightened out for adistance; it did that near dl four of the large detectors, to
avoid synchrotron radiation. In the middle of the straight section, they saw the giant, twenty-meter-tall
empty chamber that used to house the Compact Muon Solenoid detector with its 14,000-ton magnet. At
thetime it had been built, CM S had cost over ahundred million American dollars. After the devel opment
of the Tachyon-Tardyon Collider, CERN had put CMS, aswell as ALICE, which used toresidein a
smilar chamber at another point in the tunne ring, up for sale. The Nipponese government bought them
both for use at their KEK accelerator in Tsukaba. Michiko Komura had supervised the dismantling of the
massive machines here and their reassembly in her homeland. The sound of the hovercart’ s motors
echoed in the vast chamber, big enough to house asmal gpartment building.



"How much longer?" asked Moot.
"Not long," said Jake.

They continued on.

Theo looked at the man, who was gtill crouching in the tunnel in front of the air pump.”Mein Gott,” said
the man softly.

"You," said Theo, in French. "Who areyou?"
"Hello, Dr. Procopides,” said the man.

Theo relaxed. If the guy knew who he was, he couldn’t be an intruder. Besides, he looked vagudly
familiar.

The man looked back down the tunnel the way he' d come. And then he reached inside the dark leather
jacket he was wearing and pulled out agun.

Theo' sheart jumped. Of course, years ago, after young Helmut had mentioned a Glock 9-mm, Theo
had looked for a picture of one on the Web. The boxy semiautomatic weapon now facing him wasjust
such ahandgun; itsclip could hold up to fifteen rounds.

The man looked down at the pistal, asif he himsalf was surprised to seeit in his hand. Then he shrugged
dightly. "A little something | picked up in the States—they’ re SO much easier to come by over there" He
paused. "And, yes, | know what you' re thinking." He gestured at the aluminum suitcase with the blue
LED timer. "Y ou' re thinking maybe that'sabomb. And that’ s precisely what it is. | could have planted it
anywhere, | imagine, but | came aways adong the tunnel looking for aplaceto secreteit, lest someone
find it. Ingde this machine here seemed like a suitable spot.”

"What—" Theo was surprised at how hisvoice sounded. He swallowed, trying to get it back under
control. "What are you trying to accomplish?'

The man shrugged again. "1t should be obvious. I’ m trying to sabotage your particle accelerator.”
"But why?'

He gestured at Theo with the gun. ™Y ou don’t recognize me, do you?"'

"Youdo look familiar, but . . ."

"Y ou cameto vist mein Deutschland. One of my neighbors had contacted you; my vision had shown
me watching a newscast on videotape about your death.”

"Right," said Theo. "l remember." He couldn’t recall the man’ s name, but he did remember the meeting,
twenty years ago.

"And why was | watching that newscast? Why was the story about your death the one story on that
newscast that I’ d fast-forwarded ahead to see? Because | was checking to seeif they had any evidence



pointing to me. I’d never meant to kill anyone, but | will kill you if I haveto. It sonly fair, after dl. You
killed my wife"

Theo began to protest that he' d done no such thing, but then it cameto him. Y es, herecaled hisvist
with thisman. Hiswife had falen down the sairs at a subway station during the time-displacement event;
she' d broken her neck.

"There was no way we could have known what would happen—no way we could have prevented it."

"Of courseyou could have prevented it," snapped the man—Rusch, that was his name. It came back to
Theo: Wolfgang Rusch. "Of course you could have. Y ou had no business doing what you were doing.
Trying to reproduce conditions at the birth of the universe! Trying to force the handiwork of God out into
thelight of day. Curiosity, they say, killed the cat. But it wasyour curiosty—and it' smy wifewho's
dead.”

Theo didn’t know what to say. How do you explain science—the need, the quest—to someonewho is
obvioudy afanatic?"Look," said Theo, "where would the world be if we didn’t—"

"Youthink I'm crazy?' said Rusch. "Y ou think I’'m nuts?' He shook his head. "I’'m not nuts." He reached
into his back pocket and pulled out hiswallet. He fumbled with one hand to remove a yellow-and-blue
laminated card from it and showed it to Theo.

Theo looked at it. It was afaculty ID card for The Humboldt University. "Tenured professor,” said
Rusch. "Department of Chemistry. Ph.D. from the Sorbonne." That’ s right—back in 2009, the man had
said he taught chemistry. "If | had known your rolein al thisback then, | wouldn’'t have spoken to you.
But you came to see me before CERN had gone public with itsinvolvement.”

"And now you want to kill me?* said Theo. His heart was pounding so hard he thought it was going to
burst, and he could fed sweat breaking out al over hisbody. "That won't bring your wife back to life."

"Oh, yesit will," said Rusch.
Hewas mad. Dammit, why had Theo come down into the tunnel aone?

"Not your degth, of course,” said Rusch. "But what I’'m doing. Y es, it will bring Helenaback. It' sl
because of the Pauli exclusion principle.”

Theo didn’'t know what to say; the man wasraving. "What?'

"Wolfgang Pauli,” said Rusch, nodding. "1 like to tell my students | was named for him, but | was' t—I
was named for my father’ suncle” A pause. "Pauli’ sexclusion principle origindly just gpplied to
electrons. no two dectrons could smultaneoudy occupy the same energy state. Later, it was expanded to
include other subatomic particles”

Theo knew dl this. Hetried to hide his mounting panic. "So?'

"So | believe that the exclusion principle dso applies to the concept of now. All the evidenceisthere:
there can only be onenow —throughout al of human history, we have al agreed on what moment isthe
present. Never has there been amoment that some part of humanity thought was now, while another part
thought it was the past, and still another considered it to be in the future.”



Theo lifted his shoulders dightly, not following where thiswas going.

"Don’'t you get it?" asked Rusch. "Don't you see? When you shifted the consciousness of humanity
ahead twenty-one years—when you moved ‘now’ from 2009 to 2030—the' nowness' that should have
been experienced by the people in 2030 had to shift somewhere ese. The exclusion principle! Every
moment existsas ‘now’ for those frozen in it—you can’t superimpose the ‘now’ of 2009 on top of that
of 2030; the two nows cannot exist smultaneoudy. When you shifted the 2009 now forward, the 2030
now had to vacate that time. When | heard that you were going to be replicating the experiment again at
the exact timethe origina visons had portrayed, it al fell into place." He paused. "The Sanduleak
supernovawill oscillate for many decades or centuries to come—surely tomorrow’ s attempt won't be the
last. Do you think humanity’ staste for seeing the future will be sated with one more peek? Of course not.
We are ravenousin our desire. Since ancient times, no dream has been more seductive than that of
knowing the future. Every timeit is possible to shift the sense of now, we will do it—assuming your
experiment succeeds tomorrow.”

Theo glanced at the bomb. If he was reading the display properly, it had over fifty-five hours beforeit
would explode. Hewastrying to think clearly; he’ d had no ideajust how unnerving it could beto havea
gun amed at your heart. "So—so—what are you saying? That if there’ s no opening herein 2030 for the
consciousness of 2009 to jump into, then that first jump will never happen?!

"Exactiy!"

"But that’ s crazy. Thefirgt jump hasalready happened. We dl lived through it twenty-one years ago.

"Wedidn'tall livethroughit," said Rusch sharply.

"Wdll, no, but—"

"Yes, it happened. But I'm going to undo that. I’ m going to retroactively rewrite the last two decades.”

Theo didn’t want to argue with the man, but: "That’ snot possible.”

"Yes, itis. | know itis. Don't you see? |’ ve aready succeeded.”

"What?'

"What did everybody’ s visons have in common thefirgt time?' asked Rusch.

"l don't—"

"Leisure-time activities! The vast mgority of the population seemed to be having a holiday, a day-off.
And why? Because they’ d al been told to stay home from work that day, to stay safe and secure,
because CERN was going to attempt to replicate the time displacement. But something
happened—something caused that replication to be called off, too late for people to go back to work.
And so humanity got an unexpected holiday."

"It smorelikely that what we saw the first time was smply aversion of redity in which the precognition
event had never occurred.”

"Nonsense," said Rusch. "Sure, we saw some people at work—shopkeepers, street vendors, police,
and so on. But most businesses were closed, weren't they? Y ou’ ve heard the specul ation—that some



great holiday would exist on Wednesday, October 23, in 2030, celebrated acrossthe globe. A universal
disarmament day, maybe, or afirg-contact-with-aliens day. But now it is 2030, and you know aswell as
| do that no such holiday exists. Everyone was off work, preparing for atime displacement that didn’t
come. But they’ d hadsome advance warning that it wasn’t going to come—meaning the news story that
Large Hadron Collider had been damaged must have broken sometime earlier that day. Well, I’ ve got
my bomb set to go off two hours before the Sanduleak neutrinoswill arrive.”

"But if something like that wasin the news, surely someone would have seenit in their vison. Someone
would have reported it.”

"Who would be sitting home watching the news two hours into an unexpected holiday?' asked Rusch.
"No, I’'m sure the scenario | ve described is correct. | will succeed in disabling CERN; the consciousness
of 2030 Earth will stay put precisaly where it belongs, and the change will propagate backwards from
this point, back twenty-one years, rewriting history. My dear Helena, and dl the other people who died
because of your arrogance, will get to live again.”

"You can't kill me" said Theo. "And you can't keep me here for two days. People will noticelI’m
missing, and they’ll come down hereto look for me, and they’ll find your bomb and disarmit.”

"A good point,” said Rusch. Carefully keeping the Glock trained on Theo, he backed toward his bomb.
Heretrieved it fromingdethe air pump, lifting it up by its suitcase handle. He must have noted Theo's
expression. "Don’'t worry," said Rusch. "It snot delicate.” He placed the bomb on the tunndl floor and
did something to the counter mechanism. Then he turned the case S0 that the long side was facing toward
Theo. Theo looked down at the timer. 1t was still counting down, but now said 59 minutes, 56 seconds.

"The bomb will go off in one hour," said Rusch. "It searlier than | planned, and with this much advanced
notice, we' re probably chegating people out of their holiday the day after tomorrow, but the gross effect
will be the same. Aslong asthe damage to the tunnel will take more than two daysto repair, Der
Zwischenfall will not bereplicated." He paused. "Now, let’syou and | start walking. I’ m not going to
trust mysdf on ahovercart with you or—I imagine you took the monorail, no? Well, wewon't. But inan
hour, we can walk sufficiently far dong the tunnel that neither of uswill be hurt." He gestured with the
gun. "Solet’sget going.”

They began to walk counterclockwise—toward the monorail—but before they’ d gotten morethan a
dozen meters, Theo became conscious of afaint whine behind them. He turned around, and so did
Rusch. Just rounding the curve of the tunnel off in the distance was another hovercart.

"Damnit," said Rusch. "Who' sthat?'

Jake Horowitz' sred-and-gray hair was easy enough to make out, even at this distance, but the other
person—

God! It looked like—

It was. Detective Helmut Drescher of Geneval sfinest.

"I don’t know," said Theo, pretending to squint.

The hovercart was rapidly approaching. Rusch looked left and right. There was so much equipment

mounted on the Sdes of the tunnd wall that, with some advance warning, one could easily find cranniesin
which to hide. Rusch left the bomb at the side of the tunnel and started to retreat away from the



approaching cart. But it wastoo late. Jake was clearly pointing at them. Rusch closed the distance
between himself and Theo, and jabbed the pistal into Theo' sribs. Theo had never known his heart to
beet sofagt in hislife.

Drescher had his own gun drawn as the hovercart settled to the tunnel floor about five meters away from
Rusch and Theo.

"Who areyou?' said Jake to Rusch.
"Careful!" blurted Theo. "He' sgot agun.”

Rusch looked panicked. A little bomb-planting was one thing, but hostage taking and potential murder
was another. Still he jerked the Glock into Theo'ssSde again. "That'sright," said Rusch. " So back off."

Moot was now standing with legs soread for maximum stability, holding his own gun in both hands aimed
directly at Rusch's heart. "I’m apolice officer,” said Moot. "Drop your wespon.”

"Nein."

Moot s tone was absolutely even. "Drop your weagpon or | will shoot.”

Rusch's eyes darted left and right. "If you shoot, Dr. Procopides dies.”

Theo'smind wasracing. Had it gone down like this the first time? Rusch would have to shoot him not
once, but three times, to match the vision. In astandoff like this, he might get one bullet into Theo's
chest—not that it would take more—but surely as soon as he pulled the trigger the first time, Moot
would blow Rusch away.

"Back off," said Rusch. "Back off!"

Jake looked asterrified as Theo ft, but Moot stood his ground. " Drop your wegpon. Y ou are under
ares."

Rusch'’ s panic seemed to abate for amoment, asif he was smply stunned by the charge. If heredly
were just auniversity professor, he’ d probably never been in trouble with the law hiswholelife. But then
he brightened somewhat. "Y ou can’'t arrest me."

"Thehdl | can’'t,” said Moot.

"What police force are you with?"'

"Genevd s

Rusch actualy managed asmadl, panicked laugh. He jabbed Theo with the gun again. " Tell him where
weae."

Theo' singdes were churning. He didn’t understand the question. "'In the Large Hadron—"
Rusch jabbed again. "The country.”

Theo felt hisheart sinking. "Oh." Damn. God damnit. "We' rein France," he said. "The border goes right



across the tunnd .

"S0," said Rusch, looking at Moot, "you' ve got no jurisdiction here; Switzerland isn't an E.U. member. If
you shoot me outside of your jurisdiction, that’s murder.”

Moot seemed to hesitate for amoment; the gun in his hand wavered. But then he brought it back to bear
directly on Rusch’s heart. "I will dedl with whatever legditiesthere are after thefact,” said Moot. "Drop
your weapon now or | will shoot.”

Rusch was standing so close to Theo that Theo could fed his breathing—rapid, shallow. The guy might
hyperventilate.

"All right,"” said Rusch. "All right." He took astep away from Theo and—
Kablam!

The report echoing in the tunnel.

Theo's heart scopping—

—but only for a second.

Rusch’s mouth had gonewidein horror, in terror, in fear—

—at the redlization of what he'd done—

—as Moot Drescher staggered backward, tumbled and fell, landing on his back, dropping hisgun, a
growing pool of blood spreading across his shoulder.

"Oh my God!" shouted Jake, "Oh my God!" He surged forward, scrambling for Drescher’ s weapon.

Rusch looked absolutely dazed. Theo grabbed him from behind, putting his neck in achoke hold, and
bringing hisknee up into the smal of Rusch’s back. With his other hand, he tried to wrest the hat,
smoking gun from Rusch.

Jake now had Drescher’ sgun. Hetried to aim it at the combined form of Theo and Rusch, but his hands
were shaking violently. Theo wrenched Rusch’sarm and he dropped his gun. Theo dived out of theway,
and Jeke squeezed off ashot. But in hisinexperienced, trembling hands, the bullet went wild, smashing
into afluorescent lighting tube overhead, which exploded in ashower of sparks and glass. Rusch was
scrambling for his dropped gun, too. Neither he nor Theo seemed to be ableto get agrip onit, and
findly Theo kicked it from Rusch’s grabbing hand. It skittered a dozen meters counterclockwise down
thetunnd.

Theo had no weapon, and neither now did Rusch. Drescher was surrounded by alake of blood, but
seemed to be il dlive; his chest was heaving. Jake tried another shot but it again missed its mark.

Rusch was only halfway to hisfeet before he started running after the Glock. Theo, redizing he' d never
overtake him, decided to go the other way. "He' s got abomb," he shouted as he passed Jake. "Help
Moot!"

Jake nodded. Rusch had now recovered his own gun, and had turned around and was running, wespon



held in front of him, toward Jake, Moot, and the retreating Theo.

Theo was running for al he wasworth, footfalls echoing loudly in the tunnel. Up ahead was the duminum
suitcase containing the bomb. He stole a glance over his shoulder. Jake, till holding Moot’ s gun, had
gone to hisknees next to the cop. Rusch passed them, keeping his own gun trained on Jake, preventing
him from squeezing off another shot. Rusch turned around, running backward, keeping his wegpon on
Jake until he was out of Jake' s shaky range. He then turned again and continued pursuing Theo.

Theo reached the bomb, scooping it up with one hand, and then—

He got onto Rusch’ s hovercart, and dammed hisfoot against the activator pedal. Theo looked back as
the cart started to speed away clockwise.

Rusch doubled back. Jake, apparently assuming Rusch had gone, had set down Moot’ s gun and was
pulling his own shirt off over hishead, some buttons, still done up—clearly, hewanted to useit asa
pressure bandage to stanch the flow of blood out of Moot’ s body. Rusch had no trouble getting into the
hovercart that had brought Jake and Moot to the scene, and he took off after Theo.

Theo had agood |ead as he careened dong the tunnd. But it was hardly straight-line flying—not only did
the curve of the tunnd have to be negotiated, but so did al the giant pieces of equipment that jutted out

willy-nilly dongitslength.

Theo glanced at the bomb’ s display: 41 minutes, 18 seconds. He hoped Rusch had been telling the truth
when he said the explosives weren't fragile. There were a series of unlabeled buttons attached to the
display—no way to tell which ones might reset the timer to a higher value, and which ones might cause
the bomb to explode immediately. But if he could makeit to the access sation and get up to the surface,
there would be plenty of time to abandon the bomb in the middle of one of thefarmers fields.

Theo' s cart had a decided wobble—he was doubtless pushing it faster than its gyros could redlly ded
with. He glanced behind himsdlf again. At first, he began to breathe asigh of relief—Rusch was nowhere
to be seen—but after a second the pursuing cart appeared around the curving wall of the tunndl.

Darkness up ahead; Theo had only activated the roof lighting for atiny arc of the tunnel’ s circumference.
He hoped Jake had managed to stabilize Moot. Damn—he probably shouldn’t have taken the hovercart;
surely the need to get Moot to the surface was more important than protecting the equipment in the
tunndl. He hoped Jake would redize that the monorail must be nearby.

Shit! Theo' s cart touched the outer wall of the tunnel and started spinning around, its headlight beams
cutting swaths through the darkness. He fought with the joystick that controlled the cart, trying to get it to
keep from crashing into anything else. He got it going back in the right direction, but now Rusch's cart
was about halfway down the visible part of the tunnel, instead of &t itsfar end.

The hovercart wasn't going fast enough to make ared breeze, but it nonethelessfelt like breakneck
gpeed. Rusch il had the Glock, of course—but ahovercart wasn't like acar; you couldn’t shoot out
thetiresin hopes of bringing it to ahalt. The only sure way to stop such avehicle wasto shoot the driver;
Theo had to keep pressure on the accelerator pedal for it to continue to move.

Theo kept rocking his cart left and right and raising and lowering it as much as he could in the cramped
tunnd; if Rusch wastrying to get abead on him from the rear, he wanted to make himsdlf adifficult
target.



He checked the markers on the gently curving wall; the tunnd was divided into eight octants of about
three and ahaf kilometers each, and each octant was subdivided into thirty-odd sections of a hundred
meters gpiece. According to the signage, he wasin octant three, section twenty-two. The access station
was at octant four, section thirty-three. He might just make it—

Animpact!
A shower of sparks.
The sounds of metd ripping.

Dammit, he wasn't paying enough attention; the hovercart had banged against one of the cryogenics
units. It had amost flipped over, which would have dropped Theo and the bomb down onto the floor.
Theo fought again with the controls, desperately trying to stabilize the cart. A furtive glance back
confirmed hisfears: the collison had dowed him down enough that Rusch was now only about fifty
meters back. He' d have to be ahdll of agood shot to take Theo out at this distance in the dark, but if he
got much closer . ..

The tunnel was congtricted up ahead by more equipment; Theo had to drop the cart to only afew
centimeters off the floor, but his control of the vehicle at its current speed was poor—the cart skittered
across the flooring like astone being skipped across alake.

Another glance at the bomb’ s timing mechanism, the digits glowing bright bluein thedim light.
Thirty-saven minutes.

Blam!

The bullet zipped past Theo; heingtinctively ducked. It hit some metd fittings up aheed, illuminating the
tunnd with sparks.

Theo hoped Jake and Moot had come down the elevator at the access station. If the car was up at the
top, there was no way Theo could wait for it, and he' d have to try to make it up the numerous stairs
before Rusch could get abead on him.

Theo swerved again, thistime to avoid a bracket supporting the beam pipe. He glanced back. Damn,
but Rusch’s cart must have had afuller chargeto its batteries; he was now quite close.

The curving tunnel wall continued to pass by, and—yes, by God, there it was! The access station staging
area. But—

But Rusch was too close now—much too close. If Theo stopped his cart here, Rusch would blow him
away. Dammit, dammit, dammit.

Theo fdt hisheart Sink as he passed the access ation. He turned around in his chair and watched it
receding from view. Rusch, evidently deciding that he didn’t want to chase Theo dl the way around the
tunnel, took another shot. Thisonedid hit the hovercart, its metal body vibrating in response.

Theo urged the cart to go faster. He remembered the old golf carts CERN used to have for traveling
short distancesin the tunnel. He missed those; at |east they weren't congtantly in danger of flipping over

at high speeds.



They continued on, farther and farther, swinging around the tunnel, and—

A great crashing sound from the rear. Theo looked back. Rusch’s cart had smashed into the outside
wall. It had cometo adead stop. Theo let out asmall cheer.

He figured they’ d gone about saeventeen kilometers now—soon the staging areafor the campus monorail
station would be swinging into view. He might be able to get out there and take the elevator straight up
into the LHC control center. He hoped he' d see the monorail parked back there, meaning Jake and
Moot had madeit to safety, and—

God damn it! His hovercart was dying, its battery exhausted. It had probably sounded an alarm earlier,
but Theo had been unable to hear it over the noise the overtaxed engines were making. The cart dropped
to the tunnd floor, skidding a distance adong its concrete surface before coming to adead halt. Theo
grabbed the bomb and began to run. As ateenager, Theo had once participated in are-creation of the
run from Marathon to Athens made in 490 B.C. to announce aHdlenic victory over the Persans—but
he' d been thirty years younger then. His heart was pounding now as hetried to go faster.

Kablam!

Another gunshot. Rusch must have gotten his cart going again. Theo kept running, hislegs pounding, at
least in hismind, like pistons. There, ahead, was the main campus staging area, ahaf dozen hovercarts
parked dong itswall. Only another twenty meters—

He glanced back. Rusch was closing rapidly. Christ, he couldn’t stop here, either—Rusch would pick
him off like agitting duck.

Theo forced hisbody to makeit the last few meters, and—
The chase continued.

He tumbled into another hovercart and sent himsdlf careening once more down the tunnel, till heading
clockwise. Helooked back. Rusch dumped his own hovercart, presumably worried about its batteries,
and trandferred to afresh one. He headed off in hot pursuit.

Theo glanced at the bomb’ stimer. Only twenty minutes|eft, but for once Theo seemed to have a decent
lead. And, because of that, he actually stopped to think for amoment. Could Rusch possibly beright?
Could there be a chance to undo dl the damage, al the death that had occurred twenty-one years ago? If
there had never been visons, Rusch’ swife might gtill be dive; Michiko's daughter Tamiko might still be
dive Theo'sbrother Dimitrios might dill bedive.

But, of course, no one conceived after the visons—no one born in the last twenty years—would be the
same. Which sperm penetrated an egg was dependent on athousand details; if the world unfolded
differently, if women got pregnant on different days, or even different seconds, their children would be
different. There were—what?—something like four billion people who had been born in the last two
decades. Evenif he could rewrite history, did he have any right to do so? Didn’'t those billions deserve
the rest of their allotted three score and ten, rather than to be smply snuffed out, not even killed but
completely expunged from the timeineg?

Theo's cart continued its journey around the tunndl. He glanced back; Rusch was emerging in the
distance from behind the curve.



No. No, hewouldn’t change the past even if he could. And besides, hedidn’t really believe Rusch. Yes,
the future could be changed. But the past? No, thathad to be fixed. Upon that much he' d dways agreed
with Lloyd Simcoe. What this Rusch was saying was crazy.

Another gunshot! The bullet missed him, impacting the tunnel wall up ahead. But there would doubtless
be more, if Rusch realized where Theo was headed—

Another kilometer dipped by. The bomb’stimer now read just eeven minutes. Theo looked at the wall
markings, trying to make them out in the dim light of his headlights. It had to be just ahead, and—

Thereit wasl Just where he'd left it!

The monorail, hanging from the celling. If he could make it there—

A new shot rang out. Thisone did hit the hovercart, and Theo aimost lost control of the vehicle again.
The monorail was still ahundred meters ahead. Theo fought with the joystick again, swearing &t the cart,
demanding it go faster, faster—

The monorail had five components—a cab at each end, and three carsin the middle. He had to make it
to thefar cab; the train would only move in the direction it thought of asforward.

Almogt there—

Hedidn't dow the hovercart gently; instead, he just dammed the brake. The vehicle pitched forward,
Theo being tossed with it. It smashed onto the tunnel floor, skidding aong, sparksflying. Theo got out,
grabbing the bomb, and—

Y et another shot and—

God!

A shower of Theo's own blood splashing against hisface—

More pain than he'd ever felt in hislife—

A bullet tearing into hisright shoulder.

God—

He dropped the bomb, scrambled for it again with hisleft hand, and staggered into the monorail’ s cab.
The pain—incredible pain—

He hit the monorall’ s start button.

Its headlights, mounted above the angled windscreen, sngpped on, illuminating the tunndl ahead. After
the dimness of thelagt haf hour, thelight was painfully bright.

The monorail heaved into motion, whining asit did so. Theo pushed the speed control; the train moved
faster and faster till.



Theo thought he was going to black out from the pain. He looked back. Rusch was negotiating his cart
past Theo' s abandoned one. The monorail used magnetic levitation; it was capable of very high speeds.
Of course, no one had ever tested its maximum velocity in the tunnel—

Until now.

The bomb’sdisplay said eight minutes.

Another bullet rang out, but it missed its mark. Theo glanced back just intimeto see Rusch’'s cart fall
back around the curve of the tunnel.

Theo leaned his head out the side of the cab; therewaswind in hisface. "Comeon," hesaid. "Comeon .

Thetunnd’s curving wallsflashed by. The mag-lev generators hummed loudly.

There they were: Jake and Moot, the physicist attending to the cop, who was now sitting up, mercifully
dive. Theo waved a them as the monorail zoomed past.

Kilometers passed, and then—
Sixty seconds.

He' d never make it to the far access station, never makeit to the surface. Maybe he should just drop the
bomb; yes, it would disable the LHC no matter where it exploded, but—

No.

No, he had come too far—and he had no fatd flaw; his downfall was not preordained.
If only—

Helooked a the timer again, then a the wall markings.
Yed

Yes Hemight just makeit!

He urged the train to go even fagter.

And then—

The tunnd straightened ouit.

He hit the emergency brake.

Another shower of sparks.

Metal againgt metd.

His head whipping forward—



Agony in his shoulder—

He clambered out of the cramped cab and staggered away from the monorail.

Forty-five seconds—

Staggered afew metersfarther dong the tunnel—

To the entrance to the huge, empty, six-story-tall chamber that had once housed the CM S detector.
Heforced himself to go on, into the chamber, placing the bomb in the center of the vast empty space.
Thirty seconds.

He turned around, ran asfast as he could, appalled to see the river of blood he' d left on hisway in—
Back out to the monorail—

Fifteen seconds.

Clambering back into the cab, hitting the accel erator—

Ten seconds.

Zipping dong the roof-mounted track—

Five seconds.

Around the curve of the tunne—

Four seconds.

Almost unconscious from the pain—

Three seconds.

Urging thetrainto go faster.

Two seconds.

Covering his head with his hands, his shoulder protesting violently as helifted hisright arm—

One second.

Wondering briefly what the future held—

Zexo!

Ka-boom!



The exploson echoingin thetunnel.

A flash of light from behind sending a huge shadow of the monorall’ sinsectoid form onto the curving
tunnd wall—

And then—

Glorious, hedling darkness, the train speeding on as Theo collgpsed against the tiny dashboard.

Two days later.

Theo wasin the LHC control room. It was crowded, but not with scientists or engineers—almost
everything was automated. Still, dozens of reporters were present, al of them were lying on the floor.
Jake Horowitz wasthere, of course, aswere Theo's own special guests, Detective Helmut Drescher, his
shoulder in ading, and Moot’ s young wife.

Theo started the countdown, then aso lay down on thefloor, waiting for it to happen.

31

Lloyd Simcoe often thought of his seven-year-old daughter, Joan, who now lived in Nippon. Of course,
they talked every couple of days by video phone, and Lloyd tried to convince himsdlf that seeing and
hearing her was as good as hugging her, and bouncing her on hisknee, and holding her hand asthey
wa ked through parks, and wiping her tears when she fell down and skinned her knee.

Heloved her enormoudy and was proud of her beyond words. True, despite her occidental name, she
looked nothing like him; her features were completely Asan. Indeed, more than anything, shelooked like
poor Tamiko, the half-sister she would never know. But externals didn’t matter; half of what Joan was
had come from Lloyd. More than his Nobel Prize, more than al the papers he had authored or
co-authored, more than anything e se,she was hisimmortdity.

And even though she came from amarriage that hadn’t lasted, Joan was doing just fine. Oh, LIoyd had
no doubt that sometimes she wished her mommy and daddy were till together. Still, Joan had attended
Lloyd swedding to Doreen, capturing everyone s hearts as flower girl for the woman who would soon
be her stepmother.

Stepmother. Half-sster. Ex-wife. Ex-husband. New wife. Permutations; the panoply of human
interactions, of waysto congtitute afamily. Hardly anyone got married in abig ceremony anymore, but
Lloyd had ingsted. The lawsin most states and provincesin North Americasaid if two adultslived
together for sufficient time, they were married, and if they ceased living together, they ceased to be
married. Clean and smple, no muss, no fuss—and none of the pain that LIoyd' s parents had gone



through, none of the histrionics and suffering that he and Dolly had watched, wide-eyed, stunned by it al,
their world crumbling around them.

But Lloyd had wanted the ceremony; he had forgone so much because of hisfear of creating another
broken home—aterm, he’ d noted, that his latest Merriam-Webster flagged as"archaic." Hewas
determined never to be daunted by that—Dby the past—again. And so he and Doreen had tied one on as
they tied the knot—a great party, everyone had said, anight to remember, full of dancing and singing and
laughter and love,

Doreen had been past menopause by the time she and Lloyd got together. Of course there were
procedures now, and techniques, and had she wanted a child she could ill have had one. Lloyd was
more than willing; he was afather aready, but he surely wouldn't deny her the chance to be amother.
But Doreen had declined. She had been content with her life before meeting LIoyd, and enjoyed it even
more now that they were together—but she didn’t crave children, didn’t seek immortality.

Now that LIoyd had retired, they spent alot of time at the cottage in Vermont. Of course, both of their
visons had placed them there on thisday. They’ d laughed asthey furnished the bedroom, making it look
exactly asit had when they’ d first seenit, precisely positioning the old particle-board night table and
knotty-pinewal mirror.

And now Lloyd and Doreen were lying Side by sidein their bed; she was even wearing a navy-blue
Tilley work shirt. Through the window, trees dressed in gloriousfall colorswerevisible. They had their
fingersintertwined. The radio was on, counting down to the arrival of the Sanduleak neutrinos.

Lloyd smiled at Doreen. They’ d been married now for five years. He supposed, being the child of
divorce and now being himself once divorced, that he shouldn’t be thinking naive thoughts about being
together with Doreen forever, but nonethel ess he found himsalf constantly fedling that way. Lloyd and
Michiko had been a good fit, but he and Doreen were aperfect one. Doreen had been married once
before, but it had ended more than twenty years ago. She had assumed she’ d never marry again, and had
been getting onwith asinglelife.

And then she and Lloyd had met, him a Nobd-Prizewinning physicist, and her a painter, two completely
different worlds, more different in many ways than Michiko’ s Nippon was from Lloyd' s North America,

and yet they had hit it off beautifully, and love had blossomed between them, and now he divided hislife

into two parts, before Doreen and after.

The voice on the radio was counting down. "Ten seconds. Nine. Eight.”

Helooked at her and smiled, and she smiled back at him.

"Six. Five. Four."

Lloyd wondered what he would see in the future, but of one thing he had no doubt, no doubt
whatsoever.

"“Two! Onel"
Whatever the future held, Doreen and he would be together, always.

Zero!



Lloyd saw abrief ill frame of him and Doreen, much older, older than he would have thought it
possible for them to be, and then—

Surely they didn't die. Surely he would be seeing nothing if his consciousness had ceased to be.

His body might have faded away but—aquick glimpse, aflash of animage. . .

A new body, dl slver and gold, smooth and shiny . . .

An android body? A robot form for his human consciousness?

Or avirtua body, nothing more—or less—than arepresentation of what he was insgde a computer?
Lloyd' s perspective shifted.

He was now looking down on Earth, from hundreds of kilometers up. White clouds till swirled over it,
and sunlight reflected off the vast oceans. . .

Except . . .

Except, in the one brief moment during which he was perceiving this, he thought perhaps that those
weren't oceans, but rather the continent of North America, glinting, its surface covered over with a
spiderwork of meta and machinery, the whole planet literaly having become the World Wide Web.
And then his perspective changed again, but once more he glimpsed Earth, or what he' d thought might
have been Earth. Yes, yes, surely it was, for there was the moon, rising over itslimb. But the Pacific
ocean was smdller, covering only athird of the face he was seeing, and the west coast of North America
hed changed radicaly.

Time was whipping by; the continents had had millenniaenough to drift to new locations.

And il he skimmed aheed . . .

He saw the moon spirding farther and farther away from the Earth, and then—

It seemed instantaneous, but perhaps it had taken thousands of years—

Themoon crumbling to nothing.

Another shift ...

And the Earth itsdfreducing, shrinking, being whittled away, growing smdler, apebble, and then—
The sun again, but—

Incredible. . .

The sun was now haf-encased in ameta sphere, capturing every photon of energy that fell uponit. The
Moon and Earth hadn’t crumbled—they had beendismantled. Raw materids.



Lloyd continued hisjourney ahead. He sav—

Yes, it had been inevitable; yes, he' d read about it countless years ago, but he' d never thought he would
liveto seeit.

The Milky Way gdaxy, the pinwhed of starsthat humanity caled home, colliding with Andromeda, its
larger neighbor, the two pinwhed sintersecting, interstellar gas aglow.

And gill hetraveled on, ahead, into the future.

It was nothing likethefirst time—but then what in life ever is?

Thefirst time the visions had occurred, the switch from the present to the future had seemed
instantaneous. Bt if it took a hundred thousandth of a second, who would have noticed? And if that
hundred thousandth of a second had been alotted as 0.00005 seconds per year jumped ahead, again,
who would have been aware of that? But 0.00005 seconds times eightbillion years added up to
something over an hour—an hour spent skimming, gliding over vidas of time, never quitelockingin,
never quite materidizing, never quite displacing the proper consciousness of the moment, and yet sensing,
perceiving, seeing it dl unfold, watching the universe grow and change, experiencing the evolution of
humanity step by step from childhood into. . .

... into whatever it was destined to become.

Of course Lloyd wasn't redly traveling at dl. He was Hill firmly in New England, and he had no more
control over what he was seeing or what his replacement body was doing than he' d had during hisfirst
vision. The perspective shifts were doubtless due to the repositioning of whatever he' d become asthe
millenniawent by. There must have been some sort of persistence of memory, andogousto the
persistence of vision that made watching movies possible. Surely he was touching each of these timesfor
only the most flegting moment; his consciousnesslooking to seeif that dice through the cube was
occupied, and, when it discovered that it was, something like the exclusion principle—Theo had emailed
him al about Rusch and his apparent ravings—barring it from taking up residence there, speeding
onward, forward, farther and farther into the future.

Lloyd was surprised that he till had individudity; he would have thought that if humanity wereto survive
at dl for millions of years surely it would be as alinked, collective consciousness. But he heard no other
voicesin hismind; asfar ashe could tell, he was till aunique separate entity, evenif thefrail physica
body that had once encapsulated him had long since ceased to exist.

He d seen the Dyson sphere haf-encasing the sun, meaning humanity would one day command fantastic
technology, but, as yet, he' d seen no evidence of any intelligence beyond that of humans.

And thenit hit him: aflash of ingght. What was happening meant there was no other intdlligent life
anywhere—not on any of the planets of the two hundred billion stars that made up the Milky Way,
or—he stopped to correct himsa f—the six hundred billion stars comprising the currently combined
supergdaxy formed by the intersection of the smdler Milky Way with larger Andromeda. And not on any
of the planets of any of the stars in the countless billion other galaxies that made up the universe.



Surdly dl consciousness everywhere had to agree on what congtituted "now." 1f human consciousness
was bouncing around, shifting, didn’t that mean that there must be no other consciousnessin existence,
no other group vying for the right to assert which particular moment congtituted the present?

Inwhich case, humanity was staggeringly, overwhemingly, unrelentingly alonein dl the vast dark
cosmos, the sole spark of sentience ever to arise. Life had proceeded on Earth very happily for four
billion years before thefirst stirrings of self-awareness, and till, by 2030, no one had managed to
duplicate that sentience in amachine. Being conscious, being aware that that was then and thisis now and
that tomorrow is another day, was an incredible fluke, a happenstance, afreak occurrence never before
or snce duplicated in the higtory of the universe.

And perhaps that explained the incredible failure of nervethat Lloyd had observed time and again. Even
by 2030, humanity still hadn't ventured beyond the Moon; no one had gone on to Marsin the Sixty-one
years since Armatrong’ s small step, and there didn’t seem to be any plansin the works to accomplish
that. Mars, of course, could get asfar from Earth as 377 million kilometers when the two worlds were on
opposite sides of the sun. A human mind on Mars under those circumstances would be twenty-one
light-minutes away from the other human minds on Earth. Even people standing right beside each other
were separated somewhat in time—seeing each other not asthey are but asthey were atrillionth of a
second earlier. Y es, some degree of desynchronization was clearly tolerable, but it must have an upper
limit. Perhaps sixteen light-minutes was still acceptabl e—the separation between two people on the
opposite Sdes of aDyson sphere built at the radius of Earth’ s orbit—but twenty-one light minutes was
too much. Or perhaps even sixteen exceeded what was alowable for conscious beings. Humanity had
doubtless built the Dyson sphere Lloyd had observed—in so doing waling itself off from the empty,
lonely vastness on the outside—but perhapsits entire inner surface was not populated. People might
occupy only one portion of its surface. A Dyson sphere, after al, had asurface areamillions of timesthat
of planet Earth; even using atenth of the territory it afforded would still give humanity orders of magnitude
more land than it had ever known before. The sphere might harvest every photon put out by the central
sar, but humanity perhaps did not roam over its entire surface.

Lloyd—or whatever Lloyd had become—found himsdf pushing farther and farther ahead into the future.
Theimages kept changing.

He thought about what Michiko had said: Frank Tipler and histheory that everyone who ever was, or
ever could be, would be resurrected at the Omega Point to live again. The physics of immortality.

But Tipler' stheory was based on an assumption that the universe was closed, that it had sufficient mass
so that its own gravitationa attraction would eventualy cause everything to collapse back down into a
singularity. Asthe eons sped by, it became clear that wasn’t going to happen. Y es, the Milky Way and
its nearest neighbor had collided, but even whole galaxies were minuscule on the scale of an
ever-expanding universe. The expanson might dow to dmost nothing, asymptoticaly approaching zero,
but it would never stop. There would never be an omega point. And there would never be another
universe. Thiswasit, the one and only iteration of space and time.

Of course, by now, even the star enclosed by the Dyson sphere had doubtless given up the ghost; if
twenty-first-century astronomers were correct, Earth’ s sun would have expanded into ared giant,
engulfing the shell around it. Humanity had surely had billions of years of warning, though, and had
doubtless moved—enmasse, if that’ swhat the physics of consciousness required—somewhere else.

At least, thought Lloyd, he hoped they had. He still felt disconnected from dl that was playing out in
individud illuminated frames. Maybe humanity had been snuffed out whenitssun died.



But he—whatever he' d become—was somehow 4ill dive, il thinking, till feding.
There had to be someone elseto share al thiswith.
Unless—

Unlessthiswas the universe sway of sealing the unexpected rift caused by Sanduleak’ s neutrinos
showering down on are-creation of the first moments of existence.

Wipe out dl extraneous life. Just leave one qualified observer—one omniscient form, looking down, on

—on everything, deciding redlity by its observations, locking in one steadynow, moving forward at the
inexorable rate of one second per second.

Agod...
But of an empty, lifdess, unthinking universe.

Finally, the skimming through time came to an end. He' d arrived at his destination, at the opening up; the
consciousness of thisfar distant year—if the word year had any meaning anymore, the planet whose orbit
it measured having long since disappeared—having vacated for even more remote reams, leaving ahole
herefor him to occupy.

Of course the universe was open. Of course it went on forever. The only way consciousness from the
past could keep legpfrogging ahead was if there was always some more-distant point for the present’s
consciousness to moveinto; if the universe was closed, the time displacement would never have
occurred. It had to be an unending chain.

And before him now—
Before him now wasthefar, far future.

When he' d been young, LlIoyd had read H. G. Wells sThe Time Machine. And he' d been haunted by it
for years. Not by theworld of the Eloi and the Morlocks, even as ateenager, he' d recognized that as
alegory, amordity play about the class structure of Victorian England. No, that world of A.D. 802,701
had made little impression on him. But Wdlls stime traveler had made another journey in the book,
legping millions of years ahead to the twilight of the world, when tidal forces had dowed the Earth’sspin
down so that it dways kept the same face toward the sun, bloated and red, abaeful eye upon the
horizon, while crab-like things moved dowly dong a beach.

But what was before him now seemed even more bleak. The sky was dim—stars having receded so far
from each other that only afew were visble. The only bit of lovelinesswas that these sars, rich in metas
forged in the generations of sunsthat had come and gone before them, glowed with colors never seenin
the young universe L1oyd had once known: emerald green stars, and purple stars, and turquoise stars,
like gemgtones across the velvet firmament.

And now that he was at his destination, LIoyd still had no control over his synthetic body; hewasa
passenger behind glass eyes.



Yes, hewas dtill solid, still had physical form. He could now and again see what gppeared to be hisarm,

perfect, unblemished, morelikeliquid metd than anything biological, moving in and out of hisfidd of
view. Hewas on a planetary surface, avast plain of white powder that might have been snow and might
have been pulverized rock and might have been something wholly unknown to the feeble science of
billions of years past. There was no Sgn of buildings; if one had an indestructible body, perhaps one
didn’'t need or desire shelter. The planet couldn’t be Earth—it was |ong since gone—but the gravity felt
no different. He wasn't conscious of any sméll, but there were sounds—strange, ethereal sounds,
something between asighing zephyr and woodwind music.

Hefound hisfield of view shifting as he turned around. No, no, that wasn't it—he wasn't actudly
turning; rather, he was smply diverting his attention to another set of inputs, eyesin the back of hishead.
Wéll, why not? If you were going to manufacture abody, you'’ d certainly address the shortcomings of the
origind.

Andin hisnew field of vision, there was another figure, another encapsulation of a human essence. To
his surprise, the face was not stylized, not asmple ovoid. Rather it had intricate, ddlicately carved
features, and if Lloyd' s body seemed to be made of liquid metal, this other’ swas flowing green marble,
veined and polished and beautiful, astatue incarnate.

There was nothing feminine—or masculine—about the form, but he knew in an ingtant who it must be.
Doreen, of course—hiswife, his beloved, the one he wanted to spend eternity with.

But then he studied the face, the carved features, the eyes—
The amond-shaped eyes. . .

And then—

Lloyd had been lying down in bed when the experiment was replicated, hiswife by his sde—no way
they could hurt themsalves or each other when they blacked out.

"That wasincredible," said Lloyd, when it was over. "Absolutely incredible.”

He turned his head, sought out Doreen’ s hand, and looked at her.

"What did you see?"' he asked.

She used her other hand to shut off the radio. He saw that it was trembling. "Nothing," she said.
Hisheart sank. "Nothing? No vison at dl?

She shook her head.

"Oh, honey," hesaid, "I’'m so sorry.”

"How far ahead was your vison?' she asked. She must have been wondering how long she had | ft.

Lloyd didn’t know how to put it in words. "I’'m not sure," he said. It had been an amazing ride—but it
was crushing to think that Doreen would not liveto seeit dl, too.



Shetried to sound brave. "I’m an old woman," she said. "'l thought maybe I’ d have another twenty or
thirty years, but. . ." Shetrailed off.

"I'msureyou will," said Lloyd, trying to sound certain. "I’'m sure you will."

"Butyou had avison..." shesad.

Lloyd nodded. "But it was—it was along time from now."

"TV on," said Doreen into the air; her voice was anxious. "ABC."

One of the paintings on the wall became a TV screen. Doreen propped her head up to seeiit better.
"—great disappointment,” said the newscaster, awhite woman of about forty. " So far, no one has
actualy reported having avison thistime out. Thereplication of the experiment at CERN seemed to
work, but no one here at ABC News, nor anyone else who has caled in to us, has reported having a
vison. Everyone seemed to just black out for—early estimates have it that perhaps as much as an hour
passed while people were unconscious. As he has been throughout the day, Jacob Horowitz isjoining us
from CERN; Dr. Horowitz was part of the team that produced the first time-displacement phenomenon
twenty years ago. Doctor, what does this mean?’

Jake lifted his shoulders. "Wéll, assuming atime displacement did occur—and we don't know that for
sureyet, of course—it must have been to atime far enough in the future that everyone currently aive
is—waell, there' sno nice way to put it, isthere? Everyone currently alive must be deed at that point. If the
displacement was, say, ahundred and fifty years, | suppose that’ s no surprise, but—"

"Mute," said Doreen, from the bed. "But you had avision,” she said to her husband. "Wasit asmuch as
ahundred and fifty years ahead?'

Lloyd shook hishead. "More," he said softly. "Much more."
"How much?'
"Millions" hesad. "Billions."

Doreen made asmall laugh. "Oh, come on, dear! It must have been adream—sure, you'll be diveinthe
future, but you' Il be dreaming then.”

Lloyd considered this. Could she beright? Could it have been nothing but a dream? But it had been so
vivil—soredidtic. ..

And he was sixty-six years old, for God' s sake. No matter how many years they jumped ahead, if he
had avision surely younger people should have, aswell. But Jake Horowitz was a quarter-century his
junior, and doubtless ABC News had many employeesin their twenties and thirties.

And none of them had reported visions.

"l don't know," hesaid, at last. "It didn’t seem like adream.”



32

Thefuturecould be changed; they’ d discovered that when redlity deviated from what had been seeniin
thefirgt set of visons. Surdly, this future could be changed, aswell.

Sometime relatively soon a process for immortaity—or something damn near to it—would be
developed, and Lloyd Simcoe would undergo it. It wouldn’t be anything as smple asjust capping
telomeres, but whatever it was, it would work, at least for hundreds of years. Later, hisbiologica body
would be replaced with amore durable robotic one, and he would live long enough to see the Milky
Way and Andromedakiss.

S0, dl he had to do was find away to make sure Doreen got the immortality treatment, too—whatever
it cogt, whatever the selection criteria, he' d make sure his wife was included.

Doubtless there were other people besides himsdlf dready alive who would become immortas. He
couldn’t have been the only oneto have avison; after dl, he hadn’t been alone at the end.

But, like himsdlf, they were keeping quigt, still trying to sort out what they’ d seen. Perhaps someday, all
humanswould live forever, but of the current generations—of the ones dready divein
2030—apparentlyno more than a handful would never know desth.

Lloyd would find them. A message on the net, maybe. Nothing so blatant as asking anyone else who had
avison thistime out to step forward. No, no—something subtle. Maybe asking al those with an interest
in Dyson spheresto get in touch with him. Even those who didn’t know what they were seeing at thetime
they had their visons must have researched the images since their consciousness returned to the present,
and the term would have come up in their Web searches.

Y es, he would find them—he would find the other immortals.

Or they would find him.
He' d thought perhapsit had been Michiko that he’ d seen on that snow-white plain far in the future.

But then the letter came, inviting him to Toronto. It was asmple email message: "I am the jade man you
saw a the end of your vison."

Jade. Of course that’ swhat it was. Not green marble—jade. He' d told no one about that part of his
vison. After al, how could hetell Doreen that he' d seen Michiko and not her?

But it wasn't Michiko.

Lloyd flew from Montpelier to Pearson Internationa Airport, and headed down the jetway. It had been



aninternationd flight, but Lloyd' s Canadian passport got him through customsin short order. A driver
waswaiting for him just outside the gate, holding aflatse with theword "SIMCOE" glowing on it. His
limous ne flew—iterally—along the 407 to Y onge Street, and south to the condominium tower atop the
bookstore and grocery store and multiplex.

"If you could save only atiny portion of the human species from death, who would you choose?' said
Mr. Cheung to LIoyd, who was now gitting on the orange legther couch in Cheung’ sliving room. "How
would you make sure that you' d selected the greatest thinkers, the greatest minds? There are doubtless
many ways, for me, | decided to choose Nobel Prize winners. The finest doctors! The preeminent
scientists! The best writers! And, yes, the greatest humanitarians—those who had been awarded the
peace prize. Of course, anyone could quibble with the Nobel choicesin any given year, but by and large
the sdlectionsare deserving. And so we started approaching Nobdl laureates. We did it surreptitioudy, of
course; can you imagine the public outcry that would ensueif it were known that immortality was possible
but it was being withheld from the masses? They would not understand—understand that the process
was expensive beyond belief and was likely to remain so for decadesto come. Oh, eventualy, perhaps,
we would find cheaper waysto do it, but at the outset we could afford to treat only afew hundred

people.”
"Including yoursdf?'

Cheung shrugged. "I used to livein Hong Kong, Dr. Simcoe, but | 1eft for areason. | ana
capitalist—and capitalists believe that those who do the work should prosper by the sweet of their
brows. Theimmortdity processwould not exist at al without the billions my companiesinvested in
developingit. Yes, | sdected mysdf for the treatment; that was my right.”

"If you' re going after Nobel laureates, what about my partner, Theodos os Procopides?!

"Ah, yes. It seemed prudent to administer the process in descending order of age. But, yes, we'll do him
next, despite his youth; for joint winners of the Nobel, we re processing all members of theteam at the
sametime." A pause. "I met Theo once before, you know—itwenty-one years ago. My original vison
had dedlt with him, and when he was searching for information about hiskiller, he cameto visit me here.”

"I remember; we werein New Y ork together, and he flew up here. He told me about his meeting with
you."

"Did hetell youwhat | said to him?1 told him that souls are about lifeimmorta, and that religion is about
just rewards. | told him | suspected gresat things awaited him, and that he would one day receive a great
reward. Even then, | suspected the truth; after dl, by rights, | should have had no vision—I should have
been dead by now, or, at least, not walking unaided at a sprightly pace. Of course, | couldn’'t be sure
that my staff would one day develop an immortdity technique, but it was along-standing interest of mine,
and the existence of such athing would explain the good hedlth | experienced in my vison, despite my
advanced age. | wanted to let your friend know, without giving away al my secrets, that if he could
survive long enough, the greatest reward of al—unlimited life—would be offered to him." A pause. "Do
you see him much?'

"Not anymore.”

"Still, I'm glad—more glad than you can know—that his desth was prevented.”



"If you were worried about that, and you had immortality available, why didn’t you give him your
trestment prior to the day on which the first visons showed he might die?"

"Our process arrests biologica senescence, but it certainly doesn’t make you invincible—athough, as
you doubtless saw in your vision, substitute bodies will eventually addressthat concern. If we wereto
invest millionsin Theo, and he ended up being shot dead, well, that would be awaste of avery limited
resource.”

Lloyd considered this. Y ou mentioned that Theo isyounger than me; that’ strue. I’m an old man.”
Cheung laughed. "Y ou'reachild! I’ve got more than thirty years on you."
"I mean," said Lloyd, "if I’ d been offered thiswhen | was younger, hedthier—"

"Dr. Simcoe, granted you are sixty-six—but you have spent that entire span under the care of
increasingly sophisticated modern medicine. I’ ve seen your hedth records—"

"You' vewha?"'

"Please—I’ m dispensing eternd life here; do you serioudy think that afew privacy safeguardsarea
barrier to aperson in my position? As| was saying, | have seen your hedlth records: your heartisin
excdlent shape, your blood pressureisfine, your cholesterol levels are under control. Serioudy, Dr.
Simcoe, you are in better health now than any twenty-five-year-old born more than ahundred years ago
would have been."

"I’m amarried man. What about my wife?'
"I'm sorry, Dr. Simcoe. My offer isto you aone.”
"But Doreen—"

"Doreen will live out the remainder of anatura life—another twenty-odd years, | imagine. Sheisbeing
denied nothing; you will be able to spend every year of that with her. At some point, shewill passon. I'm
aChrigtian, Dr. Smcoe—I believe better thingsawait us. . . wdl, most of us. | have been ruthlessin life
and | expect to bejudged harshly . . . whichiswhy | amin no hurry to receive my reward. But your
wife—I know much about her, and | suspect her placein heavenis secure.”

"I’m not sure’d want to go on without her.”

" She, doubtless, would wish that you would go on, even if she hersdlf could not. And, forgive my
bluntness, but sheisnot your first wife, nor you her first husband. | do not denigrate the love you fed, but
you are, quite literdly, Smply phasesin each other’ slives.”

"Andif | choose not to participate?’

"My expertiseisin pharmaceuticas, Dr. Simcoe. If you choose not to participate, or if you feign
acceptance, but give us reason to doubt your sincerity, you will beinjected with mnemonase; it will bresk
down dl of your short-term memory. Y ou will forget this entire encounter. If you redlly do not desire
immortality, please take that option—it is painless and has no lasting side effects. And now, Dr. Simcoe,

| redly must have your answer. What do you choose?!



Doreen picked Lloyd up at the airport in Montpelier. "Thank God you' re home!" she said, as soon as
Lloyd got out of baggage clam. "What happened? Why did you missthe earlier flight?"

Lloyd hugged hiswife; God, how heloved her—and how he hated being away from her. But then he
shook his head. "It was the damnedest thing. | completely forgot that the return flight was at four
0 clock." He shrugged abit, and managed asmall amile. "'l guess|’m getting old.”

33

Theo sat in his office. It had once, of course, been Gaston Béranger's office, but hisfive-year term had
long ago ended, and these days CERN wasn't big enough to require a Director-Generd. So Theo, as
director of the TTC, had madeit his own. Old Gaston was still around; he was professor emeritusin
physics at the University of Parisat Orsay. He and Marie-Claire were still happily married, and they had

aterrific, honor-student son, and adaughter, aswell.

Theo found himsdlf staring out the window. It had been amonth since the great blackout—the
Flashforward in which everyone lost consciousness for an hour. But they’ d done Klaatu proud: not a

sngle fataity had been reported worldwide.

Theo was till alive; he'd avoided his own murder. He was going to live—well, who knew how long?
Decades more, certainly. A new lease on life.

And, heredized with agtart, he didn’t know what he was going to do with dl that time.

It was autumn; too late to literally smell theroses. But figuratively?

He got up, let the inner office door dide aside, et the outer office door do the same, made hisway to the
elevator, rode down to the ground floor, walked along a corridor, passed through the lobby, and exited

thebuilding.
The sky was cloudy; till, he put on his sunglasses.

When he' d been ateenager, he'd run from Marathon to Athens. When he was done, he' d thought his
heart would never stop pounding, thought he' d never stop gasping for breath. He remembered that
moment vividly—crossng thefinish line, completing the historic run.

There were other moments he remembered vividly, of course. Hisfirst kiss; hisfirst sexua encounter;
specificimages—postcardsin his mind—from that trip to Hong Kong; graduating from university; the day
he met Lloyd; breaking hisarm once playing lacrosse. And, of running their first LHC experiment, the

jump cut—



But—

But those sharp moments, those crisp memories, why, they were al from two decades or morein the
past.

What had happened lately? What peak experiences, what exquisite sorrows, what giddy heights?

Theo walked adong; the air was cool, bracing. It gave everything an edge, definition, form, aclarity that
had been missing ever snce—

Ever since he' d started investigating his own degth.
Twenty-one years, obsessed by one thing.

Did Ahab have sharp memories? Oh, yes—losing hisleg, no doubt. But after that—after he’ d begun his
quest? Or wasit dl ablur, month after month, year after year, everything and everyone subsumed?

But no—no. Theo was no Ahab; he wasn't hdll-bent. He had found time for many things between 2009
and today, here, in 2030.

And yet—

And yet he' d never dlowed himsdf to make plansfor the future. Oh, he' d continued to work at his job,
and had been promoted severa times, but . . .

He' d once read abook about a man who learned at age nineteen that he was at risk for Huntington's
disease, a hereditary disorder that would rob him of hisfaculties by the time he reached middle age. That
man had bent himsdlf to the task of making amark before his allotted span was up. But Theo hadn't
donethat. Oh, he' d made some good progressin his physicswork, and, of course, he did have his
Nobd. But even that moment—receiving the medallion—uwas out of focus.

Twenty-one years, overshadowed. Even knowing that the future was mutable, even promising himsdf he
wouldn’t let his search for his potentid killer take over hislife, two decades had dipped by, mostly
lost—if not actudly skipped over, certainly dulled, reduced, lessened.

No fata flaw? It isto laugh.

Theo continued walking. A chorus of birds chirped in the background.

No fatal flaw?That had been the most arrogant thought of al. Of course he had afatd flaw; of course he
had ahamartia. But it was the mirror image of Oedipus's; Oedipus had thought hecould escape hisfate.
Theo, knowing the future was changeable, had still been dogged by the fear that he couldn’t outwit
dedtiny.

And so—

And s0 he hadn’t married, hadn’t had children; in that, he was even less than Ahab.

Nor had he reedWar and Peace. Or the Bible. Indeed, Theo hadn’t read anovel for—what?—maybe
ten years.



He hadn’t traveled the world, except for where his old quest for clues had taken him.

He hadn’t learned gourmet cooking.

Hadn't taken bridge lessons.

Hadn't climbed Mont Blanc, even part way.

And now, incredibly, he suddenly had—well, if not al thetimein theworld, at least alot moretime,

He had free will; he had afuture to make.

It was aheady thought.What do you want to be when you grow up? The cartoon-character clothing
was indeed gone. Aswas his youth; he was forty-eight. For aphysicist, that was ancient. He was too
old, inal likelihood, to make another mgjor breakthrough.

A future to make. But how would he defineit?

Aslaser-bright moments; diamond-hard memories; crisp and clear. A futurelived, afuture savored, a
future of moments so sharp and pointed that they would sometimes cut and sometimes glint so brightly it
would hurt to contemplate them, but sometimes, too, would be joyous, an absolute, pure, unaloyed joy,
the kind of joy he hadn’t felt much if at al lo these twenty-one years.

But from now on—

From now on, hewouldlive.

But what to do firgt?

The name rose again, from his past, from his subconscious.

Michiko.

Shewasin Tokyo, of course. He' d gotten an E-card from her at Christmas, and another on his birthday.

She' d divorced Lloyd—her second husband. But she’ d never married again after that.

Y ou know, he could go to Tokyo, look her up. That would be awonderful moment.

But, God, it had been so many years. So much water under the bridge.

sill ...

Stll, he had dways been very fond of her. So intelligent—yes, that’ swhat he thought of first; that
wonderful mind, that sharp wit. But he couldn’t deny that she was pretty, too. Maybe even more than
pretty; certainly graceful and poised, and dwaysimmeaculately dressed in the currently fashionable style.

But...

But twenty-one years had passed. There had to be someone new after al that time, no?



No. There wasn't; he' d have heard gossip. Of course, he was younger than her, but that didn’t really
matter, did it? She would be—what?>—fifty-six now.

He couldn’t just pick himsdlf up and go to Tokyo.
Or could he?

Alifetobelived. ..

Wheat did he haveto lose?

Not a blessed thing, he decided. Not a blessed thing.

He headed back into the building, taking the stairs rather than the elevator, two stepsat atime
disappearing beneeth hislong strides, shoes dgpping loudly and crisply.

Of course he'd cal her first. What time wasit in Tokyo? He spoke the question into the air. "What time
isitin Tokyo?'

"Twenty hours, eighteen minutes,” replied one of the countless computerized devices scattered around
hisoffice.

"Did Michiko Komurain Tokyo," he said.

Electronic rings emanated from the speaker. His heart began to pound. A monitor plate popped up from
his desktop, showing the Nippon Telecom logo.

And then—

There shewas. Michiko.

Shewas dtill lovely, and she had aged gracefully; she could have passed for a dozen years younger than
her redl age. And, of course, she was stylishly attired—Theo hadn’t seen this particular [ook yet in
Europe, but he was sure it must be cutting-edge in Nippon. Michiko was wearing ashort blazer that had
rainbow patterns of color rippling acrossit.

"Why, Theo, isthat you?" shesdid, in English.

The E-cards had been text-and-graphics only; it had been years since Theo had heard that beautiful,
high voice, like water splashing. He fdlt hisfeatures stretching into agrin. "Hello, Michiko."

"I d been thinking about you," she said, "asthe date the visions showed got closer. But | was afraid to
cdl. Afrad you might think | was cdling to say goodbye.”

Hewould have loved to have heard her voice earlier. He smiled. "Actualy, the man who killed mein the
visonsisin custody now. Hetried to blow up the LHC."

Michiko nodded. "l read that on the Web."

"l guessno one svison cametrue.”



Michiko lifted her shoulders. "Well, maybe not precisely. But my beautiful little daughter isjust as| saw
her. And, you know, I’ve met Lloyd’ s new wife, and he says she' sjust as he' d envisioned her. And the
world today isalot like what the Mosaic Project said it was going to be.”

"l guess. I'mjust glad that the part involving me didn't come true.”

Michiko smiled. "Me, too."

There was sllence between them; one of the joys of video phoneswas that silence was okay. Y ou could
just look at each other, bask in each other, without words.

Shewas beautiful . . .

"Michiko," he sad softly.

"Hmm?'

"I, ah, I’ve been thinking alot about you."

Sheamiled.

He swallowed, trying to work up the courage. "And | was wondering, well, what you' d think if | came
out to Nippon for abit." Heraised hishand, asif feding aneed to provide them both with an out if she
wanted to ddiberately misread him, letting him down gently. "There saTTC at the University of Tokyo;
they’ ve been asking me to come and give atalk about the development of the technology.”

But she wasn't looking for an out. "I’ d love to see you again, Theo."

Of course, there was no way to tell whether anything would happen between them. She might just be
looking for abit of nostalgia, remembering things past, the timesthey’ d had at CERN al those years ago.

But maybe, just maybe, theywere on the same wavelength. Maybe things would work out between
them. Maybe, after dl these years, it was going to happen.

He certainly hoped so.

But only timewould tell.



